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SPECIAL NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This document and the documents incorporated by reference in this document contain certain forward-looking statements based on
management’s current expectations. These forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as
“believes,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “confidence,” “trends,” “intend,” “estimate,” “on track,” “are positioned to,” “on course,”
“opportunity,” “continue,” “project,” “guidance,” “target,” “forecast,” “anticipated,” “plan,” “potential,” the negative of these terms or
comparable terms. The Company assumes no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements for any reason, except as
required by law.
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Coach, Inc.’s actual results could differ materially from the results contemplated by these forward-looking statements due to a number
of factors, including those discussed in the sections of this Form 10-K filing entitled “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” These factors are not necessarily all of the important factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any of the forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K.

INFORMATION REGARDING HONG KONG DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS

Coach’s Hong Kong Depositary Receipts are traded on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited under the symbol 6388. Neither the
Hong Kong Depositary Receipts nor the Hong Kong Depositary Shares evidenced thereby have been or will be registered under the U.S.
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and may not be offered or sold in the United States or to, or for the account of, a
U.S. Person (within the meaning of Regulation S under the Securities Act), absent registration or an applicable exemption from the
registration requirements. Hedging transactions involving these securities may not be conducted unless in compliance with the Securities
Act.
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In this Form 10-K, references to “Coach,” “we,” “our,” “us” and the “Company” refer to Coach, Inc., including consolidated
subsidiaries. The fiscal years ended June 29, 2013 (“fiscal 2013”), June 30, 2012 (“fiscal 2012") and July 2, 2011 (“fiscal 2011")
were each 52-week periods. The fiscal year ending June 28, 2014 (“'fiscal 2014”) will be also be a 52-week period.

>

PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF BUSINESS

Founded in 1941, Coach was acquired by Sara Lee Corporation (“Sara Lee”) in 1985. In June 2000, Coach was incorporated in the
state of Maryland. In October 2000, Coach was listed on the New York Stock Exchange and sold approximately 68 million shares of
common stock, split adjusted, representing 19.5% of the outstanding shares. In April 2001, Sara Lee completed a distribution of its
remaining ownership in Coach via an exchange offer, which allowed Sara Lee stockholders to tender Sara Lee common stock for Coach
common stock.

Coach’s international expansion strategy is to enter into joint ventures and distributor relationships to build market presence and
capability. To further accelerate brand awareness, aggressively grow market share and to exercise greater control of our brand, Coach may
subsequently acquire its partner’s interests.

¢ InJune 2001, Coach Japan was initially formed as a joint venture with Sumitomo Corporation. On July 1, 2005, we purchased
Sumitomo’s 50% interest in Coach Japan.

« Infiscal 2011, the Company purchased a non-controlling interest in a joint venture with Hackett Limited to expand the Coach
business in Europe. Through the joint venture, the Company opened retail locations in Spain, Portugal and Great Britain in fiscal
2011, in France and Ireland in fiscal 2012 and in Germany in fiscal 2013. In July 2013 (fiscal 2014), the Company purchased
Hackett Limited’s 50% interest in the joint venture.

¢ Coach acquired the domestic retail businesses from its distributors as follows:
m  Fiscal 2009: Hong Kong, Macau and mainland China (“Coach China”).
m  Fiscal 2012: Singapore and Taiwan.

m  Fiscal 2013: Malaysia and Korea.
FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT SEGMENTS

See the Segment Information note presented in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Coach has grown from a family-run workshop in a Manhattan loft to a leading American marketer of fine accessories and gifts for
women and men. Coach is one of the most recognized fine accessories brands in the U.S. and in targeted international markets. We offer
premium lifestyle accessories to a loyal and growing customer base and provide consumers with fresh, compelling and innovative products
that are extremely well made, at an attractive price. Coach’s modern, fashionable handbags and accessories use a broad range of high
quality leathers, fabrics and materials. In response to our customer’s demands for both fashion and function, Coach offers updated styles
and multiple product categories which address an increasing share of our customer’s accessory wardrobe. Coach has created a
sophisticated, modern and inviting environment to showcase our product assortment and reinforce a consistent brand positioning wherever
the consumer may shop. We utilize a flexible, cost-effective global sourcing model, in which independent manufacturers supply our
products, allowing us to bring our broad range of products to market rapidly and efficiently.

Coach offers a number of key differentiating elements that set it apart from the competition, including:

A Distinctive Brand — The Coach brand represents a blend of classic American style with a distinctive New York spirit, offering
a design that is known for a distinctive combination of style and function. Coach offers accessible luxury products that are
relevant, extremely well made and provide excellent value.
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A Market Leadership Position With Growing Global Share — Coach is a global leader in premium handbags and accessories.
In North America, Coach is the leading brand. In Japan, Coach is the leading imported luxury handbag and accessories brand by
units sold. Coach is also gaining traction in China, other Asian markets, Europe, and Latin America.

A Loyal And Involved Consumer — Coach consumers have a strong emotional connection with the brand. Part of the Company’s
everyday mission is to cultivate consumer relationships by strengthening this emotional connection.

A Multi-Channel Global Distribution Model — Coach products are available in image-enhancing locations globally wherever our
consumer chooses to shop including: retail stores and factory outlets, directly operated shop-in-shops, online, and department and
speciality stores. This allows Coach to maintain a dynamic balance as results do not depend solely on the performance of a single
channel or geographic area.

Innovation And A Consumer-Centric Focus — Coach listens to its consumer through rigorous consumer research and strong
consumer orientation. To truly understand globalization and its impact on Coach, we also need to understand the local context in
each market, learning about our consumer wherever Coach is sold. Coach works to anticipate the consumer’s changing needs by
keeping the product assortment fresh and compelling.

We believe our unique positioning, characterized by these differentiating elements, is a key competitive advantage. We hold the number

one position within the U.S. premium handbag and accessories market and the number two position within the Japanese imported luxury
handbag and accessories market.

PRODUCTS

Coach's product offerings include women’s and men’s bags, accessories, footwear, wearables, jewelry, travel bags, sunwear, watches
and fragrance. The following table shows the percent of net sales that each product category represented:

Fiscal Year Ended
June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011

Women's Handbags 58% 61% 63%
Women's Accessories 23 24 25
Men's 11 8 5
All Other Products 8 7 7
Total 100% 100% 100%

Women’s Handbags — Women’s handbag collections feature classically inspired designs as well as fashion designs. Typically, there
are three to four collections per quarter and four to seven styles per collection. These collections are designed to meet the fashion and
functional requirements of our broad and diverse consumer base.

Women’s Accessories— Women’s accessories include small leather goods and novelty accessories. Women’s small leather goods,

which complement our handbags, include money pieces, wristlets and cosmetic cases. Key rings and charms are also included in this
category.

Men’s — Men'’s bag collections include business cases, computer bags, messenger-style bags and totes. Men’s small leather goods
consist primarily of wallets, card cases and belts. Novelty accessories include time management and electronic accessories.
All Other Products consist of the following:

Footwear — Jimlar Corporation (“Jimlar”) has been Coach's footwear licensee since 1999. Footwear is distributed through select

Coach retail stores, coach.com and about 1,050 U.S. department stores and military locations. Footwear sales are comprised primarily
of women’s styles.
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Wearables — This category is comprised of scarves, jackets, gloves and hats, including both cold weather and fashion. The
assortment is primarily women's and contains a fashion assortment in all components of this category.

Jewelry — This category is comprised of bracelets, necklaces, rings and earrings offered in sterling silver, leather and non-
precious metals.

Travel Bags — The travel collections are comprised of luggage and related accessories, such as travel kits and valet trays.

Sunwear — Luxottica Group SPA (“Luxottica”) has been Coach’s eyewear licensee since 2012. This collection is a collaborative
effort that combines the Coach aesthetic for fashion accessories with the latest fashion directions in sunglasses. Coach sunglasses are
sold in Coach retail stores and coach.com, department stores, select sunglass retailers and optical retailers in major markets.

Watches — Movado Group, Inc. (“Movado”) has been Coach's watch licensee since 1998 and has developed a distinctive
collection of watches inspired primarily by the women's collections with select men's styles.

Fragrance — Starting in the spring of 2010, Estée Lauder Companies Inc. (“Estée Lauder™), through its subsidiary, Aramis Inc.,
became Coach's fragrance licensee. Fragrance is distributed through Coach retail stores, coach.com, about 4,660 U.S. department and
specialty stores and 1,400 international locations. Coach offers four women’s fragrance collections and one men’s fragrance collection.
The women's fragrance collections include eau de perfume spray, eau de toilette spray, purse spray, body lotion and body splashes.

DESIGN AND MERCHANDISING

In fiscal 2013, Reed Krakoff, President, Executive Creative Director, announced his intention to not renew his contract and it is expected
that in the first quarter of fiscal year 2014 he will depart from the Company in connection with the sale of the Reed Krakoff business. In
June 2013, the Company announced that Stuart Vevers will assume the position of Executive Creative Director, joining Coach in the first
quarter of fiscal 2014.

Coach's New York-based design team is responsible for conceptualizing and directing the design of all Coach products. Designers have
access to Coach's extensive archives of product designs created over the past 70 years, which are a valuable resource for new product
concepts. Coach designers are also supported by a strong merchandising team that analyzes sales, market trends and consumer preferences
to identify business opportunities that help guide each season's design process. Merchandisers also analyze, edit, add and delete products to
maximize sales across all channels. The product category teams, each comprised of design, merchandising/product development and
sourcing specialists help Coach execute design concepts that are consistent with the brand's strategic direction.

Coach's design and merchandising teams work in close collaboration with all of our licensing partners to ensure that the licensed
products (watches, footwear, eyewear and fragrance) are conceptualized and designed to address the intended market opportunity and
convey the distinctive perspective and lifestyle associated with the Coach brand.

SEGMENTS

In fiscal 2013, the Company changed its reportable segments to a geographic focus, recognizing the expansion and growth of sales
through its international markets. This is consistent with organizational changes announced during fiscal 2012.

Prior to this change, the Company was organized and reported its results based on directly-operated and indirect business units. The
Company has recently experienced substantial growth in its international business, while at the same time has converted formerly wholesale
businesses in several key markets such as China, Taiwan and Korea to Company-operated businesses. Reflecting this growth and
corresponding declines in indirect businesses relative to Company-operated, the Company implemented a realignment of its business units
based on geography, consistent with the organizational changes.
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In fiscal 2013, the Company’s operations reflect five operating segments aggregated into two reportable segments:

North America, which includes sales to North American consumers through Company-operated stores, including the Internet, and
sales to wholesale customers and distributors.

International, which includes sales to consumers through Company-operated stores in Japan and mainland China, including the

Internet, Hong Kong, Macau, Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia and Korea and sales to wholesale customers and distributors in 25
countries.

North America Segment

The North America segment consists of direct-to-consumer and indirect channels, and includes sales to consumers through Company-

operated stores, including the Internet, and sales to wholesale customers and distributors. This segment represented approximately 69% of
Coach's total net sales in fiscal 2013.

North American Retail Stores — Coach stores are located in regional shopping centers and metropolitan areas throughout the U.S.
and Canada. The retail stores carry an assortment of products depending on their size and location and customer preferences. Our flagship

stores, which offer the broadest assortment of Coach products, are located in high-visibility locations such as New York, Chicago and San
Francisco.

Our stores are sophisticated, sleek, modern and inviting. They showcase the world of Coach and enhance the shopping experience while
reinforcing the image of the Coach brand. The modern store design creates a distinctive environment to display our products. Store
associates are trained to maintain high standards of visual presentation, merchandising and customer service. The result is a complete
statement of the Coach effortless New York style at the retail level.

The number of Coach retail stores and their total and average square footage has remained relatively constant over the last three fiscal
years:

Fiscal Year Ended
June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011

Retail stores 351 354 345

Net (decrease) increase vs. prior year Q3) 9 3

% (decrease) increase vs. prior year (0.8) % 2.6% 0.9%
Retail square footage 952,422 959,099 936,277

Net (decrease) increase vs. prior year 6,677) 22,822 6,697

% (decrease) increase vs. prior year 0.7)% 2.4% 0.7%
Average square footage 2,713 2,709 2,714

As we continue to optimize our current real estate positions at lease term over the next few years, the Company expects to close

underperforming doors and expand locations in key markets, resulting in a slight decrease in total square footage and a slight increase in
average store square footage.

North American Factory Stores — Coach's factory stores serve as an efficient means to sell manufactured-for-factory-store product,
including factory exclusives, as well as discontinued and irregular inventory outside the retail channel. These stores operate under the Coach
name and are geographically positioned primarily in established outlet centers that are generally more than 30 miles from major markets.

Coach’s factory store design, visual presentations and customer service levels support and reinforce the brand's image. Through these
factory stores, Coach targets value-oriented customers.
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The expansion in the number of North America Coach factory stores and their total and average square footage is shown in the following
table:

Fiscal Year Ended
June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011

Factory stores 193 169 143

Net increase vs. prior year 24 26 22

% increase vs. prior year 14.2% 18.2% 18.2%
Factory square footage 982,202 789,699 649,094

Net increase vs. prior year 192,503 140,605 100,297

% increase vs. prior year 24.4% 21.7% 18.3%
Average square footage 5,089 4,673 4,539

Over the next few years, we expect to see continued growth in factory store square footage, driven both by new distribution and
expansions as we right size our most productive doors to accommodate broader expression of lifestyle assortment and increased volume.

Internet — Coach views its website as a key communications vehicle for the brand to promote traffic in Coach retail stores and
department store locations and build brand awareness. With approximately 74 million unique visits to the e-commerce websites in fiscal
2013, our online store provides a showcase environment where consumers can browse through a selected offering of the latest styles and
colors. Our e-commerce programs also include our invitation-only factory flash site and third-party flash sites.

U.S. Wholesale — Coach began as a U.S. wholesaler to department stores and this channel remains a part of our overall consumer
reach. Today, we work closely with our partners to ensure a clear and consistent product presentation. Coach enhances its presentation
through the creation of shop-in-shops with proprietary Coach fixtures, within the department store environment. Coach custom tailors its
assortments through wholesale product planning and allocation processes to match the attributes of our department store consumers in each
local market. While overall U.S. department store sales have slowed over the last few years, the handbag and accessories category has
remained strong. The Company continues to closely manage inventories in this channel given the highly promotional environment at point-
of-sale. The Company has implemented automatic replenishment with major accounts in an effort to optimize inventory across wholesale
doors. Over the next few years, we expect to make significant investment in the elevation of store environments in this channel.

Coach's products are sold in approximately 1,000 wholesale locations in the U.S. and Canada. Our most significant U.S. wholesale
customers are Macy’s (including Bloomingdale's), Dillard's, Nordstrom, Saks Fifth Avenue, Lord & Taylor, The Bay, Bon Ton, Belk
and Von Maur. Coach products are also available on macys.com, bloomingdales.com, dillards.com, nordstrom.com, lordandtaylor.com,
thebay.com, bonton.com, belk.com and vonmaur.com.

International Segment

The International segment includes sales to consumers through Company-operated stores in Japan and mainland China, including the
Internet, Hong Kong, Macau, Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia and Korea, and sales to wholesale customers and distributors. The
International segment represented approximately 31% of total net sales in fiscal 2013.

Our International Markets operate department store shop-in-shop locations and freestanding flagship, retail and factory stores as well
as e-commerce websites. Flagship stores, which offer the broadest assortment of Coach products, are located in select shopping districts.
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The following table shows the number of international directly-operated locations and their total and average square footage:

Fiscal Year Ended
June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011
Coach Japan:
Locations: 191 180 169
Net increase vs. prior year 11 11 8
% increase Vvs. prior year 6.1% 6.5% 5.0%
Square footage: 350,994 320,781 303,925
Net increase vs. prior year 30,213 16,856 10,484
% increase vs. prior year 9.4% 5.5% 3.6%
Average square footage 1,838 1,782 1,798
Coach China (including Hong Kong and Macau),
Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia and Korea:
Locations: 218 188 142
Net increase vs. prior year 30 46 41
% increase vs. prior year 16.0% 32.4% 40.6%
Square footage: 417,573 344,615 240,873
Net increase vs. prior year 72,958 103,742 76,351
% increase vs. prior year 21.2% 43.1% 46.4%
Average square footage 1,915 1,833 1,696

Coach Japan plans to open new doors over the next several years, growing low to mid-single digits. The balance of Coach international
(China, Asia and Europe) anticipate their owned-retail doors growing low double digit over the next few years.

Coach International — This channel represents sales to international wholesale distributors and authorized retailers. Travel retail
represents the largest portion of our customers’ sales in this channel. However, we continue to drive growth by expanding our distribution to
reach local consumers in emerging markets. Coach has developed relationships with a select group of distributors who sell Coach products
through department stores and freestanding retail locations in 25 countries. Coach's current network of international distributors serves the
following domestic and/or travel retail markets: Aruba, Australia, Bahamas, Bahrain, Brazil, China, Colombia, France, Hong Kong,
India, Indonesia, Japan, Korea, Kuwait, Macau, Malaysia, Mexico, New Zealand, Panama, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Taiwan, Thailand,
UAE, US & Territories, Venezuela and Vietnam.

For locations not in freestanding stores, Coach has created shop-in-shops and other image enhancing environments to increase brand
appeal and stimulate growth. Coach continues to improve productivity in this channel by opening larger image-enhancing locations,
expanding existing stores and closing less productive stores. Coach's most significant international wholesale customers are the DFS Group,
Everrich DFS Corp, Lotte Group, Shilla Group and Vantage Point.

The following table shows the number of international wholesale locations at which Coach products are sold:

Fiscal Year Ended
June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011
International freestanding stores ") 42 77 61
International department store locations 87 87 109
Other international locations 54 41 41
Total international wholesale locations 183 205 211

(1) Decline in fiscal 2013 reflects transition to Company-operated stores due to acquisitions. See Note “Acquisitions.”
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Other

Licensing — In our worldwide licensing relationships, Coach takes an active role in the design process and controls the marketing and
distribution of products under the Coach brand. Licensing revenue of approximately $32.1 million and $28.5 million in fiscal 2013 and
fiscal 2012, respectively, is included Other sales. (Other, which is not a reportable segment, consists of sales generated in ancillary
channels). The licensing relationships as of June 29, 2013 are as follows:

Date
Category Partner Introduction Expiration
Footwear Jimlar Spring '99 2015
Eyewear Luxottica Spring '12 2016
Watches Movado Spring '98 2015
Fragrance Estee Lauder Spring '10 2015

Products made under license are, in most cases, sold through all of the channels discussed above and, with Coach's approval, these
licensees have the right to distribute Coach brand products selectively through several other channels: shoes in department store shoe salons,
watches in selected jewelry stores and eyewear and sunwear in selected optical retailers. These venues provide additional, yet controlled,
exposure of the Coach brand. Coach's licensing partners pay royalties to Coach on their net sales of Coach branded products. However,
such royalties are not material to the Coach business as they currently comprise less than 1% of Coach’s total net sales. The licensing
agreements generally give Coach the right to terminate the license if specified sales targets are not achieved.

MARKETING

Coach’s marketing strategy is to deliver a consistent and relevant message every time the consumer comes in contact with the Coach
brand through our communications and visual merchandising. The Coach image is created and executed by our creative marketing, visual
merchandising and public relations teams. Coach also has a sophisticated consumer and market research capability, which helps us assess
consumer attitudes and trends.

In conjunction with promoting a consistent global image, Coach uses its extensive customer database and consumer knowledge to target
specific products and communications to specific consumers to efficiently stimulate sales across all distribution channels.

Coach engages in several consumer communication initiatives, including direct marketing activities and national, regional and local
advertising. Total expenses related to consumer communications in fiscal 2013 were $102.7 million, approximately 2% of net sales.

Coach’s wide range of direct marketing activities includes email contacts and catalogs targeted to promote sales to consumers in their
preferred shopping venue. In addition to building brand awareness, the coach.com website serves as an effective brand communication
vehicle by providing a showcase environment where consumers can browse through a strategic offering of the latest styles and colors, which
drives store traffic and enables the collection of customer data.

As part of Coach's direct marketing strategy, the Company uses its database consisting of approximately 19 million households in
North America and 8 million households in Asia. Email contacts and direct mail pieces are Coach's principal means of communication and
are sent to selected households to stimulate consumer purchases and build brand awareness. The growing number of visitors to the
coach.com e-commerce sites in the U.S., Canada, Japan and China provides an opportunity to increase the size of these databases.

In fiscal 2013, Coach had informational websites in Australia, Bahrain, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, France, Hong Kong, Indonesia,
Ireland, Korea, Kuwait, Malaysia, Mexico, Panama, Peru, Portugal, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Spain, Taiwan, Thailand, UAE, United
Kingdom, Venezuela and Vietnam. In addition, the Company utilizes and continues to explore new technologies such as blogs and social
networking websites, including Twitter, Facebook, and Sina Weibo, as a cost effective consumer communication opportunity to increase
on-line and store sales, acquire new customers and build brand awareness.
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The Company also runs national, regional and local marketing campaigns in support of its major selling seasons.
MANUFACTURING

While all of our products are manufactured by independent manufacturers, we nevertheless maintain control of the supply chain
process from design through manufacture. We are able to do this by qualifying raw material suppliers and by maintaining sourcing and
quality control management offices in China, Hong Kong, Philippines Vietnam, South Korea and India that work closely with our
independent manufacturers. This broad-based, global manufacturing strategy is designed to optimize the mix of cost, lead times and
construction capabilities. Over the last several years, we have increased the presence of our senior management in the countries of our
manufacturers to enhance control over decision making and ensure the speed with which we bring new product to market is maximized.

These independent manufacturers each or in aggregate support a broad mix of product types, materials and a seasonal influx of new,
fashion oriented styles, which allows us to meet shifts in marketplace demand and changes in consumer preferences. During fiscal 2013,
approximately 69% of Coach's total net sales were generated from newly introduced products with no sales in the same quarter the previous
year.

Our raw material suppliers, independent manufacturers and licensing partners, must achieve and maintain Coach's high quality
standards, which are an integral part of the Coach identity. One of Coach's keys to success lies in the rigorous selection of raw materials.
Coach has longstanding relationships with purveyors of fine leathers and hardware. Although Coach products are manufactured by
independent manufacturers, we maintain control of the raw materials that are used in all of our products. Compliance with quality control
standards is monitored through on-site quality inspections at all independent manufacturing facilities.

Coach carefully balances its commitments to a limited number of “better brand” partners with demonstrated integrity, quality and
reliable delivery. Our manufacturers are located in many countries, including China, Vietnam, India, Philippines, Thailand, Italy and the
United States. Coach continues to evaluate new manufacturing sources and geographies to deliver the finest quality products at the lowest
cost and help limit the impact of manufacturing in inflationary markets. During fiscal 2013, one vendor provided approximately 12% of
Coach’s total units. No other individual vendor currently provides more than approximately 10% of Coach’s total units. Before partnering
with a vendor, Coach evaluates each facility by conducting a quality and business practice standards audit. Periodic evaluations of
existing, previously approved facilities are conducted on a random basis. We believe that all of our manufacturing partners are in material
compliance with Coach’s integrity standards.

DISTRIBUTION

Coach operates an 850,000 square foot distribution and consumer service facility in Jacksonville, Florida. This automated facility uses
a bar code scanning warehouse management system. Coach's distribution center employees use handheld radio frequency scanners to read
product bar codes, which allow them to more accurately process and pack orders, track shipments, manage inventory and generally
provide excellent service to our customers. Coach's products are primarily shipped to Coach retail stores and wholesale customers via
express delivery providers and common carriers, and direct to consumers via express delivery providers.

To support our growth in China and the region, in fiscal 2010 we established an Asia distribution center in Shanghai, owned and
operated by a third-party, allowing us to better manage the logistics in this region while reducing costs. The Company also operates
distribution centers, through third-parties, in Japan, China, Hong Kong, Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia, Korea and the Netherlands.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS

The foundation of Coach's information systems is its Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) system. This fully integrated system
supports all aspects of finance and accounting, procurement, inventory control, sales and store replenishment. The system functions as a
central repository for all of Coach's transactional information, resulting in increased efficiencies, improved inventory control and a better
understanding of consumer demand.
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Complementing its ERP system are several other system solutions, each of which Coach believes is suitable for its needs. The data
warehouse system summarizes the transaction information and provides a global platform for management reporting. The supply chain
management systems support sales, procurement, inventory planning and reporting functions. In North America, product fulfillment is
facilitated by Coach's highly automated warehouse management system and electronic data interchange system, while the unique
requirements of Coach's internet business are supported by Coach’s order management system. Internationally, Coach is integrated with
selected third-party providers to provide similar capabilities. Additionally, the point-of-sale system supports all in-store transactions,
distributes management reporting to each store, and collects sales and payroll information on a daily basis. This daily collection of store
sales and inventory information results in early identification of business trends and provides a detailed baseline for store inventory
replenishment. Updates and upgrades of these systems are made on a periodic basis in order to ensure that we constantly improve our
functionality.

TRADEMARKS AND PATENTS

Coach owns all of the material worldwide trademark rights used in connection with the production, marketing and distribution of all of
its products. Coach also owns and maintains worldwide registrations for trademarks in all relevant classes of products in each of the
countries in which Coach products are sold. Major trademarks include Coach, Coach and lozenge design, Coach and tag design,
Signature C design, Coach Op Art design and The Heritage Logo (Coach Leatherware Est. 1941) . Coach is not dependent on any one
particular trademark or design patent although Coach believes that the Coach name is important for its business. In addition, several of
Coach's products are covered by design patents or patent applications. Coach aggressively polices its trademarks and trade dress, and
pursues infringers both domestically and internationally. It also pursues counterfeiters domestically and internationally through leads
generated internally, as well as through its network of investigators, the Coach hotline and business partners around the world.

Coach expects that its material trademarks will remain in existence for as long as Coach continues to use and renew them. Coach has no
material patents.

SEASONALITY

Because Coach products are frequently given as gifts, Coach has historically realized, and expects to continue to realize, higher sales
and operating income in the second quarter of its fiscal year, which includes the holiday months of November and December. In addition,
fluctuations in sales and operating income in any fiscal quarter are affected by the timing of seasonal wholesale shipments and other events
affecting retail sales. Over the last several years, we have achieved higher levels of growth in the non-holiday quarters, which has reduced
these seasonal fluctuations.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

Most of Coach's imported products are subject to, duties, indirect taxes, quotas and non-tariff trade barriers that may limit the quantity
of products that Coach may import into the U.S. and other countries or may impact the cost of such products. Coach is not materially
restricted by quotas or other government restrictions in the operation of its business, however customs duties do represent a material part of
total product cost. To maximize opportunities, Coach operates complex supply chains through foreign trade zones, bonded logistic parks
and other strategic initiatives such as free trade agreements. Additionally, the Company operates a direct import business in many countries
worldwide. As a result, Coach is subject to stringent government regulations and restrictions with respect to its cross-border activity either
by the various customs and border protection agencies or by other government agencies which control the quality and safety of the
Company’s products. Coach maintains an internal global trade and customs organization to help manage its import/export activity.

COMPETITION

The premium handbag and accessories industry is highly competitive. The Company competes primarily with European and American
luxury and accessible luxury brands as well as private label retailers, including some of Coach’s wholesale customers. Over the last several
years the category has grown, encouraging the entry of new competitors as well as increasing the competition from existing competitors. This
increased competition also drives consumer interest in this brand loyal category.
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The Company further believes that there are several factors that differentiate us from our competitors, including but not limited to:
Coach’s strong and differentiated brand, distinctive newness, innovative and high quality products, ability to meet consumer’s changing
preferences and our superior customer service.

EMPLOYEES

As of June 29, 2013, Coach employed approximately 17,200 people, including both full and part time employees, but excluding
seasonal and temporary employees. Of these employees, approximately 7,200 and 7,000 were full time and part time employees,
respectively, in the retail field in North America; Japan; Hong Kong, Macau, and mainland China; Singapore; Taiwan; Malaysia and
Korea. Approximately 70 of Coach’s employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. Coach believes that its relations with its
employees are good, and has never encountered a strike or work stoppage.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT GEOGRAPHIC AREAS

See the Segment Information note presented in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for geographic information.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to these
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, are available free of charge on our
investor website, located at www.coach.com/investors under the caption “SEC Filings”, as soon as reasonably practicable after they are
filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission. These reports are also available on the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s website at www.sec.gov. No information contained on any of our websites is intended to be included as part of, or
incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company has included the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer certifications regarding its public
disclosure required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as Exhibit 31.1 to this report on Form 10-K. Additionally, the
Company filed with the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) the CEO’s certification regarding the Company’s compliance with the
NYSE’s Corporate Governance Listing Standards (“Listing Standards™) pursuant to Section 303A.12(a) of the Listing Standards, which
indicated that the CEO was not aware of any violations of the Listing Standards by the Company.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should consider carefully all of the information set forth or incorporated by reference in this document and, in particular, the
following risk factors associated with the Business of Coach and forward-looking information in this document. Please also see
“Special Note on Forward-Looking Information” at the beginning of this report. The risks described below are not the only ones we
face. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also have an adverse effect on us. If any of
the risks below actually occur, our business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition could suffer.

Economic conditions could materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and consumer purchases of
luxury items.

Our results can be impacted by a number of macroeconomic factors, including but not limited to consumer confidence and spending
levels, unemployment, consumer credit availability, raw materials costs, fuel and energy costs, global factory production, commercial real
estate market conditions, credit market conditions and the level of customer traffic in malls and shopping centers.

Demand for our products, and consumer spending in the premium handbag and accessories market generally, is significantly impacted
by trends in consumer confidence, general business conditions, interest rates, the availability of consumer credit, and taxation. Consumer
purchases of discretionary luxury items, such as Coach products, tend to decline during recessionary periods, when disposable income is
lower.

The growth of our business depends on the successful execution of our growth strategies, including our efforts to expand
internationally into a global lifestyle brand.

Our growth depends on the continued success of existing products, as well as the successful design and introduction of new products.
Our ability to create new products and to sustain existing products is affected by whether we can successfully anticipate and respond to
consumer preferences and fashion trends. The failure to develop and launch successful new products could hinder the growth of our
business. Also, any delay in the development or launch of a new product could result in our company not being the first to bring product to
market, which could compromise our competitive position.

Additionally, our current growth strategy includes plans to expand in a number of international regions, including Asia and Europe. We
currently plan to open additional Coach stores in China, Europe and other international markets, and we have entered into strategic
agreements with various partners to expand our operations in South America. In addition, we have recently taken control of certain of our
retail operations in Europe and the Asia-Pacific region, including the United Kingdom, Spain, Ireland, Portugal, France and Germany
during calendar 2013, and Malaysia and South Korea during calendar year 2012. We do not yet have significant experience directly
operating in these countries, and in many of them we face established competitors. Many of these countries have different operational
characteristics, including but not limited to employment and labor, transportation, logistics, real estate, and local reporting or legal
requirements.

Furthermore, consumer demand and behavior, as well as tastes and purchasing trends may differ in these countries, and as a result,
sales of our product may not be successful, or the margins on those sales may not be in line with those we currently anticipate. Further,
such markets will have upfront short-term investment costs that may not be accompanied by sufficient revenues to achieve typical or
expected operational and financial performance and therefore may be dilutive to Coach in the short-term. In many of these countries, there is
significant competition to attract and retain experienced and talented employees.

We have recently undertaken a transformation to broaden Coach’s brand identification from primarily accessories, to instead being
viewed as a global lifestyle brand, anchored in accessories. We plan to achieve this by building upon our strong management and design
teams and enhancing and building out the Coach experience through expanded and new product categories, enhanced retail environments
and integrated marketing communications. However, there is no assurance that such efforts will be successful in changing the perception of
Coach from an accessories brand to a global lifestyle brand. Consequently, if our international expansion plans are unsuccessful, our
transformation falls short, or we are unable to retain and/or attract key personnel, our financial results could be materially adversely
affected.
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Significant competition in our industry could adversely affect our business.

We face intense competition in the product lines and markets in which we operate. Our competitors are European and American luxury
brands, as well as private label retailers, including some of Coach’s wholesale customers. There is a risk that our competitors may develop
new products or product categories that are more popular with our customers. We may be unable to anticipate the timing and scale of such
product introductions by competitors, which could harm our business. Our ability to compete also depends on the strength of our brand,
whether we can attract and retain key talent, and our ability to protect our trademarks and design patents. A failure to compete effectively
could adversely affect our growth and profitability.

The success of our business depends on our ability to retain the value of the Coach brand and to respond to changing fashion
and retail trends in a timely manner.

We believe that the Coach brand, established over 70 years ago, is regarded as America's preeminent designer, producer, and marketer
of fine accessories and gifts for women and men. We attribute the prominence of the Coach brand to the unique combination of our original
American attitude and design, our heritage of fine leather goods and custom fabrics, our superior product quality and durability and our
commitment to customer service. Any misstep in product quality or design, customer service, marketing, unfavorable publicity or excessive
product discounting could negatively affect the image of our brand with our customers. Furthermore, the product lines we have historically
marketed and those that we plan to market in the future are becoming increasingly subject to rapidly changing fashion trends and consumer
preferences. If we do not anticipate and respond promptly to changing customer preferences and fashion trends in the design, production,
and styling of our products, as well as create compelling marketing and retail environments that appeal to our customers, our sales and
results of operations may be negatively impacted. Even if our products do meet changing customer preferences and/or stay ahead of
changing fashion trends, our brand image could become tarnished or undesirable in the minds of our customers or target markets, which
could adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We face risks associated with operating in international markets.

We operate on a global basis, with approximately 31% of our net sales coming from operations outside of North America. While
geographic diversity helps to reduce the Company’s exposure to risks in any one country, we are subject to risks associated with
international operations, including, but not limited to:

«  changes in exchange rates for foreign currencies, which may adversely affect the retail prices of our products, result in decreased
international consumer demand, or increase our supply costs in those markets, with a corresponding negative impact on our gross
margin rates,

«  compliance with laws relating to foreign operations, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act, which in
general concern the bribery of foreign public officials,

*  political or economic instability or changing macroeconomic conditions in our major markets,
¢ natural and other disasters, and

*  changes in legal and regulatory requirements resulting in the imposition of new or more onerous trade restrictions, tariffs,
embargoes, exchange or other government controls.

We monitor our global foreign currency exposure and in order to minimize the impact on earnings of foreign currency rate movements,
we hedge our subsidiaries’ U.S. dollar-denominated inventory purchases in Japan and Canada, as well as Coach’s cross currency
denominated intercompany loan portfolio. We cannot ensure, however, that these hedges will fully offset the impact of foreign currency rate
movements. Additionally, our international subsidiaries primarily use local currencies as the functional currency and translate their
financial results from the local currency to U.S. dollars. If the U.S. dollar strengthens against these subsidiaries’ foreign currencies, the
translation of their foreign currency denominated transactions may decrease consolidated net sales and profitability. Sales to our
international wholesale customers are denominated in U.S. dollars.
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Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property and curb the sale of counterfeit merchandise could injure the brand and
negatively affect sales.

We believe our trademarks, copyrights, patents, and other intellectual property rights are extremely important to our success and our
competitive position. We devote significant resources to the registration and protection of our trademarks and to anti-counterfeiting efforts
worldwide. In spite of our efforts, counterfeiting still occurs and if we are unsuccessful in challenging a third-party’s rights related to
trademark, copyright, or patent this could adversely affect our future sales, financial condition, and results of operation. We are aggressive
in pursuing entities involved in the trafficking and sale of counterfeit merchandise through legal action or other appropriate measures. We
cannot guarantee that the actions we have taken to curb counterfeiting and protect our intellectual property will be adequate to protect the
brand and prevent counterfeiting in the future. Our trademark applications may fail to result in registered trademarks or provide the scope of
coverage sought. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights are often met with defenses and counterclaims attacking
the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Unplanned increases in legal fees and other costs associates with defending
our intellectual property rights could result in higher operating expenses. Finally, many countries’ laws do not protect intellectual property
rights to the same degree as US laws.

Computer system disruption and cyber security threats, including a privacy or data security breach, could damage our
relationships with our customers, harm our reputation, expose us to litigation and adversely affect our business.

We depend on digital technologies for the successful operation of our business, including corporate email communications to and from
employees, customers and stores, the design, manufacture and distribution of our finished goods, digital marketing efforts, collection and
retention of customer data, employee information, the processing of credit card transactions, online e-commerce activities and our interaction
with the public in the social media space. The possibility of a cyber-attack on any one or all of these systems is a serious threat. As part of
our business model, we collect, retain, and transmit confidential information over public networks. In addition to our own databases, we
use third party service providers to store, process and transmit this information on our behalf. Although we contractually require these
service providers to implement and use reasonable security measures, we cannot control third parties and cannot guarantee that a security
breach will not occur in the future either at their location or within their systems. We also store all designs, goods specifications, projected
sales and distribution plans for our finished products digitally. We have confidential security measures in place to protect both our physical
facilities and digital systems from attacks. Despite these efforts, however, we may be vulnerable to targeted or random security breaches,
acts of vandalism, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming and/or human errors, or other similar events.

Consumer awareness and sensitivity to privacy breaches and cyber security threats is at an all-time high. Any misappropriation of
confidential or personally identifiable information gathered, stored or used by us, be it intentional or accidental, could have a material
impact on the operation of our business, including severely damaging our reputation and our relationships with our customers, employees
and investors. We may also incur significant costs implementing additional security measures to comply with state, federal and
international laws governing the unauthorized disclosure of confidential information as well as increased cyber security protection costs
such as organizational changes, deploying additional personnel and protection technologies, training employees, and engaging third party
experts and consultants and lost revenues resulting from unauthorized use of proprietary information including our intellectual property.
Lastly, we could face increased litigation as a result of cyber security breaches.

In addition, we maintain e-commerce sites in the U.S., Canada, Japan and China and have plans for additional e-commerce sites in
other parts of the world. In fiscal 2013, Coach had informational websites in 28 countries. Lastly, our e-commerce programs also include an
invitation-only Coach Factory flash sale site and third-party flash sales sites. Given the robust nature of our e-commerce presence and digital
strategy, it is imperative that we and our e-commerce partners maintain uninterrupted operation of our: (i) computer hardware, (ii) software
systems, (ii) customer marketing databases, and (iv) ability to email our current and potential customers. Despite our preventative efforts,
our systems are vulnerable from time-to-time to damage, disruption or interruption from, among other things, physical damage, natural
disasters, inadequate system capacity, system issues, security breaches, email blocking lists, computer viruses or power outages. Any
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material disruptions in our e-commerce presence or information technology systems could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our business is subject to the risks inherent in global sourcing activities.

As a Company engaged in sourcing on a global scale, we are subject to the risks inherent in such activities, including, but not limited
to:

*  unavailability of or significant fluctuations in the cost of raw materials,

*  compliance with labor laws and other foreign governmental regulations,

«  imposition of additional duties, taxes and other charges on imports or exports,
* increases in the cost of labor, fuel, travel and transportation,

*  compliance with our Global Business Integrity Program,

«  compliance with U.S. laws regarding the identification and reporting on the use of “conflict minerals” sourced from the Democratic
Republic of the Congo in the Company’s products,

»  disruptions or delays in shipments,

*  loss or impairment of key manufacturing or distribution sites,

*  inability to engage new independent manufacturers that meet the Company’s cost-effective sourcing model,
*  product quality issues,

¢ political unrest, and

« natural disasters, acts of war or terrorism and other external factors over which we have no control.

While we require our independent manufacturers and suppliers to operate in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, as well as
our Global Operating Principles and/or Supplier Selection Guidelines, we do not control these manufacturers or suppliers or their labor,
environmental or other business practices. Copies of our Global Business Integrity Program, Global Operating Principles and Supplier
Selection Guidelines are posted on our website, coach.com. The violation of labor, environmental or other laws by an independent
manufacturer or supplier, or divergence of an independent manufacturer’s or supplier’s labor practices from those generally accepted as
ethical or appropriate in the U.S., could interrupt or otherwise disrupt the shipment of our products, harm our trademarks or damage our
reputation. The occurrence of any of these events could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

While we have business continuity and contingency plans for our sourcing and distribution center sites, significant disruption of
manufacturing or distribution for any of the above reasons could interrupt product supply and, if not remedied in a timely manner, could
have an adverse impact on our business. We maintain a distribution center in Jacksonville, Florida, owned and operated by Coach. To
support our growth in China and the region, in fiscal 2010 we established an Asia distribution center in Shanghai, owned and operated by a
third-party, allowing us to better manage the logistics in this region while reducing costs. We also operate distribution centers, through third-
parties, in Japan, China, Hong Kong, Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia, Korea and the Netherlands. The warehousing of Coach merchandise,
store replenishment and processing direct-to-customer orders is handled by these centers and a prolonged disruption in any center’s operation
could adversely affect our business and operations.

Increases in our costs, such as raw materials, labor or freight could negatively impact our gross margin. Labor costs at many of our
manufacturers have been increasing significantly and, as the middle class in developing countries continues to grow, it is unlikely that such
cost pressure will abate. The cost of transportation has been increasing as well and it is unlikely such cost pressure will abate if oil prices
continue to increase. We may not be able to offset such increases in raw materials, labor or transportation costs through pricing measures or
other means.
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QOur business is subject to increased costs due to excess inventories if we misjudge the demand for our products.

If Coach misjudges the market for its products it may be faced with significant excess inventories for some products and missed
opportunities for other products. If that occurs, we may be forced to rely on markdowns or promotional sales to dispose of excess, slow-
moving inventory, which may negatively impact our gross margin, overall profitability and efficacy of our brand.

Our North American wholesale business could suffer as a result of consolidations, liquidations, restructurings and other
ownership changes in the retail industry.

Our wholesale business, consisting of the U.S. Wholesale business comprised approximately 5% of total net sales for fiscal 2013.
Continued consolidation in the retail industry could further decrease the number of, or concentrate the ownership of, stores that carry our
and our licensees’ products. Furthermore, a decision by the controlling owner of a group of stores or any other significant customer, whether
motivated by competitive conditions, financial difficulties or otherwise, to decrease or eliminate the amount of merchandise purchased from
us or our licensing partners could result in an adverse effect on the sales and profitability within this channel.

We rely on our licensing partners to preserve the value of our licenses and the failure to maintain such partners could harm our
business.

We currently have multi-year agreements with licensing partners for our footwear, sunwear, watches and fragrance products. See Item
1 — “Business — Products” where discussed further. In the future, we may enter into additional licensing arrangements. The risks
associated with our own products also apply to our licensed products as well as unique problems that our licensing partners may
experience, including risks associated with each licensing partner’s ability to obtain capital, manage its labor relations, maintain
relationships with its suppliers, manage its credit and bankruptcy risks, and maintain customer relationships. While we maintain
significant control over the products produced for us by our licensing partners, any of the foregoing risks, or the inability of any of our
licensing partners to execute on the expected design and quality of the licensed products or otherwise exercise operational and financial
control over its business, may result in loss of revenue and competitive harm to our operations in the product categories where we have
entered into such licensing arrangements. Further, while we believe that we could replace out existing licensing partners if required, our
inability to do so for any period of time could adversely affect our revenues and harm our business.

Our operating results are subject to seasonal and quarterly fluctuations, which could adversely affect the market price of Coach
common stock.

Because Coach products are frequently given as gifts, Coach has historically realized, and expects to continue to realize, higher sales
and operating income in the second quarter of its fiscal year, which includes the holiday months of November and December. Poor sales in
Coach’s second fiscal quarter would have a material adverse effect on its full year operating results and result in higher inventories. In
addition, fluctuations in sales and operating income in any fiscal quarter are affected by the timing of seasonal wholesale shipments and
other events affecting retail sales.

If we are unable to pay quarterly dividends at intended levels, our reputation and stock price may be harmed.

The dividend program requires the use of a modest portion of our cash flow. Our ability to pay dividends will depend on our ability to
generate sufficient cash flows from operations in the future. This ability may be subject to certain economic, financial, competitive and
other factors that are beyond our control. Our Board of Directors (“Board”) may, at its discretion, decrease the intended level of dividends or
entirely discontinue the payment of dividends at any time. Any failure to pay dividends after we have announced our intention to do so may
negatively impact our reputation, investor confidence in us and negatively impact our stock price.
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Fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate may result in volatility of our financial results and stock price.

We are subject to income taxes in many U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. We record tax expense based on our estimates of taxable income
and required reserves for uncertain tax positions in multiple tax jurisdictions. At any one time, many tax years are subject to audit by
various taxing jurisdictions. The results of these audits and negotiations with taxing authorities may result in a settlement which differs
from our original estimate. As a result, we expect that throughout the year there could be ongoing variability in our quarterly tax rates as
events occur and exposures are evaluated. In addition, our effective tax rate in a given financial statement period may be materially impacted
by changes in the mix and level of earnings. Further, proposed tax changes that may be enacted in the future could negatively impact our
current or future tax structure and effective tax rates.

Provisions in Coach’s charter, bylaws and Maryland law may delay or prevent an acquisition of Coach by a third party.

Coach’s charter, bylaws and Maryland law contain provisions that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire Coach
without the consent of Coach’s Board. Coach’s charter permits its Board, without stockholder approval, to amend the charter to increase or
decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or series that Coach has the authority to
issue. In addition, Coach’s Board may classify or reclassify any unissued shares of common stock or preferred stock and may set the
preferences, rights and other terms of the classified or reclassified shares. Although Coach’s Board has no intention to do so at the present
time, it could establish a series of preferred stock that could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in
control that might involve a premium price for Coach’s common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of Coach’s stockholders.

Coach’s bylaws can only be amended by Coach’s Board. Coach’s bylaws also provide that nominations of persons for election to
Coach’s Board and the proposal of business to be considered at a stockholders meeting may be made only in the notice of the meeting, by
Coach’s Board or by a stockholder who is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with the advance notice procedures of Coach’s
bylaws. Also, under Maryland law, business combinations, including issuances of equity securities, between Coach and any person who
beneficially owns 10% or more of Coach’s common stock or an affiliate of such person are prohibited for a five-year period, beginning on
the date such person last becomes a 10% stockholder, unless exempted in accordance with the statute. After this period, a combination of
this type must be approved by two super-majority stockholder votes, unless some conditions are met or the business combination is
exempted by Coach’s Board.

We could experience cost overruns and disruptions to our operations in connection with the construction of, and relocation to,
our new global corporate headquarters.

The Company has entered into various agreements relating to the development of the Company’s new global corporate headquarters in a
new office building to be located at the Hudson Yards development site in New York City. The financing, development and construction of
the new building is taking place through a joint venture between the Company and the developers. Construction of the new building has
commenced and occupancy in the new global headquarters is currently expected to take place in calendar 2015. During fiscal 2013, the
Company invested $93.9 million in the Hudson Yards joint venture. The Company expects to invest approximately $440 million in the joint
venture over the next three years, with approximately $130 million to $160 million estimated in fiscal 2014, depending on construction
progress. Outside of the joint venture, the Company is directly investing in aspects of the new corporate headquarters. In fiscal 2013, $24.8
million was included in capital expenditures and we expect $190 million of additional expenditures over the remaining period of
construction. The Company’s allocable share of the joint venture investments and capital expenditures will be financed by the Company
with cash on hand, borrowings under its credit facility and approximately $130 million of proceeds from the sale of its current headquarters
buildings.

Due to the inherent difficulty in estimating costs associated with projects of this scale and nature, together with the fact that we are in the
early stages of construction of the project, certain of the costs associated with this project may be higher than estimated and it may take
longer than expected to complete
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the project. In addition, the process of moving our headquarters is inherently complex and not part of our day to day operations. Thus, that
process could cause significant disruption to our operations and cause the temporary diversion of management resources, all of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, we cannot give any assurance that our developer will complete its obligations in a
timely manner or at all or how changes in the overall development of the Hudson Yards project may impact the development of, or value of,
the building in which our new global headquarters will be located. Further, our developer has financing, construction and development
obligations to parties other than us, and we cannot give any assurance as to how those obligations may impact the development of the
project.

The ownership of real property, such as the new global corporate headquarters, also subjects us to various other risks, including,
among others:

- the possibility of environmental contamination and the costs associated with correcting any environmental problems;

- the risk of financial loss in excess of amounts covered by insurance, or uninsured risks, such as the loss caused by damage to the
new building as a result of fire, floods, or other natural disasters; and

- adverse changes in the value of these properties, due to interest rate changes, changes in the neighborhood in which the property is
located, or other factors.

Risks relating to our Hong Kong Depositary Receipts (‘HDRs”)

An active trading market for the Hong Kong Depositary Receipts on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange might not develop or be
sustained and their trading prices might fluctuate significantly.

We cannot assure you that an active trading market for the HDRs on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange can develop or be sustained. If an
active trading market of the HDRs on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange does not develop or is not sustained, the market price and liquidity of
the HDRs could be materially and adversely affected. As a result, the market price for HDRs in Hong Kong might not be indicative of the
trading prices of Coach’s Common Stock on the NYSE, even allowing for currency differences.

The characteristics of the U.S. capital markets and the Hong Kong capital markets are different.

The NYSE and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange have different trading hours, trading characteristics (including trading volume and
liquidity), trading and listing rules, and investor bases (including different levels of retail and institutional participation). As a result of
these differences, the trading prices of Common Stock and the HDRs representing them might not be the same, even allowing for currency
differences. Fluctuations in the price of our Common Stock due to circumstances peculiar to the U.S. capital markets could materially and
adversely affect the price of the HDRs. Because of the different characteristics of the U.S. and Hong Kong equity markets, the historic
market prices of our Common Stock may not be indicative of the performance of the HDRs.

We are a corporation incorporated in the State of Maryland in the United States and our corporate governance practices are
principally governed by U.S. federal and Maryland state laws and regulations.

We are a corporation incorporated in the State of Maryland in the United States and our HDRs are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. Our corporate governance practices are primarily governed by and subject to U.S. federal and Maryland laws and regulations.
U.S. federal and Maryland laws and regulations differ in a number of respects from comparable laws and regulations in Hong Kong. There
are certain differences between the stockholder protection regimes in Maryland and the United States and in Hong Kong.

We have obtained a ruling from the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC”) that we will not be regarded as a
public Company in Hong Kong for the purposes of the Code on Takeovers and Mergers and the Share Repurchases Code of Hong Kong
and hence, these codes will not apply to us. We have also obtained a partial exemption from the SFC in respect of the disclosure of interest
provisions set out in the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong. In addition, we have been granted waivers or exemptions by the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange from certain requirements under its listing rules. Neither our stockholders nor
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the HDR holders will have the benefit of those Hong Kong rules, regulations and the listing rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for
which we have applied, and been granted, waivers or exemptions by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and SFC.

Additionally, if any of these waivers or exemptions were to be revoked in circumstances including our non-compliance with applicable
undertakings for any reason, additional legal and compliance obligations might be costly and time consuming, and might result in issues of
interjurisdictional compliance, which could adversely affect us and HDR holders.

As the SFC does not have extra-territorial jurisdiction on any of its powers of investigation and enforcement, it will also have to rely on
the regulatory regimes of Maryland state authorities and the SEC to enforce any corporate governance breaches committed by us in the
United States. Investors in the HDRs should be aware that it could be difficult to enforce any judgment obtained outside the United States
against us or any of our associates.

Furthermore, prospective investors in the HDRs should be aware, among other things, that there are U.S. federal withholding and estate
tax implications for HDR holders.

HDR holders are not stockholders of the Company and must rely on the depositary for the HDRs (the “HDR Depositary”) to
exercise on their behalf the rights that are otherwise available to the stockholders of the Company.

HDR holders do not have the rights of stockholders. They only have the contractual rights set forth for their benefit under the deposit
agreement for the HDRs (the “Deposit Agreement”). Holders of HDRs are not permitted to vote at stockholders’ meetings, and they may only
vote by providing instructions to the HDR Depositary. There is no guarantee that holders of HDRs will receive voting materials in time to
instruct the HDR Depositary to vote and it is possible that holders of HDRs, or persons who hold their Hong Kong depositary shares
through brokers, dealers or other third parties, will not have the opportunity to exercise a right to vote, although both we and the HDR
Depositary will endeavor to make arrangements to ensure as far as practicable that all holders of HDRs will be able to vote. As the HDR
Depositary or its nominee will be the registered owner of the Common Stock underlying their HDRs, holders of HDRs must rely on the HDR
Depositary (or its nominee) to exercise rights on their behalf. In addition, holders of HDRs will also incur charges on any cash distribution
made pursuant to the Deposit Agreement and on transfers of certificated HDRs.

Holders of HDRs will experience dilution in their indirect interest in the Company in the event of an equity offering which is not
extended to them.

If we decide to undertake an equity offering (that is not a rights or other offering that is extended to HDR holders), HDR holders may
suffer a dilution in their indirect ownership and voting interest in the Common Stock, as compared to their holdings in the HDRs
immediately prior to such an offering.

Holders of HDRs will be reliant upon the performance of several service providers. Any breach of those service providers of their
contractual obligations could have adverse consequences for an investment in HDRs.

An investment in HDRs will depend for its continuing viability on the performance of several service providers, including but not
limited to the HDR Depositary, the registrar for the HDRs, the custodian and any sub-custodian appointed in respect of the underlying
Common Stock. A failure by any of those service providers to meet their contractual obligations, whether or not by culpable default, could
detract from the continuing viability of the HDRs as an investment. Coach will not have direct contractual recourse against the custodian,
any sub-custodian or the registrar; hence the potential for redress in circumstances of default will be limited. However, Coach and the HDR
Depositary have executed a deed poll in favor of HDR holders in relation to the exercise by them of their rights as HDR holders under the
Deposit Agreement against the Company or the HDR Depositary.
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Withdrawals and exchanges of HDRs into Common Stock traded on the NYSE might adversely affect the liquidity of the HDRs.

Our Common Stock is presently traded on the NYSE. Any HDR holder may at any time request that their HDRs be withdrawn and
exchanged into Common Stock for trading on the NYSE. Upon the exchange of HDRs into Common Stock, the relevant HDRs will be
cancelled. In the event that a substantial number of HDRs are withdrawn and exchanged into Common Stock and subsequently cancelled,
the liquidity of the HDRs on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange might be adversely affected.

The time required for HDRs to be exchanged into Common Stock (and vice versa) might be longer than expected and investors
might not be able to settle or effect any sales of their securities during this period.

There is no direct trading or settlement between the NYSE and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on which the Common Stock and the
HDRs are respectively traded. In addition, the time differences between Hong Kong and New York and unforeseen market circumstances or
other factors may delay the exchange of HDRs into Common Stock (and vice versa). Investors will be prevented from settling or effecting the
sale of their securities across the various stock exchanges during such periods of delay. In addition, there is no assurance that any exchange
of HDRs into Common Stock (and vice versa) will be completed in accordance with the timelines investors might anticipate.

Investors are subject to exchange rate risk between Hong Kong dollars and U.S. dollars.

The value of an investment in the HDRs quoted in Hong Kong dollars and the value of dividend payments in respect of the HDRs could
be affected by fluctuations in the U.S. dollar/Hong Kong dollar exchange rate. While the Hong Kong dollar is currently linked to the U.S.
dollar using a specified trading band, no assurance can be given that the Hong Kong government will maintain the trading band at its
current limits or at all.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The following table sets forth the location, use and size of Coach's distribution, corporate and product development facilities as of June
29, 2013. The majority of the properties are leased, with the leases expiring at various times through 2028, subject to renewal options.

Location Use Approximate
Square Footage
Jacksonville, Florida Distribution and consumer service 850,000
New York, New York Corporate, design, sourcing and product development 433,000V
Carlstadt, New Jersey Corporate and product development 65,000
Tokyo, Japan Coach Japan regional management 32,000
Dongguan, China Sourcing, quality control and product development 27,000
Shanghai, China Coach China regional management 22,000
Hong Kong Sourcing and quality control 17,000
Hong Kong Coach Hong Kong regional management 14,000
Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam Sourcing and quality control 11,000
Taipei City, Taiwan Coach Taiwan regional management 6,000
Hong Kong Sourcing and quality control 6,000
Singapore Coach Singapore regional management 3,000
Seoul, South Korea Sourcing 3,000
Beijing, China Coach China regional management 3,000
Pampanga, Philippines Sourcing and quality control 2,400
Chennai, India Sourcing and quality control 1,300
Long An, Vietnam Sourcing and quality control 1,000
Luxembourg Coach regional management 300

(1) Includes 250,000 square feet related to Coach owned buildings.

As of June 29, 2013, Coach also occupied 351 retail and 193 factory leased stores located in North America, 191 Coach-operated
department store shop-in-shops, retail stores and factory stores in Japan, 218 Coach-operated department store shop-in-shops, retail stores
and factory stores in Hong Kong, Macau, mainland China, Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia and Korea. These leases expire at various times
through 2025. Coach considers these properties to be in generally good condition and believes that its facilities are adequate for its operations
and provide sufficient capacity to meet its anticipated requirements.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Coach is involved in various routine legal proceedings as both plaintiff and defendant incident to the ordinary course of its business,
including proceedings to protect Coach’s intellectual property rights, litigation instituted by persons alleged to have been injured upon
premises within Coach’s control and litigation with present or former employees.

As part of Coach’s policing program for its intellectual property rights, from time to time, Coach files lawsuits in the U.S. and abroad
alleging acts of trademark counterfeiting, trademark infringement, patent infringement, trade dress infringement, copyright infringement,
unfair competition, trademark dilution and/or state or foreign law claims. At any given point in time, Coach may have a number of such
actions pending. These actions often result in seizure of counterfeit merchandise and/or out of court settlements with defendants. From time
to time, defendants will raise, either as affirmative defenses or as counterclaims, the invalidity or unenforceability of certain of Coach’s
intellectual properties.

Although Coach’s litigation with present or former employees is routine and incidental to the conduct of Coach’s business, as well as for
any business employing significant numbers of employees, such litigation can result in large monetary awards when a civil jury is allowed
to determine compensatory and/or punitive
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damages for actions claiming discrimination on the basis of age, gender, race, religion, disability or other legally protected characteristic or
for termination of employment that is wrongful or in violation of implied contracts.

Coach believes that the outcome of all pending legal proceedings in the aggregate will not have a material effect on Coach’s business or
consolidated financial statements.

Coach has not entered into any transactions that have been identified by the IRS as abusive or that have a significant tax avoidance
purpose. Accordingly, we have not been required to pay a penalty to the IRS for failing to make disclosures required with respect to certain
transactions that have been identified by the IRS as abusive or that have a significant tax avoidance purpose.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market and Dividend Information

Coach’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and is traded under the symbol “COH.” Coach’s Hong Kong
Depositary Receipts have been listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange since December 2011 and the issuance from time-to-time of these
Hong Kong Depositary Receipts has not been registered under the Securities Act, or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or
other jurisdiction of the United States and is being made pursuant to Regulation S of the Securities Act. Accordingly, they may not be re-
offered, resold, pledged or otherwise transferred in the United States or to, or for the account of, a “U.S. person” (within the meaning of
Regulation S promulgated under the Securities Act), unless the securities are registered under the Securities Act or pursuant to an exemption
from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act, and hedging transactions involving the Hong
Kong Depositary Receipts may not be conducted unless in compliance with the Securities Act. No additional common stock was issued, nor
capital raised through this listing.

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal periods indicated, the high, low and closing prices per share of Coach’s common stock as

reported on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Index.
High Low Closing Dividends Declared

per Common Share

Fiscal 2013 Quarter ended:

September 29, 2012 $ 6324 $ 4824 $ 0.300
December 29, 2012 60.33 52.20 0.300
March 30, 2013 61.94 45.87 0.300
June 29, 2013 60.12 4876 $§ 57.09 0.338
Fiscal 2012 Quarter ended:

October 1, 2011 $ 6920 $ 45.70 $ 0.225
December 31, 2011 66.54 48.37 0.225
March 31, 2012 79.70 59.74 0.225
June 30, 2012 79.00 55.18 $ 58.48 0.300

As of August 2, 2013, there were 4,930 holders of record of Coach’s common stock.

Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of Coach’s Board and will be dependent upon Coach’s
financial condition, operating results, capital requirements and such other factors as the Board deems relevant.

The information under the principal heading “Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans” in the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on November 7, 2013, to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (The “Proxy Statement”), is incorporated herein by reference.

Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return (assuming reinvestment of dividends) of Coach’s common stock
with the cumulative total return of the S&P 500 Stock Index and the “peer set” companies listed below over the five-fiscal-year period ending

June 28, 2013, the last trading day of Coach’s most recent fiscal year.
e The Gap, Inc.,

¢ Guess?, Inc.,
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e L Brands, Inc.,

*  PVH Corp.,

*  Ralph Lauren Corporation,
+ Tiffany & Co.,

e V.F. Corporation, and

¢ Williams-Sonoma, Inc.

Coach management selected the “peer set” on an industry/line-of -business basis and believes these companies represent good faith
comparables based on their history, size, and business models in relation to Coach, Inc.

TOTAL RETURN PERFORMANCE GRAPH

a0

Dollars

S0 4 7 5 " T T + T . . T
S - WA I -
Z2 5 ¢ i 2 5 § i 2 5§ % i 2 5 §® i 2 5§ % i & 3
w—sueCOH wenee Pogr Set —S &P 500
June-08 June-09 June-10 June-11 June-12 June-13
COH $ 10000 $ 9333 $§ 12825 § 22723 $§ 21103 $ 210.61
Peer Set $ 10000 $ 77.18 $ 11744 $ 18818 $ 20195 § 286.72
S&P 500 $ 10000 $ 7379 $ 8443 $§ 11035 $ 11636 $ 140.32

The graph assumes that $100 was invested on June 27, 2008 at the per share closing price in each of Coach’s common stock, the S&P
500 Stock Index and a peer set index compiled by us tracking the peer group companies listed above, and that all dividends were reinvested.
The stock performance shown in the graph is not intended to forecast or be indicative of future performance.
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Stock Repurchase Program

The Company’s share repurchases during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 were as follows:

Period Total Number Average Price Total Number  Approximate Dollar
of Shares Paid per of Shares Value of Shares that
Purchased Share Purchased as May Yet be
Part of Publicly Purchased Under the
Announced Plans or Programs")
Plans or
Programs(l)
(in thousands, except per share data)
Period 10 (3/31/13 — 5/4/13) — S — — $ 1,361,627
Period 11 (5/5/13 — 6/1/13) — — — 1,361,627
Period 12 (6/2/13 — 6/29/13) B — — — 1,361,627
Total — —

(1) The Company repurchases its common shares under repurchase programs that were approved by the Board as follows:

Date Share Repurchase Programs were Total Dollar Amount Expiration Date of Plan
Publicly Announced Approved
October 23, 2012 $ 1.5 billion June 2015
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (dollars and shares in thousands, except per share data)

The selected historical financial data presented below as of and for each of the fiscal years in the five-year period ended June 29, 2013
have been derived from Coach’s audited Consolidated Financial Statements. The financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” the Consolidated Financial Statements and
Notes thereto and other financial data included elsewhere herein.

Fiscal Year Ended”
June 29, June 30, July 2, July 3, June 27,
2013 20120 2011® 2010 2009P@
Consolidated Statements of
Income:
Net sales $ 5075390 $ 4,763,180 $ 4,158,507 $3,607,636 $ 3,230,468
Gross profit 3,698,148 3,466,078 3,023,541 2,633,691 2,322,610
Selling, general and administrative 2,173,607 1,954,089 1,718,617 1,483,520 1,350,697
expenses
Operating income 1,524,541 1,511,989 1,304,924 1,150,171 971,913
Net income 1,034,420 1,038,910 880,800 734,940 623,369
Net income:
Per basic share $ 366 $ 360 $ 299 § 236 $ 1.93
Per diluted share 3.61 3.53 2.92 2.33 1.91
Weighted-average basic shares 282,494 288,284 294,877 311,413 323,714
outstanding
Weighted-average diluted shares 286,307 294,129 301,558 315,848 325,620

outstanding
Dividends declared per common ~ $  1.238  § 0975 $ 0.675 $ 0375 $ 0.075

share®
Consolidated Percentage of Net
Sales Data:
Gross margin 72.9% 72.8% 72.7% 73.0% 71.9%
Selling, general and administrative 42.8% 41.0% 41.3% 41.1% 41.8%
expenses
Operating margin 30.0% 31.7% 31.4% 31.9% 30.1%
Net income 20.4% 21.8% 21.2% 20.4% 19.3%
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital $1,348437 $ 1,086,368 $ 859,371 $§ 773,605 $ 936,757
Total assets 3,531,897 3,104,321 2,635,116 2,467,115 2,564,336
Cash, cash equivalents and 1,332,231 923,215 712,754 702,398 806,362
investments
Inventory 524,706 504,490 421,831 363,285 326,148
Long-term debt 485 985 23,360 24,159 25,072
Stockholders' equity 2,409,158 1,992,931 1,612,569 1,505,293 1,696,042
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Fiscal Year Ended!)
June 29, June 30, July 2, July 3, June 27,
2013@ 2012@ 2011?® 2010 2009P@
Coach Operated Store Data:
North American retail stores 351 354 345 342 330
North American factory stores 193 169 143 121 111
Coach Japan locations 191 180 169 161 155
Coach China, Singapore, 218 188 142 101 79
Taiwan, Korea and Malaysia
locations
Total stores open at fiscal year-end 953 891 799 725 675
North American retail stores 952,422 959,099 936,277 929,580 893,037
North American factory stores 982,202 789,699 649,094 548,797 471,724
Coach Japan locations 350,994 320,781 303,925 293,441 280,428
Coach China, Singapore, 417,573 344,615 240,873 164,522 122,226
Taiwan, Korea and Malaysia
locations
Total store square footage at fiscal 2,703,191 2,414,194 2,130,169 1,936,340 1,773,415
year-end
Average store square footage at
fiscal year-end:
North American retail stores 2,713 2,709 2,714 2,718 2,706
North American factory stores 5,089 4,673 4,539 4,536 4,304
Coach Japan locations 1,838 1,782 1,798 1,823 1,809
Coach China, Singapore, 1,915 1,833 1,696 1,629 1,547
Taiwan, Korea and Malaysia
locations

(1) Coach’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to June 30. Fiscal years 2013, 2012, 2011, and 2009 were each 52-week years. Fiscal
year 2010 was a 53-week year.

(2) During fiscal years 2013, 2012, 2011, and 2009, the Company recorded certain items which affect the comparability of our results.
The following tables reconcile the as reported results to such results excluding these items. See item 7, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” for further information on the items related to fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and

fiscal 2011.
Fiscal 2013

Net Income
Gross Profit SG&A Operating Income Amount Per Diluted Share
As Reported: $ 3,698,148 $2,173,607 $ 1,524,541 $ 1,034,420 $ 3.61
(GAAP Basis)
Excluding items affecting 4,800 (48,402) 53,202 32,568 0.11
comparability
Adjusted: $ 3,702,948 $2,125205 $ 1,577,743 $ 1,066,988 $ 3.73

(Non-GAAP Basis)
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Fiscal 2012
Net Income
SG&A Operating Income Amount Per Diluted Share
As Reported: (GAAP Basis) $ 1,954,089 $ 1,511,989 $ 1,038910 $ 3.53
Excluding items affecting (39,209) 39,209 0 0.00
comparability
Adjusted: (Non-GAAP Basis) $ 1,914,880 $ 1,551,198 § 1,038910 $ 3.53
Fiscal 2011
Net Income
SG&A Operating Income Amount Per Diluted Share
As Reported: (GAAP Basis) $ 1,718,617 $ 1,304,924 $ 880,800 $ 2.92
Excluding items affecting (25,678) 25,678 0 0.00
comparability
Adjusted: (Non-GAAP Basis) $ 1,692,939 $ 1,330,602 $ 880,800 $ 2.92
Fiscal 2009
Net Income
SG&A Operating Income Amount Per Diluted Share
As Reported: (GAAP Basis) $ 1,350,697 $ 971,913 $§ 623,369 $ 1.91
Excluding items affecting (28,365) 28,365 (1,241) 0.00
comparability(5 )
Adjusted: (Non-GAAP Basis) $ 1322332 $ 1,000,278 $ 622,128 $ 1.91

(3) During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company initiated a cash dividend at an annual rate of $0.30 per share. During the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company increased the cash dividend to an annual rate of $0.60 per share. During the fourth quarter of fiscal
2011, the Company increased the cash dividend to an annual rate of $0.90 per share. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, the
Company increased the cash dividend to an annual rate $1.20 per share. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company
increased the cash dividend to an expected annual rate $1.35 per share.

(4) The Company acquired its domestic retail businesses from its former distributors as follows: fiscal 2009 — Hong Kong, Macau and
mainland China; fiscal 2012 — Singapore and Taiwan; fiscal 2013 — Malaysia and Korea.

(5) Adjusted for a $15,000 contribution to the Coach Foundation, a $13,400 restructuring charge and an $18,800 favorable tax settlement
and other tax adjustments.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion of Coach’s financial condition and results of operations should be read together with Coach’s consolidated
financial statements and notes to those statements, included elsewhere in this document. When used herein, the terms “Coach,”
“Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Coach, Inc., including consolidated subsidiaries.

2 <

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Coach is a leading American design house of modern luxury accessories. Our product offerings include fine accessories and gifts for
women and men, including handbags, men’s bags, women’s and men’s small leather goods, footwear, outerwear, watches, weekend and
travel accessories, scarves, sunwear, fragrance, jewelry and related accessories. We are in the process of transforming Coach from an
international accessories business to a global lifestyle brand, anchored in accessories. We plan to accomplish this strategy by building upon
our strong management and design teams and enhancing and building out the Coach experience through expanded and new product
categories, notably footwear and outerwear, enhanced retail environments and integrated marketing communications.

Coach operates in two segments: North America and International. The North America segment includes sales to North American
consumers through Coach-operated stores (including Internet sales) and sales to wholesale customers and distributors. The International
segment includes sales to consumers through Coach-operated stores in Japan and mainland China (including Internet sales), Hong Kong
and Macau, Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia, Korea, and sales to wholesale customers and distributors in 25 countries. As Coach’s business
model is based on multi-channel global distribution, our success does not depend solely on the performance of a single channel or
geographic area.

In order to sustain growth within our global business, we focus on three key growth strategies: transformation to a lifestyle brand,
increased global distribution and improved store sales productivity. To that end we are focused on four key initiatives:

¢ Transform from a leading international accessories Company into a global lifestyle brand, anchored in accessories, presenting a
clear and compelling expression of the Coach woman and man across all product categories, store environments and brand imagery.

¢ Focus on the Men’s opportunity for the brand, notably in North America and Asia, by drawing on our long heritage in the category.
We are capitalizing on this opportunity by opening new standalone and dual gender stores and broadening the men’s assortment in
existing stores.

*  Leverage the global opportunity for Coach by raising brand awareness and building market share in markets where Coach is under-
penetrated, most notably in Asia and Europe. We are also developing the brand opportunity as we expand into South America and
Central America.

*  Harness the growing power of the digital world, accelerating the development of our digital programs and capabilities in North
America and worldwide, reflecting the change in consumer shopping behavior globally. Our intent is to rapidly drive further
innovation to engage with customers in this channel. Key elements include coach.com, our invitation-only factory flash sites, our
global e-commerce sites, marketing sites and social media.

We believe the growth strategies described above will allow us to deliver long-term superior returns on our investments and increased
cash flows from operating activities. However, intensified competition, the promotional environment, along with the current macroeconomic
environment, has created a challenging retail market. The Company believes strong long-term growth can be achieved through a combination
of brand transformation including expanded product offerings, additional distribution, a focus on innovation to support productivity and
disciplined expense control. With a strong balance sheet and significant cash position, and a business model that generates significant cash
flow, we are in a position to invest in our brand while continuing to return capital to shareholders.
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SUMMARY — FISCAL 2013
The key metrics for fiscal 2013 were:
*  Net sales increased 6.6% to $5.08 billion.
*  North America sales rose 4.9% to $3.48 billion.
®  Comparable store sales increased by 0.3% versus prior year.

®  Coach closed three net retail stores and opened 24 new factory stores including 10 Men’s, bringing the total number of retail and
factory stores to 351 and 193, respectively, at the end of fiscal 2013.

« International sales rose 9.9% to $1.54 billion, reflecting new and expanded stores.

®  Coach opened 30 net locations in China and 11 net locations in Japan. As of the end of fiscal 2013, the Company operated 191
locations in Japan, 126 in China, 48 in Korea, 27 in Taiwan, 10 in Malaysia, and seven in Singapore.

¢ International benefited from the results of the Company-operated Korea (47 retail and department stores) and Malaysia (10 retail
stores) businesses acquired during the first quarter of fiscal 2013, and the Taiwan (26 retail and department stores) business,
acquired during the third quarter of fiscal 2012.

e Operating income increased 0.8% to $1.52 billion.
*  Net income decreased 0.4% to $1.03 billion.
*  Earnings per diluted share increased 2.3% to $3.61.

*  Coach’s Board increased the Company’s cash dividend by 12.5% to an expected annual rate of $1.35 per share starting with the
dividend paid on July 1, 2013.

On a Non-GAAP basis, the key metrics for fiscal 2013 were:
e Operating income increased 1.7% to $1.58 billion.
*  Net income increased 2.7% to $1.07 billion.

*  Earnings per diluted share increased 5.5% to $3.73.
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FISCAL 2013 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2012

The following table summarizes results of operations for fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012:

Fiscal Year Ended
June 29, 2013 June 30, 2012 Variance
(dollars in millions, except per share data)
Amount % of Amount % of Amount %
net sales net sales

Net sales $ 5,075.4 100.0% $§ 4,763.2 100.0% $ 312.2 6.6%
Gross profit 3,698.1 72.9 3,466.1 72.8 232.0 6.7
Selling, general and 2,173.6 42.8 1,954.1 41.0 219.5 11.2

administrative

expenses
Operating income 1,524.5 30.0 1,512.0 31.7 12.5 0.8
Provision for income 486.1 9.6 466.8 9.8 19.3 4.1

taxes
Net income 1,034.4 20.4 1,038.9 21.8 4.5) 0.4)
Net income per share:

Basic $ 3.66 $ 3.60 $ 0.06 1.6%

Diluted 3.61 3.53 0.08 2.3
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Items Affecting Comparability

The Company’s reported results are presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”). The reported gross profit, selling, general and administrative expenses, operating income, income before provision for
income taxes, provision for income taxes, net income and earnings per diluted share in fiscal 2013 and 2012 reflect certain items which
affect the comparability of our results, as noted in the following tables. Refer to page 39 for a discussion on the Non-GAAP Measures.

COACH, INC.

GAAP TO NON-GAAP RECONCILIATION
For the Years Ended June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012
(in millions, except per share data)

June 29, 2013
GAAP Basis Restructuring and Non-GAAP Basis
(As Reported) Transformation (Excluding Items)
Gross profit $ 3,6981 $ 4.8) $ 3,702.9
Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 2,173.6 $ 48.4 $ 2,125.2
Operating income $ 1,5245 $ (53.2) $ 1,577.7
Income before provision for income $ 1,5205 $ (53.2) $ 1,573.7
taxes
Provision for income taxes $ 486.1 $ (20.6) $ 506.7
Net income $ 1,0344 $ (32.6) $ 1,067.0
Diluted net income per share $ 361 $ (0.11) $ 3.73
June 30, 2012
GAAP Basis Tax Charitable Non-GAAP Basis
(As Reported) Adjustment Contribution (Excluding Items)
Selling, general and administrative $ 19541 § — $ 39.2 $ 1,914.9
expenses
Operating income $ 11,5120 $ — $ (392 3 1,551.2
Income before provision for income taxes $ 1,505.7 $ — $ (392 3 1,544.9
Provision for income taxes $ 466.8 $ (239 $ (153) $ 506.0
Net income $ 10389 $ 239 $ @39 3 1,038.9
Diluted net income per share $ 353§ 0.08 $ (08 $ 3.53

Fiscal 2013 Items
Restructuring and Transformation

In fiscal 2013, the Company incurred restructuring and transformation related charges of $53.2 million. The charges recorded in
selling, general and administrative expenses and cost of sales were $48.4 million and $4.8 million, respectively. The charges include the
strategic reassessment of the Reed Krakoff business, streamlining our organizational model and reassessing the fleet of our retail stores and
inventories.

Additional actions are expected to continue into the first quarter of fiscal 2014, primarily related to the Reed Krakoff business.
Fiscal 2012 Items
Charitable Contributions and Tax Adjustments

During fiscal 2012, the Company decreased the provision for income taxes by $23.9 million, primarily as a result of recording the
effect of a revaluation of certain deferred tax asset balances due to a change in
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Japan’s corporate tax laws and the favorable settlement of a multi-year transfer pricing agreement with Japan. The Company used the net
income favorability to contribute an aggregate $39.2 million to the Coach Foundation.

Currency Fluctuation Effects

The percentage increase in sales in fiscal 2013 for Coach Japan have been presented both including and excluding currency fluctuation

effects from translating these foreign-denominated amounts into U.S. dollars and comparing these figures to the same periods in the prior
fiscal year.

We believe that presenting Coach Japan sales increases, including and excluding currency fluctuation effects, will help investors and
analysts to understand the effect on these valuable performance measures of significant year-over-year currency fluctuations.

Net Sales

The following table presents net sales by reportable segment for fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012:

Fiscal Year Ended
Total Net Sales Rate of Percentage of
Change Total Net Sales
June 29, June 30, June 29, June 30,
2013 20120 2013 20120
(dollars in millions)

North America $ 34782 §$ 3,316.9 4.9% 68.5% 69.7%
International 1,540.7 1,401.8 9.9 30.4 29.4
Other?) 56.5 445 27.0 1.1 0.9
Total net sales $ 50754 $ 47632 6.6 100.0% 100.0%

(1) Prior year segment data has been restated to reflect the Company’s revised reportable segment structure. See Note “Segment Information”
for a discussion of the change in reportable segments.

(2) Net sales in the other category, which is not a reportable segment, consists of sales generated in ancillary channels including licensing
and disposition.

Comparable store sales measure sales performance at stores that have been open for at least 12 months, and includes sales from the
Internet. Coach excludes new locations from the comparable store base for the first year of operation. Similarly, stores that are expanded by
15% or more are also excluded from the comparable store base until the first anniversary of their reopening. Beginning in fiscal 2014,
comparable store sales will not be adjusted for store expansions given our planned transformation related to capital investments.

North America

Net sales increased 4.9% to $3.48 billion during fiscal 2013 from $3.32 billion during fiscal 2012, primarily driven by sales from new
and expanded stores and a 0.3% increase in comparable store sales, partially offset by decreased shipments into wholesale stores. Significant
traffic improvement in the North American Internet business drove the slight comparable store sales increase. Since the end of fiscal 2012,

Coach opened 24 factory stores, including 10 Men’s, closed three net retail stores, and expanded six factory and one retail store in North
America.

International

Net sales increased 9.9% to $1.54 billion during fiscal 2013 from $1.40 billion during fiscal 2012, primarily driven by sales from new
and acquisition-related stores. Strong comparable store sales performance in Asia, led by double-digit percentage growth in China, and
increased shipments to international wholesale customers, driven by expanded distribution, were substantially offset by weak sales
performance in Japan and by the negative foreign exchange impact of the Yen, which decreased net sales by $82.2 million. Since the end of
fiscal 2012, International opened 42 net new stores (excluding those acquired as a result of the acquisitions), with 30 net new stores in
mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau, 11 net new stores in Japan and one net new store in the other regions. Fiscal 2013 results include
net sales of the Company-operated Malaysia and Korean businesses, which were acquired in the first quarter of 2013 as well as the benefit
of a full year of net sales from Taiwan, which was purchased in the third quarter of fiscal 2012.
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Operating Income

Operating income increased 0.8% to $1.52 billion during fiscal 2013 as compared to $1.51 billion in fiscal 2012. Operating margin
decreased to 30.0% as compared to 31.7% in fiscal 2012. Excluding items affecting comparability, operating income increased 1.7% to
$1.58 billion, or operating margin was 31.1%, in fiscal 2013. Excluding items affecting comparability, operating income was $1.55
billion, or operating margin was 32.6%, in fiscal 2012.

Gross profit increased 6.7% to $3.70 billion in fiscal 2013 from $3.47 billion during fiscal 2012. Gross margin in fiscal 2013 was
72.9% as compared to 72.8% during fiscal 2012. Excluding items affecting comparability, gross profit increased 6.8% to $3.70 billion, or
gross margin was 73.0%, in fiscal 2013.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses are comprised of four categories: (1) selling; (2) advertising, marketing and
design; (3) distribution and consumer service; and (4) administrative. Selling expenses include store employee compensation, occupancy
costs and supply costs, wholesale and retail account administration compensation globally and Coach international operating expenses.
These expenses are affected by the number of Coach-operated stores open during any fiscal period. Advertising, marketing and design
expenses include employee compensation, media space and production, advertising agency fees (primarily to support North America), new
product design costs, public relations and market research expenses. Distribution and consumer service expenses include warehousing,
order fulfillment, shipping and handling, customer service and bag repair costs. Administrative expenses include compensation costs for
“corporate” functions including: executive, finance, human resources, legal and information systems departments, as well as corporate
headquarters occupancy costs, consulting and software expenses.

Coach includes inbound product-related transportation costs from our service providers within cost of sales. The balance of the costs
related to our distribution network is included within selling, general and administrative expenses.

SG&A expenses increased 11.2% to $2.17 billion in fiscal 2013 as compared to $1.95 billion in fiscal 2012, driven by an increase in
selling expenses. As a percentage of net sales, SG&A expenses increased to 42.8% during fiscal 2013 as compared to 41.0% during fiscal
2012. Excluding items affecting comparability of $48.4 million in fiscal 2013, SG&A expenses were 41.9% as a percentage of net sales, in
fiscal 2013. Excluding items affecting comparability of $39.2 million in fiscal 2012, SG&A expenses were 40.2% as a percentage of net
sales, in fiscal 2012.

Selling expenses were $1.51 billion, or 29.8% of net sales, in fiscal 2013 compared to $1.36 billion, or 28.5% of net sales, in fiscal
2012. The dollar increase in selling expenses was due to International stores reflecting higher sales and new store openings, and higher North
American Internet expenses reflecting higher sales. International selling expenses overall increased as a percentage of sales, due to the
acquisitions of the Korea and Malaysia businesses and infrastructure investments to support Asia. China store expenses as a percentage of
sales decreased primarily due to operating efficiencies and sales leverage.

Advertising, marketing, and design costs were $265.4 million, or 5.2% of net sales, in fiscal 2013, compared to $245.2 million, or
5.1% of net sales, during fiscal 2012. The dollar increase was primarily due to creative and design expenditures and marketing expenses
related to digital media and consumer communications, which includes our digital strategy through coach.com, the launch of our Legacy
line, marketing sites and social networking. The Company utilizes and continues to explore implementing new technologies such as our
global web presence, with informational websites in 28 countries, social networking and blogs as cost-effective consumer communication
opportunities to increase online and store sales and build brand awareness.

Distribution and consumer service expenses were $86.1 million, or 1.7% of net sales, in fiscal 2013, compared to $68.9 million, or
1.4% of net sales, in fiscal 2012. The increase in distribution and consumer service expenses is primarily the result of the change in sales
mix to Internet purchases, resulting in increased packaging and shipping expense per dollar of sales.

Administrative expenses were $307.1 million, or 6.1% of net sales, in fiscal 2013 compared to $282.2 million, or 5.9% of net sales,
during fiscal 2012. The dollar increase is due to the restructuring and transformation charges, increased equity compensation and systems
investment to support international
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expansion. These increases were partially offset by the absence of a charitable contribution in fiscal 2013. Excluding items affecting
comparability of $48.4 million in fiscal 2013, administrative expenses were $258.7 million, or 5.1% as a percentage of net sales, in fiscal
2013. Excluding items affecting comparability of $39.2 million in fiscal 2012, administrative expenses were $243.0 million, or 5.1% as a
percentage of net sales, in fiscal 2012.

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was 32.0% in fiscal 2013, as compared to the 31.0% effective tax rate in fiscal 2012. During fiscal 2013, the
Company recognized a favorable tax settlement and the benefit of certain permanent adjustments related to executive compensation. During
fiscal 2012, the Company recorded the effect of a revaluation of certain deferred tax asset balances due to a change in Japan’s corporate tax
laws, the favorable completion of a multi-year transfer pricing agreement with Japan and a favorable tax settlement. Excluding the items
affecting comparability (see page 39), the effective tax rate was 32.2% and 32.8% in fiscal 2013 and 2012, respectively. The decline reflects
the favorable tax settlement and the benefit of certain permanent adjustments related to executive compensation, as well as the Company
earning a higher proportion of its profits in lower tax rate jurisdictions.

Net Income

Net income decreased 0.4% to $1.03 billion in fiscal 2013 as compared to $1.04 billion in fiscal 2012. Excluding items of
comparability, net income increased 2.7% to $1.07 billion in fiscal 2013, reflecting a 1.9% increase in income before provision for income
taxes and the lower effective tax rate.

Net Income per Diluted Share

Net income per diluted share grew 2.3% to $3.61 in fiscal 2013 as compared to $3.53 in fiscal 2012. Excluding items of comparability,
net income per diluted share grew 5.5% to $3.73 in fiscal 2013, reflecting share leverage due to repurchases of Coach’s common stock and
the higher net income.

FISCAL 2012 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2011

The following table summarizes results of operations for fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011:

Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 2012 July 2, 2011 Variance
(dollars in millions, except per share data)
Amount % of Amount % of Amount %
net sales net sales

Net sales $ 4,763.2 100.0% $4,158.5 100.0% $ 604.7 14.5%
Gross profit 3,466.1 72.8 3,023.5 72.7 442.6 14.6
Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,954.1 41.0 1,718.6 413 235.5 13.7
Operating income 1,512.0 31.7 1,304.9 314 207.1 15.9
Provision for income taxes 466.8 9.8 420.4 10.1 46.4 11.0
Net income 1,038.9 21.8 880.8 21.2 158.1 17.9
Net Income per share:

Basic $ 3.60 $ 299 $ 0.6l 20.5%

Diluted 3.53 2.92 0.61 20.9

Items Affecting Comparability

The Company’s reported results are presented in accordance with GAAP. The reported selling, general and administrative expenses,
operating income, income before provision for income taxes, provision for income taxes, net income and earnings per diluted share in fiscal
2012 and 2011 reflect certain items which affect the comparability of our results, as noted in the following tables. Refer to page 39 fora
discussion on the Non-GAAP Measures.
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COACH, INC.

GAAP TO NON-GAAP RECONCILIATION
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 and July 2, 2011
(in millions, except per share data)

June 30, 2012

GAAP Basis Tax Charitable Non-GAAP Basis
(As Reported) Adjustment Contribution (Excluding Items)
Selling, general and administrative expenses §$ 1,954.1 § — $ 39.2 $ 1,914.9
Operating income $ 15120 §$ — $ 39.2) $ 1,551.2
Income before provision for income $ 1,557 $ — $ (39.2) $ 1,544.9
taxes
Provision for income taxes $ 4668 $ (239) § (15.3) $ 506.0
Net income $ 1,0389 $ 23.9 $ (23.9) $ 1,038.9
Diluted net income per share $ 353 § 0.08 $ (0.08) $ 3.53
July 2, 2011
GAAP Basis Tax Charitable Non-GAAP Basis
(As Reported) Adjustment Contribution (Excluding Items)
Selling, general and administrative $ 1,7186 $ — $ 25.7 $ 1,692.9
expenses
Operating income $ 1,3049 $ — $ (25.7) $ 1,330.6
Income before provision for income taxes $ 13012 $ — $ (25.7) $ 1,326.9
Provision for income taxes $ 4204 $ (155 $ (10.2) $ 446.1
Net income $ 8808 § 15.5 $ (15.5) $ 880.8
Diluted net income per share $ 292 § 0.05 $ (0.05) $ 2.92

Fiscal 2012 and 2011 Items
Charitable Contributions and Tax Adjustments

During fiscal 2012, the Company decreased the provision for income taxes by $23.9 million, primarily as a result of recording the
effect of a revaluation of certain deferred tax asset balances due to a change in Japan’s corporate tax laws and the favorable settlement of a
multi-year transfer pricing agreement with Japan. The Company used the net income favorability to contribute an aggregate $39.2 million to
the Coach Foundation.

During fiscal 2011, the Company decreased the provision for income taxes by $15.5 million, primarily as a result of a favorable
settlement of a multi-year tax return examination. The Company used the net income favorability to contribute $20.9 million to the Coach
Foundation and 400 million yen or $4.8 million to the Japanese Red Cross Society.

Currency Fluctuation Effects

The percentage increase in sales in fiscal 2012 for Coach Japan have been presented both including and excluding currency fluctuation
effects from translating these foreign-denominated amounts into U.S. dollars and comparing these figures to the same periods in the prior
fiscal year.

We believe that presenting Coach Japan sales, including and excluding currency fluctuation effects, will help investors and analysts to
understand the effect on these valuable performance measures of significant year-over-year currency fluctuations.
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Net Sales
The following table presents net sales by reportable segment for fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011:
Fiscal Year Ended
Total Net Sales'!) Rate of Percentage of Total Net Sales(")
June 30, July 2, Change June 30, July 2,
2012 2011 2012 2011
(dollars in millions)
North America $ 33169 § 29747 11.5% 69.7% 71.5%
International 1,401.8 1,147.4 22.2 294 27.6
Other® 44.5 36.4 222 0.9 0.9
Total net sales $ 47632 $ 4,1585 14.5 100.0% 100.0%

(1) Segment data has been restated to reflect the Company’s revised reportable segment structure. See Note “Segment Information” for a
discussion of the change in reportable segments.

(2) Net sales in the other category, which is not a reportable segment, consists of sales generated in ancillary channels including licensing
and disposition.

North America

Net sales increased 11.5% to $3.32 billion during fiscal 2012 from $2.97 billion during fiscal 2011, primarily driven by sales from
new and expanded stores and a 6.6% increase in comparable store sales partially offset by decreased shipments into wholesale stores.
During fiscal 2012, Coach opened 9 net new retail stores and 26 new factory stores, and expanded 10 factory stores in North America.

International

Net sales increased 22.2% to $1.40 billion during fiscal 2012 from $1.15 billion during fiscal 2011, primarily driven by sales from
new and acquisition-related stores, increased shipments to wholesale customers, driven by expanded distribution, and double-digit
percentage growth in China comparable store sales. Additionally, sales were helped by the 5.3% positive foreign exchange impact of the Yen,
which increased Japan sales by $40.1 million. During fiscal 2012, Coach opened 11 net new locations and expanded three locations in
Japan, and opened 30 net new stores in Hong Kong and mainland China. Fiscal 2012 results include net sales of the Company-operated
Singapore and Taiwan businesses, which were acquired in the first quarter and third quarter of fiscal 2012, respectively.

Operating Income

Operating income increased 15.9% to $1.51 billion in fiscal 2012 as compared to $1.30 billion in fiscal 2011. Excluding items
affecting comparability of $39.2 million in fiscal 2012 and $25.7 million in fiscal 2011, operating income increased 16.6% to $1.55
billion. Operating margin increased to 31.7% as compared to 31.4% in the prior year, as gross margin increased while SG&A expenses

decreased as a percentage of sales. Excluding items affecting comparability, operating margin was 32.6% in fiscal 2012 as compared to
32.0% in fiscal 2011.

Gross profit increased 14.6% to $3.47 billion in fiscal 2012 from $3.02 billion in fiscal 2011. Gross margin was 72.8% in fiscal 2012
as compared to 72.7% during fiscal 2011. Coach’s gross profit is dependent upon a variety of factors, including changes in the relative
sales mix among distribution channels, changes in the mix of products sold, foreign currency exchange rates and fluctuations in material
costs. These factors, among others may cause gross profit to fluctuate from year to year.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses are comprised of four categories: (1) selling; (2) advertising, marketing and
design; (3) distribution and consumer service; and (4) administrative. Selling expenses include store employee compensation, occupancy
costs and supply costs, wholesale and retail account administration compensation globally and Coach international operating expenses.
These expenses are affected by the number of Coach-operated stores open during any fiscal period. Advertising, marketing and design
expenses include employee compensation, media space and production, advertising agency fees (primarily to support North America), new
product design costs, public relations and market research expenses. Distribution and consumer service expenses include warehousing,
order fulfillment, shipping and
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handling, customer service and bag repair costs. Administrative expenses include compensation costs for the executive, finance, human
resources, legal and information systems departments, corporate headquarters occupancy costs, consulting and software expenses.

Coach includes inbound product-related transportation costs from our service providers within cost of sales. The balance of the costs
related to our distribution network is included within selling, general and administrative expenses.

During fiscal 2012, SG&A expenses increased 13.7% to $1.95 billion, compared to $1.72 billion during fiscal 2011. Excluding items
affecting comparability of $39.2 million in fiscal 2012 and $25.7 million in fiscal 2011, SG&A expenses were $1.91 billion and $1.69
billion, respectively. As a percentage of net sales, SG&A expenses were 41.0% and 41.3% during fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively.
Excluding items affecting comparability during fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales were 40.2% and
40.7%, respectively, as we leveraged our selling expense base on higher sales.

Selling expenses were $1.36 billion, or 28.5% of net sales compared to $1.18 billion, or 28.5% of net sales, during fiscal 2011. The
dollar increase in selling expenses was due to higher operating expenses in Coach China and North American stores due to higher sales and
new store openings. Coach Japan operating expenses decreased by $0.4 million in constant currency, but was more than offset by the impact
of foreign currency exchange rates which increased reported expenses by approximately $15.2 million.

Advertising, marketing, and design costs were $245.2 million, or 5.1% of net sales, compared to $224.4 million, or 5.4% of net sales,
during fiscal 2011. The dollar increase was primarily due to marketing expenses related to consumer communications, which includes our
digital strategy through coach.com, our global e-commerce sites, third-party flash sites, marketing sites and social networking. The
Company operates marketing websites in 23 countries, and utilizes social networking and blogs as cost-effective consumer communication
opportunities to increase online and store sales and build brand awareness. Also contributing to the increase were new design expenditures
and development costs for new merchandising initiatives.

Distribution and consumer service expenses were $68.9 million, or 1.4% of net sales, compared to $58.2 million, or 1.4% of net sales,
during fiscal 2011.

Administrative expenses were $282.2 million, or 5.9% of net sales, compared to $252.4 million, or 6.1% of net sales, during fiscal
2011. Excluding items affecting comparability of $39.2 in fiscal 2012 and $25.7 million in fiscal 2011, expenses were $243.0 million and
$226.7 million, respectively, representing 5.1% and 5.5% of net sales, respectively. The dollar increase in administrative expenses was
primarily due to increased headcount and systems investment, largely due to our international expansion.

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was 31.0% in fiscal 2012 compared to 32.3% in fiscal 2011. During the second quarter of fiscal 2012, the
Company recorded the effect of a revaluation of certain deferred tax asset balances due to a change in Japan’s corporate tax laws and the
favorable completion of a multi-year transfer pricing agreement with Japan. Also, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, the Company
recognized a favorable tax settlement. As a result, it made charitable contributions which precisely offset the benefit of the tax settlement to
net income and earnings per share. During the third quarter of fiscal 2011, the Company decreased the provision for income taxes primarily
as a result of a favorable settlement of a multi-year tax return examination. Excluding the benefit from these items affecting comparability,
the effective tax rate was 32.8% in fiscal 2012 and 33.6% in fiscal 2011. The decrease in the effective tax rate is also attributable to higher
profitability in lower tax rate jurisdictions in which income is earned, due to the increased globalization of the Company, and a lower
effective state tax rate.

Net Income

Net income was $1.04 billion in fiscal 2012 compared to $880.8 million in fiscal 2011. The increase was due to the higher operating
income and a reduction of the effective tax rate.

Net Income per Diluted Share

Net income per diluted share grew 20.9% to $3.53 in fiscal 2012 as compared to $2.92 in fiscal 2011. This growth primarily reflected
the higher net income.

38



TABLE OF CONTENTS

FISCAL 2013, FISCAL 2012 AND FISCAL 2011 ITEMS AFFECTING COMPARABILITY OF OUR FINANCIAL RESULTS
Non-GAAP Measures

The Company’s reported results are presented in accordance with GAAP. The reported gross profit, SG&A expenses, operating income,
provision for income taxes, net income and earnings per diluted share in fiscal 2013 reflect certain items which affect the comparability of
our results. Similarly, the reported SG&A expenses, operating income, and provision for income taxes in fiscal 2012 and 2011 reflect
certain items which affect the comparability of our results. These metrics are also reported on a non-GAAP basis for these fiscal years to
exclude the impact of these items.

These non-GAAP performance measures were used by management to conduct and evaluate its business during its regular review of
operating results for the periods affected. Management and the Company’s Board utilized these non-GAAP measures to make decisions
about the uses of Company resources, analyze performance between periods, develop internal projections and measure management
performance. The Company’s primary internal financial reporting excluded these items affecting comparability. In addition, the
compensation committee of the Company’s Board used these non-GAAP measures when setting and assessing achievement of incentive
compensation goals.

We believe these non-GAAP measures are useful to investors in evaluating the Company’s ongoing operating and financial results and
understanding how such results compare with the Company’s historical performance. In addition, we believe excluding the items affecting
comparability assists investors in developing expectations of future performance. By providing the non-GAAP measures, as a supplement to
GAAP information, we believe we are enhancing investors’ understanding of our business and our results of operations. The non-GAAP
financial measures are limited in their usefulness and should be considered in addition to, and not in lieu of, U.S. GAAP financial
measures. Further, these non-GAAP measures may be unique to the Company, as they may be different from non-GAAP measures used by
other companies.

For a detailed discussion on these non-GAAP measures, see the Results of Operations section within Item 7. Management’s Discussion
and Analysis.
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The comparisons of our financial results are affected by the following items included in our reported results:
Fiscal Year Ended

(dollars in millions, except per share data)
June 29,2013  June 30, 2012 July 2, 2011

Gross profit
Restructuring and transformation charges(l) $ “38) $ — $ —
Total Gross profit impact $ 48) 3 = $ —
SG&A
Restructuring and transformation charges(l) $ 484 $ — $ —
Charitable foundation contribution® — 39.2 25.7
Total Operating income impact $ 484 $ 392 $ 25.7
Operating income
Restructuring and transformation charges(l) $ (53.2) $ — $ —
Charitable foundation contribution® (39.2) (25.7)

Total Operating income impact $ (532) $ (392) $ (25.7)
Provision for income taxes

Restructuring and transformation charges ! $ (o06) S — 3 —
Charitable foundation contribution — (15.3) (10.2)
Tax adjustments(2) — (23.9) (15.5)
Total Provision for income taxes impact $ (206 $ (392) $ (25.7)
Net income
Restructuring and transformation charges (! $ (326) $ — 3 —
Charitable foundation contribution® — 23.9 (15.5)
Tax adjustments(z) — (23.9) 15.5
Total Net income impact $ (326) $ 00 $ 0.0
Diluted earnings per share
Restructuring and transformation charges " $ (@©11) $ — $ —
Charitable foundation contribution® — 0.08 (0.05)
Tax adjustments(2) — (0.08) 0.05
Total Diluted earnings per share impact $ (@©11) $ 000 3 0.00

(1) Charges primarily related to corporate restructuring severance related expenses and impairment charges related to retail stores and
inventory.

(2) Charitable contributions precisely offset the benefit of tax settlements and in fiscal 2012, a revaluation of certain Japan related deferred
tax asset balances due to a change in Japan's corporate tax laws.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION
Cash Flows
Fiscal Year Ended
(dollars in millions) June 29, June 30, Change
2013 2012

Net cash provided by operating activities $1,413,974 $1,221,689 $ 192,285
Net cash used in investing activities (570,500) (259,426) (311,074)
Net cash used in financing activities (689,106) (741,881) 52,775
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (8,798) (2,949) (5,849)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 145570 $§ 217433 $§ (71,863)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

The net increase in cash and cash equivalents declined $71.9 million in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 primarily due to purchases
of investments, lower proceeds and excess tax benefits related to share based awards,our investment in the Hudson Yards joint venture in
fiscal year 2013, higher dividend payments, and higher capital expenditures. These were partially offset by lower share repurchases and
increased cash provided by operations.

Net cash provided by operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $192.3 million primarily due to a $121.1 million year-over-year improvement in
operating assets and liabilities, lower excess tax benefit related to share-based compensation of $41.2 million in fiscal 2013, and higher non-
cash expense items of $34.5 million. The change in operating assets and liabilities benefitted primarily from the fiscal 2013 collection of an
income tax refund and a year-over-year reduction in the growth of inventory and accounts receivable. The inventory benefit was due to
lapping the significant growth in fiscal 2012 inventory, when compared to an unusually low balance at the end of fiscal 2011. The increase
in non-cash expenses reflected higher depreciation and the non-cash portion of the fiscal 2013 restructuring charges, partially offset by the
year-over-year change in the deferred income tax provision.

Net cash used in investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $570.5 in fiscal 2013 compared to $259.4 million in fiscal 2012, with the increase of $311.1
million driven by purchases of investments, investment in the Hudson Yards joint venture and higher planned capital investment. During
fiscal 2013, the Company invested $100.8 million in a corporate debt securities portfolio through one of its subsidiaries outside of the U.S.,
consisting of high-credit quality U.S. and non-U.S. issued corporate debt securities, and $70.0 million in time deposits, with no similar
investment activity in the prior fiscal year period. During fiscal 2013, the Company invested $93.9 million in a joint venture agreement
with Related Parties, L.P. to develop a new office tower in Manhattan, known as Hudson Yards, that will serve as the Company’s
headquarters. Purchases of property and equipment were $241.4 million in fiscal 2013, or $57.0 million higher than fiscal 2013, primarily
reflecting store related capital expenditures, and $24.8 million of direct capital for our new corporate headquarters.

Net cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $689.1 million in fiscal 2013, or a decrease of $52.8 million as compared to the prior fiscal
year period. This net decrease was primarily attributable to $300.0 million lower expenditures for common stock repurchases partially offset
by $104.6 million lower net proceeds from share-based awards, $79.4 million higher dividend payments, and $41.2 million of lower
excess tax benefits from share-based awards. The higher dividend payments were due to an increased dividend rate per share.

Revolving Credit Facilities

On June 18, 2012, the Company established a $400 million revolving credit facility with certain lenders and JP Morgan Chase Bank,
N.A. as the primary lender and administrative agent (the “JP Morgan facility”) with an maturity date of June 2017. On March 26, 2013, the
Company amended the JP Morgan facility to
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expand available aggregate revolving commitments to $700 million and to extend the maturity date to March 26, 2018. The JP Morgan
facility is available to finance the seasonal working capital requirements and general corporate purposes of the Company and its
subsidiaries. At Coach’s request and lenders’ consent, revolving commitments of the JP Morgan facility may be increased to $1 billion. At
June 29, 2013 and during fiscal 2013, there were no outstanding borrowings under the JP Morgan facility.

Borrowings under the JP Morgan Facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at Coach’s option, either (a) a rate based on the rates
applicable for deposits in the interbank market for U.S. dollars or the applicable currency in which the loans are made plus an applicable
margin or (b) an alternate base rate (which is a rate equal to the greatest of (1) the Prime Rate in effect on such day, (2) the Federal Funds
Effective Rate in effect on such day plus 2 of 1% or (3) the Adjusted LIBO Rate for a one month Interest Period on such day plus 1%).
Additionally, Coach pays a commitment fee on the average daily unused amount of the JP Morgan Facility, and certain fees with respect to
letters of credit that are issued. At June 29, 2013, the commitment fee was 7.5 basis points.

The JP Morgan facility contains various covenants and customary events of default. Coach is in compliance with all covenants of the JP
Morgan facility.

Coach Japan maintains credit facilities with several Japanese financial institutions to provide funding for working capital and general
corporate purposes, with maximum borrowing capacity of 5.3 billion yen, or approximately $53 million at June 29, 2013. Interest is based
on the Tokyo Interbank rate plus a margin of 25 to 30 basis points. At June 29, 2013 and during fiscal 2013, there were no outstanding
borrowings under these facilities.

Coach Shanghai Limited maintains a credit facility to provide funding for working capital and general corporate purposes, with a
maximum borrowing capacity of 63.0 million Chinese renminbi, or approximately $10 million at June 29, 2013. Interest is based on the
People's Bank of China rate. At June 29, 2013 and during fiscal 2013, there were no outstanding borrowings under this facility.

Both the Coach Japan and Coach Shanghai Limited credit facilities can be terminated at any time by either party, and there is no
guarantee that they will be available to the Company in future periods.

Common Stock Repurchase Program

In January 2011, the Board approved a common stock repurchase program to acquire up to $1.5 billion of Coach’s outstanding
common stock through June 2013. In October 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a new common stock repurchase program
to acquire up to $1.5 billion of Coach’s outstanding common stock through June 2015.

Purchases of Coach common stock are made subject to market conditions and at prevailing market prices, through open market
purchases. Repurchased shares become authorized but unissued shares and may be issued in the future for general corporate and other uses.
The Company may terminate or limit the stock repurchase program at any time.

During fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, the Company repurchased and retired 7.1 million and 10.7 million shares, respectively, or $400.0
million and $700.0 million of common stock, respectively, at an average cost of $56.61 and $65.49, respectively. As of June 29, 2013,
Coach had $1,361.6 million remaining in the stock repurchase program.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our sources of liquidity are the cash flows generated from our operations, our available cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments, our non-current investments, the $700 million available under our JP Morgan facility, the availability under our Japan and
Shanghai credit facilities, and our other available financing options. More than two-thirds of our cash and short-term investments are held
outside the U.S. in jurisdictions where we intend to permanently reinvest our undistributed earnings to support our continued growth. We
are not dependent on foreign cash to fund our domestic operations. We believe that our existing sources of liquidity, as well as our ability to
access capital markets, will be sufficient to support our operating, capital, and debt service requirements for the foreseeable future,
including the ongoing development of our recently acquired businesses and our plans for further business expansion.
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We had no revolving credit borrowings outstanding under our credit facilities as of June 29, 2013. We may elect to draw on our credit
facilities or other potential sources of financing for, among other things, a material acquisition, settlement of a material contingency
(including uncertain tax positions), or a material adverse business or macroeconomic development, as well as for other general corporate
business purposes.

We believe that our JP Morgan facility is adequately diversified with no undue concentrations in any one financial institution. As of June
29, 2013, there were nine financial institutions participating in the facility, with no one participant maintaining a maximum commitment
percentage in excess of 16%. We have no reason at this time to believe that the participating institutions will be unable to fulfill their
obligations to provide financing in accordance with the terms of the facility in the event we elect to draw funds in the foreseeable future.

For the fiscal year ending June 28, 2014, the Company expects total capital expenditures to be approximately $280 million. Capital
expenditures will be primarily for new stores in North America and Asia to support our global expansion. We will also continue to invest in
department store and distributor locations and corporate infrastructure, primarily technology. These investments will be financed primarily
from on hand cash and operating cash flows.

Coach experiences significant seasonal variations in its working capital requirements. During the first fiscal quarter Coach builds
inventory for the holiday selling season, opens new retail stores and generates higher levels of trade receivables. In the second fiscal quarter
its working capital requirements are reduced substantially as Coach generates consumer sales and collects wholesale accounts receivable. In
fiscal 2013, Coach purchased approximately $1.4 billion of inventory, which was funded by on hand cash and operating cash flows.

In April 2013, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with the Related Companies, L.P. to develop a new office tower in
Manhattan in the Hudson Yards district. The formation of the joint venture serves as a financing vehicle for the project, with the Company
owning less than 43%. Upon completion of the office tower in 2015, the Company will retain a condominium interest serving as its new
corporate headquarters. During fiscal 2013, the Company invested $93.9 million in the joint venture. The Company expects to invest
approximately $440 million over the next three years. Depending on construction progress, the Company’s latest estimate contemplates an
investment range of $130 million to $160 million in fiscal 2014. Outside of the joint venture, Coach is directly investing in aspects of the
new corporate headquarters. In fiscal 2013, $24.8 million was included in capital expenditures and we expect an additional $190 million
over the period of construction. The joint venture investments and capital expenditures (the purchase of the new headquarters) will be
financed by the Company with cash on hand, borrowings under its credit facility and approximately $130 million of proceeds from the sale
of its current headquarters buildings.

Management believes that cash flow from operations, on hand cash, cash equivalents and its credit lines will provide adequate funds
for the foreseeable working capital needs, planned capital expenditures, dividend payments and the common stock repurchase program.
Any future acquisitions or joint ventures, and other similar transactions may require additional capital. There can be no assurance that any
such capital will be available to Coach on acceptable terms or at all. Coach’s ability to fund its working capital needs, planned capital
expenditures, dividend payments and scheduled debt payments, as well as to comply with all of the financial covenants under its debt
agreements, depends on its future operating performance and cash flow, which in turn are subject to prevailing economic conditions and to
financial, business and other factors, some of which are beyond Coach’s control.

Commitments

Besides the credit facilities noted previously, at June 29, 2013 the Company had a separate $200 million letter of credit arrangement in
place, and $14.9 million of letters of credit outstanding. These letters of credit, which expire at various dates through 2014, primarily
collateralize the Company’s obligation to third parties for the purchase of inventory.

As previously noted, the Company expects to invest approximately $440 million in the joint venture over the next three years, with
approximately $130 million to $160 million estimated in fiscal 2014, depending on
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construction progress. See Note “Subsequent Events” for information related to the fiscal 2014 sale of the Reed Krakoff business and the
acquisition of our European joint venture.

Contractual Obligations

As of June 29, 2013, Coach’s contractual obligations are as follows:

(dollars in millions) Total Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal 2019 Other®
2014 2015-2016 2017-2018 and Beyond
Capital expenditure commitments $ 79 $ 79 $ — 3 — 3 — 3 —
Inventory purchase obligations 185.8 185.8 — — — —
New corporate headquarters joint venture (@ 440.0 140.0 300.0 — — —
Operating leases 1,088.0 196.5 335.5 230.4 325.6 —
Gross unrecognized tax benefits, including 166.1 2.0 4.0 — — 160.1
interest and penalties
Total $ 1,887.8 § 5322 § 6395 $§ 2304 $§ 3256 S$ 160.1

(1) Payments are estimated and can vary based on construction progress.
(2) The amounts in “Other” represent future cash outlays for which we are unable to reasonably estimate the period of cash settlement.

The table above excludes the following: amounts included in current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at June 29, 2013 as
these items will be paid within one year; long-term liabilities not requiring cash payments and cash contributions for the Company’s
pension plans.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from estimates in amounts that may be material to the financial statements. Predicting future
events is inherently an imprecise activity and, as such, requires the use of judgment. Actual results could differ from estimates in amounts
that may be material to the financial statements. The development and selection of the Company’s critical accounting policies and estimates
are periodically reviewed with the Audit Committee of the Board.

The accounting policies discussed below are considered critical because changes to certain judgments and assumptions inherent in these
policies could affect the financial statements. For more information on Coach’s accounting policies, please refer to the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Investments

Long-term investments primarily consist of high-credit quality U.S. and non-U.S. issued corporate debt securities, classified as
available-for-sale, and recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses recorded in other comprehensive income. Short-term
investments consist primarily of time deposits with original maturities greater than three months and with maturities within one year of
balance sheet date. Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned.

Investments in companies in which the Company has significant influence, but less than a controlling financial interest, are accounted
for using the equity method. Significant influence is generally presumed to exist when the Company owns between 20% and 50% of the
investee, however, other factors should be considered, such as board representation and the rights to participate in the day-to-day operations
of the business.

Additionally, GAAP requires the consolidation of all entities for which a Company has a controlling voting interest and all variable
interest entities (“VIEs”) for which a Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary. An entity is generally a VIE if it meets any of the
following criteria: (i) the entity has insufficient equity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties, (ii) the equity investors cannot make significant decisions about the entity’s operations or (iii) the voting rights of some investors are
not proportional to their obligations to absorb the expected losses of the entity or receive the expected returns of the entity and substantially all
of the entity’s activities involve or are conducted on behalf of the investor with disproportionately few voting rights.

From time to time, Coach may make an investment that requires judgment in determining whether the entity is a VIE. If it is determined
that the entity is a VIE, the Company must assess whether it is the primary beneficiary.

Inventories

The Company’s inventories are reported at the lower of cost or market. Inventory costs include material, conversion costs, freight and
duties and are determined by the first-in, first-out method. The Company reserves for slow-moving and aged inventory based on historical
experience, current product demand and expected future demand. A decrease in product demand due to changing customer tastes, buying
patterns or increased competition could impact Coach’s evaluation of its slow-moving and aged inventory and additional reserves might be
required. At June 29, 2013, a 10% change in the reserve for slow-moving and aged inventory would have resulted in an insignificant change
in inventory and cost of sales.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized by the Company when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, delivery has occurred (and risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer), price has been fixed or is determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured.

Retail store and concession-based shop-within-shop revenues are recognized at the point of sale, which occurs when merchandise is sold
in an over-the-counter consumer transaction. These revenues are recognized
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net of estimated returns at the time of sale to consumers. Internet revenue from sales of products ordered through the Company’s e-commerce
sites is recognized upon delivery and receipt of the shipment by its customers and includes shipping and handling charges paid by
customers. Internet revenue is also reduced by an estimate for returns.

Wholesale revenue is recognized at the time title passes and risk of loss is transferred to customers. Wholesale revenue is recorded net of
estimates of returns, discounts, and markdown allowances. Returns and allowances require pre-approval from management and discounts
are based on trade terms. Estimates for markdown reserves are based on historical trends, actual and forecasted seasonal results, an
evaluation of current economic and market conditions, retailer performance, and, in certain cases, contractual terms. The Company reviews
and refines these estimates on at least a quarterly basis. The Company’s historical estimates of these costs have not differed materially from
actual results.

At June 29, 2013, a 10% change in the allowances for estimated uncollectible accounts, discounts and returns would have resulted in an
insignificant change in accounts receivable and net sales.

Gift cards issued by the Company are recorded as a liability until they are redeemed, at which point revenue is recognized. The
Company recognizes income for unredeemed gift cards when the likelihood of a gift card being redeemed by a customer is remote, which is
approximately two years after the gift card is issued, and the Company determines that it does not have a legal obligation to remit the value
of the unredeemed gift card to the relevant jurisdiction as unclaimed or abandoned property. Revenue associated with gift card breakage is
not material to the Company’s net operating results.

The Company accounts for sales taxes and other related taxes on a net basis, excluding such taxes from revenue.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill and certain other intangible assets deemed to have indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are assessed for impairment at
least annually. The Company has no finite-lived intangible assets.

The Company uses a quantitative goodwill impairment test, which is a two-step process. The first step is to identify the existence of
potential impairment by comparing the fair value of each reporting unit with its net book value, including goodwill. If the fair value of a
reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, the reporting unit's goodwill is considered not to be impaired and performance of the second step of
the quantitative goodwill impairment test is unnecessary.

If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second step of the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the
amount of impairment loss, if any. The second step of the goodwill impairment test compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s
goodwill with the carrying value of that goodwill. If the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. The implied fair value of goodwill is allocated in the same
manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in a business combination. In other words, the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all
of the assets and liabilities of that unit as if the reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination and the fair value was the
purchase price paid to acquire the reporting unit.

Determination of the fair value of a reporting unit and the fair value of individual assets and liabilities of a reporting unit is judgmental
in nature and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions could have a significant
impact on whether or not an impairment charge is recognized and the amount of any such charge. Estimates of fair value are primarily
determined using discounted cash flows, market comparisons, and recent transactions. These approaches use significant estimates and
assumptions, including projected future cash flows, discount rates, growth rates, and determination of appropriate market comparables.

The Company performed its annual impairment assessment of goodwill during the third quarter of each fiscal year. The Company
determined that there was no impairment in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 or fiscal 2011.
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Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, are evaluated for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. The evaluation is based on a review of forecasted operating cash flows and the
profitability of the related asset group. An impairment loss is recognized if the forecasted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the
asset. Similar to prior fiscal years, when assessing store assets for impairment in fiscal 2013, the Company analyzed the cash flows at an
individual store-by-store level, which is the lowest level for identifiable cash flows. The Company recorded impairment losses of $16.6
million in fiscal 2013. The Company did not record any impairment losses in fiscal 2012 or fiscal 2011.

In determining future cash flows, we take various factors into account, including changes in merchandising strategy, the emphasis on
retail store cost controls, the effects of macroeconomic trends such as consumer spending, the impacts of the experienced level of retail store
managers and the level of advertising. Since the determination of future cash flows is an estimate of future performance, there may be future
impairments in the event that future cash flows do not meet expectations.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes the cost of equity awards to employees and the non-employee Directors, based on the grant-date fair value of
those awards. The grant-date fair value of stock option awards is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and involves
several assumptions, including the expected term of the option, expected volatility and dividend yield. The expected term of options
represents the period of time that the options granted are expected to be outstanding and is based on historical experience. Expected volatility
is based on historical volatility of the Company’s stock as well as the implied volatility from publicly traded options on Coach’s stock.
Dividend yield is based on the current expected annual dividend per share and the Company’s stock price. Changes in the assumptions
used to determine the Black-Scholes value could result in significant changes in the Black-Scholes value. However, a 10% change in the
Black-Scholes value would have resulted in an insignificant change in fiscal 2013 share-based compensation expense.

For stock options and share unit awards, the Company recognizes share-based compensation net of estimated forfeitures and revises the
estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from the estimates. We estimate the forfeiture rate based on historical experience as
well as expected future behavior.

The Company grants performance-based share awards to certain key executives, the vesting of which is subject to the executive’s
continuing employment and the Company's achievement of certain performance goals. On a quarterly basis, the Company assesses actual
performance versus the predetermined performance goals, and adjusts the share-based compensation expense to reflect the relative
performance achievement. Actual distributed shares are calculated upon conclusion of the service and performance periods, and include
dividend equivalent shares. If the performance-based award incorporates a market condition, the grant-date fair value of such award is
determined using a pricing model, such as a Monte Carlo Simulation.

Income Taxes

The Company’s effective tax rate is based on pre-tax income, statutory tax rates, tax laws and regulations, and tax planning strategies
available in the various jurisdictions in which Coach operates. The Company classifies interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions in
the provision for income taxes. We record net deferred tax assets to the extent we believe that it is more likely than not that these assets will be
realized. In making such determination, we consider all available evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected
future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent results of operation. We reduce our deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if,
based upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some amount of deferred tax assets is not expected to be realized.
In fiscal 2013, the Company changed its policy for disclosure of valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets whose realization is
deemed remote from a net to a gross basis.

In accordance with ASC 740-10, the Company recognizes the impact of tax positions in the financial statements if those positions will
more likely than not be sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. Although we believe that the estimates and
assumptions we use are reasonable and legally supportable, the final determination of tax audits could be different than that which is
reflected in historical
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tax provisions and recorded assets and liabilities. Tax authorities periodically audit the Company’s income tax returns, and in specific
cases, the tax authorities may take a contrary position that could result in a significant impact on our results of operations. Significant

management judgment is required in determining the effective tax rate, in evaluating our tax positions and in determining the net realizable
value of deferred tax assets.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Standards Codification Topic 220, “Comprehensive Income,” was amended in June 2011 to require entities to present the
total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single
continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. The amendment does not change the items that
must be reported in other comprehensive income or when an item of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income under
current GAAP. This guidance was effective for the Company’s fiscal year and interim periods beginning July 1, 2012. The adoption of this
amendment did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In September 2011, Accounting Standards Codification 350-20, “ Intangibles — Goodwill and Other — Goodwill ,” was amended to
allow entities to assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more-likely-than-not that goodwill might be impaired, and whether it is
necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test required under current accounting standards. This guidance was effective for the

Company’s fiscal year beginning July 1, 2012. The adoption of this amendment did not have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market Risk

The market risk inherent in our financial instruments represents the potential loss in fair value, earnings or cash flows, arising from
adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates or interest rates. Coach manages these exposures through operating and financing
activities and, when appropriate, through the use of derivative financial instruments. The use of derivative financial instruments is in
accordance with Coach’s risk management policies. Coach does not enter into derivative transactions for speculative or trading purposes.

The quantitative disclosures in the following discussion are based on quoted market prices obtained through independent pricing
sources for the same or similar types of financial instruments, taking into consideration the underlying terms and maturities and theoretical
pricing models.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Foreign currency exposures arise from transactions, including firm commitments and anticipated contracts, denominated in a currency
other than the entity’s functional currency, and from foreign-denominated revenues and expenses translated into U.S. dollars. Substantially
all of Coach’s purchases and sales involving international parties, excluding international consumer sales, are denominated in U.S. dollars
and, therefore, are not subject to foreign currency exchange risk. The Company is exposed to risk from foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations resulting from its foreign operating subsidiaries” U.S. dollar denominated inventory purchases. To mitigate such risk, Coach
Japan and Coach Canada enter into foreign currency derivative contracts, primarily zero-cost collar options. As of June 29, 2013 and June
30, 2012, foreign currency contracts designated as hedges with a notional amount of $193.4 million and $310.9 million, respectively, were
outstanding.

Coach is also exposed to market risk from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations with respect to various cross-currency
intercompany and related party loans. These loans are denominated in various foreign currencies, with a total principal amount of $253.0
million and $286.4 million as of June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, respectively. To manage the exchange rate risk related to these loans, the
Company entered into forward exchange and cross-currency swap contracts, the terms of which include the exchange of foreign currency
fixed interest for U.S. dollar fixed interest and an exchange of the foreign currency and U.S. dollar based notional values at the maturity
dates of the contracts, the latest of which is May 2014. As of June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, the total notional values of outstanding
forward exchange and cross-currency swap contracts related to these loans were $147.6 million and $206.6 million, respectively.

The fair value of open foreign currency derivatives included in current assets at June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012 was $4.5 million and
$1.5 million, respectively. The fair value of open foreign currency derivatives included in current liabilities at June 29, 2013 and June 30,
2012 was $2.9 million and $4.1 million, respectively. The fair value of these contracts is sensitive to changes in foreign currency exchange
rates.

Interest Rate
Coach is exposed to interest rate risk in relation to its investments and revolving credit facilities.

The Company’s investment portfolio is maintained in accordance with the Company’s investment policy, which defines our investment
principles including credit quality standards and limits the credit exposure of any single issuer. The primary objective of our investment
activities is the preservation of principal while maximizing interest income and minimizing risk. We do not hold any investments for trading
purposes.

Beginning with the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company’s investment portfolio also consisted of high-credit quality U.S. and
non-U.S. issued corporate debt securities, classified as available-for-sale, with a fair value of $99.5 million at June 29, 2013. These
securities have maturity dates between calendar years 2014 and 2016. At June 29, 2013, $2.1 million of these securities were included in
short-term investments within current assets, and $97.4 million were included as non-current investments within other assets in the
consolidated balance sheet. Unrealized gains and losses are recorded within other comprehensive income.
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At June 29, 2013, the Company’s short-term investments, classified within current assets on the consolidated balance sheet also
consisted of $70.0 million of time deposits with original maturities greater than three months. The Company held no short-term investments
at June 30, 2012.

The Company’s non-current investments, classified as available-for-sale included a $6.0 million auction rate security at both June 29,
2013 and June 30, 2012, as the auction rate securities’ adjusted book value equaled its fair value. There were no unrealized gains or losses
associated with this investment.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents of $1,062.8 million and $917.2 million at June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, respectively,
primarily consisted of a cash equivalent portfolio and corporate debt securities and U.S. government and agency securities. As the Company
does not have the intent to sell and will not be required to sell these securities until maturity, cash equivalents are classified as held-to-
maturity and stated at amortized cost.

As of June 29, 2013, the Company had no outstanding borrowings on its JP Morgan facility, the Coach Japan credit facilities, and the
Coach Shanghai Limited credit facility. The fair value of any future borrowing may be impacted by fluctuations in interest rates.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See “Index to Financial Statements,” which is located on page 54 of this report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on the evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as that term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, each of Lew Frankfort, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Jane Nielsen, the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, has concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of June 29,
2013.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting. The
Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and Board regarding the
preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. Management evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) of the Treadway
Commission in Internal Control — Integrated Framework in 1992. Management, under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of June 29, 2013 and concluded that it is effective.

The Company’s independent auditors have issued an audit report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. The audit
report appears on page 5 6 of this report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth fiscal quarter that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required to be included by Item 10 of Form 10-K will be included in the Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders and such information is incorporated by reference herein. The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission within
120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information regarding executive and director compensation set forth in the Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission within 120 days after the end of
the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information under the headings “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans” and “Coach Stock
Ownership by Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

There are no arrangements known to the registrant that may at a subsequent date result in a change in control of the registrant.

The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K
pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required to be included by Item 13 of Form 10-K will be included in the Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders and such information is incorporated by reference herein. The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Commission within
120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Fees For Audit and Other Services” and
“Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy” in the Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Proxy Statement will be
filed with the Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K pursuant to Regulation 14A under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules
See “Index to Financial Statements” which is located on page 54 of this report.

(b) Exhibits. See the exhibit index which is included herein.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
COACH, INC.
Date: August 22, 2013 By: /s/ Lew Frankfort
Name: Lew Frankfort
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated below on August 22, 2013.

Signature Title

/s/ Lew Frankfort Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Lew Frankfort

/s/ Victor Luis President, Chief Commercial Officer and Director
Victor Luis

/s/ Jane Nielsen Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Jane Nielsen (as principal financial officer and principal accounting ofticer of Coach)
/s/ Susan Kropf Director

Susan Kropf

/s/ Gary Loveman Director

Gary Loveman

/s/ Ivan Menezes Director

Ivan Menezes

/s/ Trene Miller Director

Irene Miller

/s/ Michael Murphy Director

Michael Murphy

/s/ Stephanie Tilenius Director

Stephanie Tilenius

/s/ Jide Zeitlin Director

Jide Zeitlin
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UNITED STATES
SECURITES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 29, 2013

COACH, INC.
New York, New York 10001

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
Number
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 55
Consolidated Balance Sheets — At June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012 57
Consolidated Statements of Income — For Fiscal Years Ended June 29. 2013. June 30. 2012 and July 2. 58
2011
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income — For Fiscal Years Ended June 29, 2013, June 30, 2012 59
and July 2. 2011
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity — For Fiscal Years Ended June 29, 2013, June 30, 2012 60
and July 2. 2011
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — For Fiscal Years Ended June 29. 2013, June 30, 2012 and July 2. 61
2011
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 62
Financial Statement Schedules for the years ended June 29, 2013, June 30, 2012 and July 2, 2011:
Schedule IT — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 87

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial
statements or notes thereto.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Coach, Inc.
New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Coach, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of June 29, 2013 and
June 30, 2012, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended June 29, 2013. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index to the
financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and
subsidiaries at June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended June 29, 2013, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our
opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the

Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of June 29, 2013, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated August 22,
2013 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
August 22,2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Coach, Inc.
New York, New York

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Coach, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of June 29, 2013, based
on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 29, 2013,
based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended June 29, 2013 of the Company and our
report dated August 22, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
August 22,2013
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COACH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands except per share data)

June 29, June 30,
2013 2012
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,062,785 $ 917,215
Short-term investments 72,106 —
Trade accounts receivable, less allowances of $1,138 and $9,813, 175,477 174,462
respectively
Inventories 524,706 504,490
Deferred income taxes 111,118 95,419
Prepaid expenses 37,956 39,365
Other current assets 86,799 73,577
Total current assets 2,070,947 1,804,528
Property and equipment, net 694,771 644,449
Long-term investments 197,340 6,000
Goodwill 345,039 376,035
Intangible assets 9,788 9,788
Deferred income taxes 84,845 95,223
Other assets 129,167 168,298
Total assets $ 3,531,897 $ 3,104,321
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 178857 § 155,387
Accrued liabilities 543,153 540,398
Current portion of long-term debt 500 22,375
Total current liabilities 722,510 718,160
Long-term debt 485 985
Other liabilities 399,744 392,245
Total liabilities 1,122,739 1,111,390
See note on commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock: (authorized 25,000 shares; $0.01 par value) — —
none issued
Common stock: (authorized 1,000,000 shares; $0.01 par value) issued and 2,819 2,851
outstanding — 281,902 and 285,118, respectively
Additional paid-in-capital 2,520,469 2,327,055
Accumulated deficit (101,884) (387,450)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (12,246) 50,475
Total stockholders’ equity 2,409,158 1,992,931
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 3,531,897 §$ 3,104,321

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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COACH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in thousands except per share data)
Fiscal Year Ended

June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011

Net sales $ 5075390 $ 4,763,180 $ 4,158,507
Cost of sales 1,377,242 1,297,102 1,134,966

Gross profit 3,698,148 3,466,078 3,023,541
Selling, general and administrative expenses 2,173,607 1,954,089 1,718,617

Operating income 1,524,541 1,511,989 1,304,924
Interest income 2,369 720 1,031
Other expense (6,384) (7,046) (4,736)

Income before provision for income taxes 1,520,526 1,505,663 1,301,219
Provision for income taxes 486,106 466,753 420,419

Net income $ 1,034420 § 1,038,910 $ 880,800

Net income per share

Basic $ 366 $ 3.60 $ 2.99

Diluted $ 361 $ 353§ 2.92
Shares used in computing net income per share

Basic 282,494 288,284 294,877

Diluted 286,307 294,129 301,558
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 124 § 098 $ 0.68

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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COACH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended
June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011
Net Income $ 1,034,420 $1,038910 $ 880,800
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Unrealized gains on cash flow hedging derivatives, net of tax of 4,202 1,004 627
$2,908, $323, and $1,021 for the year ended June 29, 2013,
June 30, 2012 and July 2, 2011, respectively
Unrealized losses on available-for-sale investments (1,276) — —
Change in pension liability 1,343 (1,388) 538
Foreign currency translation adjustments (66,990) (4,052) 24351
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax (62,721) (4,436) 25,516
Comprehensive income $ 971,699 $ 1,034474 $ 906,316

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balances at July 3, 2010
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Shares issued for stock options and employee
benefit plans
Share-based compensation
Excess tax benefit from share-based
compensation
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Dividends declared
Balances at July 2, 2011
Net income
Other comprehensive loss
Shares issued for stock options and employee
benefit plans
Share-based compensation
Excess tax benefit from share-based
compensation
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Dividends declared
Balances at June 30, 2012
Net income
Other comprehensive loss
Shares issued for stock options and
employee benefit plans
Share-based compensation
Excess tax benefit from share-based
compensation
Repurchase and retirement of
common stock
Dividends declared
Balances at June 29, 2013

COACH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(amounts in thousands)

Shares of Preferred Common Additional Retained Accumulated Total
Common Stock Stock Paid-in- Earnings/ Other Stockholders'
Stock Capital (Accumulated  Comprehensive Equity
Deficit) Income/(Loss)
296,867 — 2,969 1,502,982 (30,053) 29,395 1,505,293
— — — — 880,800 — 880,800
— — — — — 25,516 25,516
12,052 — 121 343,450 — — 343,571
— — — 95,830 — — 95,830
— — — 58,164 — — 58,164
(20,404) — (204) —  (1,097,796) — (1,098,000)
— — — — (198,605) — (198,605)
288,515 — 2,886 2,000,426 (445,654) 54,911 1,612,569
— — — — 1,038,910 — 1,038,910
= = = = = (4,436) (4,436)
7,291 — 72 151,061 — — 151,133
— — — 107,511 — — 107,511
— — — 68,057 — — 68,057
(10,688) — (107) — (699,893) — (700,000)
— — — — (280,813) — (280,813)
285,118 — 2,851 2,327,055 (387,450) 50,475 1,992,931
— — — — 1,034,420 — 1,034,420
— — — — — (62,721) (62,721)
3,850 — 39 46,124 — — 46,163
— — — 120,460 — — 120,460
— — — 26,830 — — 26,830
(7,066) = (71) = (399,929) = (400,000)
— — — — (348,925) — (348,925)
281,902 § — §$ 2819 $2,520,469 $ (101,884) $ (12,246) $ 2,409,158

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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COACH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for bad debt
Share-based compensation
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation
Non-cash restructuring charges
Deferred income taxes
Other noncash credits and (charges), net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in trade accounts receivable
Increase in inventories
Decrease (increase) in other assets
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities
Increase in accounts payable
Increase in accrued liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of interest in equity method investment
Acquisitions and related advances to distributors, net of cash
acquired
Purchases of property and equipment
Loans to related parties
Purchases of investments
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend payments
Repurchase of common stock
Repayment of long-term debt
Proceeds from share-based awards
Taxes paid to net settle share-based awards
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental information:
Cash paid for income taxes

Cash paid for interest

Noncash investing activity — property and equipment obligations

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Fiscal Year Ended
June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011
$ 1,034,420 $ 1,038,910 $ 880,800
162,987 132,909 125,106
(529) 595 2,014
120,460 107,511 95,830
(26,830) (68,057) (58,164)
25,740 — —
(6,520) 27,568 39,724
1,157 217 9,790
(14,231) (26,565) (31,831)
(38,630) (71,680) (64,720)
39,665 (22,812) (42,174)
(12,974) (17,581) 13,421
30,394 36,494 9,742
98,865 84,180 53,733
1,413,974 1,221,689 1,033,271
(93,930) — (9,559)
(53,337) (53,235) —
(241,353) (184,309) (147,744)
(11,088) (24,138) —
(170,792) — (224,007)
— 2,256 321,679
(570,500)  (259,426) (59,631)
(339,724) (260,276) (178,115)
(400,000) (700,000) (1,098,000)
(22,375) (795) (746)
80,436 185,071 362,157
(34,273) (33,938) (18,586)
26,830 68,057 58,164
(689,106) (741,881) (875,126)
(8,798) (2,949) 4,798
145,570 217,433 103,312
917,215 699,782 596,470
$ 1,062,785 $ 917,215 $ 699,782
$ 445043 § 438884 $ 364,493
$ 1341 $ 1,793 $ 1,233
$ 34311 $ 31,363 $ 23,173
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COACH, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollars and shares in thousands, except per share data)

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Coach, Inc. (the “Company”’) designs and markets high-quality, modern American classic accessories. The Company’s primary
product offerings, manufactured by third-party suppliers, include women’s and men’s bags, accessories, business cases, footwear,
wearables, jewelry, sunwear, travel bags, watches and fragrance. Coach’s products are sold through the North America and International
reportable segments. The North America segment includes sales to North American consumers through Company-operated stores, including
the Internet, and sales to wholesale customers and distributors. The International segment includes sales to consumers through Company-
operated stores in Japan and mainland China, including the Internet, Hong Kong and Macau, Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia and Korea,
and sales to wholesale customers and distributors in 25 countries. The Company also records sales generated in ancillary channels
including licensing and disposition.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to June 30. Unless otherwise stated, references to years in the financial
statements relate to fiscal years. The fiscal years ended June 29, 2013 (“fiscal 2013”), June 30, 2012 (“fiscal 2012”") and July 2, 2011
(“fiscal 2011”’) were each 52-week periods. The fiscal year ending June 28, 2014 (“fiscal 2014”) will be also be a 52-week period.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from estimates in amounts that may be material to the financial statements.

Significant estimates inherent in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements include customer returns, discounts, end-of-
season markdowns, and operational chargebacks; the realizability of inventory; reserves for contingencies; useful lives and impairments of
long-lived tangible and intangible assets; accounting for income taxes and related uncertain tax positions; the valuation of stock-based
compensation and related expected forfeiture rates; reserves for restructuring; and accounting for business combinations, among others.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all 100% owned subsidiaries. All intercompany
transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash balances and highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of
purchase.

Investments

Long-term investments primarily consist of high-credit quality U.S. and non-U.S. issued corporate debt securities, classified as
available-for-sale, and recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses recorded in other comprehensive income. Short-term
investments consist primarily of time deposits with original maturities greater than three months and with maturities within one year of
balance sheet date. Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned.

Investments in companies in which the Company has significant influence, but less than a controlling financial interest, are accounted
for using the equity method. Significant influence is generally presumed to
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COACH, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(dollars and shares in thousands, except per share data)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)

exist when the Company owns between 20% and 50% of the investee, however, other factors are considered, such as board representation
and the rights to participate in the day-to-day operations of the business.

Additionally, GAAP requires the consolidation of all entities for which a Company has a controlling voting interest and all variable
interest entities (“VIEs”) for which a Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary. An entity is generally a VIE if it meets any of the
following criteria: (i) the entity has insufficient equity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties, (ii) the equity investors cannot make significant decisions about the entity’s operations or (iii) the voting rights of some investors are
not proportional to their obligations to absorb the expected losses of the entity or receive the expected returns of the entity and substantially all
of the entity’s activities involve or are conducted on behalf of the investor with disproportionately few voting rights.

From time to time, Coach may make an investment that requires judgment in determining whether the entity is a VIE. If it is determined
that the entity is a VIE, the Company must assess whether it is the primary beneficiary.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose Coach to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,
investments and accounts receivable. The Company places its cash investments with high-credit quality financial institutions and currently
invests primarily in U.S. government and agency debt securities, municipal government and corporate debt securities, bank deposits, and
money market instruments placed with major banks and financial institutions. Accounts receivable is generally diversified due to the
number of entities comprising Coach’s customer base and their dispersion across many geographical regions. The Company believes no
significant concentration of credit risk exists with respect to these investments and accounts receivable.

Inventories

The Company’s inventories are reported at the lower of cost or market. Inventory costs include material, conversion costs, freight and
duties and are determined by the first-in, first-out method. The Company reserves for slow-moving and aged inventory based on historical
experience, current product demand and expected future demand. A decrease in product demand due to changing customer tastes, buying
patterns or increased competition could impact Coach’s evaluation of its slow-moving and aged inventory and additional reserves might be
required. At June 29, 2013, a 10% change in the reserve for slow-moving and aged inventory would have resulted in an insignificant change
in inventory and cost of sales.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Buildings are depreciated over 40 years. Machinery and equipment are depreciated over lives of five to
seven years, furniture and fixtures are depreciated over lives of three to five years, and computer software is depreciated over lives of three to
seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the related lease terms. Maintenance
and repair costs are charged to earnings as incurred while expenditures for major renewals and improvements are capitalized.

Operating Leases

The Company’s leases for office space, retail stores and distribution facilities are accounted for as operating leases. Certain of the
Company's leases contain renewal options, rent escalation clauses, and/or landlord incentives. Renewal terms generally reflect market rates
at the time of renewal. Rent expense for noncancelable operating leases with scheduled rent increases and/or landlord incentives is recognized
ona
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)

straight-line basis over the lease term, including any applicable rent holidays, beginning with the lease commencement date, or the date the
Company takes control of the leased space, whichever is sooner. The excess of straight-line rent expense over scheduled payment amounts
and landlord incentives is recorded as a deferred rent liability. As of the end of fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, deferred rent obligations of
$117,502 and $116,302, respectively, were classified primarily within other non-current liabilities in the Company's consolidated balance
sheets. Certain rentals are also contingent upon factors such as sales. Contingent rentals are recognized when the achievement of the target
(i.e., sale levels), which triggers the related rent payment, is considered probable.

Asset retirement obligations represent legal obligations associated with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset. The Company’s asset
retirement obligations are primarily associated with leasehold improvements that we are contractually obligated to remove at the end of a lease
to comply with the lease agreement. When such an obligation exists, the Company recognizes an asset retirement obligation at the inception
of a lease at its estimated fair value. The asset retirement obligation is recorded in current liabilities or non-current liabilities (based on the
expected timing of payment of the related costs) and is subsequently adjusted for any changes in estimates. The associated estimated asset
retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset and depreciated over its useful life.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill and certain other intangible assets deemed to have indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are assessed for impairment at
least annually. The Company has no finite-lived intangible assets.

The Company uses a quantitative goodwill impairment test, which is a two-step process. The first step is to identify the existence of
potential impairment by comparing the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying value, including goodwill. If the fair value of a
reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, the reporting unit's goodwill is considered not to be impaired and performance of the second step of
the quantitative goodwill impairment test is unnecessary.

If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second step of the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the
amount of impairment loss, if any. The second step of the goodwill impairment test compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s
goodwill with the carrying value of that goodwill. If the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same
manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in a business combination. In other words, the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all
of the assets and liabilities of that unit as if the reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination and the fair value was the
purchase price paid to acquire the reporting unit.

Determination of the fair value of a reporting unit and the fair value of individual assets and liabilities of a reporting unit is judgmental
in nature and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions could have a significant
impact on whether or not an impairment charge is recognized and the amount of any such charge. Estimates of fair value are primarily
determined using discounted cash flows, market comparisons, and recent transactions. These approaches use significant estimates and
assumptions, including projected future cash flows, discount rates, growth rates, and determination of appropriate market comparables.

The Company performed its annual impairment assessment of goodwill during the third quarter of each fiscal year. The Company
determined that there was no impairment in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 or fiscal 2011.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, are evaluated for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. The evaluation is based on
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)

a review of forecasted operating cash flows and the profitability of the related asset group. An impairment loss is recognized if the forecasted
cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset. Similar to prior fiscal years, when assessing store assets for impairment in fiscal
2013, the Company analyzed the cash flows at an individual store-by-store level, which is the lowest level for identifiable cash flows. The
Company recorded impairment losses of $16,624 in fiscal 2013, primarily in the North America segment. The Company did not record
any impairment losses in fiscal 2012 or fiscal 2011.

In determining future cash flows, we take various factors into account, including changes in merchandising strategy, the emphasis on
retail store cost controls, the effects of macroeconomic trends such as consumer spending, the impacts of the experienced level of retail store
managers and the level of advertising. Since the determination of future cash flows is an estimate of future performance, there may be future
impairments in the event that future cash flows do not meet expectations.

Stock Repurchase and Retirement

Coach accounts for stock repurchases and retirements by allocating the repurchase price to common stock, additional paid-in-capital
and retained earnings. The repurchase price allocation is based upon the equity contribution associated with historical issuances, beginning
with the earliest issuance. Under Maryland law, Coach’s state of incorporation, treasury shares are not allowed. As a result, all repurchased
shares are retired when acquired. During the second quarter of fiscal 2008, the Company’s total cumulative stock repurchases exceeded the
total shares issued in connection with the Company’s October 2000 initial public offering, and stock repurchases in excess of this amount
are assumed to be made from the Company’s April 2001 Sara Lee exchange offer. Shares issued in connection with this exchange offer were
accounted for as a contribution to common stock and retained earnings. Therefore, stock repurchases and retirements associated with the
exchange offer are accounted for by allocation of the repurchase price to common stock and retained earnings. During the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2010, cumulative stock repurchases allocated to retained earnings have resulted in an accumulated deficit balance. Since its initial
public offering, the Company has not experienced a net loss in any fiscal year, and the net accumulated deficit balance in stockholders’
equity is attributable to the cumulative stock repurchase activity. The total cumulative amount of common stock repurchase price allocated
to retained earnings as of June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012 was approximately $6,200,000 and $5,800,000, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized by the Company when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, delivery has occurred (and risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer), price has been fixed or is determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured.

Retail store and concession-based shop-within-shop revenues are recognized at the point of sale, which occurs when merchandise is sold
in an over-the-counter consumer transaction. These revenues are recognized net of estimated returns at the time of sale to consumers. Internet
revenue from sales of products ordered through the Company’s e-commerce sites is recognized upon delivery and receipt of the shipment by
its customers and includes shipping and handling charges paid by customers. Internet revenue is also reduced by an estimate for returns.

Wholesale revenue is recognized at the time title passes and risk of loss is transferred to customers. Wholesale revenue is recorded net of
estimates of returns, discounts, and markdown allowances. Returns and allowances require pre-approval from management and discounts
are based on trade terms. Estimates for markdown reserves are based on historical trends, actual and forecasted seasonal results, an
evaluation of current economic and market conditions, retailer performance, and, in certain cases, contractual terms. The Company reviews
and refines these estimates on at least a quarterly basis. The Company’s historical estimates of these costs have not differed materially from
actual results.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)

Gift cards issued by the Company are recorded as a liability until they are redeemed, at which point revenue is recognized. The
Company recognizes income for unredeemed gift cards when the likelihood of a gift card being redeemed by a customer is remote, which is
approximately two years after the gift card is issued, and the Company determines that it does not have a legal obligation to remit the value
of the unredeemed gift card to the relevant jurisdiction as unclaimed or abandoned property. Revenue associated with gift card breakage is
not material to the Company’s net operating results.

The Company accounts for sales taxes and other related taxes on a net basis, excluding such taxes from revenue.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales consists of inventory costs and other related costs such as shrinkage, damages and replacements.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses are comprised of four categories: (1) selling; (2) advertising, marketing and
design; (3) distribution and consumer service; and (4) administrative. Selling expenses include store employee compensation, occupancy
costs and supply costs, wholesale and retail account administration compensation globally and Coach international operating expenses.
These expenses are affected by the number of Coach-operated stores open during any fiscal period. Advertising, marketing and design
expenses include employee compensation, media space and production, advertising agency fees (primarily to support North America), new
product design costs, public relations and market research expenses. Distribution and consumer service expenses include warehousing,
order fulfillment, shipping and handling, customer service and bag repair costs. Administrative expenses include compensation costs for
“corporate” functions including: executive, finance, human resources, legal and information systems departments, as well as corporate
headquarters occupancy costs, consulting and software expenses.

Preopening Costs

Costs associated with the opening of new stores are expensed in the period incurred.

Advertising

Advertising costs include expenses related to direct marketing activities, such as direct mail pieces, media and production costs. In
fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, advertising expenses totaled $102,701, $89,159 and $74,988, respectively, and are included in
selling, general and administrative expenses. Advertising costs are expensed when the advertising first appears.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes the cost of equity awards to employees and the non-employee Directors based on the grant-date fair value of
those awards. The grant-date fair value of stock option awards is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and involves
several assumptions, including the expected term of the option, expected volatility and dividend yield. The expected term of options
represents the period of time that the options granted are expected to be outstanding and is based on historical experience. Expected volatility
is based on historical volatility of the Company’s stock as well as the implied volatility from publicly traded options on Coach’s stock.
Dividend yield is based on the current expected annual dividend per share and the Company’s stock price. Changes in the assumptions
used to determine the Black-Scholes value could result in significant changes in the Black-Scholes value. However, a 10% change in the
Black-Scholes value would have resulted in an insignificant change in fiscal 2013 share-based compensation expense.

For stock options and share unit awards, the Company recognizes share-based compensation net of estimated forfeitures and revises the
estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from the estimates. We estimate the forfeiture rate based on historical experience as
well as expected future behavior.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)

The Company grants performance-based share awards to certain key executives, the vesting of which is subject to the executive’s
continuing employment and the Company's achievement of certain performance goals. On a quarterly basis, the Company assesses actual
performance versus the predetermined performance goals, and adjusts the share-based compensation expense to reflect the relative
performance achievement. Actual distributed shares are calculated upon conclusion of the service and performance periods, and include
dividend equivalent shares. If the performance-based award incorporates a market condition, the grant-date fair value of such award is
determined using a pricing model, such as a Monte Carlo Simulation.

Shipping and Handling

Shipping and handling costs incurred were $66,828, $52,240 and $31,522 in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively,
and are included in selling, general and administrative expenses.

Income Taxes

The Company’s effective tax rate is based on pre-tax income, statutory tax rates, tax laws and regulations, and tax planning strategies
available in the various jurisdictions in which Coach operates. The Company classifies interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions in
the provision for income taxes. We record net deferred tax assets to the extent we believe that it is more likely than not that these assets will be
realized. In making such determination, we consider all available evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected
future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent results of operation. We reduce our deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance if,
based upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some amount of deferred tax assets is not expected to be realized.
In fiscal 2013, the Company changed its policy for disclosure of valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets whose realization is
deemed remote from a net to a gross basis.

In accordance with ASC 740-10, the Company recognizes the impact of tax positions in the financial statements if those positions will
more likely than not be sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. Although we believe that the estimates and
assumptions we use are reasonable and legally supportable, the final determination of tax audits could be different than that which is
reflected in historical tax provisions and recorded assets and liabilities. Tax authorities periodically audit the Company’s income tax returns,
and in specific cases, the tax authorities may take a contrary position that could result in a significant impact on our results of operations.
Significant management judgment is required in determining the effective tax rate, in evaluating our tax positions and in determining the net
realizable value of deferred tax assets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

As of June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, trade accounts
receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximated their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these accounts. The
fair values of long-term investments, classified as available-for-sale, are determined using vendor or broker priced securities.

The Company records all derivative contracts that qualify for hedge accounting and have been designated as cash flow hedges at fair
value on the consolidated balance sheet. The fair value of these contracts is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) until the hedged
item is recognized in earnings. The fair values of the foreign currency derivatives are based on the forward curves of the specific indices
upon which settlement is based and includes an adjustment for the Company’s credit risk. Considerable judgment is required of
management in developing estimates of fair value. The use of different market assumptions or methodologies could affect the estimated fair
value.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of the Company's foreign operations is generally the applicable local currency. Assets and liabilities are
translated into U.S. dollars using the current exchange rates in effect at the balance

67



TABLE OF CONTENTS

COACH, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(dollars and shares in thousands, except per share data)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)

sheet date, while revenues and expenses are translated at the weighted-average exchange rates for the period. The resulting translation
adjustments are included in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as a component of other comprehensive income (loss)
(“OCTI”) and in the consolidated statements of equity within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”). Gains and losses on
the translation of intercompany loans made to foreign subsidiaries that are of a long-term investment nature also are included within this
component of equity.

The Company also recognizes gains and losses on transactions that are denominated in a currency other than the respective entity's
functional currency in earnings.

Net Income Per Share

Basic net income per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted net income per share is calculated similarly but includes potential dilution from the exercise of stock options and vesting of
stock awards.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts, specifically related to long-term investments and our change in reportable segments, have been reclassified
to conform to the current year presentation in the consolidated balance sheet.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Standards Codification Topic 220, “ Comprehensive Income,” was amended in June 2011 to require entities to present the
total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single
continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. The amendment does not change the items that
must be reported in other comprehensive income or when an item of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income under
current GAAP. This guidance was effective for the Company’s fiscal year and interim periods beginning July 1, 2012. The adoption of this
amendment did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In September 2011, Accounting Standards Codification 350-20, “ Intangibles — Goodwill and
Other — Goodwill,” was amended to allow entities to assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more-likely-than-not that goodwill
might be impaired, and whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test required under current accounting
standards. This guidance was effective for the Company’s fiscal year beginning July 1, 2012. The adoption of this amendment did not
have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

3. RESTRUCTURING AND TRANSFORMATIONAL RELATED CHARGES

In fiscal 2013, the Company incurred restructuring and transformation related charges of $53,202 ($32,568 after-tax, or $0.11 per
diluted share). The charges recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses and cost of sales were $48,402 and $4,800,
respectively. The charges primarily related to our North America segment.

A summary of charges and related liabilities are as follows:

Severance and Impairment Other Total
Related Costs
Fiscal 2013 charges $ 29,859 $ 16,624 $ 6,719 § 53,202
Cash payments — — — —
Non-cash charges (1,980) $ (16,624) $ (6,636) $ (25,240)
Liability as of June 29, 2013 $ 27,879 $ — 8 8 § 27962

The severance and related costs are anticipated to be substantially paid in fiscal 2014.
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4. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company maintains several share-based compensation plans which are more fully described below. The following table shows the
total compensation cost charged against income for these plans and the related tax benefits recognized in the income statement:

June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011
Compensation expense $ 120,460 $ 107,511  $ 95,830
Related income tax benefit 39,436 37,315 33,377

Coach Stock-Based Plans

Coach maintains the 2010 Stock Incentive Plan to award stock options and shares to certain members of Coach management and the
outside members of its Board of Directors (“Board”). Coach maintains the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan for
awards granted prior to the establishment of the 2010 Stock Incentive Plan. These plans were approved by Coach’s stockholders. The
exercise price of each stock option equals 100% of the market price of Coach’s stock on the date of grant and generally has a maximum term
of 10 years. Stock options and service based share awards that are granted as part of the annual compensation process generally vest ratably
over three years. Other stock option and share awards, granted primarily for retention purposes, are subject to forfeiture until completion of

the vesting period, which ranges from one to five years. The Company issues new shares upon the exercise of stock options or vesting of
share units.

Stock Options
A summary of stock option activity during the year ended June 29, 2013 is as follows:
Number of Weighted- Weighted- Aggregate
Options Outstanding Average Average Intrinsic
Exercise Remaining Value
Price Contractual
Term
(in years)
Outstanding at June 30, 2012 12,800 $ 37.61
Granted 3,169 55.32
Exercised (2,609) 28.47
Forfeited or expired (467) 49.87
Outstanding at June 29, 2013 12,893 43.37 6.2 $ 188,277
Vested or expected to vest at 12,716 42.83 6.2 192,210
June 29, 2013
Exercisable at June 29, 2013 7,093 35.68 4.5 155,827

The fair value of each Coach option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the
following weighted-average assumptions:

June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011
Expected term (years) 31 3.1 33
Expected volatility 39.5% 39.4% 44.9%
Risk-free interest rate 0.4% 0.6% 1.0%
Dividend yield 2.2% 1.5% 1.5%

The expected term of options represents the period of time that the options granted are expected to be outstanding and is based on
historical experience. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of the Company’s stock as well as the implied volatility from

publicly traded options on Coach’s stock. The risk free interest rate is based on the zero-coupon U.S. Treasury issue as of the date of the
grant.
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4. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION - (continued)

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 was $13.02, $15.59, and
$11.41, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 was $76,956,
$197,793, and $226,511, respectively. The total cash received from option exercises was $74,277, $178,292, and $357,344 in fiscal

2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively, and the cash tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from these option exercises was
$29,230, $73,982, and $84,993, respectively.

At June 29, 2013, $40,130 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock option awards is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.0 year.

Service-based Restricted Stock Unit Awards (“RSUs”)

A summary of service-based RSU activity during the year ended June 29, 2013 is as follows:

Number of Weighted-
Non-vested Average

Share Units Grant-Date

Fair Value
Non-vested at June 30, 2012 3,640 $ 47.13
Granted 1,727 54.49
Vested (1,761) 40.00
Forfeited (337) 54.93
Non-vested at June 29, 2013 3,269 54.06

At June 29, 2013, $92,702 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share awards is expected to be recognized over
a weighted-average period of 1.0 year.

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of share awards granted during fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 was $54.49,
$62.84 and $40.58, respectively. The total fair value of shares vested during fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 was $93,319,
$99,488 and $58,359, respectively.

Performance-based Restricted Stock Unit Awards (“PRSU”)

The Company grants performance-based share awards to key executives, the vesting of which is subject to the executive’s continuing
employment and the Company's achievement of certain performance goals. A summary of performance-based share award activity during
the year ended June 29, 2013 is as follows:

Number of Weighted-
Non-vested Average

Share Units Grant-Date

Fair Value
Non-vested at June 30, 2012 609 $ 41.74
Change due to performance condition achievement (149) 41.74
Granted 633 50.55
Vested —
Forfeited — —
Non-vested at June 29, 2013 1,093 46.84

At June 29, 2013, $17,330 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share awards is expected to be recognized over
a weighted-average period of 1.9 years.

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of share awards granted during fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 was $50.55,
$62.07 and $36.92, respectively. There were no vestings of performance-based shares during fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 or fiscal 2011.
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4. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION - (continued)

During the third quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company granted an executive officer a one-time PRSU award with a maximum value of
$25,000. The shares of common stock under this PRSU award will be earned and distributed based on performance criteria which compare
the Company’s total stockholder return over the performance period to the total stockholder return of the companies included in the Standard
& Poor’s 500 Index on the date of grant (excluding the Company). The grant date fair value of the PRSU award of $13,700 was determined
utilizing a Monte Carlo simulation and the following assumptions: Expected volatility of 40.19%, risk-free interest rate of 0.76%, and
dividend yield of 0.00%.

In fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, the cash tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from all RSUs (service and performance-
based) was $26,097, $30,740 and $18,114, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, full-time Coach employees are permitted to purchase a limited number of Coach
common shares at 85% of market value. Under this plan, Coach sold 122, 129, and 120 new shares to employees in fiscal 2013, fiscal
2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively. Compensation expense is calculated for the fair value of employees’ purchase rights using the Black-
Scholes model and the following weighted-average assumptions:

Fiscal Year Ended
June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011
Expected term (years) 0.5 0.5 0.5
Expected volatility 34.1% 45.6% 31.7%
Risk-free interest rate 0.1% 0.1% 0.2%
Dividend yield 1.7% 1.4% 1.3%

The weighted-average fair value of the purchase rights granted during fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 was $15.08, $17.31,
and $11.51, respectively. The Company issues new shares for employee stock purchases.

5. INVESTMENTS

The following table summarizes the Company’s investments recorded within the consolidated balance sheets as of June 29, 2013 and
June 30, 2012:

June 29, 2013 June 30, 2012
Short-term Non-current Total Short-term Non-current Total
Available-for-sale investments:
Corporate debt $ 2094 $ 63442 $ 65536 $ — 3 — $ —
securities — U.S.®
Corporate debt securities — non- — 33,968 33,968 — — —
U.s.@
Auction rate security(b) — 6,000 6,000 — 6,000 6,000
Available-for-sale investments, $ 2,094 $§ 103410 $ 105504 $ — $ 6,000 $ 6,000
total
Other:
Time deposits(® $ 70,012 $ — $ 70012 $ — 3 — 3 —
Other — 93,930 93,930 — — —
Total Investments $ 72,106 $ 197,340 $ 269446 $ — $ 6,000 $ 6,000
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5. INVESTMENTS - (continued)

(a) Portfolio of high-credit quality U.S. and non-U.S. issued corporate debt securities, classified as available-for-sale, and recorded at fair
value, which approximates amortized cost. These securities have maturity dates between calendar years 2014 and 2016. Unrealized
gains and losses are recorded within other comprehensive income.

(b) Deemed a long-term investment as the auction for this security has been unsuccessful. The underlying investments are scheduled to
mature in 2035.

(c) Portfolio of time deposits with original maturities greater than 3 months.
(d) Equity method investment.

As of June 29, 2013, the Company's equity method investment related to an equity interest in an entity formed during fiscal 2013 for
the purpose of developing of a new office tower in Manhattan (the “Hudson Yards joint venture”) with the Company owning less than 43%.
This investment is included in the Company’s long-term investments.

The formation of the Hudson Yards joint venture serves as a financing vehicle for the project. Construction of the new building has
commenced and upon completion of the office tower in calendar 2015, the Company will retain a condominium interest serving as its new
corporate headquarters. During fiscal 2013, the Company invested $93,930 in the joint venture. The Company expects to invest
approximately $440,000 over the next three years, with approximately $130,000 to $160,000 estimated in fiscal 2014, depending on
construction progress. Outside of the joint venture, Coach is directly investing in a portion of the design and build-out of the new corporate
headquarters. In fiscal 2013, $24,800 was included in capital expenditures and we expect another $190,000 over the period of construction.

The Hudson Yards joint venture is determined to be a VIE primarily due to the fact that it has insufficient equity to finance its activities
without additional subordinated financial support from its two joint venture partners. Coach is not considered the primary beneficiary of the
entity primarily because the Company does not have the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity’s economic
performance. The Company’s maximum loss exposure is limited to the committed capital.

6. ACQUISITIONS

On July 1, 2012, Coach acquired 100% of its domestic retail business in Malaysia (consisting of ten retail stores) from the former
distributor, Valiram Group, and on August 5, 2012, acquired 100% of its domestic retail business in Korea (consisting of 47 retail and
department stores) from the former distributor, Shinsegae International. The results of the acquired businesses have been included in the
consolidated financial statements since the dates of acquisition within the International segment. The aggregate cash paid in connection with
the acquisitions of the Malaysia and Korea businesses was $8,593 and $36,851, respectively. The Company is obligated to make
additional contingent payments to Shinsegae International, estimated at $10,000, with $6,000 and $4,000 scheduled to be paid during the
first quarter of fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2015, respectively.

72



TABLE OF CONTENTS

COACH, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(dollars and shares in thousands, except per share data)
6. ACQUISITIONS - (continued)

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired as of the dates of the fiscal 2013 acquisitions:

Assets Acquired Estimated Fair
Value
Current assets $ 21,448
Fixed assets and other non-current assets 2,351
Goodwill®) 31,645
Total assets acquired $ 55,444
Contingent payments (10,000)
Total cash paid through June 29, 2013 $ 45444

(1) Approximately $30,000 of the goodwill balance is tax deductible.

On July 3, 2011, Coach acquired 100% of its domestic retail business in Singapore (consisting of 5 stores) from the former distributor,
Valiram Group, and on January 1, 2012, acquired 100% of its domestic retail business in Taiwan (consisting of 26 stores) from the former
distributor, Tasa Meng. The results of the acquired businesses have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the dates of
acquisition within the International segment. Cash paid in connection with the Singapore and Taiwan businesses were $7,595 and
$46,916, respectively.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired as of the dates of the fiscal 2012 acquisitions:

Assets Acquired Estimated Fair

Value
Current assets $ 12,671
Fixed assets and other non-current assets 3,087
GoodwillV 41,307
Liabilities (2,554)
Total net assets acquired through June 30, 2012 § 54,511

(1) The entire balance of acquired goodwill is tax deductible.

Unaudited pro forma information related to these acquisitions is not included, as the impact of these transactions are not material to the
consolidated results of the Company.

7. LEASES

Coach leases office, distribution and retail facilities. The lease agreements, which expire at various dates through 2028, are subject, in
most cases, to renewal options and provide for the payment of taxes, insurance and maintenance. Certain leases contain escalation clauses
resulting from the pass-through of increases in operating costs, property taxes and the effect on costs from changes in consumer price
indices. Certain rentals are also contingent upon factors such as sales.
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Rent expense for the Company's operating leases consisted of the following:
Fiscal Year Ended

June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011
Minimum rentals $ 169,737 $ 153,577 $ 129,110
Contingent rentals 112,568 94,579 77,795
Total rent expense $ 282305 $ 248,156 $ 206,905
Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating leases are as follows:

Fiscal Year Amount
2014 $ 196,518
2015 184,643
2016 150,811
2017 127,804
2018 102,648
Subsequent to 2018 325,613
Total minimum future rental payments $ 1,088,037

Certain operating leases provide for renewal for periods of five to ten years at their fair rental value at the time of renewal.
8. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Substantially all of the Company’s transactions involving international parties, excluding international consumer sales, are denominated
in U.S. dollars, which limits the Company’s exposure to the effects of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. However, the Company
is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk related to its foreign operating subsidiaries’ U.S. dollar-denominated inventory purchases and
various cross-currency intercompany and related party loans. Coach uses derivative financial instruments to manage these risks. These

derivative transactions are in accordance with the Company’s risk management policies. Coach does not enter into derivative transactions
for speculative or trading purposes.

Coach Japan and Coach Canada enter into foreign currency derivative contracts, primarily zero-cost collar options, to manage the
exchange rate risk related to their inventory purchases. As of June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, zero-cost collar options with aggregate
notional amounts of $193,352 and $310,891 were outstanding, respectively, and have maturity dates ranging from July 2013 to June 2014.

As of June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, the Company had entered into various intercompany and related party loans denominated in
various foreign currencies, with a total principal amount of $253,037 and $286,395 at June 29, 2013, and June 30, 2012, respectively.
The maturity dates range from June 2013 to May 2014. To manage the exchange rate risk related to these loans, the Company entered into
forward exchange and cross-currency swap contracts with notional amounts of $147,591 and $206,648, respectively as of June 29, 2013
and June 30, 2012. The terms of these contracts include the exchange of foreign currency fixed interest for U.S. dollar fixed interest and an
exchange of the foreign currency and U.S. dollar based notional values at the maturity dates.

The Company’s derivative instruments are primarily designated as cash flow hedges. The effective portion of gains or losses on the
derivative instruments are reported as a component of other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the same periods during
which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The ineffective portion of gains or losses on the derivative instruments are recognized in
current earnings and are included within net cash provided by operating activities.
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The following tables provide information related to the Company’s derivatives:

Notional Value Derivative Assets Derivative Liabilities
Fair Value Fair Value
Derivatives Designated as June 29, June 30, Balance Sheet June 29, June 30, Balance Sheet June 29, June 30,
Hedging Instruments 2013 2012 Classification 2013 2012 Classification 2013 2012
Zero-cost Collars $ 193,352 $§ 310,891 Other Current S 1,592 $ 971 Accrued Liabilities  $ (2,555 $ (3,538)
Assets
Cross Currency Swaps 111,195 182,348 Other Current 1,366 414 Accrued Liabilities (85) (560)
Assets
Forward Contracts:
Intercompany & Related 36,396 24,300 Other Current 1,024 74 Accrued Liabilities — —
Party Loans Assets
Contractual Obligations 16,944 Other Current 523 — Accrued Liabilities (255) —
Assets
$ 357,887 $§ 517,539 $ 4505 $ 1,459 $ (2,895 $ (4,098)
Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Amount of Net Gain (Loss) Reclassified from
OCI on Derivatives (Effective Portion) Accumulated OCI into Income (Effective Portion)
Fiscal Year Ended® Income Fiscal Year Ended®
June 29,  June 30, July 2, Statement June 29,  June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011 Location 2013 2012 2011
Zero-cost Collars 8,482 (2,568) (9,267) Cost of 3,803 (3,100)  (10,021)
Sales
Forward Contracts and Cross 478) 473 (127) SG&A — — —
Currency Swaps
8,004 (2,095) (9,394) 3,803 (3,100) (10,021)

(a) For fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, the amounts above are net of tax of $(5,325), $1,858 and $5,960, respectively.
(b) For fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, the amounts above are net of tax of $(2,416), $2,181 and $5,865, respectively.
During fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, there were no material gains or losses recognized in income due to hedge ineffectiveness.

The Company expects that $6,197 of net derivative losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income at June 29, 2013 will
be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months. This amount will vary due to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

Hedging activity affected accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended

June 29, June 30,
2013 2012
Balance at beginning of period $ 60) $§ (1,465)
Net (gains)/losses transferred to earnings (3,803) 3,100
Change in fair value, net of tax 8,004 (2,095)
Balance at end of period $ 3,741 $ (460)
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9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

In accordance with ASC 820-10, “ Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures,” the Company categorized its assets and liabilities
based on the priority of the inputs to the valuation technique into a three-level fair value hierarchy as set forth below. The three levels of the
hierarchy are defined as follows:

Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for identical assets or
liabilities in non-active markets, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, and inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs reflecting management’s own assumptions about the input used in pricing the asset or liability.

The following table shows the fair value measurements of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at June 29, 2013 and June 30,
2012:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
June 29, June 30, June 29, June 30, June 29, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Assets:
Cash equivalents® $ 124,420 $ 137,456 $ 337,239 $ 224,899 $ — 3 —
Short-term investments® — — 72,106 — — —
Available-for-sale securities: — — 65,536 — — —
Corporate Debt
Securities — U.S.®
Corporate Debt Securities - non — — 33,968 — — —
U.s.®
Long-term investment - auction — — — — 6,000 6,000
rate security®
Derivative assets — zero-cost collar — — 1,592 971 — —
options(d)
Derivative assets — forward — — 2,390 488 — —
contracts and cross currency
swaps(d)
Derivative assets — contractual — — 523 — — —
obligations(d)
Total $ 124420 $ 137456 $ 513,354 $ 226,358 $ 6,000 $ 6,000
Liabilities:
Derivative liabilities — $ — 3 — 3 2555 $ 3,538 § — 3 —
zero-cost collar options(d)
Derivative liabilities — forward — — 85 560 — —
contracts and cross currency
swaps(d)
Derivative assets — contractual — — 255 — — —
obligations(d)
Total $ — 3 — 3 2,805 § 4,098 § — —
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9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS - (continued)

(a) The fair value of short-term investments and cash equivalents consist of time deposits, treasury bills, money market funds and
commercial paper, with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase in which management believes their carrying value
approximates fair value based on their short maturity.

(b) Fair value is determined using vendor or broker priced securities.

(c) Fair value is determined using a valuation model that takes into consideration the financial conditions of the issuer and the bond insurer,
current market conditions and the value of the collateral bonds. We have determined that the significant majority of the inputs used to
value this security fall within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as the inputs are based on unobservable estimates. The fair value of this
security has been $6,000 since the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2009.

(d) The fair value of these cash flow hedges is primarily based on the forward curves of the specific indices upon which settlement is based
and includes an adjustment for the counterparty’s or Company’s credit risk.

Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities

The Company’s non-financial instruments, which primarily consist of goodwill and property and equipment, are not required to be
measured at fair value on a recurring basis and are reported at carrying value. However, on a periodic basis whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be fully recoverable (and at least annually for goodwill), non-financial instruments
are assessed for impairment and, if applicable, written-down to and recorded at fair value, considering market participant assumptions.

In fiscal 2013, the Company incurred impairment charges of $16,624 to reduce the carrying amount of certain store assets (primarily
leasehold improvements at selected retail store locations) to their fair values of $4,310 as of June 29, 2013. The fair values of these assets
were determined based on Level 3 measurements. Inputs to these fair value measurements included estimates of the amount and the timing of
the stores' net future discounted cash flows based on historical experience, current trends, and market conditions.

10. DEBT

Revolving Credit Facilities

On June 18, 2012, the Company established a $400,000 revolving credit facility with certain lenders and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.
as the primary lender and administrative agent (the “JP Morgan facility”) with a maturity date of June 2017. On March 26, 2013, the
Company amended the JP Morgan facility to expand available aggregate revolving commitments to $700,000 and to extend the maturity date
to March 26, 2018. The JP Morgan facility is available to finance the seasonal working capital requirements and general corporate purposes
of the Company and its subsidiaries. At Coach’s request and lenders’ consent, revolving commitments of the JP Morgan facility may be
increased to $1,000,000. As of June 29, 2013 and during fiscal 2013, there were no outstanding borrowings on the JP Morgan facility.

Borrowings under the JP Morgan Facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at Coach’s option, either (a) a rate based on the rates
applicable for deposits in the interbank market for U.S. dollars or the applicable currency in which the loans are made plus an applicable
margin or (b) an alternate base rate (which is a rate equal to the greatest of (1) the Prime Rate in effect on such day, (2) the Federal Funds
Effective Rate in effect on such day plus % of 1% or (3) the Adjusted LIBO Rate for a one month Interest Period on such day plus 1%).
Additionally, Coach pays a commitment fee on the average daily unused amount of the JP Morgan Facility, and certain fees with respect to
letters of credit that are issued. At June 29, 2013, the commitment fee was 7.5 basis points.
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10. DEBT - (continued)

The JP Morgan facility contains various covenants and customary events of default. Coach is in compliance with all covenants of the JP
Morgan facility.

Coach Japan maintains credit facilities with several Japanese financial institutions to provide funding for working capital and general
corporate purposes, with total maximum borrowing capacity of 5.3 billion yen, or approximately $53,000 at June 29, 2013. Interest is
based on the Tokyo Interbank rate plus a margin of 25 to 30 basis points. At June 29, 2013 and during fiscal 2013, there were no
outstanding borrowings under these facilities.

Coach Shanghai Limited maintains a credit facility to provide funding for working capital and general corporate purposes, with a
maximum borrowing capacity of 63.0 million Chinese renminbi, or approximately $10,000 at June 29, 2013. Interest is based on the
People's Bank of China rate. At June 29, 2013 and during fiscal 2013, there were no outstanding borrowings under this facility.

Both the Coach Japan and Coach Shanghai Limited credit facilities can be terminated at any time by either party, and there is no
guarantee that they will be available to the Company in future periods.

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company expects to invest approximately $440,000 in the Hudson Yards joint venture over the next three years, with approximately
$130,000 to $160,000 estimated in fiscal 2014, depending on construction progress.

At June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, the Company had credit available of $900,000 and $600,000, respectively, of which letters of
credit totaling $14,885 and $215,380, respectively, were outstanding. The letters of credit, which expire at various dates through 2014,
primarily collateralize the Company’s obligation to third parties for the purchase of inventory.

Coach is a party to employment agreements with certain key executives which provide for compensation and other benefits. The
agreements also provide for severance payments under certain circumstances. The Company’s employment agreements and the respective
end of initial term dates are as follows:

Executive Title End of Initial Term!
Lew Frankfort Chairman and Chief Executive Officer August 2012
Reed Krakoff President and Executive Creative Director TJune 2014®
Michael Tucci President, North America Retail Division June 2013@

(1) Once the initial term expires, these agreements automatically renew for successive one year terms unless either the employee or Board
provides notice.

(2) Refer to Note “Subsequent Events” regarding the sale of the Reed Krakoff business and the departure of these executive officers.

In addition to the employment agreements described above, other contractual cash obligations as of June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012
included $185,838 and $212,084, respectively, related to inventory purchase obligations, and $7,897 and $1,272, respectively, related to
capital expenditure purchase obligations.

In the ordinary course of business, Coach is a party to several pending legal proceedings and claims. Although the outcome of such
items cannot be determined with certainty, Coach's general counsel and management are of the opinion that the final outcome will not have a
material effect on Coach's cash flow, results of operations or financial position.

Refer to Note “Investments” for a discussion of commitments related to the Company’s Hudson Yards joint venture.
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12. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The change in the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill, all of which is included within the International reportable segment is as
follows:

Total
Balance at July 2, 2011 $ 331,004
Acquisition of Singapore and Taiwan retail businesses 41,307
Foreign exchange impact _ 3,724
Balance at June 30, 2012 376,035
Acquisition of Malaysia and Korea retail businesses 31,645
Foreign exchange impact _(62,641)
Balance at June 29, 2013 $ 345,039

At June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, the Company’s intangible assets, which are not subject to amortization, consisted of $9,788 of
trademarks.

13. INCOME TAXES

The provisions for income taxes computed by applying the U.S. statutory rate to income before taxes as reconciled to the actual
provisions were:

Fiscal Year Ended
June 29, 2013 June 30, 2012 July 2, 2011
Amount Percentage Amount Percentage Amount Percentage
Income before provision for
income taxes:
United States $ 1,116,819 73.4% $1,152,276 76.5% $ 983,698 75.6%
Foreign 403,707 26.6 353,087 23.5 317,521 24.4
Total income before provision $ 1,520,526 100.0% $1,505,663 100.0% $1,301,219 100.0%
for income taxes:

Tax expense at U.S. statutory $ 532,184 350% $ 526,979 350% $ 455,426 35.0%
rate

State taxes, net of federal 51,036 34 46,233 3.1 42,464 33
benefit

Effects of foreign operations (119,218) 7.9) (120,642) (8.1) (87,607) (6.8)

Tax benefit related to (3,546) 0.2) (11,553) (0.7) (15,517) (1.2)
agreements with tax
authorities

Otbher, net 25,650 1.7 25,736 1.7 25,653 2.0

Taxes at effective worldwide $ 486,106 32.0% $ 466,753 31.0% $ 420,419 32.3%
rates
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13. INCOME TAXES - (continued)

Current and deferred tax provisions (benefits) were:
Fiscal Year Ended

June 29, 2013 June 30, 2012 July 2, 2011
Current Deferred Current Deferred Current Deferred
Federal $ 411,646 $ (11,596) $398,494 § 9,676 $ 345006 $ 11,848
Foreign 12,944 4,146 (13,685) 16,623 (3,064) 26,589
State 68,036 930 54,108 1,537 38,753 1,287

Total current and deferred tax ~ $ 492,626 $ (6,520) $ 438917 $§ 27,836 $380,695 $ 39,724
provisions (benefits)

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities were:

June 29, June 30,
2013 2012

Share-based compensation $ 66590 $ 58,774
Reserves not deductible until paid 49,531 68,312
Employee benefits 62,628 67,851
Net operating loss 25,413 35,080
Other (1,037) 5,655

Gross deferred tax assets $ 203,125 $ 235,672
Prepaid expenses $ (234 $ 7,979
Property and equipment 1,996 (6,472)
Goodwill 73,726 61,464
Other 323 1,462

Gross deferred tax liabilities 73,811 64,433
Net deferred tax assets $ 129314 $ 171,239
Consolidated Balance Sheets Classification

Deferred income taxes — current asset $ 111,118 $ 95,419

Deferred income taxes — noncurrent asset 84,845 95,223

Deferred income taxes — current liability (14,424) —

Deferred income taxes — noncurrent liability (52,225) (19,403)
Net deferred tax asset $ 129314 $ 171,239

Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide provision for income taxes, and there are many transactions for which the
ultimate tax outcome is uncertain. It is the Company’s policy to establish provisions for taxes that may become payable in future years,
including those due to an examination by tax authorities. The Company establishes the provisions based upon management’s assessment of
exposure associated with uncertain tax positions. The provisions are analyzed at least quarterly and adjusted as appropriate based on new
information or circumstances in accordance with the requirements of ASC 740.
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13. INCOME TAXES - (continued)

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011
Balance at beginning of fiscal year $155,599 $ 162,060 $165,676
Gross increase due to tax positions related to prior periods 5,335 1,271 5,225
Gross decrease due to tax positions related to prior periods (6,404) (7,264) (1,218)
Gross increase due to tax positions related to current period 33,637 28,151 29,342
Gross decrease due to tax positions related to current period — — —
Decrease due to lapse of statutes of limitations 29,075)  (15,187) (6,519)
Decrease due to settlements with taxing authorities (10,282) (13,432) (30,446)
Balance at end of fiscal year $148,810 $155,599 $ 162,060

Of the $148,810 ending gross unrecognized tax benefit balance as of June 29, 2013, $89,360 relates to items which, if recognized,
would impact the effective tax rate. Of the $155,599 ending gross unrecognized tax benefit balance as of June 30, 2012, $77,366 relates to
items which, if recognized, would impact the effective tax rate. As of June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, gross interest and penalties payable
was $17,301 and $24,338, respectively, which are included in other liabilities. During fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, the
Company recognized gross interest and penalty income of $7,037, $10,920, and $73, respectively.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, as well as various state and foreign jurisdictions. Tax
examinations are currently in progress in select foreign and state jurisdictions that are extending the years open under the statutes of
limitation. Fiscal years 2010 to present are open to examination in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, fiscal 2006 to present in select state
jurisdictions and fiscal 2004 to present in select foreign jurisdictions. The Company anticipates that one or more of these audits may be
finalized in the foreseeable future. However, based on the status of these examinations, and the average time typically incurred in finalizing
audits with the relevant tax authorities, we cannot reasonably estimate the impact these audits may have in the next 12 months, if any, to
previously recorded uncertain tax positions. We accrue for certain known and reasonably anticipated income tax obligations after assessing
the likely outcome based on the weight of available evidence. Although we believe that the estimates and assumptions we have used are
reasonable and legally supportable, the final determination of tax audits could be different than that which is reflected in historical income
tax provisions and recorded assets and liabilities. With respect to all jurisdictions, we believe we have made adequate provision for all
income tax uncertainties.

For the years ended June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards in foreign tax jurisdictions of
$340,893 and $263,782, the majority of which can be carried forward indefinitely. The deferred tax assets related to the carryforwards
have been reflected net of $79,599 and $53,503 valuation allowances at June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, respectively. The Company’s
valuation allowance increased by $26,096 in fiscal 2013 and $31,702 in fiscal 2012, primarily as the result of actual or anticipated results
in the foreign jurisdictions.

The total amount of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries as of June 29, 2013 and June 30, 2012, was $1,601,637 and
$1,203,949, respectively. It is the Company’s intention to permanently reinvest undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries and
thereby indefinitely postpone their remittance. Accordingly, no provision has been made for foreign withholding taxes or United States
income taxes which may become payable if undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries are paid as dividends. Determination of the
amount of unrecognized deferred income tax liabilities on these earnings is not practicable because such liability, if any, is subject to many
variables and is dependent on circumstances existing if and when remittance occurs.
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14. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

Coach maintains the Coach, Inc. Savings and Profit Sharing Plan, which is a defined contribution plan. Employees who meet certain
eligibility requirements and are not part of a collective bargaining agreement may participate in this program. The annual expense incurred
by Coach for this defined contribution plan was $16,274, $18,641, and $16,029 in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011,

respectively.

15. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Effective as of the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company changed its reportable segments to a geographic focus,
recognizing the expansion and growth of sales through its international markets. This is consistent with organizational changes implemented
during fiscal 2012.

Prior to this change, the Company was organized and reported its results based on directly-operated and indirect business units. The
Company has recently experienced substantial growth in its international business, while at the same time has converted formerly wholesale
businesses in several key markets such as China, Taiwan and Korea to Company-operated businesses. Reflecting this growth and
corresponding declines in indirect businesses relative to Company-operated, the Company implemented a realignment of its business units
based on geography, aligning with the organizational changes.

As of the end of the Company’s first quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company’s operations now reflect five operating segments aggregated
into two reportable segments:

¢ North America, which includes sales to North American consumers through Company-operated stores, including the Internet, and
sales to wholesale customers and distributors.

e International, which includes sales to consumers through Company-operated stores in Japan and mainland China, including the
Internet, Hong Kong and Macau, Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia and Korea, and sales to wholesale customers and distributors in 25
countries.

In deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance, Coach's chief operating decision maker regularly evaluates the sales and
operating income of these segments. Operating income is the gross margin of the segment less direct expenses of the segment. Unallocated
corporate expenses include production variances, advertising, marketing, design, administration and information systems, as well as
distribution and consumer service expenses.

Prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

North International Other(]) Corporate Total
America Unallocated
Fiscal 2013
Net sales $ 3,478,198 $§ 1,540,693 $ 56,499 $ — $ 5,075,390
Operating income (loss) 1,459,974 574,289 37,978 (547,700) 1,524,541
Income (loss) before provision for 1,459,974 574,289 37,978 (551,715) 1,520,526
income taxes
Depreciation and amortization 72,279 45,693 — 45,015 162,987
expense
Total assets 459,835 894,785 34,788 2,142,489 3,531,897
Additions to long-lived assets 98,645 60,932 — 81,776 241,353
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15. SEGMENT INFORMATION - (continll\}edlI . (,)
ort International Other Corporate Total
America Unallocated
Fiscal 2012
Net sales $ 3,316,895 $ 1,401,789 §$ 44496 $ — § 4,763,180
Operating income (loss) 1,447,964 553,835 30,406 (520,216) 1,511,989
Income (loss) before provision for 1,447,964 553,835 30,406 (526,542) 1,505,663
income taxes
Depreciation and amortization expense 63,800 38,361 — 30,748 132,909
Total assets 441,826 985,098 32,379 1,645,018 3,104,321
Additions to long-lived assets 75,093 53,418 — 69,776 198,287
Fiscal 2011
Net sales $ 2,974,683 § 1,147,431 § 36,393 $ — §$ 4,158,507
Operating income (loss) 1,251,385 440,540 27,298 (414,299) 1,304,924
Income (loss) before provision for 1,251,385 440,540 27,298 (418,004) 1,301,219
income taxes
Depreciation and amortization expense 62,925 32,239 — 29,942 125,106
Total assets 413,418 814,312 12,243 1,395,143 2,635,116
Additions to long-lived assets 55,355 59,872 — 39,424 154,651

(1) Other, which is not a reportable segment, consists of sales generated in ancillary channels including licensing and disposition.

The following is a summary of the costs not allocated in the determination of segment operating income performance:

Fiscal Year Ended
June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011
Production variances $ 64,712 $ 35262 $ 64,043
Advertising, marketing and design (236,713) (217,167) (175,643)
Administration and information systems (292,985) (272,556) (247,585)
Distribution and customer service (82,714) (65,755) (55,114)
Total corporate unallocated $ (547,700) $ (520,216) § (414,299)

Geographic Area Information

As of June 29, 2013, Coach operated 322 retail stores and 187 factory stores in the United States, 29 retail stores and six factory stores
in Canada, 191 department store shop-in-shops, retail stores and factory stores in Japan and 218 department store shop-in-shops, retail
stores and factory stores in Hong Kong, Macau, mainland China, Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia and Korea. Coach also operates
distribution, product development and quality control locations in the United States, Hong Kong, China, South Korea, Vietnam,
Philippines and India. Geographic revenue information is based on the location of our customer. Geographic long-lived asset information is
based on the physical location of the assets at the end of each fiscal year and includes property and equipment, net and other assets.
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15. SEGMENT INFORMATION - (continued)

United States Japan Other Total
International

Fiscal 2013

Net sales $ 3334479 $ 760,941 $ 979,970 $ 5,075,390
Long-lived assets 638,758 73,041 112,139 823,938
Fiscal 2012

Net sales $ 3,243,710 $ 844,863 $ 674,607 $ 4,763,180
Long-lived assets 631,979 74,324 108,334 814,637
Fiscal 2011

Net sales $ 2,895,029 $ 757,744  $ 505,734 $ 4,158,507
Long-lived assets 574,285 76,804 76,473 727,562

(1) Other International sales reflect shipments to third-party distributors, primarily in East Asia, and sales from Coach-operated stores in
Hong Kong, Macau, mainland China, Singapore, Taiwan, Malaysia, Korea and Canada.

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following is a reconciliation of the weighted-average shares outstanding and calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
Fiscal Year Ended
June 29, June 30, July 2,
2013 2012 2011

Net income $ 1,034,420 $1,038910 $ 880,800
Total weighted-average basic shares 282,494 288,284 294,877
Dilutive securities:

Employee benefit and share award plans 1,450 1,694 1,792

Stock option programs 2,363 4,151 4,889
Total weighted-average diluted shares 286,307 294,129 301,558
Net income per share:

Basic $ 3.66 $ 3.60 $ 2.99

Diluted $ 3.61 § 353§ 2.92

At June 29, 2013, options to purchase 2,145 shares of common stock were outstanding but not included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share, as these options’ exercise prices, ranging from $56.95 to $78.46, were greater than the average market price of the
common shares.

At June 30, 2012, options to purchase 116 shares of common stock were outstanding but not included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share, as these options’ exercise prices, ranging from $72.06 to $78.46, were greater than the average market price of the
common shares.

At July 2, 2011, options to purchase 55 shares of common stock were outstanding but not included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share, as these options’ exercise prices, ranging from $59.97 to $60.28, were greater than the average market price of the
common shares.
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17. STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM

Purchases of Coach’s common stock are made from time to time, subject to market conditions and at prevailing market prices, through
open market purchases. Repurchased shares of common stock become authorized but unissued shares and may be issued in the future for
general corporate and other purposes. The Company may terminate or limit the stock repurchase program at any time.

During fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, and fiscal 2011, the Company repurchased and retired 7,066, 10,688 and 20,404 shares,
respectively, or $400,000, $700,000, and $1,098,000 of common stock, respectively, at an average cost of $56.61, $65.49 and $53.81
per share, respectively. As of June 29, 2013, Coach had $1,361,627 remaining in the stock repurchase program.

18. SUPPLEMENTAL BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

The components of certain balance sheet accounts are as follows:

June 29, June 30,
2013 2012
Property and equipment
Land and building $ 168550 $ 168,550
Machinery and equipment 33,172 34,056
Furniture and fixtures 564,574 490,892
Leasehold improvements 632,550 618,583
Construction in progress 67,665 19,774
Less: accumulated depreciation (771,740) (687,406)
Total property and equipment, net $ 694,771 § 644,449
Accrued liabilities
Payroll and employee benefits $ 193,112 § 184,918
Accrued rent 39,984 37,834
Dividends payable 94,998 85,796
Operating expenses 215,059 231,850
Total accrued liabilities $ 543,153 § 540,398
Other liabilities
Deferred lease incentives $ 117,502 §$§ 116,302
Non-current tax liabilities 148,810 155,599
Tax-related deferred credit — 22,520
Other 133,432 97,824
Total other liabilities $ 399,744 § 392,245
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Cumulative translation adjustments $ (11,6300 $§ 55,360
Cumulative effect of adoption of ASC 320-10-35-17, net of taxes of $628 (1,072) (1,072)
and $628
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedging derivatives, net of taxes of 3,741 (461)
$(2,332) and $576®
Unrealized losses on available-for-sale investments (1,276) —
ASC 715 adjustment and minimum pension liability, net of taxes of (2,009) (3,352)
$1,490 and $2,028
Accumulated other comprehensive income $ (12,246) $ 50,475

(a) During fiscal 2013, $3,803 of net gains, net of tax of $2,416, has been classified from accumulated other comprehensive income into
income. During fiscal 2012, $3,100 of net losses, net of tax of $2,181, was transferred.
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19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Sale of Reed Krakoff Business

The Company announced that it has entered into a binding agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) to sell the Reed Krakoff business to
Reed Krakoff Investments LLC (“the Buyer”), an investment group led by Mr. Krakoff. The Buyer will purchase the equity interests of the
business and certain assets, including the Reed Krakoff brand name and related intellectual property rights from Coach. In consideration,
the Buyer will assume certain liabilities of Coach, pay to Coach ten dollars in cash and issue to Coach an approximate 15% equity interest
in the newly formed company. This equity interest is subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. Concurrent with the closing under
the Purchase Agreement, the parties contemplate executing certain ancillary agreements, including under certain circumstances, a credit
agreement whereby Coach will agree to loan Buyer up to $20 million for general corporate purposes for a term of two years.

The Purchase Agreement provides that the closing is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions, including the accuracy of
each party’s representations and warranties at the closing, subject to materiality qualifiers, compliance in all material respects with each
party’s covenants under the Purchase Agreement, Buyer receiving additional equity financing, and other customary conditions. The
Purchase Agreement is subject to termination under certain customary circumstances, including that both parties will have the right to
terminate the Purchase Agreement if the closing has not occurred by August 31, 2013.

In connection with the Purchase Agreement and Mr. Krakoff’s resignation from Coach, Mr. Krakoff agreed to waive his right to receive
any compensation, salary, bonuses, equity vesting and certain other benefits if the closing occurs.

The sale is anticipated to close by the end of the first quarter 2014 and assuming the transaction closes, it is not expected to have a
material impact on our first quarter results of operations.

Acquisition of European Joint Venture

In July 2013 (fiscal 2014) the Company acquired 100% of its European joint venture by purchasing Hackett Limited’s 50% interest in
the joint venture, enabling Coach to assume direct control and consolidate its domestic retail business.

Departure of Key Executives

The Company’s President, North American Group, Mike Tucci, and its President and Chief Operating Officer, Jerry Stritzke, have
informed the Company of their decisions to depart Coach at the end of August 2013.
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Balance at Provision Charged Write-offs/ Balance at
Beginning to Costs and Allowances End
of Year Expenses Taken of Year

Fiscal 2013
Allowance for bad debts $ 3318 § 529) $ (@a651) $ 1,138
Allowance for returns 2,810 8,644 (4,431) 7,023
Allowance for markdowns 3,685 22,484 (17,845) 8,324
Valuation allowance" 53,503 29,252 (3,156) 79,599

Total $ 63316 $ 59,851 $ (27,083) $ 96,084
Fiscal 2012
Allowance for bad debts $ 3431 $ 117 s 4 3 3,318
Allowance for returns 2,196 1,752 (1,138) 2,810
Allowance for markdowns 3,917 10,267 (10,499) 3,685
Valuation allowance'! 21,800 31,703 — 53,503

Total $ 31344 $ 43,605 $ (11,633) 63,316
Fiscal 2011
Allowance for bad debts $ 1,943 $ 1,495 $ 7 % 3,431
Allowance for returns 1,371 3,837 (3,012) 2,196
Allowance for markdowns 3,651 7,233 (6,967) 3,917
Valuation allowance!" 1,217 20,583 — 21,800

Total $ 8,182 § 33,148 $ (9,986) $ 31,344

(1) In fiscal 2013, the Company changed its policy for disclosure of valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets whose realization is
deemed remote from a net to a gross basis.
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(unaudited)
First Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
Quarter
Fiscal 2013)
Net sales $ 1,161,350 $ 1,503,774 § 1,187,578 § 1,222,688
Gross profit 845,168 1,085,382 880,188 887,410
Net income 221,381 352,764 238,932 221,343
Net income per common share:
Basic 0.78 1.25 0.85 0.79
Diluted 0.77 1.23 0.84 0.78
Fiscal 2012
Net sales $1,050,359 $ 1,448,649 $1,108,981 $1,155,191
Gross profit 764,653 1,045,211 818,067 838,147
Net income 214,983 500,901 225,002 251,430
Net income per common share:
Basic 0.74 1.20 0.78 0.88
Diluted 0.73 1.18 0.77 0.86
Fiscal 2011V
Net sales $ 911,669 $ 1,264,457 $ 950,706 § 1,031,675
Gross profit 676,171 915,176 691,655 740,539
Net income 188,876 303,428 186,015 202,481
Net income per common share:
Basic 0.64 1.02 0.63 0.70
Diluted 0.63 1.00 0.62 0.68

(1) The sum of the quarterly earnings per share may not equal the full-year amount, as the computations of the weighted-average number of
common basic and diluted shares outstanding for each quarter and the full year are performed independently.
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as depositary, which is incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to Coach’s Current Report on Form 8-
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depositary, pursuant to the deposit agreement in favor of and in relation to the rights of the holders of the
depositary receipts, which is incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to Coach’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on November 25, 2011

Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2012, by and between Coach, certain lenders and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, which is incorporated by reference from Exhibit
10.2 to Coach’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012

Amendment No. 1 to the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 26, 2013, by and between
Coach, certain lenders and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., as administrative agent, which is incorporated
by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to Coach’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March
30,2013

Limited Liability Company Agreement, dated April 10, 2013, by and between Coach Legacy Yards
LLC, an affiliate of Coach, and Podium Fund Tower C SPV LLC

Development Agreement, dated April 10, 2013, by and between Coach Legacy Yards LLC, an affiliate of
Coach, and ERY Developer LLC

Guaranty Agreement, dated April 10, 2013, by Coach, Inc., to and for the benefit of

ERY Developer LLC and Podium Fund Tower C SPV LLC

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated April 10, 2013, by and between 504-514 West 34 th Street Corp. and
516 West 34™ Street LLC, both subsidiaries of Coach, and ERY 34 Street Acquisition LLC

Coach, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, which is incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10 to
Coach’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 28, 2003

Coach, Inc. Performance-Based Annual Incentive Plan, which is incorporated by reference from
Appendix A to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
filed on September 19, 2008
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24,2010
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is incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to Coach’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 8, 2012
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Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

91



REDACTED COPY
CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED

*** Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this exhibit. The copy filed herewith omits the information subject to the confidentiality request.
Pages where confidential treatment has been requested are stamped, “Confidential Treatment Requested” and the redacted material has been separately filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. All redacted material has been marked by three asterisks (***).
EXECUTION VERSION
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT
OF
LEGACY YARDS LLC
BY AND BETWEEN
PODIUM FUND TOWER C SPV LLC
AND
COACH LEGACY YARDS LLC
PROJECT:

Office Tower C, Eastern Rail Yard
New York, New York




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ARTICLE 1 FORMATION AND OFFICES 7
1.1. Formation 7
1.2. Name 8
1.3. Purposes 8
1.4. Powers 9
L.5. Term 10
1.6. Principal Office and Registered Agent 10
1.7. Members 11
1.8. Beneficial Ownership of Condo Units 11
1.9. Project Documents 11
1.10. Separateness 11
1.11. Construction Loan Closing Day Transactions 13
ARTICLE 2 DEFINITIONS 15
2.1. Terms Defined Herein 15
2.2. Other Definitional Provisions 42
ARTICLE 3 DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROJECT 44
3.1. Development of the Project 44
3.2. Development Agreement; Development Management Agreement 44
3.3. Expansion of Coach Unit 44
3.4. Financing of the Construction of the Project; Funding; Etc. 46
3.5. Construction of the Project; Guarantees 49
3.6. Budget; Allocation of the Costs of the Project; Audit; Books and Records 50
3.7. Condominium Regime 52
3.8. Conditions to Transfer of Coach Unit; Closing Payments and Deliveries 54
3.9. Cooperation; Covenants 65
3.10. Arbitration 67
3.11. Municipal Incentives 68
ARTICLE 4 CAPITALIZATION OF THE COMPANY 69
4.1. Initial Capital Contributions 69
4.2. Additional Capital Contributions 69
4.3. Capital Contributions and Remedies 71
4.4. Capital Accounts 72
4.5. Capital al Rights, Interest and Priority 73
4.6. Pledge of Equity Commitments 73




ARTICLE 5 PROFITS AND LOSSES

5.1.

Allocation of Profits and Losses

ARTICLE 6 DISTRIBUTION OF CASH; INSURANCE PROCEEDS AND CONDEMNATION AWARDS

6.1.
6.2.
6.3.

Distribution of Cash
Insurance Proceeds and Condemnation Awards
Subject to Loan Documents

ARTICLE 7 MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL

7.1.
7.2.
7.3.
7.4.
7.5.
7.6.
7ol
7.8.

Powers of the Fund Member

Restrictions on Powers

Rights of Members

Easements

Activities of Members

Development Agreement.

Management Change Event; Limitation on Approval Rights.
Rights of Fund Member.

ARTICLE 8 LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION; INSURANCE

8.1.
8.2.
8.3.
8.4.
8.5.
8.6.
8.7.
8.8.
8.9.

Limited Liability of Members
Liability of Members

Right to Indemnification
Member Indemnity

Survival

Advance Payment
Nonexclusivity of Rights
Savings Clause

Insurance

ARTICLE 9 TRANSFERS OF INTERESTS

9.1.
9.2.
9.3.
9.4.
9.5.
9.6.

General Restrictions

Permitted Transfers

Substitute Members

Effect of Admission as a Substitute Member
Additional Members

Withdrawal

ARTICLE 10 EVENT OF DEFAULT

10.1.
10.2.

Event of Default
Remedies and Damages

73

73

75

75
77
78

78

78
78
84
84
84
84
86
88

91

91
91
92
93
93
93
94
94
94

94

94
97
97
98
98
98

98

98
99




ARTICLE 11 DISSOLUTION AND TERMINATION

11.1. Events Causing Dissolution
11.2. Cash Distributions Upon Dissolution; Procedures
11.3. Certificate of Cancellation..

ARTICLE 12 ACCOUNTING, BANK ACCOUNTS, BOOKS, RECORDS AND REPORTS

12.1. Fiscal Year and Accounting Method

12.2. Books and Records

12.3. Financial Reports

12.4. Tax Returns, Elections and Tax Matters Member
12.5. Bank Accounts

ARTICLE 13 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

13.1. Representations and Warranties of the Coach Member
13.2. Representations and Warranties of the Fund Member

ARTICLE 14 MISCELLANEOUS

14.1. Title to Assets; Certain Waivers
14.2. Nature of Interest in the Company
14.3. Waiver of Default

14.4. Amendment

14.5. No Third Party Rights

14.6. Severability

14.7. Binding Agreement

14.8. Headings; Exhibits; Schedules

14.9. Governing Law

14.10. Jurisdiction; Waiver of Trial by Jury
14.11. Notices

14.12. Counterparts

14.13. Further Assurances

14.14. Rights Upon Withholding of Consent
14.15. Brokerage

14.16. Non-Recourse; Exculpation

14.17. Fiduciary Duty.

14.18. Confidentiality

14.19. Prevailing Party Entitled to Fees and Costs
14.20. Partition

14.21. Survival

100

100
100
101

101

101
101
102
102
102

102

102
104

105

105
106
106
106
106
106
106
107
107
107
108
109
110
110
110
110
110
111
112
112
112




Exhibits:

Exhibit A Legal Description

Exhibit B Office Unit Competitors

Exhibit C-1 Form of Declaration

Exhibit C-2 Form of By-laws

Exhibit D MTA Project Documents

Exhibit E-1 Mezzanine Loan Documents

Exhibit E-2 Mortgage Loan Documents

Exhibit F Permitted Encumbrances

Exhibit G Retail Premises Competitors

Exhibit H Form of Coach Unit Deed

Exhibit I Form of FIRPTA Certification

Exhibit J Form of Coach Release

Exhibit K Form of Redemption/Amendment

Exhibit L Form of Punch List Escrow Agreement
Exhibit M Form of Right of First Negotiation Agreement
Exhibit N Form of Option Agreement

Exhibit O-1 Severed Parcel Plan

Exhibit O-2 Temporary Aesthetic Treatment Plan
Exhibit P Arbiters

Exhibit Q Approved Replacement Developers
Schedules:

Schedule 1 Initial Percentage Interests

Schedule 2 Initial Capital Contributions

Schedule 3 Member Representatives

Schedule 4 Construction Loan Statement of Sources and Uses
Schedule 5 Schedule of Pre-Development Costs and Project Costs




LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT
OF
LEGACY YARDS LLC

(A Delaware Limited Liability Company)

THIS LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT (as the same may be amended from time to time, this “ Agreement””) of LEGACY
YARDS LLC (the “Company”) is made and entered into as of the 10th day of April, 2013, by and between PODIUM FUND TOWER C SPV LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (together with its permitted successors and assigns, the *“ Fund Member”), and COACH LEGACY YARDS LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (together with its permitted successors and assigns, the “ Coach Member”) (the Fund Member and the Coach Member,
together with such other Persons who may hereafter become a member of the Company as provided herein, are hereinafter referred to as the “ Members” or
individually as a “Member”). Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined in this Agreement, shall have the meaning ascribed to each term, respectively,
in Article 2 of this Agreement.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Company was formed as a limited liability company pursuant to the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act (as it may be
amended from time to time, or any successor statute, the “ Act”) and as required thereunder, the Members do hereby intend to adopt this Agreement as the
operating agreement of the Company;

WHEREAS, the Fund Member is an affiliate of The Related Companies, L.P., a New York limited partnership (together with its permitted
successors and assigns, “Related”), and the Coach Member is an affiliate of Coach, Inc., a Maryland corporation (together with its successors and permitted
assigns, the “Coach Guarantor”);

WHEREAS, the Company is the sole member of and owns 100% of the limited liability company interests in Legacy Yards Mezzanine LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“Legacy Mezzanine™), and Legacy Mezzanine is the sole member of and owns 100% of the limited liability company
interests in Legacy Yards Tenant LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Legacy Tenant”);

WHEREAS, on the date hereof the Company has caused Legacy Tenant to enter into that certain Agreement of Severed Parcel Lease (Eastern Rail
Yard Section of the John D. Caemmerer West Side Yard), dated as of the date hereof, with the Metropolitan Transportation Authority (the “MTA”), a body
corporate and politic constituting a public benefit corporation of the State of New York (as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the “ Building C Lease”), pursuant to which Legacy Tenant holds a leasehold estate
(the “Leasehold Estate”) in that certain portion of the Eastern Rail Yard Section (the “ERY”) of the John D. Caemmerer West Side Yard located on terra firma
on the northwest corner of West 30th Street and 10th Avenue, New York, New York, as more particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Land”),
and any improvements now or hereafter located thereon;




WHEREAS, the Company intends to develop and construct the Building, which upon substantial completion thereof will be submitted to a
condominium regime of ownership and consist of the Coach Unit and the Fund Member Units;

WHEREAS, the Members agree and intend that the Coach Member is the sole beneficial owner of the Coach Unit and the Leasehold Estate with
respect thereto, and the Fund Member is the sole beneficial owner of the Fund Member Units and the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto, but the Members
have determined that (i) having Legacy Tenant own Leasehold Estate and develop and construct the Building (rather than having each Member hold title to its
respective Unit) facilitates development and construction financing for the Building, and (ii) it is not practicable to submit the Land and Building to a
condominium regime, as herein provided, until the core and shell of the Building is completed,

WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, (i) the Coach Member will receive all benefits, and bear all obligations,
attributable to the Coach Unit and the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto, and all items of profit and loss, tax deductions and credits, and cash flow
attributable to the Coach Unit and the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto will be fully allocated to the Coach Member, and (ii) the Fund Member will receive
all benefits, and bear all obligations, attributable to the Fund Member Units and the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto, and all items of profit and loss, tax
deductions and credits, and cash flow attributable to the Fund Member Units and the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto will be fully allocated to the Fund
Member; and

WHEREAS, (i) the Coach Member will have no beneficial interest in the Fund Member Units or the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto and (ii)
the Fund Member will have no beneficial interest in the Coach Unit or the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements contained herein, the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
FORMATION AND OFFICES
1.1. Formation.
(@ The Company was formed as a limited liability company under the provisions of the Act by the filing of the Certificate of

Formation of the Company with the Delaware Secretary of State on October 16, 2012, (as the same may be amended from time to time, the * Articles”). This
Agreement shall constitute the limited liability company agreement between the Members within the meaning of the Act.

(b) The Fund Member shall immediately, and from time to time hereafter, as may be required by law, execute or cause to be executed
all amendments of the Articles, and do all filing, recording and other acts as may be appropriate under the Act and that are necessary for the Company to
qualify to do business in New York, and shall cause a copy of each such amendment to be delivered to the other Members. The rights and obligations of the
Members shall be as set forth in the Act except as this Agreement expressly provides otherwise.




1.2 Name.
(@ All Company business shall be conducted in the name of the Company as set forth above or such other name as the Members
may jointly select from time to time and which is in compliance with all applicable laws.

(b) The Building shall not be named after any Person, including, without limitation, the Coach Member, the Fund Member and/or
any other owner, user or tenant of any Unit, any portion thereof, or any other portion of the Building. Except as required by Law, (i) there shall be no signs at
the top of the Building (such as the “MetLife” sign on top of 200 Park Avenue, New York, New York, as of the date hereof), (ii) there shall be no signs
identifying any office unit tenant or owner anywhere in or on the Building that are more prominent than the signage of the Coach Member in or on the
Building, and (iii) all Building signage shall comply with the Signage Plan.

1.3. Purposes.

(a) The purpose and business of the Company shall be solely to be the sole member of and own 100% of the limited liability company
interests in Legacy Mezzanine, the sole purpose of which is to be the sole member of and own 100% of the limited liability company interests in Legacy
Tenant, and to do the following, either directly or indirectly through Legacy Mezzanine and/or Legacy Tenant, as applicable:

i) cause Legacy Tenant to acquire and own the Leasehold Estate pursuant to the Building C Lease; (B) subject to and in
accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement and the Tenant LLC Agreement, obtain the Mortgage Loan and otherwise borrow money, issue
evidence of indebtedness and secure the same by mortgages, deeds of trust, pledges or other liens on or security interests in the Leasehold Estate and any other
real and personal property of Legacy Tenant or any portion thereof, all in furtherance of any and all of the business of Legacy Tenant; (C) subject to and in
accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement, the Building C Lease and the other Project Documents, and the Mortgage Loan Documents,
develop and construct, and cause Developer to construct in accordance with the Development Management Agreement and the Development Agreement, a
commercial building containing office space, a podium with retail space, parking facilities, loading docks and other facilities, and other improvements on the
Land as shown on the Plans (as the same exist from time to time, the *“ Building”; and the Land and the Building, collectively (whether or not submitted to a
condominium regime), the “Property”); (D) subject to and in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement, the Building C Lease and the other
Project Documents, the Development Management Agreement, the Development Agreement, and the Mortgage Loan Documents, improve, manage, maintain,
lease, sublease, acquire fee title to, sell, exchange, transfer, dispose of and otherwise realize upon the value of all or any portion of the Property; (E) subject to
and in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement, subject the Land and the Building to a condominium form of ownership pursuant to the
Condominium Documents; (F) following the creation of the Condominium, and upon satisfaction of the conditions for conveyance set forth herein and in the
Development Agreement, convey fee title to the Coach Unit to the Coach Member as more fully provided in Section 3.8 hereof and, at the Fund Member’s
election and subject to the provisions of this Agreement, convey fee title to any of the Fund Member Units to the Fund Member or to any other Person; and (G)
develop, redevelop, hold, lease, finance, refinance, operate, maintain, manage, mortgage or otherwise deal with the Property or any portion thereof;




(ii) cause Legacy Mezzanine to (A) be the sole member of and own 100% of the membership interests in Legacy Tenant, (B)
cause Legacy Tenant to do any and all things which may be necessary, incidental or convenient to carry on its business as described in clause (i) above in
accordance with the terms of the Tenant LLC Agreement, this Agreement, the Development Agreement, the Building C Lease and the other Project Documents,
the Development Management Agreement, and the Mortgage Loan Documents, (C) obtain the Mezzanine Loan and otherwise borrow money, issue evidence of
indebtedness and secure the same by mortgages, deeds of trust, pledges or other liens or security interests in Legacy Mezzanine’s membership interest in
Legacy Tenant and any other property or assets of Legacy Mezzanine, and (D) subject to and in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Mezzanine
LLC Agreement, this Agreement and the Mezzanine Loan Documents, sell, exchange, transfer, dispose of and otherwise realize upon the value of all or any
portion of Legacy Mezzanine’s membership interest in Legacy Tenant and any of its other property or assets;

(iii) subject to and in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement, sell, exchange, transfer, dispose of and
otherwise realize upon the value of all or any portion of the Company’s membership interest in Legacy Mezzanine and any other property or assets of the
Company; and

(iv) do any and all things which may be necessary, incidental or convenient to carry on the business of the Company as
described herein and which are permitted under the Act, all on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

(b) The Company shall not engage in any other business or activity without the prior written consent of the Members.

1.4. Powers. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including, without limitation, Section 1.10 and Section 7.2, the Company
shall have the power to do any and all acts reasonably necessary, appropriate, proper, advisable, incidental or convenient to or for the furtherance of the
purposes set forth in Section 1.3(a), including, but not limited to, the power:

(a) to conduct its business, carry on its operations and have and exercise the powers granted to a limited liability company by the Act
in any state, territory, district or possession of the United States that may be necessary, convenient or incidental to the accomplishment of the purposes of the
Company;

(b) to acquire (by purchase, lease, contribution of property or otherwise), own, hold, operate, maintain, finance, improve, lease, sell,
convey, mortgage, transfer, demolish or dispose of any real or personal property, in whole or in part, that may be necessary, convenient or incidental to the
accomplishment of the purposes of the Company;




() to enter into, perform and carry out contracts of any kind, including, without limitation, contracts with any Member, any
Affiliate thereof, or any agent of the Company necessary to, in connection with, convenient to, or incidental to the accomplishment of the purpose of the
Company;

(d) to sue and be sued, complain and defend, and participate in administrative and other proceedings, in its name;

(e) to retain employees and agents of the Company, and define their duties and fix their compensation;

63} to indemnify any Person in accordance with the Act and this Agreement, and to obtain any and all types of insurance;

(g) to negotiate, enter into, renegotiate, extend, renew, terminate, modify, amend, waive, execute, acknowledge or take any other action

with respect to any lease, contract or security agreement in respect of any assets of the Company;

(h) to borrow money and issue evidences of indebtedness, and to secure the same by a mortgage, pledge or other lien on the assets of
the Company;

1 to pay, collect, compromise, litigate, arbitrate or otherwise adjust or settle any and all other claims or demands of or against the
Company or to hold such proceeds against the payment of contingent liabilities;

G to purchase at the expense of the Company, liability, casualty and other insurance and bonds to protect the Company’s properties,
operations, Members and the affiliates, officers, directors and employees of each Member;

(k) to make, execute, acknowledge and file any and all documents or instruments necessary, convenient or incidental to the
accomplishment of the purpose of the Company; and

o) to form, operate, own, sell, exchange, transfer, dispose of and otherwise its interest in Legacy Mezzanine or any additional
Subsidiary of the Company in accordance with the terms and conditions hereof.

1.5. Term. The Company commenced on the date of the filing of the Articles and shall continue in existence until such time as may be
determined in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

1.6. Principal Office and Registered Agent. The principal office of the Company shall be located c/o The Related Companies, L.P., 60
Columbus Circle, New York, New York 10023, or at such other place in the City of New York as the Fund Member may determine from time to time, and the
Company shall maintain records there as required by the Act. The registered office of, and the registered agent for service of process upon, the Company in the
State of Delaware is: Corporation Service Company, 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, New Castle County, Delaware 19808. The Fund Member
may change the registered office and registered agent from time to time and shall promptly notify the Members of any such change.
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1.7. Members. The Coach Member and the Fund Member are the sole members of the Company, each with an interest in the Company, which
(a) in the case of the Coach Member, consists of all right, title and interest of the Coach Member in the Company and in and to the Coach Unit as provided in
Section 1.8 below, and (b) in the case of the Fund Member, consists of all right, title and interest of the Fund Member in the Company and in and to the Fund
Member Units as provided in Section 1.8 below (such interest, with respect to each Member, as the same may be modified in accordance with the provisions
of this Agreement, being a “Membership Interest”). Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, no Person other than the Coach Member and the Fund
Member shall be admitted as an additional or substitute member of the Company.

1.8. Beneficial Ownership of Condominium Units . The Coach Member shall be the sole beneficial owner of the Coach Unit and the Leasehold
Estate with respect thereto, and the Fund Member shall be the sole beneficial owner of the Fund Member Units and the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto,
(a) the Coach Member shall be entitled to all benefits, rights, entitlements and interests attributable to, derived from and/or relating to the Coach Unit and the
Leasehold Estate with respect thereto, and (b) the Related/Oxford shall be entitled to all benefits, rights, entitlements and interests attributable to, derived from
and/or relating to the Fund Member Units and the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto. Nothing in this Section 1.8 shall modify, limit or excuse the
performance by the Members of their respective obligations under this Agreement.

1.9. Project Documents. Without limiting the obligations of each Member under this Agreement, or the obligations of each Member or its
respective Affiliates, as applicable, under the Development Agreement, the Related/Oxford Guaranty, the Coach Guaranty or any other agreements between
such parties, each Member hereby acknowledges that Legacy Tenant’s rights with respect to the Property are subject to the provisions of the Building C Lease
and the other Project Documents, and agrees that it will not knowingly take any action in violation of any of the terms of, the Building C Lease or any of the
other Project Documents. The Fund Member represents and warrants that neither its obligations hereunder, nor the obligations of Developer under the
Development Agreement or the Development Management Agreement, nor the obligations of the Related/Oxford Guarantor under the Related/Oxford Guaranty
conflict or are inconsistent with the Building C Lease or any of the other Project Documents or would result in a breach of or default thereunder. Each Member
further agrees that it will not knowingly take any action in violation of any of the terms of the Loan Documents, the Mezzanine LLC Agreement or the Tenant
LLC Agreement.

1.10. Separateness. The Company shall at all times:

(a) maintain books and records separate from any other Person, and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, maintain its own
bank accounts in its own name;

(b) hold itself out to the public and all other Persons as a legal entity separate from any Member and any other Person;
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() file its own tax returns as may be required under applicable Law to the extent (i) not part of a consolidated group filing a
consolidated return or (ii) not treated as a division for tax purposes of another taxpayer, and pay any taxes so required to be paid under applicable Law;

(d) not commingle assets with those of any other Person, including, without limitation, any of its Members;

(e) conduct its own business in its own name;

® maintain and periodically prepare separate financial statements and not consolidate its financial statements with any other Person
for any purpose;

() pay its own liabilities out of its own funds and not hold out the credit or assets of any other Person as being able to satisfy the

obligations of the Company;

(h) observe all formalities required by the Act, the Articles, and this Agreement;

1) maintain an “arm’s-length relationship” with its Affiliates;

§)] pay the salaries of its own employees, if any;

k) not hold out its credit or assets as being available to satisfy the obligations of any other Person;

O to the extent that it shares office space with its Members or Affiliates and pays any overhead costs or other expenses therefor,

allocate fairly and reasonably, based on fair market value (without mark-up to the Company) any overhead and expense for shared office space;
(m) use separate bank accounts and checks;
(n) not (i) incur any indebtedness, secured or unsecured, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, with any Affiliate (other than

nonrecourse loans made by Members in lieu of capital contributions to the Company and loans made by Members pursuant to Section 4.3), and (ii) not to
pledge any of its assets for the benefit of any Affiliate;

(0) correct any known misunderstanding regarding its separate identity;

(p) not make any loans or advances to any third party other than in the ordinary course and not acquire the securities of any
Member;

()] maintain its assets in such a manner that it will not be costly or difficult to segregate, ascertain or identify its individual asset or

assets, as the case may be, from those of any Affiliate or any other Person;

(r) not engage in any business or own any assets other than as provided in Section 1.3;




(s) direct any agent acting on its behalf to hold itself out as acting on its behalf;
() otherwise hold itself out as a separate legal entity;

(u) not take or cause to be taken any Bankruptcy Action with respect to the Company in violation of the terms of this Agreement or
with respect to any Subsidiary without the without the affirmative vote of each of the Members and in compliance with the terms of the limited liability
company of such Subsidiary.

1.11. Construction Loan Closing Day Transactions. The following actions, transactions and events (the “ Construction Loan Closing Day
Transactions”) shall occur, or be deemed to have occurred, simultaneously on the Construction Loan Closing Date and are hereby consented to and approved,
authorized and ratified by the Members, and the Company is hereby authorized and directed to, and to cause Legacy Mezzanine and Legacy Tenant to, execute
and deliver the agreements to which it is a party and other documents, each as identified below, and to make such payments, incur such obligations and take
such other actions as shall be required thereunder or otherwise reasonably necessary and suitable and consistent with the Budget to cause the successful
completion of the Construction Loan Closing Day Transactions:

(a) The Company shall execute the Limited Liability Company Agreement of Legacy Yards Mezzanine LLC (the *“ Legacy Mezzanine
Agreement”), and shall cause each independent manager thereof to execute and deliver the Legacy Mezzanine Agreement, and shall cause Legacy Mezzanine to
execute the Limited Liability Company Agreement of Legacy Yards Tenant LLC (the “Legacy Tenant Agreement”), and shall cause each independent manager
thereof to execute and deliver the Legacy Tenant Agreement;

(b) The Company shall cause Legacy Tenant to execute and deliver (i) the Building C Lease and lease the Property from the MTA
pursuant thereto, (ii) the Memorandum of Building C Lease, (iii) the Termination of Memorandum of Lease, (iv) the PILOST Agreement, (v) all New York
City and State transfer tax returns and filings required in connection with the Building C Lease and/or the recordation of the Memorandum of Building C
Lease and any other Building C Lease Documents, and (vi) any and all other Building C Lease Documents, and shall pay or cause Legacy Tenant to pay all
costs and expenses incurred in connection with the foregoing to the extent not funded with the proceeds of the Construction Loan at the sole expense of the Fund
Member, except to the extent the same are properly included in Coach Total Development Costs or are otherwise payable by the Coach Member pursuant to this
Agreement or the Development Agreement, in which case the Coach Member shall fund its share or all of such costs, as applicable, in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement and the Development Agreement;
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*%* Confidential Treatment Requested

() The Company shall cause Legacy Tenant to execute and deliver (i) the Agency Lease Agreement, (ii) the Company Lease
Agreement, (iii) the PILOT Mortgage, (iv) the Mortgage Loan NDA, (v) all New York City and State transfer tax returns and filings required in connection
with the Agency Lease Agreement, the Company Lease Agreement, the PILOT Mortgage, (vi) the Mortgage Loan NDA, and (vii) all other IDA Documents, and
shall pay or cause Legacy Tenant to pay all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the foregoing to the extent not funded with the proceeds of the
Construction Loan at the sole expense of the Fund Member, except to the extent the same are properly included in Coach Total Development Costs or are
otherwise payable by the Coach Member pursuant to this Agreement or the Development Agreement, in which case the Coach Member shall fund its share or
all of such costs, as applicable, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Development Agreement;

(d) The Company shall cause Legacy Tenant to execute and deliver the L’Oreal Lease, the SAP Lease, the Leasing Agreements and the
Brokerage Commission Agreements;

(e) The Company shall cause Legacy Tenant to execute and deliver the Owners’ Association Agreement;

® The Company shall cause Legacy Tenant to obtain the Mortgage Loan, to execute and deliver, as borrower, the Mortgage Loan
Documents, and to pay any and all Mortgage Loan Closing Costs which, to the extent not funded with the proceeds of the Construction Loan, shall be funded
by the Fund Member except to the extent the same are properly included in Coach Total Development Costs or are otherwise payable by the Coach Member
pursuant to this Agreement or the Development Agreement, in which case the Coach Member shall fund its share or all of such Mortgage Loan Closing Costs,
as applicable, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Development Agreement;

(2) The Company shall cause Legacy Mezzanine to obtain the Mezzanine Loan, to execute and deliver, as borrower, the Mezzanine
Loan Documents, and to pay any and all Mezzanine Loan Closing Costs which, to the extent not funded with the proceeds of the Mezzanine Loan, shall be
funded by the Fund Member except to the extent the same are properly included in Coach Total Development Costs or are otherwise payable by the Coach
Member pursuant to this Agreement or the Development Agreement, in which case such the Coach Member shall fund its share or all of such Mezzanine Loan
Closing Costs, as applicable, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Development Agreement;

(h) Each Member shall fund, to the extent not funded with the proceeds of the Construction Loan, its Allocable Share of all Project
Costs and Pre-Development Costs incurred by or on behalf of Legacy Tenant prior to the Construction Loan Closing Date which are due and payable, the
Coach Member shall fund, to the extent not funded with the proceeds of the Coach Unit Loan, an amount equal to *** of the Coach Fixed Land Cost (which
amount is a portion of the Coach Total Development Costs), and the Fund Member, shall fund, to the extent not funded with the proceeds of the Third Party
Loan, a portion of the Fund Member Land Costs equal to the percentage of completion of the Podium Infrastructure as of the Construction Loan Closing Date;

@1 The Company shall pay or cause Legacy Tenant to pay any and all Pre-Development Costs and other Project Costs incurred by or
on behalf of Legacy Tenant due and owing as of the Construction Loan Closing Date;




) Coach Guarantor shall execute and deliver the Coach Guaranty and the Coach Funding Guaranties, and shall cause the Coach
Lender to execute and deliver the Loan Documents;

(k) Related/Oxford Guarantor shall execute and deliver the Related/Oxford Guaranty and the Construction Loan Guaranties, and
cause the Fund Member Guarantors to execute and deliver the Fund Member Guaranties; and

(0] The Members shall cause their respective Affiliates to execute and deliver the Purchase Agreement.
ARTICLE 2
DEFINITIONS
2.1. Terms Defined Herein. As used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings, unless the context otherwise requires:

“Act” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“Additional Capital Contribution” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.2.

“Additional Member” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.5.

“Additional Office Unit(s)” shall mean, collectively, “Office Unit 2A”, “Office Unit 2B” and “Office Unit 3” each as defined in the Condominium
Declaration, consisting inter alia of office space and related improvements and Facilities, as described in the Condominium Declaration and as shown on the
Floor Plans, less (a) Office Unit 2A, if the Coach Expansion Right is exercised pursuant to Section 3.3 with respect thereto, and (b) Office Unit 2B, if the
Coach Expansion Right is exercised pursuant to Section 3.3 with respect thereto.

“Additional Office Unit Competitors” shall mean a list of the Coach Member’s competitors, which list of competitors as of the date hereof is set forth
on Exhibit B attached hereto.

“Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to any Person, a Person which directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, Controls, is Controlled
by or is under common Control with, such Person.

“Agency Lease Agreement” shall mean that certain Agency Lease Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between the IDA, as sublessor, and
Legacy Tenant, as sublessee, pursuant to which the IDA sub-subleased to Legacy Tenant the Property, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented
or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

«

‘Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble.
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“Allocable Share” shall mean the Project Costs or an element thereof allocated to each Unit in accordance with the Cost Allocation Methodology and
the applicable provisions of the Development Agreement.

“Ancillary Unit” shall mean the “Ancillary Unit” as defined in the Condominium Declaration and as shown on the Floor Plans .
“Approved Replacement Developer” shall mean each of the property developers set forth on Exhibit Q attached hereto.
“Arbiter(s)” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.10.

“Articles” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.1(a).

“Bankruptcy Act” shall mean the United States Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978, as amended, or any successor bankruptcy statute and the rules
promulgated thereunder.

“Bankruptcy Action” shall mean, with respect to any Person, (a) the commencement of any case, action or proceeding by such Person relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or relief of debtors of such Person, (b) the institution of any proceedings by such Person to be adjudicated as bankrupt
or insolvent, (c) the consent by such Person to the institution of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings against such Person, (d) the filing by such Person of a
petition, or consent by such Person to a petition, seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding up, to the fullest extent permitted by law,
dissolution, composition, liquidation or other relief or other action by or on behalf of such Person under the Bankruptcy Act or any other existing or future law
of any jurisdiction on behalf of such Person under the Bankruptcy Act or any other federal or state law relating to bankruptcy, (e) the seeking or consenting by
such Person to the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator, custodian or any similar official for such Person or for all or
substantially all of such Person’s assets, or (f) the making by such Person of an assignment for the benefit of the creditors of such Person. The foregoing
definition of “Bankruptcy Action” is intended to replace and shall supersede and replace the definition of “Bankruptcy” set forth in Sections 18-101(1) and
18-304 of the Act.

“Base Building” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Development Agreement.

“Base Building Lighting” means the lighting scheme for the Building exterior set forth on Exhibit C to the Development Agreement , as the same may
be amended from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Development Agreement.

“Base Building Work” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Development Agreement.
“Block” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Development Agreement.

“Broker” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 14.15.
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“Brokerage Commission Agreements ” shall mean, collectively, (a) that certain Brokerage Commission Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and
between Legacy Tenant, as owner, and CBRE, Inc., as agent, and agreed to by LOA Realty, LLC with respect to the L’Oreal Lease (“L’Oreal Brokerage
Agreement”), (b) that certain Brokerage Commission Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between Legacy Tenant, as owner, and Jones Lang
LaSalle Brokerage, Inc., as agent, and agreed to by Clifford Fischer & Company, d/b/a Fischer & Company, with respect to the SAP Lease, and (c) that
certain Brokerage Agreement effective as of November 5, 2012, by and between CBRE, Inc., as agent, and Legacy Tenant, as owner.

Budget” shall mean the budget setting forth all budgeted costs of constructing the Building, including all budgeted Project Costs for the Developer
Work and the Base Building Work, approved by the Members on the date hereof and attached as Exhibit D to the Development Agreement (subject to the rights
of each of Developer and the Coach Member to review and, as applicable, revise from time to time the allocation of costs set forth therein in accordance with
the Cost Allocation Methodology and other applicable provisions of the Development Agreement) , as the same may be amended from time to time in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement and the Development Agreement.

“Building” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(a).
“Building C Lease” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“Building C Lease Documents” shall mean, collectively, the Building C Lease, the Memorandum of Building C Lease, the Termination of
Memorandum of Building C Lease, and the PILOST Agreement.

“Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which national banks are permitted or required to be closed in
the City of New York.

“Capital Account” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a).

“Capital Contribution” shall mean, with respect to any Member, the Initial Capital Contribution of such Member specified on Schedule 2 and any
Additional Capital Contribution made by such Member to the Company pursuant to this Agreement.

“Cash Flow From the Building” shall mean any cash flow received by the Company and attributable to the General Common Elements, including,
without limitation, any revenues, rents, income or other sums received by the Company from advertising placed on construction bridges, or from real estate
tax or PILOT or PILOST refunds relative to the Property. Cash Flow From the Building does not include casualty insurance proceeds or condemnation awards
received or collected on account of the Property or the Common Elements, nor does Cash Flow from the Building include any Construction Loan proceeds or
the proceeds of any refinancing (by Legacy Tenant, the Company or of any Unit by the Member that beneficially owns such Unit).

“Cash Flow From a Unit” shall mean cash flow received by the Company and attributable to a Unit, including, without limitation, revenues, rents,
income or other sums arising specifically from the leasing or operation of such Unit ( e.g., revenues from the leasing of retail space within the Retail Unit or
revenues from the Parking Unit, which shall accrue solely to the benefit of the Fund Member).
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“Change Order Grace Period” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Closing” shall mean the closing of the conveyance of the Coach Unit to Coach Member and Coach Member’s withdrawal as a Member of the
Company, all in accordance with and as contemplated under the terms of this Agreement and the Development Agreement.

“Closing Date” shall mean the date on which the Closing occurs.

“Coach Approval Areas” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.
“Coach Areas” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Coach Atrium” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Coach Change Delays” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Coach Costs Cap” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.
“Coach Designee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.8(a)(viii).
“Coach Exclusive Systems” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Coach Expansion Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.3(a).

“Coach Expansion Premises” shall mean (a) “Office Unit 2A” as defined in the Condominium Declaration, consisting inter alia of the 21st floor of
the Building and related improvements and Facilities, as described in the Condominium Declaration and as shown on the Floor Plans, and which shall be
deemed to contain 46,263 rentable square feet based on the Plans on the date hereof (subject to re-measurement pursuant to Section 16.02 of the Development
Agreement), and (b) “Office Unit 2B” as defined in the Condominium Declaration, consisting inter alia of the 22nd floor of the Building and related
improvements, and Facilities, as described in the Condominium Declaration and as shown on the Floor Plans, and which shall be deemed to contain 45,513
rentable square feet based on the Plans on the date hereof subject to re-measurement pursuant to Section 16.02 of the Development Agreement).

“Coach Expansion Right” shall mean the right of the Coach Member to purchase the Coach Expansion Premises or applicable portion thereof
pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of Section 3.3.
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“Coach Finish Work” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.
“Coach Fixed Land Cost” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Coach Funding Guaranties” shall mean, collectively, (a) that certain Loan Funding Guaranty, dated as of the date hereof, made by Coach Guarantor
in favor of Starwood Property Mortgage, L.L.C., in its capacity as the Third Party Lender with respect to the funding of the Coach Unit Loan, and (b) that
certain Equity Funding Guaranty (Mortgage Loan), dated as of the date hereof, made by Coach Guarantor in favor of the Mortgage Loan Agent for the benefit
of the Third Party Lender with respect to the funding of the Coach Member’s Additional Capital Contributions (the “ Coach Equity Funding Guaranty

(Mortgage Loan)”), and (c) that certain Equity Funding Guaranty (Mezzanine Loan), dated as of the date hereof, made by Coach Guarantor in favor of the
Mezzanine Loan Agent for the benefit of the Third Party Lender with respect to the funding of the Coach Member’s Additional Capital Contributions (the
“Coach Equity Funding Guaranty (Mezzanine Loan ™), as each of the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time.

“Coach Guarantor” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“Coach Guaranty” shall mean that certain Guaranty Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, made by the Coach Guarantor in favor of the Fund
Member and Developer, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Coach Holdover Costs” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.
“Coach Lease” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Coach Lender” shall mean Coach Legacy Yards Lender LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, together with its successors and assigns as the
holder of Mortgage Note A-2 and Mezzanine Note A-2.

“Coach Lobby” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.
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“Coach Matters of CL Concern” shall mean: (a) the creditworthiness of any replacement for the Third Party Lender or any additional lender
providing financing for the development and construction of the Project, and its qualification as an Institutional Lender or other approval by the MTA under or
pursuant to the relevant MTA Project Documents; (b) the sufficiency to complete the Project of the unfunded proceeds of the Construction Loan (or any
replacement or additional financing), taking into account the amount of all equity contributions required to be paid or funded by the Coach Member and the
Fund Member pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and the Development Agreement (the availability of which is evidenced to the Coach Member’s
reasonable satisfaction) and all Fund Member Equity Commitments; (c) any modification or change to the draw procedures or other conditions to the
obligation of the Third Party Lender under the Loan Documents (and the draw procedures or other conditions to the obligation of any replacement or additional
lender under its loan documents) to fund the proceeds of the Third Party Loan (or such replacement or additional financing), including, any modification or
change to the Loan Documents (and any terms of the loan documents of any replacement or additional lender) permitting the Third Party Lender (or such
replacement or additional lender) to cease funding by reason of any cross-default, “MAC clause” or similar provisions, it being agreed that customary
construction loan draw procedures and deliveries shall be permitted; (d) any modification or change to any events of default (or conditions to funding) under
the Loan Documents (and any events of default or conditions to funding under the loan documents for any replacement or additional financing) which would
permit the Third Party Lender (or the applicable replacement or additional lender) to declare an event of default or cease to fund the proceeds of the Third Party
Loan (or the applicable replacement or additional financing) as a result of events or occurrences that are extrinsic to the Project; (e) any modification or change
to any construction milestone dates set forth in the Loan Documents (and any construction milestone dates set forth in the loan documents for any replacement
or additional financing) that if not achieved trigger a default thereunder (other than milestone dates and any modification or change thereto that are consistent
with the milestone dates set forth in or established pursuant to the Development Agreement); (f) any modification or change to the unit release provisions of the
Loan Documents (and the unit release provisions set forth in the loan documents for any replacement or additional financing) relating to or otherwise affecting
the Coach Unit; (g) any modification or change to the mortgage severance and assignment provisions of the Loan Documents (and the mortgage severance and
assignment provisions of the loan documents for any replacement or additional financing) as they relate to the Coach Member’s right or ability to obtain and
assume the Coach Severed Loan as provided herein; (h) any modification or change to the Loan Documents limiting (and the terms of the loan documents for
any replacement or additional financing regarding) the availability of casualty proceeds for restoration; (i) the consistency of any modification or change to the
Loan Documents (and the terms of the loan documents for any replacement or additional financing) with the terms of this Agreement; (j) any modification or
change to the recourse carveouts under the Loan Documents (and the recourse carveouts under the loan documents for any replacement or additional
financing); and (k) any modification or change to the obligations of the Third Party Lender under the Loan Documents (and any obligation of a replacement or
additional lender under its loan documents) that is inconsistent in any material respect with the terms of this Agreement or the Development Agreement.

“Coach Member” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Coach Member’s Knowledge” shall mean the actual knowledge, without any imputation of knowledge of other people and without any duty of
investigation, of Todd Kahn or Mitchell L. Feinberg.

“Coach Mezzanine Loan” shall mean that portion the Mezzanine Loan evidenced by Mezzanine Note A-2, to be advanced by the Coach Lender
pursuant to the Mezzanine Loan Documents in respect of Coach Total Development Costs , including, without limitation, all interest thereon and all amounts
payable with respect thereto in accordance with the terms of the Mezzanine Loan Documents.

20




“Coach Mortgage Loan” shall mean that portion of the Mortgage Loan evidenced by Mortgage Note A-2, to be advanced by the Coach Lender
pursuant to the Mortgage Loan Documents in respect of Coach Total Development Costs , including, without limitation, all interest thereon and all amounts
payable with respect thereto in accordance with the terms of the Mortgage Loan Documents.

“Coach Severed Loan” shall mean, collectively, the Coach Severed Mortgage Loan and the Coach Severed Mezzanine Loan.
“Coach Severed Mezzanine Loan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.8(a)(v).

“Coach Severed Mortgage Loan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.8(a)(v).

“Coach Severed Mortgage” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.8(a)(v).

“Coach Total Development Costs” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Coach Unit” shall mean “Office Unit 1” as defined in the Condominium Declaration, consisting inter alia of floors 6 through 20 of the Building
and related improvements and Facilities, as described in the Condominium Declaration and as shown on the Floor Plans, and which shall be deemed to

contain 737,774 rentable square feet in the aggregate based on the Plans on the date hereof (subject to re-measurement pursuant to Section 16.02 of the
Development Agreement), together with any portion of the Coach Expansion Premises with respect to which the Coach Expansion Right is exercised pursuant

to Section 3.3.

“Coach Unit Documents” shall mean the following documents to be delivered at the Closing: (a) a copy of all operating manuals, Service Contracts
and service records for any Coach Exclusive Systems; and (b) each and every Coach Warranty (except to the extent such warranties (or elements thereof) do
not commence on the Closing Date, in which event the Fund Member shall assign or cause to be assigned such warranties (or such elements) to the Coach
Member or Coach Designee, as applicable, promptly following the commencement thereof).

“Coach Unit Loan” shall mean, collectively, the Coach Mortgage Loan and the Coach Mezzanine Loan.

“Coach Warranty” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Coach Work Delays” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Coach’s Consultant(s)” shall have the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Common Charges” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Condominium Declaration.
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“Common Elements” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Condominium Declaration.

“Company” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Company Lease Agreement” shall mean that certain Company Lease Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between Legacy Tenant, as
sublessor, and the IDA, as sublessee, pursuant to which Legacy Tenant subleased to the IDA the Property, as the same may be amended, restated or
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Company Minimum Gain” shall have the meaning set forth in Regulations Sections 1.704-2(b)(2) and 1.704-2(d) for “partnership minimum gain”.

I3

Company’s Accountants” shall mean Ernst & Young, having an address at 380 Madison Avenue, New York, New York, or such other reputable,
nationally recognized accounting firm designated by the Fund Member and reasonably approved by the Coach Member from time to time.

“Condominium” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).
“Condominium Act” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“Condominium Board” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Condominium By-Laws” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(c).

“Condominium Declaration” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(b).

“Condominium Documents” shall mean, collectively, the Condominium Declaration, the Condominium By-Laws and the Floor Plans.
“Condominium Warranty” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Confidential Information” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 14.18.

“Construction Lender” shall mean, collectively, the Mortgage Lender and the Mezzanine Lender.

“Construction Loan” shall mean, collectively, the Mortgage Loan and the Mezzanine Loan.

<,

Construction Loan Agreement” shall mean, collectively, the Mortgage Loan Agreement and the Mezzanine Loan Agreement.
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“Construction Loan Closing” shall mean the closing of the Construction Loan and the funding of the first draw of proceeds under the Mortgage Loan
and the Mezzanine Loan on the date hereof.

“Construction Loan Closing Costs” shall mean, collectively, the Mortgage Loan Closing Costs and the Mezzanine Loan Closing Costs.

“Construction Loan Closing Date” shall mean the day on which the Construction Loan Closing shall occur.

“Construction Loan Closing Day Transactions” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 1.11.

“Construction Loan Funding Phase” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Construction Loan Guaranties” shall mean, collectively, the Mortgage Loan Guaranties and the Mezzanine Loan Guaranties.

“Construction Manager” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.
“Construction Management Agreement ” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.
“Consultant” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Contributing Member” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(a).

“Control” shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct (or cause the direction of) the management and policies of a Person,
whether through the ownership of voting securities or other ownership interest, by contract or otherwise, provided that the fact that such power may be subject
to certain approval or veto rights in favor of one or more other Persons shall not ipso facto be deemed to mean that the Person possessing such power lacks
Control of the Person in question for purposes hereof. “Controlled” and “Controlling” each have the meanings correlative thereto.

“Cost Allocation Methodology ™ shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement. The parties hereto have approved the Cost
Allocation Methodology.

“Deed” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.8(e)(i).

“Declaration of Easements” shall mean that certain Declaration of Easements (Eastern Rail Yard Section of the John D. Caemmerer West Side Yard)
made by the Metropolitan Transportation Authority, dated as of May 26, 2010, and recorded in the Register’s Office on June 10, 2010 as City Register File
No. (CRFN) 2010000194078, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Declaration of Easements made by Metropolitan Transportation Authority,
dated as of the date hereof, and intended to be recorded in the Register’s Office.
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“Defaulting Member” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.1.

“Depreciation” shall mean, for each Fiscal Year (or other period), an amount equal to the depreciation, amortization, or other cost recovery deduction
allowable for federal income tax purposes with respect to an asset for such Fiscal Year (or other period), except that (a) with respect to any asset the Gross Asset
Value of which differs from its adjusted tax basis for federal income tax purposes at the beginning of such Fiscal Year (or other period) and which difference is
being eliminated by use of the “remedial method” as defined by Section 1.704-3(d) of the Regulations, Depreciation for such Fiscal year (or other period) shall
be the amount of book basis recovered for such Fiscal Year (or other period) under the rules prescribed by Section 1.704-3(d)(2) of the Regulations, and (b)
with respect to any other asset the Gross Asset Value of which differs from its adjusted tax basis for federal income tax purposes at the beginning of such
Fiscal Year (or other period), Depreciation shall be an amount which bears the same ratio to such beginning Gross Asset Value as the federal income tax
depreciation, amortization, or other cost recovery deduction for such Fiscal Year (or other period) bears to such beginning adjusted tax basis; provided,
however, that in the case of clause (b) above, if the adjusted tax basis for federal income tax purposes of an asset at the beginning of such Fiscal Year (or other
period) is zero, Depreciation shall be determined with reference to such beginning Gross Asset Value using any reasonable method selected by the Fund
Member.

“Destination Retail Access Unit” shall mean the “Destination Retail Access Unit” as defined in the Condominium Declaration and as shown on the
Condominium Plans.

“Developer” shall mean ERY Developer LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and any permitted successor or assign thereof pursuant to the
terms of the Development Agreement.

“Developer’s Consultant(s)” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

<

“Developer Violations” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Developer Work” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

<

“Development Agreement” shall mean that certain Development Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between Developer and the Coach
Member, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Development Fee” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Development Management Agreement ” shall mean that certain Development Management Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between
Legacy Tenant and Developer, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of

this Agreement.
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“Draw Request” shall mean, as the context requires (a) a requisition made by a Member or Developer or Replacement Developer (on behalf of a
Member) to the Members for an Additional Capital Contribution by such Member(s) to fund Project Costs pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement and the Development Agreement or Replacement Development Agreement, and (b) a requisition to fund Project Costs submitted by (i) Legacy
Tenant or Developer or Replacement Developer (on behalf of Legacy Tenant) requesting an advance of the Mortgage Loan from the Mortgage Lender or (ii)
Legacy Mezzanine or Developer or Replacement Developer (on behalf of Legacy Mezzanine) requesting an advance of the Mezzanine Loan from the Mezzanine
Lender, in each case which complies with the applicable provisions of this Agreement, the Development Agreement and the applicable Loan Documents.

“Early Work” shall mean the portion of the Developer Work and Base Building Work performed or caused to be performed by Developer prior to the
date hereof.

“Encumbrance” shall mean a mortgage, security agreement, security interest, lien, levy, lease, pledge, hypothecation, charge, claim, license,
judgment, covenant, easement, and/or any other encumbrance or restriction of any and every kind whatsoever.

“ERY” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“ERY Tenanf’ shall mean ERY Tenant LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“Event of Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.1.

“Executive Construction Manager” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Executive Construction Management Agreement ” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Existing Contractors/Consultants” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Expansion Premises Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.3(b).

“Facilities” shall have the meaning set forth in the Condominium Declaration.

“Failed Contribution” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(a).

“Final Completion” shall have the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.

“Finish Work” shall have the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.

“Fiscal Year” shall mean each twelve (12) month period during the term of this Agreement beginning on January Ist and ending on the following
December 31st, except that the first Fiscal Year of the Company shall commence on the date of commencement of the Company and end on the next December

31st, and the last Fiscal Year of the Company shall end on the date on which the Company shall terminate and commence on the January 1st immediately
preceding such date of termination.
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“Floor Plans” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Condominium Declaration, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented
from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Development Agreement. The Floor Plans approved by the Members are attached to
the Condominium Declaration.

“Force Majeure” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Form By-Laws” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(b).

“Form Declaration” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(b).

“Forty-Seventh Floor Curtain Wall Adjustment” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Fund Member” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Fund Member Equity Commitment(s)” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.6.

“Fund Member Guaranties” shall mean, collectively, (a) that certain Equity Funding Guaranty, dated as of the date hereof, made by the
Related/Oxford Guarantor in favor of the Mortgage Loan Agent, for the benefit of the Third Party Lender, with respect to the funding of the equity commitment
of Podium Fund MM to the Podium Fund JV, (b) that certain Equity Funding Guaranty, dated as of the date hereof, made by the Related/Oxford Guarantor in
favor of the Mezzanine Loan Agent, for the benefit of the Third Party Lender, with respect to the funding of the equity commitment of Podium Fund MM to the
Podium Fund JV, (c) that certain Equity Funding Guaranty, dated as of the date hereof, made by Related in favor of the Mortgage Loan Agent, for the benefit of
the Third Party Lender, with respect to the funding of the equity commitment of Related Hudson Yards to the Podium Fund JV, (d) that certain Equity
Funding Guaranty, dated as of the date hereof, made by Related in favor of the Mezzanine Loan Agent, for the benefit of the Third Party Lender, with respect
to the funding of the equity commitment of Related Hudson Yards to the Podium Fund JV, (e) that certain Equity Funding Guaranty, dated as of the date
hereof, made by Oxford Guarantor in favor of the Mortgage Loan Agent, for the benefit of the Third Party Lender, with respect to the funding of the equity
commitment of Oxford Podium Fund Investor LLC (“ Oxford Investor”) to the Podium Fund JV, (f) that certain Equity Funding Guaranty, dated as of the date
hereof, made by Oxford Guarantor in favor of the Mezzanine Loan Agent, for the benefit of the Third Party Lender, with respect to the funding of the equity
commitment of Oxford Investor to the Podium Fund JV, (g) that certain Limited Equity Commitment Guaranty, dated as of the date hereof, made by Podium
Fund REIT LLC (“Podium Fund REIT”) in favor of the Mortgage Loan Agent, for the benefit of the Third Party Lender, with respect to the funding of the
equity commitment of HY Acquisition Company LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ HY Acquisition”) to the Podium Fund JV; (h) that certain
Limited Equity Commitment Guaranty, dated as of the date hereof, made by Podium Fund REIT in favor of the Mezzanine Loan Agent, for the benefit of the
Third Party Lender, with respect to the funding of the equity commitment of HY Acquisition to the Podium Fund JV; (i) that certain Equity Commitment
Guaranty, dated as of the date hereof, made by Commingled Pension Trust (Strategic Property) of JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A. (“ JPM Fund”) in favor of
Podium Fund REIT with respect to the funding of the equity commitment of HY Acquisition, as assigned by Podium Fund REIT to the Mortgage Loan Agent
and the Mezzanine Loan Agent, for the benefit of the Third Party Lender, with the consent and agreement of JPM Strategic Property Fund pursuant to that
certain Assignment of Equity Commitment Guaranty, dated as of the date hereof, and (j) that certain Collateral Assignment of Rights, dated as of the date
hereof, made by Podium Fund JV, Fund Member, Podium-K Investors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ Podium-K*), Podium Fund Capital
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ Podium Capital”), and Podium Fund Tower C Corp., a Delaware corporation (“ Tower C Corp.”), as assignors,
in favor to the Mortgage Loan Agent and the Mezzanine Loan Agent, for the benefit of the Third Party Lender (the *“ Collateral Assignment of Rights ). Each of
the Fund Member Guaranties is referred to herein as a “ Fund Member Guaranty”.
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“Fund Member Guarantors” shall mean, collectively, (a) Related, (b) Oxford Guarantor, (c) Podium Fund REIT, by its execution and delivery of its
Fund Member Guaranty and its concurrent assignment of the JPM Fund Equity Commitment Guaranty, and (d) Fund Member, Podium Fund JV, Podium-K,
Podium Capital, and Tower C Corp., by their execution of the Collateral Assignment of Rights.

“Fund Member Land Cost” shall mean an amount equal to $29,357,002.00 as set forth in the Budget for the land costs allocable to the Additional
Office Units, which amount shall be funded by the Fund Member, as a Capital Contribution or from the proceeds of the Third Party Loan, in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement.

“Fund Member Units” shall mean, collectively, the Additional Office Units, the Retail Unit, the Parking Unit, the Loading Dock Unit, the Ancillary
Unit, the Destination Retail Access Unit (i.e., all Units in the Condominium other than the Coach Unit).

“Fund Member’s Knowledge” shall mean the actual knowledge, without any imputation of knowledge of other people and without any duty of
investigation, of L. Jay Cross, Bruce Warwick, Jeff T. Blau or Richard O’Toole.

“GAAP” shall mean the generally accepted accounting principles set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board or
the Financial Accounting Standards Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (or agencies with similar functions of comparable stature
and authority within the accounting profession), or in such other statements by such entity as may be in general use by significant segments of the U.S.
accounting profession, consistently applied.

“General Common Elements” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Condominium Declaration.

“Government Entity” shall mean the United States of America; the State of New York; the City of New York; any other political subdivision of any
of the foregoing; and any agency, authority, department, court, commission or other legal entity of any of the foregoing.

“Gross Asset Value” shall mean, with respect to any asset, the asset’s adjusted basis for federal income tax purposes, except as follows:
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1) The initial Gross Asset Value of any asset contributed by a Member to the Company shall be the gross fair market value of such
asset at the time of such Member’s contribution to the Company, as determined by the Members;

(ii) The Gross Asset Values of all Company assets may be adjusted to equal their respective gross fair market values, if and as
determined by the Members collectively, as of the following times: (a) the acquisition of an additional interest in the Company by any new or existing Member
in exchange for more than a de minimis Capital Contribution; (b) the distribution by the Company to a Member of more than a de minimis amount of property
as consideration for an interest in the Company; (c) the liquidation of the Company within the meaning of Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(g); (d) the date
of a grant of any additional interest to any new or existing member in consideration of the provision of services to or for the benefit of the Company; and (e)
such other times as may be permitted under the Regulations;

(1ii) The Gross Asset Value of any Company asset distributed to any Member shall be adjusted to equal the gross fair market value of
such asset on the date of distribution as determined by the Members;

(iv) The Gross Asset Values of Company assets shall be increased (or decreased) to reflect any adjustments to the adjusted basis of
such assets pursuant to Code Section 734(b) or Code Section 743(b), but only to the extent that such adjustments are taken into account in determining Capital
Accounts pursuant to Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m); provided, however, that Gross Asset Values shall not be adjusted pursuant to this clause (iv)
to the extent the Members determine that an adjustment pursuant to clause (ii) is necessary or appropriate in connection with a transaction that would otherwise
result in an adjustment pursuant to this clause (iv); and

If the Gross Asset Value of an asset has been determined or adjusted pursuant to clause (i), (ii) or (iv) of this definition, such Gross Asset
Value shall thereafter be adjusted by the Depreciation taken into account with respect to such asset for purposes of computing Profits and Losses.

“Highline Easement” shall mean that certain Amended, Modified and Restated High Line Easement Agreement to be entered into by and among the
Metropolitan Transportation Authority, the Long Island Rail Road Company, and The City of New York, dated as of April 10, 2013, and intended to be
recorded in Register’s Office, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement.

“HYIC” shall mean Hudson Yards Infrastructure Corporation.

“IDA” shall mean the New York City Industrial Development Agency, and its successors or assigns.

“IDA Documents” shall mean, collectively, all instruments and agreements required under the terms of UTEP in connection with obtaining benefits

for the Property thereunder, including, without limitation, the Agency Lease Agreement, the Company Lease Agreement, the PILOT Mortgage, the Mortgage
Loan NDA, an affidavit of the IDA stating that the PILOT Mortgage is exempt from mortgage recording taxes, and the Tenant SNDAs.
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“Indemnified Person” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3(a).

“Indirect Owner” shall mean a Person having an ownership interest, whether direct or indirect, legal or beneficial, in a Member.

“Initial Capital Contribution” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.

“Institutional Lender” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in the Building C Lease.

“Interest Rate” means, with respect to any amount advanced or contributed, interest at the rate per annum equal to the sum of (a) the LIBOR Rate (as
defined in the Mortgage Loan Agreement) then in effect (taking into account any interest rate cap or hedging agreements with respect thereto) plus (b) seven

hundred and fifty (750) basis points (7.50%).

“JPMorgan Strategic Property Fund” shall mean Commingled Pension Trust Fund (Strategic Property) of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., a New York

trust.
“Land” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
“Landscaping” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Law” or “Laws” shall mean any law, rule, regulation, order, statute, ordinance, resolution, regulation, code, decree, judgment, injunction, mandate
or other legally binding requirement of any Government Entity.

“Leasehold Estate” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“Leasing Agreements” shall mean, collectively, (a) that certain Leasing Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between Legacy Tenant, as
owner, and ERY Manager LLC, as agent, with respect to the Additional Office Units, (b) that certain Retail Leasing Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by
and between Legacy Tenant, as Owner, and Related Urban Management Company, L.L.C., as agent, with respect to the Retail Unit, and (c) that certain
Leasing Agreement, dated as of November 5, 2012, by and between Legacy Tenant and CBRE, Inc.

“Legacy Mezzanine” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“Legacy Tenant” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“L’Oreal Lease” shall mean, collectively, (a) that certain Lease, dated as of the date hereof, by and between Legacy Tenant, as landlord, and L’Oreal
USA, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“L’Oreal”), as tenant, with respect to a portion of Floor 3 and Floor 23, and all of Floors 24 through 32 of the Building,
(b) that certain Design and Construction Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between Legacy Tenant, as landlord, and L’Oreal, as tenant, and (c)

that certain Holdover Liability Indemnity Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, made by Legacy Tenant in favor of L’Oreal, as tenant, as each of the same
may be amended, modified and/or restated from time to time.
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“Loading Dock Unit” shall mean the “Loading Dock Unit” as defined in the Condominium Declaration and as shown on the Floor Plans.
“Loan” shall mean, individually or collectively, as the context requires, any loan or loans made to the Company, but excluding any Member Loans.

“Loan Documents” shall mean, collectively, the Mortgage Loan Documents and the Mezzanine Loan Documents.
“Major Event” shall mean either of the following occurring before the Closing: (a) fire or other casualty causing damage or destruction to the
Building; or (b) the giving of official notice by a Government Entity of a condemnation or taking under the power of eminent domain of any part of the
Property; which, in either case, is so substantial that (i) restoration or reconstruction is not economically practicable (with or without insurance proceeds or
condemnation awards), as determined by the Members, and (ii) the Company elects to abandon construction of the Building, Legacy Tenant and
Related/Oxford Guarantor are released from their respective obligations under the Mortgage Loan Documents, the Building C Lease Documents and the MTA
Completion Guaranty to complete construction of the Building, and Legacy Mezzanine and Related/Oxford Guarantor are released from their respective
obligations under the Mezzanine Loan Documents to complete or cause the completion of the construction of the Building.

“Major Decision” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(b).

“Management Change Event” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.7(a).

“Material Adverse Effect” shall mean a fact or circumstance which materially and adversely affects the ownership, operation and/or use of, or access
to, the Coach Unit for its intended or permitted purpose.

“Material Litigation” shall mean any litigation that is not commenced by or against the Coach Member or any of its Affiliates which (a) affects the
Coach Unit, (b) is reasonably likely to be adversely determined against the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, Developer, the Executive Construction
Manager, Related or Oxford Guarantor, or any of their respective Affiliates, and (c) if adversely determined, (i) would not be covered in full by an insurance
policy which is in effect (other than for any deductible which may apply) or (ii) is reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.

“Member” and “Members” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Member Indemnified Person” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.4.
“Member Indemnitor” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.4.

“Member Loan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(b).
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“Member Loan Interest Rate” shall mean an interest rate equal to twenty percent (20%) per annum, compounded monthly, computed on the basis of a
360 day year (or the maximum lesser rate permitted by applicable Law).

“Member Nonrecourse Debt” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.704-2(b)(4) of the Regulations for “partner nonrecourse debt.”

“Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain ” shall mean an amount, with respect to each Member Nonrecourse Debt, equal to the Company
Minimum Gain that would result if such Member Nonrecourse Debt were treated as a Nonrecourse Liability, determined in accordance with Section 1.704-
2(i)(3) of the Regulations.

“Member Nonrecourse Deductions” shall have the meaning set forth in Sections 1.704-2(i)(1) and 1.704-2(i)(2) of the Regulations for “partner
nonrecourse deductions.”

<«

Membership Interest” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.7.

“Memorandum of Building C Lease” shall mean that certain Memorandum of Lease, dated as of the date hereof, by and between Legacy Tenant and
the MTA, and intended to be recorded in Register’s Office.

“Mezzanine Lender” shall mean, individually or collectively as the context requires, the Third Party Lender and the Coach Lender, and their
respective successors and assigns as a lender under the Mezzanine Loan Documents.

“Mezzanine LLC Agreement” shall mean that certain Limited Liability Company Agreement of Legacy Yards Mezzanine LLC, dated as of the date
hereof, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its terms and the terms of this
Agreement.

“Mezzanine Loan” shall mean that certain mezzanine loan made by the Third Party Lender and the Coach Lender to Legacy Mezzanine pursuant to
the Mezzanine Loan Documents.

“Mezzanine Loan Agent” shall mean Starwood Property Mortgage, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, and its successors or permitted
assigns, as administrative agent for the Mezzanine Lender.

“Mezzanine Loan Agreement” shall mean that certain Mezzanine Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and among Legacy
Mezzanine, Mezzanine Loan Agent and Mezzanine Lender, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Mezzanine Loan Closing Costs” shall mean, collectively, any and all reasonable and actual third party costs and expenses incurred by Legacy
Mezzanine or the Company on or prior to the Construction Loan Closing Date to obtain the Mezzanine Loan, including, without limitation, commitment fees,
title insurance costs and premiums for the mortgagee title policy and endorsements issued to the Mezzanine Lender, the funding of initial reserves, legal fees
and disbursements, Mezzanine Loan Agent’s and Mezzanine Lender’s fees and expenses, brokerage fees, mortgage recording taxes, recording charges and all
other third party costs and expenses relating thereto, as shown on Schedule 4 attached hereto.
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“Mezzanine Loan Documents” shall mean, collectively, Mezzanine Note A-1, Mezzanine Note A-2, the Mezzanine Loan Agreement, the Mezzanine
Loan Guaranties, and each of the other documents set forth on Exhibit E-1 hereto, and any other agreements, instruments or certificates executed and delivered
in connection with the Mezzanine Loan, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement.

“Mezzanine Loan Guaranties” shall mean, collectively, the Mezzanine Completion Guaranty, the Mezzanine Guaranty of Recourse Obligations, the
Mezzanine Environmental Indemnity Agreement, the Mezzanine Interest Payment Guaranty, and the Fund Member Guaranties made in favor of the Mezzanine
Loan Agent for the benefit of the applicable Mezzanine Lender and described on Exhibit E-1 hereto, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or
otherwise modified or replaced from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Mezzanine Note A-1” shall mean that certain Mezzanine Loan Promissory Note A-1, made by Legacy Mezzanine to the Third Party Lender, as the
same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Mezzanine Note A-2” shall mean that certain Mezzanine Loan Promissory Note A-2, made by Legacy Mezzanine to the Coach Lender, as the same
may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Mortgage Lender” shall mean, individually or collectively as the context requires, the Third Party Lender and the Coach Lender, and their respective
successors and assigns as a lender under the Mortgage Loan Documents.

“Mortgage Loan” shall mean, collectively, the Project Loan and the Building Loan made by the Third Party Lender and the Coach Lender to Legacy
Tenant pursuant to the Mortgage Loan Documents.

“Mortgage Loan Agent” shall mean Starwood Property Mortgage, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, and its successors or permitted
assigns, as administrative agent for the Mortgage Lender.

“Mortgage Loan Agreement” shall mean, collectively, that certain Building Loan And Security Agreement and that certain Project Loan and Security

Agreement, each dated as of the date hereof, by and among Legacy Tenant, Mortgage Loan Agent and the Mortgage Lender, as the same may be amended,
restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
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“Mortgage Loan Closing Costs™ shall mean, collectively, any and all reasonable and actual third party costs and expenses incurred by Legacy
Tenant or the Company on or prior to the Construction Loan Closing Date to obtain the Mortgage Loan, including, without limitation, commitment fees, title
insurance costs and premiums for the mortgagee title policy and endorsements issued to the Mortgage Lender, the funding of initial reserves, legal fees and
disbursements, Mortgage Loan Agent’s and Mortgage Lender’s fees and expenses, brokerage fees, mortgage recording taxes, recording charges and all other
third party costs and expenses relating thereto, as shown on Schedule 4 attached hereto.

“Mortgage Loan Documents” shall mean, collectively, the Mortgage Note A-1, the Mortgage Note A-2, the Mortgage Loan Agreement, the Mortgage
Loan Guaranties, and each of the other documents set forth on Exhibit E-2 hereto, and any other agreements, instruments or certificates executed and delivered
in connection with the Mortgage Loan, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement.

“Mortgage Loan Guaranties” shall mean, collectively, the Completion Guaranty, the Guaranty of Recourse Obligations, the Environmental Indemnity
Agreement, the Interest Payment Guaranty, and the Fund Member Guaranties made in favor of the Mortgage Loan Agent, for the benefit of the applicable
Mortgage Lender and described on Exhibit E-2 hereto, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified or replaced from time to
time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Mortgage Loan NDA” shall mean that certain Non-Disturbance Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between the IDA, as senior creditor,
and the Mortgage Loan Agent, for the benefit of the Mortgage Lender, as junior creditor, with respect to the subordination of the mortgage(s) securing the
Mortgage Loan to the PILOT Mortgage, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement.

“Mortgage Note A-1” shall mean, collectively, that certain Building Loan Promissory Note A-1 (Mortgage) and that certain Project Loan Promissory
Note A-1 (Mortgage), made by Legacy Tenant to the Third Party Lender, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Mortgage Note A-2” shall mean, collectively, that certain Building Loan Promissory Note A-2 (Mortgage) and that certain Project Loan Promissory
Note A-2 (Mortgage), made by Legacy Tenant to the Coach Lender, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“MTA” shall mean the Metropolitan Transportation Authority, a body corporate and politic constituting a public benefit corporation of the State of
New York.

“MTA Completion Guaranty” shall mean that certain Tower C Building Completion Guaranty (Eastern Rail Yard Section of the John D. Caemmerer
West Side Yard), dated as of the date hereof, made by the Related/Oxford Guarantor in favor of the MTA, as the same may be amended, restated or
supplemented or otherwise modified from time.
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“MTA Parties” shall mean, collectively, the MTA and the Long Island Rail Road Company, a body corporate and politic constituting a public benefit
corporation of the State of New York.

“MTA Project Documents” shall mean the documents set forth on Exhibit D attached hereto, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented
or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“No Action Letter” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(e).

“Non-Contributing Member” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(a).

“Non-Defaulting Member” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.1.

“Nonrecourse Deductions” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.704-2(b)(1) of the Regulations.

“Nonrecourse Liability” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.704-2(b)(3) of the Regulations.

“Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 14.11(a).
“NYS Law Department” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(e).

“Office Unit Competitors” shall mean a list of the Coach Member’s competitors, which list as of the date hereof is set forth on Exhibit B attached
hereto, as the same may be updated from time to time pursuant to Section 3.9(e).

“Office Units” shall mean (a) the Coach Unit and (b) the Additional Office Units.
“OFAC” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(b).

“Option Agreement” shall mean that certain Option Agreement to be entered into by and among Legacy Tenant, the Fund Member and the Coach
Member or the Coach Designee, as applicable, at Closing in substantially the form attached as Exhibit N hereto.

“Qutside Closing Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Sections 3.8(k).

“Owners’ Association Declaration ” shall that certain Declaration establishing the ERY Facility Airspace Parcel Owners’ Association and of
Covenants, Conditions, Easements and Restrictions, dated as of the date hereof and submitted for recording in the Register’s Office on the date hereof, as the
same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Owners’ Association Agreement ” shall that certain Limited Liability Company Agreement of ERY Facility Airspace Parcel Owners’ Association,

LLC, dated as of the date hereof, as the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms
of this Agreement.
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“Oxford” shall mean Oxford Hudson Yards LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, together with its permitted successors and assigns.

“Oxford Guarantor” shall mean OP USA Debt Holdings Limited Partnership, an Ontario limited partnership, together with its permitted successors
and assigns.

“Parking Unit” shall mean the “Parking Unit” as defined in the Condominium Declaration and as shown on the Floor Plans, which is intended to be
operated exclusively on a valet basis.

“PDE” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 14.12.

“Percentage Interest” shall mean, (a) as of the date hereof until the Condominium Declaration is filed (unless the Coach Expansion Right is exercised),
with respect to each Member, the percentage interest indicated for such Member on Schedule 1 attached hereto, (b) if the Coach Expansion Right is exercised
prior to the date on which the Condominium Declaration is recorded, (i) 59.69% with respect to the Fund Member and 40.31% with respect to the Coach
Member if the Coach Expansion Right is exercised pursuant to Section 3.3 with respect to Office Unit 2A and (ii) 57.51% with respect to the Fund Member
and 42.49% with respect to the Coach Member if the Coach Expansion Right is exercised pursuant to Section 3.3 with respect to Office Unit 2A and Office
Unit 2B and (c) from and after the date on which the Condominium Declaration is filed until the Closing, such Member’s percentage interest in the Common
Elements, as specified in the recorded Condominium Declaration.

“Permitted Encumbrances” shall mean, (a) the Coach Severed Mortgage or any other mortgage, pledge or security instrument made by the Coach
Member (or any of its Affiliates) encumbering all or any portion of the Coach Unit or the Coach Member’s (or the Coach Designee’s) interest therein, (b) any
lease entered into by the Coach Member (or the Coach Designee) and the IDA and any mortgage made by the Coach Member (or the Coach Designee) in favor
of the IDA; (c) the Condominium Documents, (d) the Highline Easement, (e) the Restrictive Declarations, (f) the MTA Project Documents (other than, from
and after the Closing, the Building C Lease Documents), (g) the ZLDA, (h) those certain other encumbrances and title matters described on Exhibit F attached
hereto, (i) easements, covenants, conditions and restrictions for utilities for the Building which are customary and reasonably necessary for the provision of
utilities to the Building, provided that in each case the same shall not adversely affect in any material respect the value, ownership, operation and/or permitted
use of, or access to, the Coach Unit for its intended purposes or the rights or obligations of the Coach Member (or Coach Designee) as owner of the Coach
Unit, (j) easements, covenants, conditions and restrictions which are required by the MTA pursuant to the MTA Project Documents or any governmental
authorities, including, without limitation, any utility agreements and vault agreements, provided that in each case the same does not adversely affect or would
reasonably be expected to adversely affect in any material respect the value, ownership, operation and/or permitted use of, or access to, the Coach Unit for its
intended purposes or the rights or obligations of the Coach Member (or Coach Designee) as owner of the Coach Unit, and (k) such other title matters,
encumbrances, covenants, conditions and restrictions which are granted by the Coach Member (or the Coach Designee, as applicable) or which are approved
by the Coach Member in writing, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, provided that the Coach Member shall have the
right to approve or disapprove in its sole and absolute discretion any other title matter, encumbrance, covenant, condition or restriction that adversely affects
in any material respect the value, ownership, operation and/or permitted use of, or access to, the Coach Unit for its intended purposes or the rights or
obligations of the Coach Member (or Coach Designee) as owner of the Coach Unit.
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“Permitted Estate/Family Transfer” shall mean a transfer (a) upon the death of an Indirect Owner to the estate of such Indirect Owner or to an inter
vivos trust established and Controlled by such Indirect Owner, (b) to the legal representative of an Indirect Owner in the event such Indirect Owner is no longer
legally competent to conduct his or her affairs, (c) upon the death of an Indirect Owner, to any beneficiary under the will of such Indirect Owner or any trust
established pursuant thereto, or (d) to the spouse, child, sibling or parent of an Indirect Owner.

“Person” shall mean any individual, general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability company, corporation, joint venture, trust, business

trust, cooperative or association, and the heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns of such person where the context so
admits.

“PILOST Agreement” shall mean that certain PILOST Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between Legacy Tenant and the MTA, as the
same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“PILOST” shall mean payments in lieu of sales and use taxes that would otherwise have been levied under the New York State Tax Law on the
tangible materials and equipment incorporated into the Land but for the exemption therefrom arising on account of the ownership of the Land by the MTA.

“PILOT” shall mean payments in lieu of taxes that are imposed on the Property and payable to the IDA, the Hudson Yards Infrastructure
Corporation or any other applicable taxing authority.

“PILOT Mortgage” shall mean, collectively, (a) that certain PILOT Leasehold Mortgage No. 1, dated as of the date hereof, made by Legacy Tenant
and the IDA, as mortgagors, to the IDA, as mortgagee, to secure the principal amount of $25,000,000.00, and intended to be recorded in the Register’s Office,
(b) that certain PILOT Leasehold Mortgage No. 2, dated as of the date hereof, made by Legacy Tenant and the IDA, as mortgagors, to the IDA, as mortgagee,
to secure the principal amount of $225,000,000.00, and intended to be recorded in the Register’s Office, and (c) that certain PILOT Leasehold Mortgage No. 3,
dated as of the date hereof, made by Legacy Tenant and the IDA, as mortgagors, to the IDA, as mortgagee, to secure the principal amount of $225,000,000.00,
and intended to be recorded in the Register’s Office, as each such Leasehold Mortgage was assigned by the IDA to HYIC pursuant an Assignment and
Assumption Agreement, dated as of the date hereof by and among The City of New York, the IDA and HYIC dated and intended to be recorded in the
Register’s Office, each encumbering the Property and securing Legacy Tenant’s obligation to pay PILOT to the IDA under the Agency Lease Agreement, as the
same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

36




“Plans” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“POA” shall mean, collectively, the Owners’ Association Declaration and the Owners’ Association Agreement.
“Podium” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Development Agreement.

“Podium Fund JV” shall mean Podium Fund Investments LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
“Podium Fund MM” shall mean Podium Fund MM LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“Pre-Development Costs” shall mean all of the costs and expenses incurred by or on behalf of Legacy Tenant or the Company on or prior to the
Construction Loan Closing Date relating to the design, permitting, and pre-development of the Building, including, without limitation, architectural and
engineering fees, legal fees, construction consultants costs, costs incurred in connection with the formation of the Company and its authority to conduct
business in the State of New York, title insurance premiums for the owner’s policy for Legacy Tenant, the mortgagee policy for or for the benefit of the
Mortgage Lender and the UCC policy for or for the benefit of the Mezzanine Lender, and certain other Construction Loan Closing Costs incurred by or on
behalf of Legacy Tenant, Legacy Mezzanine or the Company and allocated to the Members, all as set forth on Schedule 5 attached hereto; it being
acknowledged and agreed that the Fund Member shall be responsible for the payment of its legal fees and all Construction Loan Closing Costs payable solely
with respect to the Third Party Loan and the Coach Member shall be responsible for the payment of its legal fees and all Construction Loan Closing Costs
payable solely with respect to the Coach Unit Loan.

“Proceeding” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3(a).
“Profits” and “Losses” shall mean, for each Fiscal Year, an amount equal to the Company’s taxable income or loss for such Fiscal Year, determined
in accordance with Code Section 703(a) (for these purposes, all items of income, gain, loss, or deduction required to be stated separately pursuant to Code

Section 703(a)(1) shall be included in taxable income or loss), with the following adjustments:

1 Any income of the Company that is exempt from federal income tax and not otherwise taken into account in computing Profits or
Losses shall be added to such taxable income or loss;

(i1) Any expenditures of the Company described in Code Section 705(a)(2)(B) or treated as Code Section 705(a)(2)(B) expenditures

pursuant to Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(i), and not otherwise taken into account in computing Profits or Losses shall be subtracted from such
taxable income or loss;
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(iii) In the event the Gross Asset Value of any Company asset is adjusted pursuant to clauses (ii) or (iii) of the definition of Gross Asset
Value, the amount of such adjustment shall be taken into account as gain or loss from the disposition of such asset for purposes of computing Profits or

Losses;

@iv) Gain or loss resulting from any disposition of property with respect to which gain or loss is recognized for federal income tax
purposes shall be computed by reference to the Gross Asset Value of the property disposed of, notwithstanding that the adjusted tax basis of such Property

differs from its Gross Asset Value;

W) In lieu of the depreciation, amortization, and other cost recovery deductions taken into account in computing such taxable income

or loss, there shall be taken into account Depreciation for such Fiscal Year;

(vi) To the extent an adjustment to the adjusted tax basis of any Company asset pursuant to Code Section 734(b) or Code Section
743(b) is required pursuant to Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m)(4) to be taken into account in determining Capital Accounts as a result of a distribution
other than in liquidation of a Member’s interest in the Company, the amount of such adjustment shall be treated as an item of gain (if the adjustment increases
the basis of the asset) or loss (if the adjustment decreases the basis of the asset) from the disposition of the asset and shall be taken into account for purposes

of computing Profits or Losses; and

(vii)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this definition, any items which are specially allocated pursuant to Sections 5.1(b) and

5.1(c) shall not be taken into account in computing Profits or Losses.
“Project” shall mean the design, construction and development of the Base Building, including all Developer Work and Base Building Work.
“Project Architect” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.
“Project Architect Agreement ” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.
“Project Costs” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.
“Project Documents” shall mean, collectively, the MTA Project Documents and the IDA Documents.
“Project Labor Agreement” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Property” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(a).

“Punch List” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.
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“Punch List Escrow Agreement” shall mean that certain Punch List Escrow Agreement to be entered into by and between the Company, the Fund
Member, the Coach Member and Developer or the Replacement Developer, as applicable, at closing in substantially the form attached as Exhibit L hereto.

“Punch List Work™ shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Purchase Agreement” shall mean that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between 510-514 West 34 th Street
Corp. and 516 West 341 Street LLC, Affiliates of the Coach Member, collectively, as seller, and «xv s swaraminiic, an Affiliate of Related and Oxford, as
purchaser, with respect to the purchase and sale of certain parcels of land known as 510-514 West 34th Street and 516-520 West 34th Street (Block 705,
Lots 45 and 46 on the Tax Map of the City of New York), together with the buildings and all other improvements located thereon , as the same may be
amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

«

Redemption Agreement” shall mean that certain Redemption Agreement and Amendment to be entered into by and between the Company, the Fund
Member and the Coach Member at Closing, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit K hereto.

“Register’s Office” shall mean the Office of the Register of the City of New York.

“Regulations” shall mean the Income Tax Regulations, including Temporary Regulations, promulgated under the Code, as such regulations may be
amended from time to time (including corresponding provisions of succeeding regulations).

“Related” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“Related Affiliate” shall mean any Person (a) over which any Related Control Person exercises day-to-day operational and managerial control as a
managing member or otherwise, and (b) of which one or more Related Beneficial Owners collectively own, directly or indirectly, at least three percent (3%) of
the economic interests; provided, that the aggregate equity investment of such Related Control Persons with respect to both the ERY and the Western Rail Yard
Section of the John D. Caemmerer West Side Yard shall not be required to exceed $100,000,000.00.

“Related Beneficial Owners” shall mean any of Stephen M. Ross and/or Jeff T. Blau and/or Bruce A. Beal, Jr. and their respective spouses,
descendants, heirs, legatees and devisees and any trust created for the benefit of any such persons.

“Related Control Person” shall mean any of Stephen M. Ross and/or Jeff T. Blau and/or Bruce A. Beal, Jr.

“Related Hudson Yards” shall mean Related Hudson Yards LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“Related/Oxford Guarantor” shall mean, collectively, and jointly and severally, Related and Oxford Guarantor, together with their respective permitted
successors and assigns.
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“Related/Oxford Guaranty” shall mean that certain Guaranty Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, made by the Related/Oxford Guarantor in favor
of the Coach Member.

“Replacement Developer” shall mean any Approved Replacement Developer appointed by the Coach Member pursuant to Section 7.6.

“Restrictive Declarations” shall mean, collectively, (a) that certain Restrictive Declaration for the Eastern Rail Yard, dated as of the date hereof, made
by Master Tenant and Legacy Tenant, and delivered to the Title Company for recording in the Register’s Office, and (b) that certain Restrictive Declaration
(Zoning Resolution Section 93.70), dated as of the date hereof, made by Master Tenant and Legacy Tenant, and delivered to the Title Company for recording
in the Register’s Office, as each of the same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Retail Premises Competitors” shall mean a list of the Coach Member’s competitors, which list as of the date hereof is set forth on Exhibit G attached
hereto and which may be updated from time to time in accordance with Section 3.8(a).

“Retail Unit” shall mean the “Retail Unit” as defined in the Condominium Declaration and as shown on the Floor Plans .

“Right of First Negotiation Agreement ” shall mean that certain Right of First Negotiation Agreement to be entered into by and among the Fund Member
and the Coach Member or the Coach Designee, as applicable, at Closing in substantially the form attached as Exhibit M hereto.

“SAP Lease” shall mean, collectively, (a) that certain Lease, dated as of the date hereof, by and between Legacy Tenant, as landlord, and SAP
America Inc., a Delaware corporation (“SAP”), as tenant, with respect to Floors 44 through 47 of the Building, and (ii) that Design and Construction
Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between Legacy Tenant, as landlord, and SAP, as tenant, as each of the same may be amended, modified
and/or restated from time to time.

“Schedule” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Service Contract” shall mean any contract or agreement to which Developer or the Company is a party for the furnishing of management,
maintenance, repairs, supplies or other services exclusively to the Coach Unit, the Coach Exclusive Systems or any other Coach Areas, and all amendments
thereof. All Service Contracts shall be terminable on thirty (30) days’ notice, and without the payment of any termination fee or like payment, unless otherwise
consented to by the Coach Member.

“SFPE” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(b).

“Signage Plan” shall mean the Signage Plan attached as Exhibit M to the Development Agreement.

“Subsidiaries” shall mean, collectively, the wholly owned direct or indirect subsidiaries of the Company formed in accordance with the terms and

conditions of this Agreement. Each of the Subsidiaries is referred to herein as a  Subsidiary”. The Subsidiaries of the Company on the date hereof are Legacy
Tenant and Legacy Mezzanine.
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“Substantial Completion” or “Substantially Completed” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“Substantial Completion Date” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.
“Substitute Member” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.2.

“Tax Matters Member” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.

“Tenant” means any tenant of any of the Fund Member Units, including, without limitation, L’Oreal USA, Inc. and SAP America, Inc.

“Tenant LLC Agreement” shall mean that certain Liability Company Agreement of Legacy Yards Tenant LLC, dated as of the date hereof, as the
same may be amended, restated or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its terms and the terms of this Agreement.

“Tenant SNDASs” shall mean, collectively, (a) that certain Subordination, Non-Disturbance and Attornment Agreement, dated as of the date hereof,
by and between HYIC, as mortgagee, and SAP, as tenant, with the consent and agreement of Legacy Tenant, as landlord, (b) that certain Subordination, Non-
Disturbance and Attornment Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between HYIC, as mortgagee, and L’Oreal, as tenant, with the consent and
agreement of Legacy Tenant, as landlord, and (c) any other subordination, non-disturbance and attornment agreement entered into by HYIC and any Tenant.

“Termination of Memorandum of Lease” shall mean that certain Termination of Memorandum of Lease, executed by Legacy Tenant and the MTA
and delivered by Legacy Tenant to the MTA on the date hereof pursuant to the terms of the Building C Lease.

“Third Party Lender” shall mean Starwood Property Mortgage, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, and its successors and assigns, as the
holder of Mortgage Note A-1 and Mezzanine Note A-1.

“Third Party Loan” shall mean, collectively, the Third Party Mortgage Loan and the Third Party Mezzanine Loan.

“Third Party Mezzanine Loan” shall mean that portion of the Mezzanine Loan evidenced by Mezzanine Note A-1, to be advanced by the Third Party
Lender pursuant to the Mezzanine Loan Documents , including, without limitation, all interest thereon and all amounts payable with respect thereto in

accordance with the terms of the Mezzanine Loan Documents.
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“Third Party Mortgage Loan” shall mean that portion of the Mortgage Loan evidenced by Mortgage Note A-1, to be advanced by the Third Party
Lender pursuant to the Mortgage Loan Documents, including, without limitation, all interest thereon and all amounts payable with respect thereto in
accordance with the terms of the Mortgage Loan Documents.

“Title Company” shall mean, collectively, First American Title Insurance Company, Stewart Title Insurance Company, Old Republic Title
Insurance Company, and Fidelity National Title Insurance Company.

“Title Defect” shall mean any Encumbrance that is recorded against or otherwise affects title to the Coach Unit and that is not a Permitted
Encumbrance.

“Title Insurance Commitment” shall mean a commitment from the Title Insurer to issue an owner’s policy of title insurance (on NYBTU current
form) insuring the fee simple title to the Coach Unit free of all Encumbrances other than the Permitted Encumbrances.

“Title Insurer” shall mean a nationally recognized title insurance company licensed to do business in the State of New York selected by the Coach
Member.

“Transfer” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1(a).
“Transfer Tax Forms” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.8(e)(iii).

“Units” shall mean, collectively, the Coach Unit, the Additional Office Units, the Retail Unit, the Parking Unit, the Ancillary Unit, the Destination
Retail Access Unit and the Loading Dock Unit. Each of the Units is referred to herein as a “ Unit”.

“UTEP” shall mean the Third Amended and Restated Uniform Tax Exemption Policy of the New York City Industrial Development Agency, as
approved by the Board of Directors of New York City Industrial Development Agency on August 3, 2010, as amended, and as further amended, modified or
supplemented from time to time by the Board of Directors of New York City Industrial Development Agency.

“Violations” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Development Agreement.

“ZLDA” shall mean that certain Zoning Lot Development Agreement (Eastern Rail Yard Section of the John D. Caemmerer West Side Yard), dated as
of the date hereof, made by the MTA and intended to be recorded in the Register’s Office.

2.2. Other Definitional Provisions.

(a) As used in this Agreement, (i) accounting terms not defined in this Agreement, and accounting terms partly defined to the extent
not defined, shall have the respective meanings given to them under GAAP, and (ii) terms defined in the Act and not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall
have the respective meanings given to them under the Act.

(b) The words “hereof.” “herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this
Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement, and section, subsection and exhibit references are to this Agreement unless
otherwise specified.
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() The word “including” when used in this Agreement shall mean “including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing.”

()] The word “day” when used in this Agreement shall mean a calendar day unless otherwise specified.
(e) The word “party” when used in this Agreement shall mean one or more of the signatories to this Agreement, as the context requires.
® Unless otherwise specifically provided herein to the contrary, all consents and approvals to be granted hereunder shall, in order to

be valid and recognized by the parties, be and be required to be in writing, whether or not specifically so stated.

(g) The word “month” when used in this Agreement shall mean a calendar month unless otherwise specified.

(h) The word “amended” when used in this Agreement shall mean “amended, modified, extended, renewed, changed or otherwise
revised”; and the word “amendment” shall mean “amendment, modification, extension, change, renewal or other revision”.

@) The phrase “subject to the terms of this Agreement” when used in this Agreement shall mean “upon and subject to all terms,
covenants, conditions and provisions of this Agreement.

§)] The word “or” when used in this Agreement is not exclusive and the word “ including” when used in this Agreement is not limiting.
k) The word “delay” when used in this Agreement shall mean a delay or interference to a particular schedule which (i) will require

more than a minimal rearrangement of or delay in other activities or commitments by the affected party; (ii) was not caused by action or inaction of the affected
party; and (iii) is the sole cause of the rearrangement of or delay in other activities or commitments by the affected party.

0] All pronouns when used in this Agreement shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine or neuter, singular or plural, as the
identity of the person or persons may require.
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ARTICLE 3
DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROJECT

3.1. Development of the Project. The Members hereby approve the Plans, the Budget and the Schedule. The Members agree that the Project shall
be constructed and developed substantially as shown on the Plans, as modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the
Development Agreement. Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the Development Agreement (including, without limitation, the
Coach Costs Cap), the Coach Member shall be responsible to fund, or cause to be funded, the Coach Total Development Costs, and the Fund Member shall
be responsible to fund, or cause to be funded, all other Project Costs incurred by Legacy Tenant or the Company. The obligations of the Coach Member
hereunder are guaranteed by the Coach Guarantor subject to and in accordance with the Coach Guaranty, and the obligations of the Fund Member hereunder
are guaranteed by the Related/Oxford Guarantor subject to and in accordance with the Related/Oxford Guaranty.

3.2. Development Agreement; Development Management Agreement .

(a) Developer, an Affiliate of the Fund Member, as developer, and the Coach Member have, as of the date hereof, entered into the
Development Agreement, pursuant to which Developer has agreed, among other things, to perform and complete the Developer Work in accordance with the
provisions of the Development Agreement. The Fund Member and the Coach Member, each for itself, hereby acknowledges and consents to, the Development
Agreement and the terms, covenants and conditions thereof.

(b) Developer and Legacy Tenant have, as of the date hereof, entered into the Development Management Agreement, pursuant to which
Developer has agreed to develop and construct or cause to be constructed the Building and other improvements on the Land in accordance with the Plans and
the terms of the Development Management Agreement and the Development Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or in the
Development Management Agreement, nothing in the Development Management Agreement shall limit or otherwise affect the obligations of the Fund Member
under this Agreement or the obligations of Developer under the Development Agreement or the rights of the Coach Member under this Agreement or the
Development Agreement, and in the event of any inconsistency or conflict between (i) the terms of this Agreement and the terms of the Development
Management Agreement or (ii) the terms of the Development Agreement and the terms of the Development Management Agreement, then in each case the terms of
this Agreement or the Development Agreement, as applicable, shall prevail. Subject to the foregoing, (A) the Fund Member and the Coach Member, each for
itself, hereby acknowledges and consents to, the Development Management Agreement and the terms, covenants and conditions thereof, and (B) the Fund
Member shall, on behalf of the Company and Legacy Tenant, cause Developer to perform all of its obligations under the Development Agreement and the
Development Management Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof.

3.3. Expansion of Coach Unit.

(a) From and after the date hereof but prior to the Substantial Completion Date, but subject to Section 3.3(b), the Coach Member shall
have the right, from time to time, to exercise the Coach Expansion Right by delivery of written notice to the Fund Member (a “ Coach Expansion Notice™)
identifying the portion of the Coach Expansion Premises with respect to which the Coach Member is electing to exercise the Coach Expansion Right; provided
that (i) the Coach Expansion Right may be exercised only with respect to all of Office Unit 2A or all of Office Unit 2A and Office Unit 2B ( i.e., the Coach
Expansion Right may not be exercised with respect to a portion of Office Unit 2A or Office Unit 2B); and (ii) if the Coach Member elects to exercise the Coach
Expansion Right with respect to less than all of the Coach Expansion Premises, then the Coach Expansion Right shall be exercisable in ascending vertically
contiguous Unit increments only (i.e., the Coach Expansion Right with respect to Office Unit 2B may only be exercised after or simultaneously with the
exercise of the Coach Expansion Right with respect to Office Unit 2A). From and after the date of a Coach Expansion Notice, the Coach Unit shall for all
purposes of this Agreement and the Development Agreement include the Coach Expansion Premises which are the subject of such Coach Expansion Notice
(including for purposes of applying the Cost Allocation Methodology).
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(b) If at any time prior to the Substantial Completion Date the Fund Member shall enter into or cause Legacy Tenant to enter into
active negotiations and exchange one or more drafts of a term sheet, letter of intent, lease or purchase and sale agreements with a prospective tenant or purchaser
of all or a portion of the Coach Expansion Premises, then the Fund Member shall provide written notice thereof to the Coach Member (an “ Expansion Premises
Notice”) and the Coach Member may, at its option, elect to exercise the Coach Expansion Right for the entire Coach Expansion Premises or the portion thereof
which is the subject of such Expansion Premises Notice by delivering a Coach Expansion Notice to the Fund Member within ten (10) Business Days
following the receipt by the Coach Member of the Expansion Premises Notice. If the Coach Member shall fail to timely provide a Coach Expansion Notice with
respect to all or any portion of the Coach Expansion Premises which is the subject of an Expansion Premises Notice as provided in this Section 3.3(b), then the
Coach Expansion Right shall be deemed waived by the Coach Member with respect to the portion of the Coach Expansion Premises subject to the Expansion
Premises Notice, provided, that if the Fund Member shall not actually execute and deliver a binding lease or purchase and sale agreement, as the case may be,
with the prospective tenant or purchaser described in an Expansion Premises Notice within six (6) months following the date of such Expansion Premises
Notice, then the Coach Expansion Right shall be reinstated with respect to the applicable Coach Expansion Premises for the period from the date that is six (6)
months following the date of such Expansion Premises Notice to the Substantial Completion Date; provided, further, that if such six (6) month period would
extend beyond the Substantial Completion Date and the Fund Member shall not have executed and delivered a binding lease or purchase and sale agreement
prior to the date that is thirty (30) days prior to the then anticipated Substantial Completion Date, then Fund Member shall provide written notice thereof on or
prior to such date to the Coach Member and the Coach Member shall have the right to exercise the Coach Expansion Right by delivering a Coach Expansion
Notice to the Fund Member within ten (10) days following the receipt by the Coach Member of such notice.

(c) In the event that the Coach Member shall deliver a Coach Expansion Notice to the Fund Member in accordance with this Section
3.3, then Coach’s Allocable Share, the Coach Total Development Costs, the Coach Costs Cap and the Coach Fixed Land Costs shall be increased in
accordance with the terms of the Development Agreement to reflect the inclusion of the applicable Coach Expansion Premises in the Coach Unit, and the Coach
Member shall pay or cause to be paid (with Additional Capital Contributions or proceeds of the Coach Unit Loan) an amount equal to (i) all Coach Total
Development Costs allocable to the applicable Coach Expansion Premises incurred and funded with proceeds of the Third Party Loan prior to the date of the
Coach Expansion Notice, together with interest thereon at an annual rate equal to the Interest Rate, from the date such Project Costs were funded with proceeds
of the Third Party Loan until paid hereunder, and (ii) all Coach Fixed Land Costs, other than the portion of the Coach Fixed Land Cost equal to the Option
Price (as defined in the Building C Lease) for the applicable Coach Expansion Premises, due and payable pursuant to the applicable terms of the Development
Agreement as of the date of the Coach Expansion Notice, which amount shall be paid pursuant to the first Draw Request submitted after the date of Coach
Expansion Notice which includes the computation of the amounts in clauses (i) and (ii) above. From and after the date of such Draw Request, the Coach
Member shall pay or cause to be paid (with Additional Capital Contributions or proceeds of the Coach Unit Loan), subject to and in accordance with the terms
of this Agreement and the Development Agreement, all Coach Total Development Costs allocable to the applicable Coach Expansion Premises incurred
thereafter and the balance of the Coach Fixed Land Costs for the applicable Coach Expansion Premises.
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34. Financing of the Construction of the Project: Funding; Etc.

(a) Simultaneously herewith, the Company has (i) caused Legacy Tenant to enter into the Mortgage Loan Documents, pursuant to
which the Mortgage Lender has agreed to make the Mortgage Loan to Legacy Tenant, and (ii) caused Legacy Mezzanine to enter into the Mezzanine Loan
Documents, pursuant to which the Mezzanine Lender has agreed to make the Mezzanine Loan to Legacy Mezzanine, which will be funded by the Coach
Lender in an aggregate amount equal to the Coach Unit Loan and by the Third Party Lender in an aggregate amount equal to the Third Party Loan. The Coach
Lender has satisfied both the Fund Member and the Third Party Lender of the financial capability of the Coach Lender to fulfill all of its funding obligations
under the Loan Documents with respect to the Coach Unit Loan. The Third Party Lender has satisfied both the Coach Member and the Coach Lender of the
financial capability of the Third Party Lender to fulfill all of its funding obligations under the Loan Documents with respect to the Third Party Loan. Without
limiting its obligations hereunder or under the Development Agreement, but subject to the provisions of Section 6.1(e), Section 8.4 and Article 10, the Coach
Member acknowledges and agrees that it shall be responsible for the repayment of the Coach Unit Loan, including the payment, when due, of all interest
thereon and all other amounts payable to the Coach Lender or otherwise with respect to the Coach Unit Loan. Without limiting its obligations hereunder, but
subject to the provisions of Section 6.1(e), Section 8.4 and Article 10, the Fund Member shall be responsible for the repayment of the Third Party Loan,
including the payment, when due, of all interest thereon and all other amounts payable to the Third Party Lender or otherwise with respect to the Third Party
Loan. Nothing contained in this Section 3.4(a) shall limit the rights or remedies of either Member with respect to any breach by the other Member of its
obligations under this Agreement.

(b) All Project Costs of any and every kind or nature which constitute Coach Total Development Costs, including, without
limitation, the Coach Fixed Land Cost, and all other amounts otherwise payable by the Coach Member under this Agreement or the Development Agreement,
shall be paid and funded by the Coach Member, as a Capital Contribution or from the proceeds of the Coach Unit Loan, subject to the terms and conditions
of this Agreement and the Development Agreement (including, as applicable, the Coach Costs Cap), and all other Project Costs of any and every kind or
nature shall be paid or funded by the Fund Member, as a Capital Contribution or from the proceeds of the Third Party Loan. Without limiting the obligation
of the Coach Member to pay the Coach Fixed Land Costs and the other Coach Total Development Costs or any other amounts payable by the Coach Member
hereunder or under the Development Agreement, the Fund Member shall pay or caused to be paid, as a Capital Contribution or from the proceeds of the Third
Party Loan, all rent and other payments due to the MTA under the Building C Lease, the payment to the MTA of the applicable Option Price to acquire fee title
to the Coach Unit and to otherwise cause the Closing to occur on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.
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*%* Confidential Treatment Requested

() The Members hereby acknowledge and agree that, prior to the date hereof, (i) the Fund Member and its Affiliates have incurred
Pre-Development Costs in connection with the Project, and (ii) Developer commenced or caused to be commenced, on behalf of Legacy Tenant, the Early
Work, and Developer and its Affiliates have incurred certain Project Costs, on behalf of Legacy Tenant, in connection therewith, as such Pre-Development
Costs and Project Costs are set forth in more detail on Schedule 5 attached hereto. On the Construction Loan Closing Date, (A) each Member agrees to fund, to
the extent not funded under the initial Construction Loan Draw Request, as provided in Section 1.11(e) hereof, its Allocable Share of all Pre-Development
Costs and Project Costs incurred prior to the date hereof, (B) the Coach Member agrees to fund *** | to the extent not funded under the initial Construction
Loan Draw Request, and (C) the Fund Member agrees to fund ten percent (10%) of the Fund Member Land Costs in an amount equal Two Million Nine
Hundred Thirty-Five Thousand Seven Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($2,935,700.00), to the extent not funded under the initial Construction Loan Draw
Request. All amounts funded by the Members or with the proceeds of the Construction Loan pursuant to this Section 3.4(c) (1) in respect of Pre-Development
Costs shall be applied on the Construction Loan Closing Date to the payment of unpaid Pre-Development Costs and to reimburse the Fund Member and its
Affiliates for Pre-Development Costs previously paid by such Persons on behalf of Legacy Tenant or the Company prior to the date hereof, and (2) in respect
of Project Costs incurred by or on behalf of Legacy Yards prior to the date hereof (which portion funded by the Coach Member or with the proceeds of the
Coach Unit Loan is a portion of the Coach Total Development Costs) shall be paid to Developer on the Construction Loan Closing Date for the payment or
reimbursement of Project Costs incurred by or on behalf of Developer prior to the date hereof, in each case as set forth in more detail on Schedule 5 attached
hereto. The portion of the Coach Fixed Land Costs funded by the Coach Member or with the proceeds of the Coach Unit Loan on the Construction Loan
Closing Date (which amount is a portion of the Coach Total Development Costs), and the portion of the Fund Member Land Costs funded by the Fund
Member or with the proceeds of the Third Party Loan on the Construction Loan Closing shall be paid to or as directed by ERY Tenant on the Construction
Loan Closing Date for the payment or reimbursement of costs incurred by or on behalf of ERY Tenant in connection with the ERY, including with respect to
the Required Podium Infrastructure. From and after the Construction Loan Closing Date, the Fund Member shall pay, or cause the Third Party Lender to
advance Third Party Loan proceeds to pay, the balance of the Fund Member Land Cost monthly on the basis of the percentage of completion of the Required
Podium Infrastructure until construction of the Required Podium Infrastructure is completed. Subject to the terms of the Loan Documents, all amounts funded
by (x) the Coach Member, as a Capital Contribution or from the proceeds of the Coach Unit Loan, for the payment of Coach Fixed Land Costs, except a
portion thereof equal to the amount described in Section 10.08(a) of the Development Agreement, and (y) the Fund Member, as a Capital Contribution or from
the proceeds of the Third Party Loan, for the payment of Fund Member Land Costs shall be paid to or as directed by ERY Tenant upon receipt for the
payment or reimbursement of costs incurred by or on behalf of ERY Tenant in connection with the ERY, including with respect to the Required Podium
Infrastructure.
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(d) The Coach Member will have full audit rights with respect to the Coach Total Development Costs, which shall be done on an
“open book™ basis as provided in Article 4 of the Development Agreement. The Fund Member shall, or shall cause Developer to, provide any and all such
items and materials referenced in Article 4 of the Development Agreement to the Coach Member in accordance with the requirements set forth therein (to the
attention of the Coach Member Representatives named in Schedule 3 attached hereto, provided that the Coach Member shall have the right to add and remove
names from such Schedule 3 from time to time by Notice to the Fund Member), in each case promptly following the preparation of same; and shall in any
event promptly do so following request of the Coach Member. In addition, if the Coach Member shall terminate the Development Agreement, the Development
Management Agreement and/or the Executive Construction Management Agreement in accordance with the terms of Section 7.7, then (i) the Fund Member will
have full audit rights with respect to all Project Costs incurred after the replacement of Developer as the developer of the Project, including with respect to the
books and records of the Company and its Subsidiaries or the Replacement Developer (but, in such case, only to the extent relating to the Project or Project
Costs), the Coach Member or the Coach Guarantor (but, in each case, only to the extent that any such Person has records relating to expenses charged to the
Project which are not otherwise available to the Fund Member), which shall be done on an “open book” basis as provided in Article 4 of the Development
Agreement, which for the purposes of this Section 3.4(d) is hereby incorporated herein as if fully set forth herein and all references therein to Developer, the
Coach Member and Coach Total Development Costs shall instead refer to the Replacement Developer, the Fund Member and all Project Costs, respectively,
and (ii) the Coach Member shall or shall cause the Replacement Developer to provide any and all such items and materials referenced in Article 4 of the
Development Agreement which are in the possession or control of the Coach Member or such Replacement Developer to the Fund Member in accordance with
the requirements set forth therein (to the attention of the Fund Member Representatives named in Schedule 3 attached hereto, provided that the Fund Member
shall have the right to add and remove names from such Schedule 3 from time to time by Notice to the Coach Member), in each case promptly following the
preparation of same; and shall in any event promptly do so following request of the Fund Member.

(e) The Coach Member acknowledges and agrees that (i) the Mortgage Note A-2 and the Mezzanine Note A-2 each provide for accrual
of interest thereon, and that no principal or interest is payable on the Mortgage Note A-2 and the Mezzanine Note A-2 on a current monthly basis prior to the
maturity thereof, and (i) without the prior written consent of the Members in each instance (which consent may be granted or withheld in each Member’s sole
discretion), neither Member may cause or permit the Company or any Subsidiary to amend or modify any of the terms of the Mortgage Note A-2 or any of the
Mortgage Loan Documents or the Mezzanine Note A-2 or any of the Mezzanine Loan Documents to require the payment of interest or any principal on a current
monthly basis under the Mortgage Note A-2 and/or the Mezzanine Note A-2 prior to the Closing and the severance of the Mortgage Loan and the other Mortgage
Loan Documents and of the Mezzanine Loan and the other Mezzanine Loan Documents.
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3.5. Construction of the Project; Guarantees

(@ Subject to the provisions of this Agreement and the Development Agreement, including, without limitation, the provisions hereof
and thereof with respect to the rights of one or more Members or the Coach Member, as the case may be, to grant or withhold its consent or approval,
including, without limitation, pursuant to Section 7.2, and the terms of Section 7.7, the Fund Member, in the name of and on behalf of the Company, at the
Fund Member’s sole cost and expense (except to the extent any such cost and expense is included in Coach Total Development Costs, subject, however, to the
Coach Costs Cap, or is otherwise required to be paid by the Coach Member pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement or the Development Agreement), shall
have the authority and the obligation to do or cause to be done each and all of the following:

(1) cause the Company to design, develop and construct, or cause to be designed, developed and constructed on behalf of the
Company and Legacy Tenant, the Building and in accordance with all applicable Laws, the Plans and the provisions of this Agreement, the Development
Agreement, the Development Management Agreement and the Loan Documents;

(ii) cause the Company to obtain or cause to be obtained on behalf of Legacy Tenant such licenses and permits as are
necessary or appropriate for the design, construction, and occupancy of the Building;

(iii) comply, and cause the Company and Legacy Tenant to comply with all the Laws applicable to the Project and, in the
case of the Company, all Laws applicable to the Company and its Subsidiaries;

(iv) cause the Company to comply and cause its Subsidiaries to comply with the Project Documents;

v) cause the Company to comply and cause Legacy Tenant to comply with the terms of the Mortgage Loan Documents, the
Development Management Agreement, the Executive Construction Management Agreement, and all other agreements to which Legacy Tenant is a party,
including, without limitation, any design, development or construction agreements (such compliance to include, without limitation, the preparation,
processing, and approval of Draw Requests, the payment of contractors and consultants, and the design and construction of the Building);

(vi) cause the Company to comply and cause Legacy Mezzanine to comply with the terms of the Mezzanine Loan Documents
and all other agreements to which Legacy Mezzanine is a party;

(vii) cause Legacy Tenant to select, or cause Developer or the Executive Construction Manager to select, and hire, engage,
administer, monitor and supervise, or cause Developer or the Executive Construction Manager to hire, engage, administer, monitor and supervise, the services
of, the Project Architect, all engineers, the Construction Manager, and all contractors, materialmen, suppliers and consultants with respect to the design,
development and construction of the Building, and to delegate authority to Developer and/or the Executive Construction Manager to hire, engage, administer,
monitor and supervise such Persons pursuant to the Development Management Agreement or the Executive Construction Management Agreement, as
applicable;
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(viii)  subject to the provisions of Section 7.9, make judgments or decisions concerning the exercise and enforcement of the
Company’s or a Subsidiary’s rights under all other agreements to which the Company or such Subsidiary is a party, as applicable; and

(ix) cause Legacy Tenant to enforce, or cause Developer or the Executive Construction Manager to enforce, the rights and
remedies of Legacy Tenant, Developer or the Executive Construction Manager, as applicable, under all dual obligee payment and performance bonds and any
guaranty obtained with respect to the Developer Work and the Base Building Work pursuant to Section 7.01(b) of the Development Agreement.

(b) Simultaneously herewith, the Related/Oxford Guarantor has executed and delivered to the Coach Member the Related/Oxford
Guaranty, and the Coach Guarantor has executed and delivered to the Fund Member and Developer the Coach Guaranty.

3.6. Budget: Allocation of the Costs of the Project; Audit; Books and Records.

(a) The Members hereby approve the Budget and the Cost Allocation Methodology. All disputes with respect to the Coach Total
Development Costs or the allocation of Project Costs or any other cost or expenses to a Member shall be resolved, as applicable, by arbitration as provided in
Article 14 of the Development Agreement or Section 3.10 of this Agreement, as applicable. The Coach Member agrees that the Fund Member shall have the right
to have a representative attend (without participation) or to participate in any such arbitration pursuant to the Development Agreement to the extent the subject
matter thereof involves any matter that is subject to the approval or consent of the Fund Member pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

(b) Without duplication of any reports provided by Developer to the Coach Member pursuant to the Development Agreement, the
Fund Member shall provide or cause Developer to provide the Coach Member with monthly reports, commencing one month from the date hereof and ending
on the date of Final Completion, detailing the status of construction and comparing Project Costs actually incurred with Project Costs anticipated in the Budget
and the actual progress of construction with the Schedule. To the extent not delivered by Developer to the Coach Member pursuant to the Development
Agreement, the Fund Member shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Coach Member copies of all written status reports, invoices, shop drawings, field
changes, Draw Requests, lien waivers and releases received or given by the Company or Legacy Tenant under any agreement with respect to the Project to
which the Company or Legacy Tenant is a party, including, without limitation, the Loan Documents, promptly upon giving or receiving any such notice,
approval, report, other document or communication.
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(c) Each Member and its representatives shall have the right, on a semi-annual basis, to inspect, audit and make copies of all books
and records of the Company, and all materials in the possession of the Company, the Executive Construction Manager, Developer or any Replacement
Developer, the Construction Manager (but, in the latter case, only to the extent the Company has the right under the Construction Management Agreement to
inspect, audit and make copies of any books and records of the Construction Manager), and the Project Architect (but only to the extent the Company has the
right under the Project Architect’s Agreement to inspect, audit and make copies of any books and records of the Project Architect). In addition, the Coach
Member shall have the right, on a semi-annual basis, to inspect, audit and make copies of all books and records of the Fund Member relating to the Company
or any Subsidiary, but only to the extent such books and records relate to costs and expenses charged to the Developer Work or Project Costs allocated to
Coach Member pursuant to the Cost Allocation Methodology. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Coach Member exercises its right to replace Developer
pursuant to Section 7.7, the Fund Member shall thereafter have the right, on a semi-annual basis, to inspect, audit and make copies of all books and records
of the Coach Member relating to the Company or any Subsidiary, but only to the extent such books and records relate to costs and expenses allocated to Fund
Member pursuant to the Cost Allocation Methodology after the date of such replacement. The Fund Member shall cause all relevant agreements entered into
prior to any Management Change Event, and the Coach Member shall cause all relevant agreements entered into upon or following any Management Change
Event, to contain reasonable audit and inspection rights as provided above. Any such audit shall be conducted during business hours, on reasonable notice,
and at the auditing Member’s cost and expense, unless such audit of the Company’s or, prior to any replacement of Developer, Developer’s books and records
shall determine that the amount allocated to the auditing Member was overstated by more than 3%, in which case the costs and expenses for such audit shall be
paid by the other Member. Each Member shall submit a report of its findings (in each audit) to the Company and the other Member not later than ten (10)
Business Days after it concludes each such audit.

()] The Members shall consult in good faith to resolve any matter in dispute raised in any audit conducted by a Member as provided
in Section 2.6(c) within ten (10) Business Days of receipt by the Company and the other Member of an audit report. If the Members cannot resolve a
particular dispute (with respect to any matter raised in such audit report) within such ten (10) Business Day period, the dispute shall be submitted to
Arbitration pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.10 hereof; provided, however, that in no event shall any dispute prevent or delay Draw Requests from
being processed and paid, subject in all events to the satisfaction of all conditions applicable thereto.

(e) If any amounts paid by or on behalf of the Coach Member or funded by the Coach Lender are ultimately determined to have been
improperly charged to the Coach Total Development Costs under the terms of this Agreement or the Development Agreement, then the Coach Total Development
Costs will be appropriately reduced and credited, with interest, as provided in Section 4.02 or Section 4.03 of the Development Agreement. If any amounts paid
by or on behalf of the Fund Member or funded by the Third Party Lender for Project Costs incurred following the replacement of Developer are ultimately
determined to have been improperly charged to the Fund Member under the terms of this Agreement, then the Coach Total Development Costs will be
appropriately increased and paid, with interest, as provided in Section 4.02 or Section 4.03 of the Development Agreement which are hereby incorporated
herein.
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63} Nothing herein shall prevent the Coach Member from conducting an inspection of all books and records of the Company for
purposes of a final accounting described in Section 13.05 of the Development Agreement.

(g) The Company shall maintain copies of all Draw Requests, invoices and other documentation as shall be necessary to establish
and verify the Project Costs for a period of two (2) years following the date on which Final Completion occurs; provided, that such maintenance shall give the
Coach Member no additional rights or time periods for audit; and provided, further, that if the Coach Member requests (at any time prior to the expiration of
such two-year period) that the Company deliver to the Coach Member (at the Coach Member’s sole cost and expense) copies of all such Draw Requests,
invoices and other documentation, then the Company shall deliver all such materials to the Coach Member.

(h) In the event that the Coach Member exercises its right to replace Developer pursuant to Section 7.6, then the Coach Member shall
thereafter provide or cause the Replacement Developer to provide to the Fund Member all monthly Draw Requests in accordance with Section 4.2(e) hereof and
copies of all written status reports and other information, documents and materials with respect to the Project that the Replacement Developer, pursuant to the
replacement development agreement or otherwise, provides to Legacy Tenant, the Company or the Coach Member.

3.7. Condominium Regime.

(a) The Fund Member, on behalf of the Company and Legacy Tenant, shall cause the MTA to, immediately prior to the Closing,
submit the Building to a condominium form of ownership (the “ Condominium”) in accordance with the provisions of Article 9-B of the New York State Real
Property Law (the “Condominium Act”) and this Section 3.7.

(b) Attached hereto as Exhibit C-1 is the form condominium declaration for the Condominium (the “ Form Declaration”), which Form
Declaration is hereby approved by the Coach Member and the Fund Member. The Form Declaration, with any revisions thereto approved by the Coach
Member in accordance with Section 3.7(f) is referred to herein as the “Condominium Declaration”.

(c) Attached hereto as Exhibit C-2 is the form of by-laws of the Condominium (*“ Form By-laws”), which Form By-laws are hereby
approved by Coach Member and Fund Member. The Form By-laws, together with any revisions approved by the Coach Member in accordance with Section
3.7(f) are referred to herein as the “Condominium By-laws”.

(d) Attached hereto as Exhibit C-3 are the form Floor Plans (“Form Floor Plans”), which Form Floor Plans are hereby approved by
Coach Member and Fund Member. The Form Floor Plans, together with any revisions thereto approved by the Coach Member in accordance with Section
3.7(f) are referred to herein as the “Floor Plans”. The Fund Member shall cause the approved Floor Plans to be filed with (and in the form required by) the New
York City Department of Finance Tax Map Unit and recorded in the Register’s Office.
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(e) The Fund Member shall, on behalf of the MTA, use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain or cause Legacy Tenant to obtain
a “no action” letter from the New York State Department of Law (the “NYS Law Department”) permitting the distribution of the Coach Unit to the Coach
Member or the Coach Designee and the other Units without the necessity of filing an offering plan and without such distribution being made pursuant to an
offering plan (the “No Action Letter”). The Fund Member shall, on behalf of the MTA, file or cause Legacy Tenant to file the applicable application with the
NYS Law Department requesting that the NYS Law Department issue the No Action Letter (the “ Application). The Coach Member will, upon the Fund
Member’s request, at no expense to the Coach Member, execute and deliver to the Fund Member an affidavit of a principal of the Coach Member, in support of
the No Action Letter, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Fund Member and the Coach Member, which affidavit the Fund Member shall
submit or cause Legacy Tenant to submit, on behalf of the MTA, to the NYS Law Department together with MTA’s written request for the No Action Letter.
The Coach Member will reasonably cooperate with the Fund Member, at no cost or expense to the Coach Member, in connection with the Fund Member’s
efforts to obtain the No Action Letter, which cooperation shall include furnishing to the NYS Law Department such additional information and/or documents
as the NYS Law Department may reasonably request, including, but not limited to, executing and delivering a new affidavit which has been revised at the
direction of the NYS Law Department, all subject to the reasonable approval of the Coach Member. If the NYS Law Department shall decline to issue the No
Action Letter, then the Fund Member shall prepare and file or cause Legacy Tenant to prepare and file, on behalf of the MTA, an offering plan with respect to,
and shall take all other action necessary to legally permit, the distribution of the Coach Unit to the Coach Member or the Coach Designee as contemplated in
this Agreement at the Closing. The Fund Member shall be responsible for all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the No Action Letter or, if the No
Action Letter is not issued by the NYS Law Department, any required offering plan and other action.

® The Fund Member shall, no later than thirty (30) days prior to recording the Condominium Declaration, provide to the Coach
Member copies of the proposed final versions of the Condominium Documents (as defined below) prepared and/or revised by the Fund Member or its counsel.
Within ten (10) Business Days of the Fund Member’s delivery of the Condominium Declaration, the Condominium By-laws and/or the Floor Plans to the
Coach Member, the Coach Member shall notify the Fund Member in writing of its approval or disapproval of such proposed final version of the
Condominium Declaration, Condominium By-laws and/or the Floor Plans, as the case may be; which approval or disapproval shall be granted or withheld in
the Coach Member’s sole discretion with respect to any changes to the Form Declaration, Form By-laws or Form Floor Plans which affect the use or occupancy
of the Coach Areas for their permitted purposes or the rights or obligations of the Coach Member or the Coach Designee, as the owner of the Coach Unit or
otherwise, including, without limitation, any common charges or other costs or expenses allocable or otherwise payable to the Coach Member or the Coach
Designee, as the owner of the Coach Unit or otherwise, or any changes to the Form Declaration with respect to the Core Wall Installation (as defined therein),
and granted or withheld in the Coach Member’s reasonable discretion with respect to any other changes. If the Coach Member timely notifies the Fund Member
that it does not approve the proposed final version of the Condominium Declaration, Condominium By-laws and/or any of the Floor Plans, as the case may
be, such notice shall specify in reasonably sufficient detail the provisions or components with respect to which Coach Member is withholding its consent and
the reasons therefor. If, the Coach Member fails to deliver such written notice to the Fund Member within such ten (10) Business Day period, the Fund
Member may send a second notice to the Coach Member of such failure to respond and if the Coach Member does not respond to such second notice within
five (5) Business Days after receipt of the same, then, (i) with respect to matters for which the Coach Member has reasonable discretion, the Coach Member
shall be deemed to have approved the proposed final version of such matters in the Condominium Declaration, the Condominium By-laws and/or the Floor
Plans, as the case may be, and (ii) with respect to matters for which the Coach Member has sole discretion, the Coach Member shall be deemed to have
disapproved the proposed final version of such matters in the Condominium Declaration, the Condominium By-laws and/or the Floor Plans, as the case may
be.
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() Each of the Fund Member and the Coach Member shall, subject to the provisions of this Agreement and the Development
Agreement, reasonably cooperate with the other party with respect to the Condominium Documents, including providing all reasonable information and
executing and delivering all documents, forms and affidavits required under the Condominium Act or otherwise required with respect to the Condominium
Declaration or any other Condominium Document.

3.8. Conditions to Distribution of Coach Unit; Closing Payments and Deliveries.

(a) Coach Member’s Conditions to Close. The Coach Member’s obligation to consummate Closing pursuant to this Agreement is
conditioned upon the satisfaction (or waiver in writing by the Coach Member) of the following conditions on and as of the Closing Date:

i) The Fund Member shall have delivered or caused to be delivered to the Coach Member all of the documents and deliveries
under Section 3.8(e) and shall have performed all of its other obligations under this Agreement to be performed on or prior to the Closing Date in all material
respects.

(ii) (A) Substantial Completion has been achieved, and (B) the Punch List Work has been agreed upon by the Coach
Member and Developer, in accordance with the applicable terms and provisions of the Development Agreement (it being understood that the schedule for
completing the Punch List Work may not and need not be finally agreed upon, as provided in Section 9.02(h) of the Development Agreement).

(iii) The Coach Member has received an updated environmental report, showing no adverse change to environmental
conditions from that shown in the environmental report obtained by the Mortgage Lender and the Mezzanine Lender in connection with the closing of the
Construction Loan.

(iv) The Fund Member has provided, or caused to be provided, to the Coach Member reasonably satisfactory evidence that,
based on the Budget as of the Closing Date, sufficient Fund Member Equity Commitments remain to be called (or other funds are available, in addition to the
Coach Member’s Allocable Share) to pay for the costs of achieving Final Completion in accordance with the Plans, the Development Agreement and all
applicable Laws.
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) The conditions to release of the Coach Unit under the Mortgage Loan Documents shall be satisfied or waived by the
Mortgage Loan Agent (it being understood that other than the payment of the Coach Total Development Costs in accordance with the terms and provisions of
this Agreement and the Development Agreement and all other amounts required to be paid by the Coach Member pursuant to Section 3.8(h)(i) below, the Fund
Member shall have the obligation to cause all such conditions to be timely satisfied); the Mortgage Loan and the applicable Mortgage Loan Documents shall be
severed to separately evidence and secure the amount of the Coach Mortgage Loan (the “ Coach Severed Mortgage Loan”), which Coach Severed Mortgage Loan
shall be (A) evidenced by Mortgage Note A-2, as the same may be amended to reflect the severance of the Mortgage Loan and the other Mortgage Loan
Documents, in the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Coach Mortgage Loan, and (B) secured by a mortgage and other security instruments
required by the Coach Lender solely encumbering the Coach Unit (collectively, the “ Coach Severed Mortgage™), and any Mortgage Loan Documents not so
severed shall be amended or terminated in part to exclude the Coach Unit thereunder, in each case as contemplated in the Mortgage Loan Documents; unless
repaid by the Coach Member to the Coach Lender or otherwise extinguished at Closing, the Mezzanine Loan and the applicable Mezzanine Loan Documents
shall be severed to separately evidence and secure the amount of the Coach Mezzanine Loan (the “ Coach Severed Mezzanine Loan ), which Coach Severed
Mezzanine Loan shall be (1) evidenced by Mezzanine Note A-2, as the same may be amended to reflect the severance of the Mezzanine Loan and the other
Mezzanine Loan Documents, in the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Coach Mezzanine Loan, and (2) secured by a pledge and other security
instruments required by the Coach Lender, as contemplated in the Mezzanine Loan Documents, it being understood and agreed that in no event shall the
Coach Severed Loan be secured by any interest in the Company or its Subsidiaries or any of the Property other than the Coach Unit or the Coach Member’s
(or the Coach Designee’s) interest therein or an interest in the Coach Member; and the Fund Member shall cause Legacy Tenant, Legacy Mezzanine or the
Company, as applicable, to execute such agreements as are reasonably necessary in order to effectuate and memorialize the assignment to and assumption by
the Coach Member or the Coach Designee of the borrower’s obligations under the Coach Severed Mortgage Loan, Mortgage Note A-2, the Coach Severed
Mortgage, Mezzanine Note A-2 and any other agreements or instruments evidencing or securing the Coach Severed Mortgage Loan and the Coach Severed
Mezzanine Loan, and the assignment of the lender’s interest therein to the Coach Lender (to the extent not held by the Coach Lender) or another lender
designated by the Coach Member.

(vi) The Mortgage Loan Agent and Mortgage Lender shall execute and deliver such documents as it is obligated to execute and
deliver pursuant to the Mortgage Loan Documents in order to release the Coach Unit and sever the Mortgage Loan and the applicable Mortgage Loan
Documents as provided in clause (v) above, and to cause the Mortgage Loan to be subordinate in priority to the Condominium Documents and the Option
Agreement, and the Mezzanine Loan Agent and Mezzanine Lender shall execute and deliver such documents as it is obligated to execute and deliver pursuant to
the Mezzanine Loan Documents in order to sever the Mezzanine Loan and the applicable Mezzanine Loan Documents as provided in clause (v) above;

(vii) The IDA shall execute and deliver such documents as it is obligated to execute and deliver pursuant to the IDA
Documents in order to release the Coach Unit from the PILOT Mortgage and other IDA Documents and, if the Coach Member desires to obtain benefits under
UTEP with respect to the Coach Unit from and after the Closing and shall satisfy all the requirements and conditions thereto, to separately grant benefits to
the Coach Member under UTEP with respect to the Coach Unit in accordance with the terms and conditions of the IDA Documents and UTEP.
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(viii)  Title to the Coach Unit is free of Encumbrances other than the Permitted Encumbrances, and, at the Coach Member’s
election and its sole cost and expense, a binding and enforceable ALTA form of Title Insurance Commitment (showing no Encumbrances other than the
Permitted Encumbrances) has been issued to the Coach Member, naming the Coach Member or an Affiliate of the Coach Member as the Coach Member may
designate to acquire fee title to the Coach Unit (“ Coach Designee™), as the insured thereunder.

(ix) Subject to Section 3.8(i), there is not then existing any Material Litigation.

(x) The receipt by the Coach Member and the Coach Lender of an updated survey of the Property and a surveyor’s
certification (such certification to be substantially in the form delivered to the Construction Lender on the date hereof) dated no more than sixty (60) days prior
to Closing.

(xi) The receipt by the Coach Member of satisfactory evidence from its Title Insurer and/or Department of Buildings
expediter that there are (A) no Developer Violations that have a Material Adverse Effect (except those routinely issued during construction and which Developer
will cause to be removed in the ordinary course pursuant to the terms of the Development Agreement), and (B) no mechanics’ or materialmens’ liens affecting
or filed of record against the Coach Unit unless caused or resulting from Coach Finish Work or otherwise arising from any affirmative act or wrongful
omission of the Coach Member or any Coach Consultant ( i.e., where there is an obligation to affirmatively act) which have not been bonded or removed of
record or insured over.

(xii) Subject to the payment by the Coach Member at Closing of the balance of the Coach Fixed Land Cost and all other
Coach Total Development Costs then due and payable as provided in Section 3.8(h)(i), the Company shall have caused Legacy Tenant to subsever the
Building C Lease with respect to the Coach Unit in accordance with the terms thereof and to terminate such subsevered lease or to amend the Building C Lease
to exclude the Coach Unit as of the Closing Date, and the Fund Member shall have paid or caused to be paid to the MTA or such other party as directed by the
MTA the Option Price for the Coach Unit, and delivered or caused to be delivered to the Coach Member the Deed and each of the other items to be delivered at
Closing pursuant to Section 3.8(e). The Members acknowledge and agree that pursuant to Section 10.08 of the Development Agreement a portion of the Coach
Fixed Land Cost equal to the Option Price shall be advanced by or on behalf of the Coach Member at the Closing, and such amount may be paid directly to
the MTA by the Coach Member at the Closing and if so paid shall be credited toward the amounts to be paid by the Coach Member at the Closing pursuant to

Section 3.8(h).

(xiii)  There having not occurred any Major Event, and any portion of the Project damaged or destroyed as a result of any other
casualty or condemnation shall have been repaired and restored by Legacy Tenant subject to and in accordance with the terms of this Agreement;
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(xiv) The No Action Letter shall have been issued by the NYS Department of Law or any required offering plan shall have
been filed and accepted by the NYS Department of Law.

(xv) The Fund Member shall have caused Legacy Tenant to file with the Real Property Assessment Bureau and to record in
the Register’s Office the Condominium Declaration and the Floor Plans immediately prior to or simultaneously with the Closing, and shall have caused Legacy
Tenant or Developer, as applicable, to assign to the Condominium each Condominium Warranty required to be delivered and assigned to the Condominium
upon the creation thereof pursuant to the Development Agreement, including, without limitation, Section 9.04 thereof, and each such Condominium Warranty
shall be in full force and effect; provided, however, that to the extent that any Condominium Warranty has not commenced as of the Closing and is therefore
not assignable to the Condominium in accordance with the terms hereof or of the Development Agreement, the Fund Member shall cause Legacy Tenant or
Developer, as applicable, to deliver an assignment of such Condominium Warranty to the Condominium as promptly as possible thereafter;

(xvi) To the extent that any of the other Units in the Building shall remain subject to the Building C Lease, the Condominium
Declaration shall be superior to the Building C Lease to the extent remaining in effect.

(xvii)  The New York City Department of Finance shall have issued a separate tax lot for the Coach Unit.

(xviii)  An all-risk casualty insurance policy with standard coverages and endorsements (as specified in the Condominium
Declaration) covering the Common Elements (to the extent constructed and in existence as of such date) to the extent of the full replacement value thereof shall
be obtained and maintained by the Board of Managers of the Condominium and shall be in force, valid and enforceable on the Closing Date.

(xix) Except for the Project Labor Agreement, there being no agreement or letter with any union (or relative to labor matters)
which relates to or will impact or affect the Coach Finish Work or the performance thereof, and, in any event, there being no union contracts or letters or
understandings with any union (other than any such contracts, letters or understandings entered into by the Coach Member or Coach Guarantor) which relate
to the operation or management of the Coach Unit.

(b) Fund Member’s Conditions to Close. The Fund Member’s obligation to consummate the Closing pursuant to this Agreement is
conditioned upon the satisfaction (or waiver by the Fund Member in writing) of the following conditions on and as of the Closing Date:

(i) The Coach Member shall have delivered to the Fund Member all of the documents and deliveries required to be delivered
by the Coach Member under Section 3.8(h)(ii); and

(ii) The Coach Member shall have made all payments required to be made by the Coach Member under Section 3.8(h)(i).
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(c) Right to Waive Conditions. Each of the Coach Member and the Fund Member shall have the right to waive compliance by the
Company and/or any other Member with any of the conditions to its obligation to consummate the Closing pursuant to this Agreement. Any such waiver must
be in writing and must refer specifically to the condition (or matter) being waived. However, if the Closing occurs, the conditions in Sections 3.8(a) and (b)
shall be deemed to have been satisfied whether or not specifically waived in writing (unless otherwise agreed to by the Members in writing at that time).

(d) Closing and Closing Date. Subject to the provisions of this Section 3.8(d), the Closing shall take place at 10:00 a.m. at the offices
of the Construction Lender’s counsel located in New York, New York or another location in New York, New York to be agreed upon by the Coach Member
and the Fund Member, on a Business Day agreed to by the Coach Member and the Fund Member in writing at least ten (10) days but not later than thirty (30)
days after the conditions set forth in Sections 3.8(a) and 3.8(b) are satisfied (excepting those conditions which may be satisfied on the Closing Date).

(e) Fund Member’s Closing Deliveries. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, at the Closing the Fund Member shall cause the
Company to execute and deliver, or, as appropriate, cause Developer, Legacy Tenant or the MTA to execute and deliver, to the Coach Member, the following:

@) a recordable condominium unit deed to the Coach Unit, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit H, duly executed and
acknowledged by the MTA, conveying fee title in and to the Coach Unit to the Coach Member or the Coach Designee (the * Deed”);

(ii) an assignment of the Coach Severed Mortgage Loan and the Coach Severed Mortgage Loan Documents, together with an
affidavit under Section 275 of Article 8 of the Real Property Law of the State of New York (so as to permit the Coach Member or Coach Designee, as
applicable, to enjoy a mortgage recording tax credit, in connection with such assignment, to the extent of Coach’s Allocable Share of mortgage recording tax
paid by the Coach Member in connection with the recording of the mortgages securing the Mortgage Loan), and an assignment of the Coach Severed
Mezzanine Loan and the Coach Severed Mezzanine Loan Documents;

(iii) such transfer tax returns and forms required to be filed in connection with recordation of the Deed or any other agreement
or instrument executed in connection with the Closing to be recorded in the Register’s Office (collectively, the « Transfer Tax Forms”);

(iv) such title affidavits or indemnities (if any) as the Title Insurer shall reasonably require to cause any title insurance
policy issued to the Coach Member and its lender(s) with respect to the Coach Unit or the Coach Severed Mortgage Loan to have as exceptions to coverage only
Permitted Encumbrances;

v) a certificate of non-foreign status pursuant to Section 1445 of the IRC Code, duly executed and acknowledged by the
MTA, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit I;
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(vi) a certificate of good standing of the Company and all approvals, authorizations, consents or other actions by or filings
with any Person (if any) which are required to be obtained or completed by the Company or Legacy Tenant in connection with the execution and delivery of
any of the Closing documents;

(vii) originals (or, if neither the Company, Legacy Tenant, the Fund Member nor Developer have originals, true and complete
copies) of the Coach Unit Documents, together with an assignment by Legacy Tenant or Developer, as applicable, to the Coach Member of each Coach
Warranty required to be assigned to the Coach Member at Closing pursuant to the Development Agreement, including, without limitation, Section 9.04 thereof;
provided, however, that to the extent certain of the operating manuals that constitute the Coach Unit Documents are not available to Legacy Tenant or Developer
at the time of the Closing, and to the extent that any Coach Warranty has not commenced as of the Closing and is therefore not assignable to the Coach
Member in accordance with the terms hereof or of the Development Agreement, the Fund Member shall cause Legacy Tenant or Developer, as applicable, to
deliver such Coach Unit Documents to the Coach Member, or to deliver an assignment of each such Coach Warranty to the Coach Member as promptly as
possible thereafter, which obligation shall survive the Closing and the withdrawal of the Coach Member from the Company and the termination of this
Agreement;

(viii)  an assignment by Legacy Tenant or Developer, as applicable, to the Condominium Board of each Condominium
Warranty required to be assigned to the Condominium Board at Closing pursuant to the Development Agreement; provided, however, that to the extent that any
such Condominium Warranty has not commenced as of the Closing and is therefore not assignable to the Condominium Board in accordance with the terms
hereof or of the Development Agreement, the Fund Member shall cause Legacy Tenant or Developer, as applicable, to deliver an assignment of each such
Condominium Warranty to the Condominium Board as promptly as possible thereafter, which obligation shall survive the Closing and the withdrawal of the
Coach Member from the Company and the termination of this Agreement;

(ix) the Redemption Agreement, executed by the Company and the Fund Member;

(x) a release executed by the Fund Member of the Coach Member from all obligations under this Agreement arising from and
after the Closing Date (subject to the continued validity of all obligations of the Coach Member which expressly survive the conveyance of the Coach Unit
pursuant to the express terms of this Agreement) in the form attached hereto as Exhibit J;

(xi) the Option Agreement, executed by Legacy Tenant and the Fund Member;

(xii) the Memorandum of Option Agreement, executed by Legacy Tenant and the Fund Member;
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(xiii) the Right of First Negotiation Agreement, executed by the Fund Member;
(xiv) the Punch List Escrow Agreement, executed by the Company, the Fund Member and Developer;

(xv) such instruments and documents which are reasonably necessary or desirable to evidence the release of the Coach Unit
and severance of the Construction Loan (and the Loan Documents) and to cause the Third Party Mortgage Loan to be subordinate in priority to the
Condominium Documents and the Option Agreement;

(xvi)  such instruments and documents which are reasonably necessary or desirable to evidence the superiority of the
Condominium Documents to the Building C Lease to the extent the Building C Lease shall remain in effect with respect to any of the Units in the Building
other than the Coach Unit; and

(xvil)  any other instruments or documents to be executed and/or delivered by Legacy Tenant, the Company and Developer
pursuant to this Agreement, the Development Agreement, the Project Documents and/or the Loan Documents, or as may be reasonably required to consummate
the conveyance of the Coach Unit to the Coach Member; it being acknowledged and agreed that Developer shall not be required to deliver the Punch List
Escrow Agreement or any of the foregoing items required to be delivered by Developer if the Development Agreement is terminated by the Coach Member
pursuant to Section 7.7 prior to the Closing Date.

® Utility Company Deposits. If applicable, at the Closing, the Fund Member shall cause Legacy Tenant to assign to the Coach
Member all deposits or escrows held for Legacy Tenant’s account at or by any utility company in connection with utility services furnished solely to the
Coach Unit. The Coach Member shall reimburse the Company or Legacy Tenant at the Closing for the amount of the deposits or escrows so assigned, and the
Coach Member will thereafter become responsible for utility charges due thereafter with respect solely to the Coach Unit (in addition to any utility charges
included in and required to be paid by the Coach Member as Common Charges and allocable to the Coach Unit pursuant to the Condominium Declaration).
Alternatively, the Fund Member may direct Legacy Tenant or Developer, as applicable, to terminate such utility accounts. Prior to the Closing Date, the Fund
Member shall cause Legacy Tenant to notify all such utility companies in writing (with copies to the Coach Member) of the applicable transfer of service to the
Coach Member or the Coach Designee.

(g) Service Contracts. At or prior to the Closing, if requested by the Coach Member, the Fund Member shall cause Legacy Tenant to
terminate all Service Contracts, if any, as of the date of Closing.
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(h) Coach’s Closing Payment and Closing Deliveries.

1) At the Closing, the Coach Member shall (1) accept delivery of the Deed and title to the Coach Unit free of all
Encumbrances other than the Permitted Encumbrances; (2) unless repaid by the Coach Member or otherwise extinguished, assume or cause the Coach
Designee to assume the Coach Severed Mortgage Loan and Coach Severed Mezzanine Loan and all of the obligations of Legacy Tenant and Legacy Mezzanine,
respectively, with respect thereto; (3) subject to the provisions of Section 3.8(i) below, pay, or cause to be paid, subject to and in accordance with the applicable
provisions hereof and of the Development Agreement (including, without limitation, the Coach Costs Cap), the Coach Total Development Costs, including the
balance of the Coach Fixed Land Cost payable pursuant to Section 10.08 of the Development Agreement, less all amounts previously funded by the Coach
Member or the Coach Lender on account of the Coach Total Development Costs, and all other amounts payable by the Coach Member hereunder or under the
Development Agreement on or prior to the Closing Date; provided that the Coach Member shall holdback at Closing from its payment of the Coach Total
Development Costs and (x) deposit with the Title Company pursuant to the Punch List Escrow Agreement an amount equal to the product of 125% and the
reasonably estimated cost to complete the items set forth in the Punch List as reasonably determined by the Coach Member and Developer in accordance with
Section 10.06 of the Development Agreement, which funds will be released to the party entitled thereto as such Punch List Work is completed (with the
balance, if any, being paid to the Company or the Coach Member, as applicable, upon final completion of all Punch List Work), and (y) deposit in an
interest-bearing escrow account to be held by the Title Company, as escrowee, a portion of the Coach Total Development Costs equal to 105% of the cost of all
disputed items of Coach Total Development Costs (not in excess of $12,500,000), which funds will be paid to the party entitled thereto as such dispute(s) are
resolved pursuant to Section 10.01(e) of the Development Agreement or Section 3.10 hereof, as applicable; it being agreed that the Coach Member shall identify
and inform Developer and the Fund Member on the Closing Date of all such amounts in dispute on and as of the Substantial Completion Date in order for the
Closing to occur as provided herein; and (3) accept a redemption of its Membership Interest in the Company and withdraw from the Company pursuant to the
Redemption Agreement; it being acknowledged and agreed, however, that such redemption and withdrawal of the Coach Member shall be deemed to have
occurred automatically upon consummation of the Closing on the Closing Date notwithstanding any failure of the Coach Member to execute and deliver the
Redemption Agreement in accordance with Section 3.8(h)(ii). All payments made by or on behalf of the Coach Member or the Coach Lender at Closing shall be
by wire transfer of immediately available federal funds drawn on a member of the New York Clearinghouse to such accounts as the Fund Member shall
designate.

(ii) The Coach Member shall execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, at the Closing:
1) an assumption of the Coach Severed Mortgage Loan and the Coach Severed Mortgage Loan Documents, and the
Coach Severed Mezzanine Loan and the Coach Severed Mezzanine Loan Documents, executed by the Coach Member or the Coach Designee, as
applicable, in form reasonably acceptable to the Third Party Lender, the Fund Member and the Coach Member;

2) the Transfer Tax Forms, executed by the Coach Member or the Coach Designee, as applicable;

3) the Redemption Agreement, executed by the Coach Member;
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“4) the Option Agreement, executed by the Coach Member or the Coach Designee, as applicable, as fee owner of the
Coach Unit;

%) the Memorandum of Option Agreement, executed by the Coach Member or the Coach Designee, as applicable;

(6) the Right of First Negotiation Agreement, executed by the Coach Member or the Coach Designee, as applicable,
as fee owner of the Coach Unit;

(@) the Punch List Escrow Agreement; and

®) any other instruments, statements or documents to be executed or delivered by the Coach Member at Closing
pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement or the Development Agreement or required in order to release the Coach Unit and sever the Mortgage
Loan and Mezzanine Loan under the applicable Loan Documents.

1) Title Defects; Material Litigation. The Coach Member may give the Fund Member notice of any Title Defect at least ten (10) days
prior to the Closing Date (except that the Coach Member may give notice of any Title Defect of which the Coach Member first receives notice during such ten
(10) day period at any time on or prior to the Closing Date), in which event the Fund Member shall have such additional period of time as it may require (but
not more than thirty (30) days in the aggregate) in order to cure and remove the Title Defect(s) specified in the Coach Member’s notice(s) and the Closing shall
be adjourned for such period of time up to the Outside Closing Date. Subject to the provisions of this Section 3.8(i), (A) the Fund Member shall cause the
Company to remove or cause Legacy Tenant to remove, by payment, bonding or otherwise, any Title Defect, and (B) the Coach Member shall cooperate
reasonably with the Fund Member as required in order to remove such Title Defect. The costs of removing any Title Defect shall be a Project Cost allocable in
accordance with the Cost Allocation Methodology and the applicable provisions of the Development Agreement (and shall be subject to the Coach Costs Cap,
except if such Title Defect arose as provided in clause (y) below) and based on the nature of the underlying claim, provided, that (x) if such Title Defect
results from an act or omission (where there is an obligation to affirmatively act) of Developer, the Fund Member or any of their respective Affiliates, then all
such costs shall be borne in their entirety by the Fund Member and (y) if such Title Defect results from an act or omission (where there is an obligation to
affirmatively act) of the Coach Member or any of its Affiliates, then all such costs shall be borne in their entirety by the Coach Member (in addition to the
Coach Total Development Costs). The foregoing allocation of costs shall not limit the obligations of the Fund Member to cause any Title Defect to be removed
from the Coach Unit, subject to the payment by the Coach Member of such costs allocated to the Coach Member at Closing. Subject to the provisions of this
Section 3.8(i), (1) the Fund Member shall cause the Company to satisfy or cause Legacy Tenant to satisfy any Material Litigation, and (2) the Coach Member
shall cooperate reasonably with the Fund Member as required in order to satisfy such Material Litigation. The costs of satisfying any such Material Litigation
shall be a Project Cost allocable in accordance with the Cost Allocation Methodology and the applicable provisions of the Development Agreement (and shall be
subject to the Coach Costs Cap, except if such Material Litigation arose as provided in clause (ii) below) and based on the nature of the underlying claim,
provided, that (i) if such Material Litigation results from an act or omission (where there is an obligation to affirmatively act) of Developer, the Fund Member
or any of their respective Affiliates, then all such costs shall be borne in their entirety by the Fund Member and (ii) if such Material Litigation results from an
act or omission (where there is an obligation to affirmatively act) of the Coach Member or any of its Affiliates, then all such costs shall be borne in their
entirety by the Coach Member (in addition to the Coach Total Development Costs). The foregoing allocation of costs shall not limit the obligations of the Fund
Member to cause any Material Litigation to be satisfied in connection with the Closing, subject to the payment by the Coach Member of such costs allocated to
the Coach Member at Closing.
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@) Title Insurance Premiums; Transfer Taxes: Apportionments; Common Charges.

1) At the Closing, the Coach Member shall pay the costs for the issuance of the Title Insurance Commitment and, should
the Coach Member elect to obtain title insurance with respect to the Coach Unit, the Coach Severed Mortgage and/or the Coach Severed Mezzanine Loan, the
insurance effected pursuant the Title Insurance Commitment and any mortgagee or UCC policy for the Coach Lender (or any assignee thereof). Should the
Coach Member elect to obtain title insurance, the costs of satisfying any indemnity delivered in any affidavit given by the Company, Legacy Tenant, Legacy
Mezzanine or the Fund Member on behalf of the Company, Legacy Tenant or Legacy Mezzanine to the Title Insurer that is customarily given by a seller to
induce the Title Insurer to issue a commitment to issue an owner’s policy of title insurance insuring the fee simple title to the buyer free of Encumbrances other
than the Permitted Encumbrances, or any obligation assumed in any such affidavit, shall be a Project Cost allocable among the Coach Unit and the Fund
Member Units in accordance with the Cost Allocation Methodology and the applicable provisions of the Development Agreement (and shall be subject to the
Coach Costs Cap, except if such claim arose as provided in clause (B) below) based on the nature of the underlying claim, unless caused by (A) Developer,
the Fund Member or any of their respective Affiliates, in which case any such cost or obligation shall be borne in its entirety by the Fund Member, or (B) the
Coach Member or any of its respective Affiliates, in which case any such cost or obligation shall be borne in its entirety by the Coach Member. The foregoing
allocation of costs shall not limit the obligations of the Company, Legacy Tenant or the Fund Member, on behalf of the Company or Legacy Tenant, to deliver
any such indemnity or affidavit in connection with the Closing, subject to the payment by the Coach Member of such costs allocated to the Coach Member at
Closing.

(ii) The Members acknowledge and agree that (A) on the date hereof the Fund Member has caused to be paid all New York
State transfer taxes imposed on the Leasehold Estate granted to Legacy Tenant pursuant to the Building C Lease, (B) New York City and New York State
transfer taxes may be payable at Closing in connection with the transfer of fee title to the Coach Unit to the Coach Member or the Coach Designee based on the
Option Price for the Coach Unit, subject to partial credit for a portion of the New York State transfer taxes paid upon the execution of the Building C Lease,
and (C) payments of Annual Base Rent under the Building C Lease will be subject to New York City commercial rent tax. The Coach Member shall pay all
New York City and New York State transfer taxes payable at Closing in connection with the transfer of fee title to the Coach Unit to the Coach Member or the
Coach Designee (whether or not included in the Coach Total Development Costs), without giving effect to the amount of any credit received on account of New
York State transfer taxes paid with respect to the Leasehold Estate upon the execution of the Building C Lease, and the Fund Member shall be responsible for
all other transfer taxes imposed on the transactions contemplated herein and all commercial rent tax imposed with respect to the Annual Base Rent payable
under the Building C Lease. The Fund Member or the Coach Member may elect to cause the Company to obtain a ruling from the relevant taxing authorities
with regard to transfer taxes and to extend the Closing in order to obtain such ruling, and each party will cooperate with the other and pay its allocable share of
the costs incurred by the Company in connection with efforts to obtain any such ruling.
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(iii) At the Closing, the Company and the Coach Member shall apportion real property taxes, water and sewer charges, utility
deposits, and payments under any Service Contracts with respect to the Coach Unit, all as shall be customary for transactions of this nature as well as
Common Charges for the Coach Unit, if any. The Fund Member and the Coach Member acknowledge and agree that such apportionments shall be made in
such a manner as to avoid duplication, so that the Coach Member will not be charged with costs both as part of Coach Total Development Costs and as part
of its Common Charges under the Condominium Declaration as the owner of the Coach Unit.

(iv) Subject to its obligations under clause (iii) above, the obligation of the Coach Member or the Coach Designee, as
applicable, to pay Common Charges under the Condominium Declaration will commence from and after the Closing Date.

(k) Outside Closing Date. Without limiting the provisions of this Agreement or the Development Agreement, if the Closing fails to
occur on or before the earlier to occur of (i) June 1, 2015, as such date shall be extended on a day-for-day basis by reason of Force Majeure, Coach Change
Delays extending beyond the Change Order Grace Period or Coach Work Delays, or (ii) the Substantial Completion Date (such date, the “ Outside Closing
Date”), as a result of the failure of any of the conditions set forth in Section 3.8(a) of this Agreement (the “Coach Closing Conditions™) to be satisfied on or
prior to the Outside Closing Date, then (A) if such failure shall result from any act of or failure to act in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or the
Development Agreement by the Fund Member or Developer, as applicable, the Coach Member shall have the right (but not the obligation) to seek and obtain
equitable relief by way of injunction or compel specific performance to cause the Fund Member and the Company to take any and all actions that may be
necessary to effectuate the Closing; (B) the Coach Member shall have the right (but not the obligation) to take any actions and incur any expenses (including,
without limitation, the expenditure of additional monies and the performance of overtime work) which the Coach Member in good faith believes may mitigate
any delay in the Coach Member’s performance of the Coach Finish Work or the ability of the Coach Member to commence occupying the Coach Unit for the
normal conduct of business in the ordinary course resulting from or arising out of the failure of the Closing to occur on or prior to the Outside Closing Date,
and the Fund Member shall reimburse, or cause Developer to reimburse, without duplication of any amounts paid by Developer pursuant to Section 9.03 of
the Development Agreement, the Coach Member for any and all costs so incurred by the Coach Member within ten (10) Business Days of the Coach Member’s

demand therefor, and (C) the Fund Member shall pay, or cause Developer to pay, without duplication of any amounts paid by Developer pursuant to Sections
8.02(d), 9.03 or 13.01(c) of the Development Agreement, all Coach Holdover Costs, and any other actual losses, damages, costs or expenses incurred by the
Coach Member resulting from the Coach Member’s inability to complete timely the Coach Finish Work and occupy timely the Coach Unit as a result of such
failure of the Closing to occur on or prior to the Outside Closing Date , such payment to be due as and when such costs are incurred and within ten (10) days
after demand by the Coach Member (the amounts payable pursuant to clauses (B) and (C) above, collectively, the “Outside Date Amount”). Any dispute
regarding whether (x) the Coach Member’s mitigation efforts were made in good faith or (y) the incurrence by the Coach Member of mitigation costs (but not
the amount thereof) in connection therewith was reasonable giving due regard to the nature of the delay in question shall in each case be submitted to
Arbitration pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.10. The obligation of the Fund Member to pay the Outside Date Amount is guaranteed by the
Related/Oxford Guarantor subject to and in accordance with the Related/Oxford Guaranty . The obligation of the Fund Member to pay the Outside Date
Amount, if any, pursuant to this Section 3.8(k) shall survive the Closing and the withdrawal of the Coach Member from the Company.
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0] If the Fund Member or Developer shall fail to pay any expense that is required to be paid by such party under this Agreement or the
Development Agreement, as applicable, in connection with the Closing, including, but not limited to, the cost to remove any Title Defect or to satisfy any
Material Litigation, the Coach Member shall have the right to pay any such expense and the amount of such expense shall be credited toward Coach Total
Development Costs or shall be reimbursed to the Coach Member by the Fund Member or Developer, as applicable, and the obligation to reimburse the Coach
Member for such expenses is guaranteed by the Related/Oxford Guarantor subject to and in accordance with the Related/Oxford Guaranty. The provisions of
this Section 3.8(1) and the obligations of the Fund Member hereunder shall survive the Closing and the withdrawal of the Coach Member from the Company.

3.9. Covenants; Cooperation.

(a) The Fund Member hereby covenants and agrees to satisfy or cause to be satisfied, on or prior to the Closing Date, all conditions to
Closing set forth in Section 3.8(a) except for (i) the condition set forth in clause (ii)(B) of Section 3.8(a), and (ii) subject to the obligations of the Fund Member
under clauses (i) and (j) of Section 3.8(a), the payment of any costs for any Title Insurance Commitment provided to the Coach Member set forth in clause
(viii) of Section 3.8(a) or any policy issued to the Coach Member or the Coach Designee pursuant thereto or to the Coach Lender or any assignee of the Coach
Severed Mortgage Loan or Coach Severed Mezzanine Loan. The Coach Member hereby covenants and agrees to satisfy on or prior to the Closing Date all
conditions to Closing set forth in Section 3.8(b) and agrees to cooperate and to cause the Coach Lender to reasonably cooperate with the Fund Member, Legacy
Tenant, Legacy Mezzanine, the Company and the Third Party Lender, as applicable, in connection with the satisfaction of the conditions to Closing set forth
in clauses (v), (vi), (vii), (ix), (xiv), (xv), (xvii) and (xviii) of Section 3.8(a), but such agreement to cooperate shall not limit the obligation of the Fund Member
to cause such conditions to be satisfied. The Members agree that any dispute with respect to the satisfaction of any condition to Closing or any other failure of
the Closing to occur in accordance with this Agreement shall be submitted to Arbitration in accordance with the terms of Section 3.10.
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(b) Following the distribution to the Coach Member or the Coach Designee of the Coach Unit at Closing, the Fund Member and the
Coach Member shall, and shall cause their respective contractors, construction managers, agents and other Consultants, to coordinate their ongoing
construction efforts and to cooperate in all reasonable respects with respect thereto, including making hoists available in accordance with the Site Logistics
Plan and permitting access to shared elements of the Building at reasonable times.

() The Fund Member hereby covenants and agrees, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, (i) that the ERY will not contain more than
6,270,000 zoning square feet of Floor Area (as such term is defined in and construed pursuant to the Zoning Resolution of the City of New York, effective as
of December 15, 1961, as amended from time to time), with the various buildings and other structures and open space to be located thereon substantially in
the locations designated on the Severed Parcel Plan attached hereto as Exhibit O-1, without the Coach Member’s reasonable approval, and (ii) that from and
after Substantial Completion, the Cultural Facility pad and the Building D pad identified on Exhibit O-2 attached hereto will be subject to the temporary
aesthetic treatment shown on Exhibit O-2 until the commencement of construction thereon (including any required pre-construction work, without any material
lag between pre-construction and commencement of construction).

(d) The Coach Member hereby covenants and agrees to pay or remove by bonding or otherwise any Violations, mechanics’ or
materialmens’ liens filed of record against the Property by any contractor or subcontractor or other service provider retained by or on behalf of Coach Member
in connection with the performance of any Coach Finish Work.

(e) The Fund Member covenants and agrees that (i) it shall not lease or cause Legacy Tenant to lease (or otherwise permit the
occupancy of) any space in the Additional Office Units to any Office Unit Competitors or any space in the Retail Unit to any Retail Premises Competitors,
and (ii) all tenants of the Retail Unit (including any supermarket) shall satisfy a “first class” standard comparable to the standard of the retail tenants
(including Whole Foods) at Time Warner Center on the date hereof. The Coach Member shall have the right to update the list of Office Unit Competitors set
forth on Exhibit B hereto and the list of Retail Premises Competitors set forth on Exhibit G hereto by notice to the Fund Member once during each three (3) year
period following the date hereof, on a go-forward basis, with each list containing not more than fifteen (15) named competitors at any one time, and both lists
containing not more than twenty-one (21) named competitors in the aggregate; it being agreed that (A) any update of the list of Office Unit Competitors or Retail
Premises Competitors will not apply to (1) any prospective tenant with whom the Company, Legacy Tenant or the Fund Member is in active negotiation at the
time of such update or (2) any then-existing tenants of, as applicable, the Additional Office Units or the Retail Unit, and (B) any update of the list of Office
Unit Competitors or Retail Premises Competitors will include only retailers comparable in reputation to the Coach Member or to the competitors set forth on
Exhibit B or Exhibit G, as applicable, attached hereto). The Fund Member and the Coach Member shall consult in good faith to resolve any dispute with
respect to whether a particular retail tenant of the Retail Unit satisfies the “first class” standard described above within ten (10) Business Days of receipt by
the Fund Member of notice from the Coach Member of its objection to any proposed retail tenant of the Retail Unit (it being agreed that a tenant that operates
one or more supermarkets that are fixtured and maintained in a manner that is consistent in all material respects with the first class standard of Whole Foods
at Time Warner Center on the date hereof shall be deemed to satisfy such standard). If they cannot resolve a dispute with respect to such retail tenant within
such ten (10) Business Day period, the dispute shall be submitted to Arbitration pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.10 below.
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63} The provisions of this Section 3.9 shall survive the Closing, the termination of this Agreement and/or the redemption or
withdrawal of the Coach Member from the Company.

3.10. Arbitration.

(a) If a dispute arises that the Members are unable to resolve and for which this Agreement provides resolution by Arbitration or
pursuant to the provisions of this Section 3.10, then, in any such case, the Coach Member or the Fund Member shall present the dispute to the arbiters
identified in Exhibit P attached hereto (each, an “ Arbiter”), who are listed in the order of priority (i.e., the second individual serves only if the first is not
available and the third individual serves only if the first and second are not available) and who will resolve the dispute as provided in this Section 3.10. If one
from among the panel of Arbiters resigns or becomes unable to serve hereunder, a successor individual shall be selected by the parties hereto. Except during the
pendency of an arbitration proceeding pursuant to the procedures contained herein, either party may, by written notice to the other, disqualify any of the
Arbiters for reasonable cause and propose additional arbitrators to be Arbiters to be agreed upon by the parties hereto.

(b) A party (“Disputing Party”) may submit a request for resolution of a dispute (a “ Dispute”) pursuant to the provisions of this
Agreement by giving a written notice to of the Dispute (a “ Dispute Notice”) to the other party to the Dispute (the ““Other Disputing Party”) and to the Arbiter,
which Dispute Notice shall identify the provision of the Agreement at issue and shall specify in reasonable detail: (i) the nature of the dispute and the
interpretation or decision requested; (ii) the party’s proposal to resolve the dispute; and (iii) a written explanation of its position, together with any materials
that it deems relevant for such purpose.

() Within five (5) Business Days after receiving the Dispute Notice, the Other Disputing Party to the Dispute shall have the right to
deliver to the Arbiter, with a copy to the Disputing Party, its written statement setting forth (i) its position in reasonable detail with respect to the matters in
Dispute, (ii) its proposal to resolve the dispute, and (iii) a written explanation of its position, together with any materials that it deems relevant for such
purpose. The Arbiter shall coordinate among the Disputing Party and the Other Disputing Party in order to arrange for a time or time(s) to meet and present
positions within the time deadlines as provided below. The Disputing Party and the Other Disputing Party shall each make themselves available during such
time deadlines and if no mutually convenient time is agreed upon, each party shall be available during business hours on the last Business Day of such time
deadline.
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(d) The Disputing Party and Other Disputing Party shall each be entitled to present additional evidence and arguments to the Arbiter
(in addition to the initial written statements described above) in accordance with procedures, if any, determined by the Arbiter, which procedures shall be
implemented by the Arbiter so as to cause the time deadlines set forth below to be met. All evidence and arguments must be presented to the Arbiter within five
(5) Business Days after the expiration of the five (5) Business Day period described in Section 3.10(c) above. The Arbiter shall in all events render its decision
by the later of (i) ten (10) Business Days after receipt of the second initial statements of the Other Disputing Party pursuant to Section 3.10(c) above or (y)
seven (7) Business Days after all evidence and arguments have been presented under this Section 3.10(d). The Arbiter shall issue a single written decision
stating, in reasonable detail, the basis for its decision. The Arbiter shall allocate the costs of the Dispute (including the costs of the arbitration, any expert
witnesses and reasonable attorney’s fees) between the Disputing Parties as it deems appropriate and shall set forth such cost allocation in its decision. Although
the Arbiter cannot vary the terms of this Agreement, the decision of the Arbiter need not accept, in its entirety, the position(s), or the specific cost allocations,
advanced by any one Disputing Party. The Arbiter’s decision shall be conclusive and binding on all Parties to the Dispute and shall be confirmable in a court
of competent jurisdiction.

(e) The Company shall not cause or permit Developer to stop the design or construction of the Building during the pendency of any
dispute, except for any aspects of the work at issue in the dispute if any work performed might have to be changed depending on the resolution of the
Arbitration.

® Proceedings before or involving dispute resolution under this Section 3.10 in and of themselves shall not constitute events of Force
Majeure.

(g) No dispute or matter arising under this Agreement shall be subject to resolution under this Section 3.10 unless this Agreement
provides for such dispute or matter to be resolved by Arbitration under this Section 3.10.

(h) The decision of the Arbiters with respect to the allocation of fees incurred in any Arbitration shall be final and binding on all
parties to the Arbitration.

@) The provisions of this Section 3.10 shall survive the Closing and the withdrawal of the Coach Member from the Company.

3.11. Municipal Incentives.

(a) The Members acknowledge that Legacy Tenant has entered into the IDA Documents, and that the Building is intended to be
designed and constructed in accordance with the terms thereof in order for Legacy Tenant to receive benefits under UTEP. The Members further acknowledge
and agree that Legacy Tenant is required to pay PILOT to the IDA or the HYIC pursuant the Agency Lease Agreement and during any period in which the
Agency Lease Agreement is not in effect, to the MTA pursuant to Section 4.11 of the Building C Lease, and that all such PILOT payments shall be a Project
Cost and allocated to the Members in accordance with the terms of the Cost Allocation Methodology. The Members further acknowledge and agree that, during
the term of the Construction Loan, PILOT payments will be funded to a reserve held by the Mortgage Loan Agent or Mezzanine Loan Agent for payment of
PILOT to the IDA or HYIC, or to the MTA, as applicable, in accordance with the terms of the IDA Documents, pursuant to the terms of the Loan Documents.
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(b) Relief from sales and use tax has been obtained from the City of New York with respect to the improvements to be constructed on
the Land as evidenced by the PILOST Agreement executed by Legacy Tenant the date hereof pursuant to Section 4.11 of the Building C Lease, and that certain
Letter executed by the MTA on July 24, 2012. The Members acknowledge and agree that Legacy Tenant is required to pay PILOST to the MTA pursuant to
the PILOST Agreement, and that all such PILOST payments shall be a Project Cost and allocated to the Members in accordance with the terms of the Cost
Allocation Methodology. The Members further acknowledge and agree that, during the term of the Construction Loan, PILOST payments will be funded to a
reserve held by the Mortgage Loan Agent or Mezzanine Loan Agent for payment of PILOST to the MTA in accordance with the terms of the PILOST
Agreement, pursuant to the terms of the Loan Documents.

ARTICLE 4
CAPITALIZATION OF THE COMPANY

4.1.
as such Member’s “Initial Capital Contribution” (such Capital Contribution made by each Member being referred to in this Agreement as such Member’s
“Initial Capital Contribution”).

4.2. Additional Capital Contributions. The Members shall make Additional Capital Contributions as follows:

(a) On and after the date hereof, as and when required pursuant and subject to the terms of the Development Agreement or this
Agreement (including, without limitation, the Coach Costs Cap and any amounts that are the responsibility of Developer under the Development Agreement),
the Coach Member shall fund equity, or shall cause the Coach Lender to fund the proceeds of the Coach Unit Loan, for the payment of the Coach Total
Development Costs and any other amounts required to be paid by the Coach Member pursuant to this Agreement or the Development Agreement (taking into
account any and all amounts previously funded by the Coach Member or Coach Lender, including a portion of the Coach Member’s Initial Capital
Contribution as set forth in Section 4.1). Without limiting the foregoing, the obligations of the Coach Member described in this Section 4.2(a) shall not be
conditioned upon or contingent upon the funding of any portion of the Coach Unit Loan. The obligations of the Coach Member under this Section 4.2(a) are
guaranteed by the Coach Guarantor subject to and in accordance with the Coach Guaranty.
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(b) From and after the date hereof, as and when required pursuant and subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Fund Member shall
fund with equity or the proceeds of the Third Party Loan: (i) all Project Costs of any type or nature which are not otherwise properly included in the Coach
Total Development Costs (or which would otherwise properly be included in Coach Total Development Costs but which would cause the Coach Total
Development Costs to exceed the Coach Costs Cap) or other amounts which are not otherwise payable by the Coach Member hereunder or under the
Development Agreement or which are the responsibility of the Fund Member under this Agreement; (ii) any additional equity that may be required to be funded
by the Company or the Fund Member under the Loan Documents (including in respect of cost overruns and any Completion Deposits required to keep the
Construction Loan in balance except and to the extent such cost overruns or Completion Deposits are required to be paid in whole or in part by the Coach
Member pursuant to the terms of the Development Agreement); and (iii) except to the extent included in Coach Fixed Land Cost and Coach’s Member’s
Allocable Share of transfer taxes required to be paid by the Coach Member pursuant to this Agreement, (A) all costs associated with acquiring fee title to the
Coach Unit from the MTA in order to effectuate the Closing, including, without limitation, any deposits payable to the MTA and, if applicable, any
contributions required to be made to the LIRR Work Fund, (B) all rental and other amounts that may be payable under the Building C Lease (including, if
applicable, any rental in respect of Estimated ERY Roof Costs or the LIRR Work Cost Allocable Share or the Guaranteed Default Payments) , and (C) all costs
of constructing the Podium. The obligations of the Fund Member under this Section 4.2(b) are guaranteed by the Related/Oxford Guarantor subject to and in
accordance with the Related/Oxford Guaranty, and neither the Coach Contingency nor any portion of the Coach Unit Loan may be used to pay any such
amounts and costs. Without limiting the foregoing, payment of all of the foregoing costs and amounts (whether by the Fund Member or the Related/Oxford
Guarantor) shall not be conditioned upon or contingent upon the funding of any portion of the Third Party Loan.

(c) To the extent not funded on behalf of the Coach Member from the proceeds of the Coach Unit Loan or the Fund Member from the
proceeds of the Third Party Loan pursuant to a Draw Request submitted to the Mortgage Loan Agent and Mortgage Lender in accordance with the Mortgage
Loan Documents or to the Mezzanine Loan Agent and Mezzanine Lender in accordance with the Mezzanine Loan Documents, the Fund Member may call for
additional capital to be contributed to the Company by a Member or the Members for the payment of amounts required to be funded and paid by such Member
pursuant to this Section 4.2 by delivering or causing Developer or the Replacement Developer, as applicable, to deliver to such Member or the Members a Draw
Request setting forth the amount allocated to each Member; provided, however, that the Coach Member shall pay or cause to be paid directly to Developer the
amount of the Development Fee then due and payable by the Coach Member to Developer, if any, as provided in the Development Agreement. In the event that
each or any Member is required to contribute capital to the Company for the payment of any amount required to be funded and paid by such Member
pursuant to this Section 4.2 and with respect to which Developer or the Replacement Developer, as applicable, is not required to prepare or submit a Draw
Request pursuant to the terms of the Development Agreement or the replacement development agreement entered into with the Replacement Developer, as
applicable, then either Member may call for such capital to be contributed by the Members or such Member to the Company by delivering to each Member a
written request for such contribution, setting forth the amount to be contributed by each Member or such Member (a “ Capital Call Notice”). Each Member
shall contribute to the Company within ten (10) days of its receipt of a Draw Request or a Capital Call Notice the amount set forth in such Draw Request or
Capital Call Notice to be contributed by such Member. Each contribution made by a Member pursuant to this Section 4.2 is referred to herein as an
“Additional Capital Contribution” and all of the contributions made by a Member pursuant this Section 4.2 are sometimes collectively referred to as the
“Additional Capital Contributions” of such Member.
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(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Members acknowledge and agree that the Construction
Loan will be funded by the Third Party Lender and the Coach Lender in accordance with their fixed pro rata percentages pursuant to the terms of the Loan
Documents, and further acknowledge and agree that if as a result of the funding of Project Costs through the Construction Loan in the manner described
above, the Coach Unit Loan has funded as of last day of the Construction Loan Funding Phase either more or less Coach Total Development Costs than
would have been funded had the relative funding of advances of the Coach Unit Loan and the Third Party Loan been made in accordance with the provisions
of Section 10.01(h)(i) of the Development Agreement, then concurrently with the funding by the Coach Member and the Fund Member of the first monthly
Draw Request to be funded with Additional Capital Contributions, the following shall apply: (i) in the case of an overfunding of the Coach Unit Loan, the
Fund Member to pay to the Coach Member the amount of such overfunding, or (ii) in the case of an underfunding of the Coach Unit Loan, the Coach Member
shall pay to the Fund Member the amount of such underfunding, in either case in accordance with the provisions of Section 10.01(h)(ii) of the Development
Agreement.

(e) In the event that the Development Agreement and Development Management Agreement are terminated and Developer is replaced by
a Replacement Developer pursuant to Section 7.6 hereof, (i) the Coach Member shall or shall cause the Replacement Developer to prepare and submit to the
Fund Member each Draw Request (including a copy of all supporting documentation to be submitted with such Draw Request to the Construction Lender),
prior to the submission of such Draw Request to the Construction Lender, and (ii) the Fund Member shall have the right to review and dispute all or any
portion of each Draw Request in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.02(b) of the Development Agreement, which for the purposes of this Section 4.2
are hereby incorporated herein as if fully set forth herein and all references therein to Developer, the Coach Member and Coach Total Development Costs shall
instead refer to the Replacement Developer, the Fund Member and all Project Costs allocated to the Fund Member in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement and the Development Agreement, respectively; it being acknowledged and agreed, however, that in no event shall any dispute with respect to any
Draw Request prevent or delay the submission of such Draw Request to the Construction Lender or the Members, as applicable, for funding, or reduce the
amount of any Draw Request so submitted.

4.3. Failed Capital Contributions and Remedies .

(a) If any Member (the “Non-Contributing Member”) fails to timely make any Additional Capital Contribution (or any portion
thereof) required pursuant to Section 4.2 (such amount is hereinafter referred to as the “Failed Contribution”) and the other Member has funded all Additional
Capital Contributions which it is required to fund as of such date, if any, then such Member, its Indirect Owners or their Affiliates (the “ Contributing
Member”) may, at its election, fund all of the Failed Contribution as a Member Loan in accordance with Section 4.3(b).

(b) Any Failed Contribution made by the Contributing Member shall be a loan to the Non-Contributing Member (a “ Member Loan”),
which Member Loan shall be repaid from Cash Flow From the Building and/or Cash Flow From a Unit, as the case may be, otherwise distributable to the
applicable Non-Contributing Member and shall bear interest at a per annum fixed rate equal to the Member Loan Interest Rate. Any Cash Flow From the
Building and/or Cash Flow From a Unit, as applicable, or proceeds of liquidation used to repay any Member Loan as provided above shall be applied first to
interest and then to the principal amount of such Member Loan. If any Member has made a Member Loan which has not been repaid prior to Closing, such
Member Loan shall be paid in full by the Non-Contributing Member to the Contributing Member at Closing.
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(c) Without limiting any of the other rights and remedies of any Member pursuant to this Agreement, but subject to the provisions of
this Section 4.3(c), the Fund Member hereby grants and pledges to the Coach Member, as secured party, a security interest in the Fund Member’s Membership
Interest to secure its obligation to repay any Member Loans made by the Coach Member to the Fund Member in accordance with the provisions of this Section
4.3, and shall prepare and execute any documents, instruments and agreements, and such financing, continuation statements, and other instruments and
documents as may be necessary to perfect, continue and enforce such security interest in favor of the Coach Member. The Coach Member acknowledges and
agrees that: (i) it shall have no right to enforce or foreclose upon any such security interest unless and until (A) the Fund Member shall have failed to make any
Additional Capital Contribution or Additional Capital Contributions required under Section 4.2(b) that individually or in the aggregate outstanding exceed
$20,000,000, (B) the Coach Member shall have made a Member Loan or Member Loans to the Fund Member on account of such Failed Contribution(s), (C) if
timely disputed by the Fund Member, the amount of each such Failed Contribution has been finally determined by the Arbiters pursuant to Section 3.10, and
(D) the Fund Member or the Related/Oxford Guarantor fails to fully repay such Member Loan(s), including all accrued interest thereon, to the Coach Member
within thirty (30) days after the later to occur of the date that (x) any such Member Loan or the Member Loan causing the aggregate principal amount of all
such Members Loans outstanding to exceed $20,000,000 is made by the Coach Member, and (y) the determination referred to in clause (C) above has been
made with respect to the Failed Contribution or Failed Contributions with respect to which such Member Loan or Members Loans were made by the Coach
Member; and (ii) the enforcement of any security interest in the Fund Member’s Membership Interest shall be subject to and comply in all respects with the
applicable the Project Documents (unless such compliance is waived by the MTA or applicable party or parties thereto) and the Loan Documents (unless such
compliance is waived by or on behalf of the Third Party Lender).

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, in the event that the Coach Member shall fail to make any
Additional Capital Contribution required under Section 4.2(b), one or more members of the Podium Fund JV shall have the right, but not the obligation, to
make Member Loan(s) directly to the Coach Member on account of such Failed Contribution(s) in accordance with the terms of this Section 4.3, any such
Member Loan shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as if the same had been a Member Loan made directly by the Fund Member to the Coach
Member.

4.4, Capital Accounts.

(a) The Company shall maintain for each Member a separate capital account in accordance with the rules applicable to partnerships
in Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv) (a “Capital Account”).

(b) In the event any Membership Interest is transferred in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the transferee shall succeed to
the Capital Account of the transferor to the extent it relates to the transferred Membership Interest.
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() Capital Accounts may be revalued as permitted in accordance with the provisions of Treasury Regulations Section 1.704-

1®)(2)v)(D.

4.5. Capital Withdrawal Rights, Interest and Priority. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, no Member shall be entitled to withdraw
or reduce such Member’s Capital Account. A Member who withdraws or purports to withdraw as a Member of the Company without the consent of the other
Member or as otherwise allowed by this Agreement (including, without limitation, as allowed pursuant to Section 3.8 hereof with respect to the Coach Member)
shall be liable to the Company for any damages suffered by the Company on account of the breach and shall not be entitled to receive any payment of its
Membership Interest or a return of its Capital Contribution until the time otherwise provided herein for distributions to Members.

4.6. Pledge of Interests; Fund Member Guaranties . The Members acknowledge and agree that (a) the Company shall cause Legacy Mezzanine to
pledge and grant a security interest in 100% of its membership interest in Legacy Tenant to the Mezzanine Loan Agent for the benefit of the Mezzanine Lender
as security for the Mezzanine Loan, (b) the Fund Member shall cause each Fund Member Guarantor to execute and deliver its Fund Member Guaranty for the
benefit of the Third Party Lender with respect to the equity capital commitment made by each member of the Podium Fund JV (each a “ Fund Member Equity
Commitment” and collectively, the “Fund Member Equity Commitments”) for the Additional Capital Contributions to be made by the Fund Member to the
Company as and when required pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and (c) the Coach Member shall cause Coach Guarantor to execute and deliver the
Coach Funding Guaranty for the benefit of the Third Party Lender for the Additional Capital Contributions to be made by the Coach Member to the Company
as and when required pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5
PROFITS AND LOSSES
5.1. Allocation of Profits and Losses.
(a) Profits, Losses and items thereof shall be allocated, consistent with Section 1.8, as follows:
(1) 100% to the Coach Member if such item is attributable to the Company’s ownership and/or development of the Coach
Unit (and the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto), and
(ii) 100% to the Fund Member if such item is attributable to the Company’s ownership and/or development of the Fund

Member Units (and the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto).
For purposes of making the allocations provided in this Section 5.1(a), the Members, collectively, shall determine, in a manner which reasonably

reflects the intention of the parties and this Agreement, the portion of each particular item of income, gain, loss or deduction properly attributable to the Fund
Member Units (and the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto) or the Coach Unit (and the Leasehold Estate with respect thereto).
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(b) Liabilities shall be allocated as follows:
(6)] The Coach Unit Loan and all deductions attributable thereto shall be allocated to the Coach Unit Member.
(ii) The Third Party Loan and all deductions attributable thereto shall be allocated to the Fund Member.
(iii) Any remaining liabilities shall be allocated in proportion to each Member’s Percentage Interest.

(c) Nonrecourse Deductions, if any, for any Fiscal Year and any “excess nonrecourse liabilities” of the Company within the meaning
of Treasury Regulations Section 1.752-3(a)(3) shall be specially allocated among the Members in a manner consistent with the allocation of liabilities provided
in Section 5.1(b). Any Member Nonrecourse Deductions for any Fiscal Year shall be specially allocated to the Member who bears the economic risk of loss
with respect to the Member Nonrecourse Debt to which such Member Nonrecourse Deductions are attributable in accordance with Regulations Section 1.704-

23i)(1).

(d) The parties hereto agree that, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, including, without limitation, in the definition of
Gross Asset Value, (i) the Gross Asset Values of the assets of the Company (or Gross Asset Value of any subset thereof) shall not be revalued by the
Company, and (ii) no Profits, Losses or any items thereof shall be realized by the Company, in each case by reason of or in connection with the transfer or
distribution (or deemed transfer or deemed distribution) of any Unit (including any Leasehold Estate with respect thereto) to any Member (including, for the

avoidance of doubt, the transfer or distribution (or deemed transfer or deemed distribution) of the Coach Unit (and any Leasehold Estate with respect thereto)
to the Coach Member or the Coach Designee).

(e) Tax Allocations.

(1) For federal, state and local income tax purposes, each item of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit of the Company
shall be allocated among the Members as nearly as possible in the same manner as the corresponding item of income, gain, loss or expense is allocated
pursuant to Section 5.1(a), Section 5.1(b), Section 5.1(c) and Section 5.1(d).

(ii) In accordance with Code Section 704(c) and the Regulations thereunder, income, gain, loss, and deduction with respect to
any property contributed to the capital of the Company shall, solely for tax purposes, be allocated among the Members so as to take account of any variation
between the adjusted basis of such property to the Company for federal income tax purposes and its initial Gross Asset Value.

(iii) In the event the Gross Asset Value of any Company asset is adjusted pursuant to the definition of such term, subsequent
allocations of income, gain, loss, and deduction with respect to such asset shall take account of any variation between the adjusted basis of such asset for
federal income tax purposes and its Gross Asset Value in the same manner as under Code Section 704(c) and the Regulations thereunder.
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(iv) Any elections or other decisions relating to such allocations shall be made by the Members in any manner that
reasonably reflects the purpose and intention of this Agreement. Allocations pursuant to this Section 5.1(e) are solely for purposes of federal, state, and local
taxes and shall not affect, or in any way be taken into account in computing, any Member’s Capital Account or share of Profits, Losses, other items, or
distributions pursuant to any provisions of this Agreement.

63} The provisions set forth in this Article 5 governing Company allocations are intended to comply with the requirements of Code
Sections 704(b) and 704(c) and the Regulations that have been or may be promulgated thereunder, consistent with Section 1.8, and shall be interpreted and
applied in a manner consistent therewith. If, in the reasonable opinion of the Members, the allocations of income, gain, loss and/or expense provided for herein
do not comply with the preceding sentence, then, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, such allocations shall be modified in
such manner as the Members, collectively, reasonably determine is necessary to satisfy the relevant provisions of the Code and/or Treasury Regulations so as
to carry out the intention expressed in Section 1.8 that each Member shall be treated as the beneficial owner of its respective Unit or Units (and the Leasehold
Estate with respect thereto).

ARTICLE 6
DISTRIBUTION OF CASH; INSURANCE PROCEEDS
AND CONDEMNATION AWARDS

6.1. Distribution of Cash.

(a) Subject to Section 4.3, each Member shall be entitled to receive and keep one hundred percent (100%) of the Cash Flow From a
Unit attributable to the Unit that such Member has a beneficial ownership interest in (or the portion of the Project to become such Unit, including, for the
avoidance of doubt, the Leasehold Estate with respect to such Unit). In the event the Company realizes any Cash Flow From a Unit, it shall remit such Cash
Flow From a Unit to the Member having a beneficial ownership interest in or ownership of such Unit promptly upon receipt of same (in each case subject to
the provisions of Section 4.3). In the event the Company realizes any Cash Flow From the Building ( e.g., advertising on the sidewalk bridge or similar
elements during construction), it shall (i) first allocate such revenues among the Units in accordance with the Percentage Interest of the Members in the
Company, and (ii) then apply the portion of such revenues so allocated among the Units in accordance with each Member’s applicable Allocable Share to the
respective Project Costs of each Member ( i.e., with respect to the Coach Member, such revenues shall be applied towards Coach Total Development Costs
subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Development Agreement, and with respect to the Fund Member, such revenues shall be applied towards
other Project Costs).
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(b) In the event that, to the extent permitted under the Loan Documents and the Project Documents, both Members unanimously
approve a sale by Legacy Tenant of the Coach Unit or subject to the provisions of Section 7.2(b)(xvii) and Section 7.8, the Fund Member, in its sole
discretion, determines to sell any Fund Member Unit, then (i) all net cash proceeds realized in connection with the sale of any of the Fund Member Units, after
payment of all closing costs, transfer taxes, and broker’s and finder’s fees incurred in connection with the sale of such Fund Member Unit, any applicable
release price with respect to such Fund Member Unit under the Third Party Loan, and any amounts then due hereunder or under the Development Agreement
to the Coach Member (including any Member Loans), shall be paid to the Fund Member, and (ii) all net cash proceeds realized in connection with the sale of
the Coach Unit, after payment of all closing costs, transfer taxes, and broker’s and finder’s fees incurred in connection with the sale of the Coach Unit, any
amounts then due hereunder to the Fund Member (including any Member Loans), plus any unpaid Coach Total Development Costs and other amounts then
due and payable under the Development Agreement, and the Coach Unit Loan shall be paid to the Coach Member.

(c) In the event that, to the extent permitted under the Loan Documents and the Project Documents, both Members unanimously
approve the sale by Legacy Tenant of the entire Building or the Property (or an assignment of the Building C Lease), all net sales proceeds realized in
connection with such sale, after payment of all closing costs, transfer taxes, and broker’s and finder’s fees incurred in connection therewith and payment in
full of the Construction Loan, shall, subject to the provisions of Section 4.3, be applied and distributed, to the Members pari passu, in accordance with their
respective Percentage Interest; it being acknowledged that the distribution of payments on and of a Member Loan shall be deemed to have been paid to the
borrower thereunder and not to the Member receiving such payments.

(d) To the extent that all of the Units will be conveyed on the Closing Date or thereafter such that all of Legacy Tenant’s assets shall
have been distributed or conveyed, as the case may be, the Fund Member shall or shall cause Legacy Tenant and the Company to continue, even after all the
Units have been distributed to the Members or other Persons, to (i) perform all remaining obligations of the Fund Member and the Company hereunder or the
remaining obligations of Legacy Tenant with respect to the development and construction of the Project, and (ii) requisition remaining monies under the Third
Party Loan and from the Coach Member to the extent payable by the Coach Member pursuant to the express provisions of this Agreement, including, without
limitation, pursuant to Section 3.8(h) hereof, or the Development Agreement (subject, in the case of Coach Total Development Costs, to the Coach Costs Cap).
The provisions of this Section 6.1(d) shall survive the Closing and the withdrawal of the Coach Member from the Company.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if (i) the Building, Property or the interest of Legacy Yards under the
Building C Lease shall be sold or assigned in connection with a foreclosure or other enforcement action by the Mortgage Loan agent or any Mortgage Lender
following the occurrence of an event of default under the Mortgage Loan Documents or (ii) the interests of the Company in Legacy Tenant shall be sold or
assigned in connection with a foreclosure or other enforcement action by the Mezzanine Loan Agent or any Mezzanine Lender following the occurrence of an
event of default under the Mezzanine Loan Documents (a “ Foreclosure Sale”), and in the case of clause (i) or clause (ii) such event of default is caused by any
act or omission by a Member or any of its Affiliates (the “Breaching Member”), then any excess proceeds after payment of all amounts due in respect of the
Mortgage Loan or the Mezzanine Loan, as applicable, that may be payable to Legacy Tenant, Legacy Mezzanine or the Company in connection with such
event of default and Foreclosure Sale shall be distributed (A) first, to the Member which is not the Breaching Member in the amount of its previously
unreturned Capital Contributions, together with interest thereon at the rate of fifteen percent (15%) per annum, compounded quarterly, (B) second, to the
Breaching Member in the amount of its previously unreturned Capital Contributions together with interest thereon at the rate of fifteen percent (15%) per
annum, compounded quarterly, and (C) to the Members in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests.
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63} The Members agree that the Fund Member Units may continue to be owned by Legacy Tenant after the Closing and the
withdrawal of the Coach Member from the Company. In such event, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be dissolved and the Fund Member
shall be the sole member of the Company and control all aspects of the Company and its Subsidiaries, including the performance by the Company and its
Subsidiaries of their respective obligations and the exercise by the Company and its Subsidiaries of their respective rights, and continue to perform the Fund
Member’s obligations and exercise its rights, under this Agreement, including, without limitation, under Section 6.1(d) above. The preceding sentence shall
not vitiate or reduce the Fund Member’s or the Company’s rights or obligations under Section 6.1(d) above.

6.2. Insurance Proceeds and Condemnation Awards.

(a) In the event of a casualty or condemnation of the Building (or any portion thereof) prior to the Closing, the Fund Member shall
cause Legacy Yards, or Developer on behalf of Legacy Yards, to repair and restore any damage to the Building to the extent that such damage affects any
portion of the Building that constitutes or originally constituted Developer Work) and is capable of being repaired and restored (or reconstructed), exclusive of
any Finish Work (other than Developer Finish Work). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if such casualty or condemnation constitutes a Major Event and/or if the
insurance proceeds or condemnation award received by the Company with respect to any casualty or condemnation are or is insufficient to fund in full the
costs of such repair and restoration, then the Members shall, subject to the terms of the Loan Documents and the Project Documents, either agree (in their
respective discretion) to sell the assets of the Company and, after paying all liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries, including, without limitation, the
Construction Loan, liquidate the Company in accordance with the provisions of Article 11 hereof or, in the absence of such agreement, to make Capital
Contributions or loans to fund the unfunded Project Costs of such repair and restoration, which, in the case of the Coach Member, shall be subject to the
terms and conditions of the Development Agreement (including, without limitation, the Coach Costs Cap).

(b) If, prior to the date on which the Condominium Declaration is filed, the Company collects property insurance proceeds or
condemnation awards and, after the completion of all required restoration, all of such monies have not been applied to the repair or restoration of the Building,
then after paying any expenses of collecting the insurance and any amounts due with respect to the Construction Loan, the Fund Member shall allocate the
remaining insurance proceeds or condemnation award among the Members (and disburse the proceeds or award to the Members) in proportion to the Member’s
Percentage Interests; provided that, subject to the terms of the Loan Documents, any such proceeds or award to the extent attributable to (i) the Coach Unit
shall be allocated to the Coach Member and the Coach Lender, and (ii) any Fund Member Unit shall be allocated to the Fund Member and the Third Party
Lender.
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(c) Following the date on which the Condominium Declaration is filed, each Member shall collect insurance proceeds or condemnation
awards as set forth in (and shall be governed by the insurance, casualty and condemnation provisions of) the Condominium Declaration.

6.3. Subject to Loan Documents and Project Documents . The provisions of this Article 6 are subject to the terms of the Loan Documents and
the Project Documents.

ARTICLE 7
MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL

7.1. Powers of the Fund Member. Subject to the specific limitations set forth in Section 1.10, Section 7.2, Section 7.3, Section 7.4, and Section
7.7 hereof, and as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Fund Member shall have discretion in the management and control of the business of the
Company and its Subsidiaries, and will make decisions affecting the day-to-day operation of the businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries. Subject to
the foregoing limitation, (a) the Fund Member will have full power and authority to execute and deliver in the name of and on behalf of the Company or any
Subsidiary the Loan Documents and such other documents or instruments as the Fund Member reasonably deems appropriate for the conduct of the
Company’s business in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the conduct of Legacy Yards’ business in accordance with the terms of Tenant LLC
Agreement, and the conduct of Legacy Mezzanine’s business in accordance with the terms of the Mezzanine LLC Agreement, and (b) no Person dealing with
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries will be required to inquire into the authority of the Fund Member to take any action or make any decision. The Fund
Member shall be required to devote to the conduct of the operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries such time and attention as shall be necessary to
accomplish the purposes, and to conduct properly the operations, of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

7.2. Restrictions on Powers.

(a) Subject to the provisions of Section 7.7 and Section 7.8, if any matter requires (i) the unanimous consent or approval of the
Members pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, then neither Member shall have any right, power or authority to take any action without the consent or
approval of the other Member, and (ii) the consent or approval of the Coach Member pursuant to this Agreement, then, notwithstanding any provision of
Section 7.1 to the contrary, the Fund Member shall have no right, power or authority to take any action without the consent or approval of the Coach Member.
The Member desiring the Company to take any action requiring unanimous consent or approval of the Members or the consent or approval of the other
Member shall submit a proposal in writing to the other Member.

(b) Subject to the provisions of Section 7.7 and Section 7.8, the taking of any of the following acts and the making of any of the
following decisions with respect to the Company or any Subsidiary (each, a “ Major Decision”) shall require the unanimous consent of the Members:
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1) amending, modifying or supplementing the Plans or any construction documents to the extent such amendment,
modification or supplement relates to Developer Work or Coach Approval Areas or would otherwise affect any Coach Total Development Costs (it being
understood that the Forty-Seventh Floor Curtain Wall Adjustment shall be a permitted modification to the Plans without the Coach Member’s consent) and
that, regardless of the Coach Member’s approval rights, the balance of the Building will be constructed in accordance with a first class standard and in
accordance with the Plans);

(ii) the selection and any replacement of the Project Architect, the Executive Construction Manager, the Construction
Manager, the Developer’s Consultant(s) and any other principal project design professionals retained by or on behalf of the Company with respect to the
design, development and construction of the Developer Work and/or any other Coach Approval Areas, except to the extent expressly permitted under the
Development Agreement without the consent of the Coach Member (the Fund Member and the Coach Member hereby agree that Kohn Pederson Fox Associates
PC will be the initial Project Architect and approve the Existing Consultants/Contractors (as defined in the Development Agreement)) as provided in Section
3.01 of the Development Agreement;

(iii) subject to the further terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Development Agreement and the Loan Documents,
amending, modifying or supplementing the Budget, the Cost Allocation Methodology or the Schedule, except to the extent expressly permitted under the
Development Agreement without the consent of the Coach Member;

(iv) except as expressly provided in the Development Agreement or this Agreement, any increase in, or change to, any capital
commitment of any Member;

) any dilution, decrease or reduction in any of any Member’s rights, entitlements and/or interests in and to the Company
(in each event, other than to a de minimis extent);

(vi) the Company acquiring any material assets, other than its direct or indirect interest in its Subsidiaries and the Property,
or creating or acquiring any Subsidiary other than the Subsidiaries existing on the date hereof;

(vii) amending, modifying or supplementing the Base Building Lighting, the Signage Plan or the Landscaping; it being
acknowledged and agreed that the Condominium Declaration shall govern and control all signage with respect to the Building from and after the recordation
thereof;

(viii) subject to Section 3.9(e), the identity of the tenants for the Retail Unit;

(ix) amending, modifying, supplementing or terminating the Loan Documents in any manner that affects the Coach Unit
Loan or the rights of the Coach Lender thereunder, except as expressly provided herein or therein in connection with the Closing and the release of the Coach
Unit or the severance of the Mortgage Loan and the Mezzanine Loan in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the applicable Loan Documents; or,
except as otherwise provided in Section 7.8, extending or renewing the term of the Construction Loan or any Loan Documents; or, to the extent that the
Company has any approval or consent rights under the Loan Documents with respect thereto, amending, modifying or supplementing, or granting any
approvals or consents with respect to, any Coach Matters of CL Concern;
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(x) the incurrence of any indebtedness by the Company or, subject to Section 7.4 and Article 9 hereof, the granting of any
Encumbrance on any asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including, without limitation, the Leasehold Estate, the Property and any fixtures or
personal property of the Company or any Subsidiary, and the terms of the documents evidencing and/or securing any such debt or Encumbrance, other than
the Construction Loan, the Loan Documents and any other debt permitted thereunder, the Project Documents, and the Condominium Documents (all of which
have been approved by the Members) and any Permitted Encumbrance; any modification, amendment, extension, renewal or other change or waiver of or to
(or of, to or under any of the documents evidencing and/or securing) any such debt or Encumbrance; any commitment letter or term sheet with respect to any
such debt or Encumbrance, and any amendment, extension or other change thereto, including, without limitation, the Loan Documents;

(xi) the making of any loan or other extension of credit by the Company, including, without limitation, any loan or extension
of credit to any Member or any Affiliate of any Member, or the provision by the Company of, or agreement by the Company to provide, any guarantee of the
indebtedness or obligations of any Person whatsoever;

(xii) the admission of any additional Member to the Company, or the sale, issuance or other Transfer of any Membership
Interest or additional Membership Interest in the Company other than as expressly permitted pursuant to the provisions of Article 9, or the admission of any
additional member into any Subsidiary, or the sale, issuance or other Transfer of any direct membership interest in any Subsidiary, other than the Transfer to
the Mezzanine Loan Agent or any Mezzanine Lender or its designee or in a Foreclosure Sale by the Mezzanine Loan Agent or Mezzanine Lender pursuant to the
Mezzanine Loan Documents;

(xiii) causing the Company to take any Bankruptcy Action with respect to the Company or any Subsidiary;

(xiv) if there shall be commenced against the Company or any Subsidiary any Bankruptcy Action or if any case, proceeding
or other action seeking issuance of a warrant of attachment, execution, distraint or similar process against all or any substantial part of its assets, any decision
of the Company (A) to take any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in any such Bankruptcy Action or
proceeding or (B) to take no action to controvert or to otherwise dismiss or discharge in a timely and appropriate manner any such Bankruptcy Action or
proceeding;

(xv) causing the Company to issue any guarantees of obligations of any other Person, including guarantees of any obligations
of any Affiliate of any Member, or any action whereby the Company becomes a surety, endorser or accommodation endorser for any Person;
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(xvi) causing the Company or any Subsidiary to engage in any business other than the purposes of the Company set forth in
Section 1.3 unrelated to the Property or Project;

(xvii)  selling or otherwise Transferring the Leasehold Estate or any portion of the Property (including any Unit) thereof or any
interest in or assets of any Subsidiary, other than (A) any Transfer pursuant to a Foreclosure Sale under the Mortgage Loan Documents or the Mezzanine Loan
Documents, it being agreed that the delivery of a deed or assignment in lieu of foreclosure shall, unless consented to by the Coach Lender, require the consent
of the Coach Member, (B) any Transfer as a result of the exercise by the MTA of its remedies under the Building C Lease or the exercise by the IDA of its
remedies under the IDA Documents, (C) the conveyance of the Coach Unit to the Coach Member or (D) the sale or other Transfer of any Fund Member Unit in
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement;

(xviii)  causing the Company or any Subsidiary to enter into, modify or amend any transaction or agreement with any Member
or any of their respective Affiliates (including, without limitation, Developer, Related, Oxford or any of their respective Affiliates), other than the Construction
Loan and the applicable Loan Documents, the Executive Construction Management Agreement, the Development Management Agreement, and the Development
Agreement;

(xix) the performance of any act by the Company in contravention of any applicable Law or the terms of this Agreement, the
Loan Documents, the Building C Lease or any other Project Documents or any other agreement to which the Company or a Subsidiary is a party;

(xx) amending, modifying or supplementing the terms of the Building C Lease or any other Project Documents, except as
expressly provided herein or therein in connection with the release of the Coach Unit, provided, that the approval of the Coach Member to any such
amendment, modification or supplement shall not be unreasonably withheld to the extent the same shall not affect the use and occupancy of the Coach Areas
for their permitted purposes or the rights and obligations of the Coach Member or the Coach Designee, as owner of the Coach Unit;

(xxi) (A) deciding to repair and restore the Building after any Major Event or any casualty in excess of $2,000,000.00 (unless
the terms of the Loan Documents or any of the Project Documents require restoration, in which case the same shall not be a Major Decision), and (B) the
adjustment and settlement of any insurance claims or condemnation proceedings in excess of $2,000,000.00;

(xxii)  except in accordance with the provision of Section 3.7 and Section 3.8 in connection with the Closing or as otherwise
provided in Section 7.8, causing the Condominium Documents to be filed or the Condominium to be formed; or, subject to the provisions of Section 3.7 and
except as otherwise provided in Section 7.7 and Section 7.8, amending, modifying or supplementing the terms of the Condominium Declaration or the
Condominium By-laws or Floor Plans; provided that the Coach Member shall approve any amendment, modification or supplement required as a result of
any changes to the Building made at the request of, or with the approval of, the Coach Member in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or the
Development Agreement;
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(xxiii)  approving the initial operating, capital and other initial budgets of the Condominium;
(xxiv) the dissolution of the Company;

(xxv) any decision by the Company or any Subsidiary to be part of or take part in any merger or consolidation or any decision
by the Company or any Subsidiary to sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or any substantial part of its assets (other than the conveyance of the
Coach Unit to the Coach Member or any Fund Member Unit or as a result of creation of the Condominium pursuant to the Condominium Documents in
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement);

(xxvi) any action or other matter for which (A) unanimous consent is expressly required pursuant to any provision of this
Agreement, or (B) subject to the provisions of Section 7.8, the consent of the Coach Member is expressly required pursuant to any provision of this
Agreement, or (C) subject to the provisions of the_Section 7.7(b), the consent of the Fund Member is expressly required pursuant to any provision of this
Agreement, or (D) subject to the provisions of Section 7.2(e), the consent of the Coach Member is expressly required pursuant to any provision of the
Development Agreement;

(xxvii) (A) the settlement of any legal action, lawsuit, litigation or dispute to which the Company or any Subsidiary is a party,
or the agreement to the confession of judgment against the Company or any Subsidiary, if the terms of such settlement or such judgment, as the case may be,
would involve the payment by the Company or such Subsidiary of an amount in excess of $1,000,000.00 (provided, that the settlement of legal actions,
lawsuits, litigation or disputes which are insured (subject to customary deductibles) under a valid policy of insurance and any settlement of any Material
Litigation at Closing in accordance with Section 3.8(i) shall not constitute a Major Decision), and (B) the commencement of any legal proceeding or litigation
by the Company or any Subsidiary that seeks recovery of $1,000,000.00 or more in any one instance that is or may be expected to have a material and adverse
impact on the business, operations or financial results of the Company or such Subsidiary;

(xxviii) the approval of, or consent to, any amendment, modification or supplement of the POA and the approval of the initial
Loading Dock Guidelines (as defined in Association Declaration), provided that the Coach Member shall not unreasonably withhold its consent thereto to the
extent any amendment, modification or supplement thereof shall not affect the use and occupancy of the Coach Areas for their intended purposes or the rights
and obligations of the Coach Member or the Coach Designee (as owner of the Coach Unit or otherwise), including, without limitation, any change in Common
Charges (as defined in the Condominium By-laws) or other costs or expense allocable to, or otherwise payable by, the owner of the Coach Unit pursuant to the
Condominium Documents or the POA;

(xxix) approving the operating, capital and other budgets of the ERY Facility Airspace Parcel Owners’ Association;
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(xxx)  amending, modifying or supplementing, or approving, or consenting to, any amendment, modification or supplement
of, the Project Labor Agreement;

(xxxi)  the retention of employees and agents of the Company or any Subsidiary and the defining of their duties and fixing of
their compensation; and

(xxxii)  except as expressly provided for herein, the indemnification by the Company of any Person, other than the Construction
Lender, the MTA Parties and the IDA pursuant to the Loan Documents or the Project Documents, as applicable.

() Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 7.2 or any other provision of this Agreement, so long as the
Construction Loan remains outstanding, the Members shall not, and shall not cause or permit the Company or any Subsidiary to, take any Bankruptcy
Action without the affirmative vote of both of the Members and, in the case of any Subsidiary, the affirmative vote of both of the independent managers
thereof.

(d) The Coach Member shall also have the right to propose action by the Company for consideration by the Fund Member (it being
agreed that the Fund Member will consider such proposals in good faith but will have no obligation to consent to any such proposed action except as otherwise
expressly provided in this Agreement or the Development Agreement).

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, but without limiting or expanding the rights or obligations
of Developer or the Coach Member under the Development Agreement, if the Coach Member has requested, consented to or approved (or is deemed to have
consented to or approved) pursuant to the Development Agreement the taking of any action (i) by Developer itself or on behalf of Legacy Yards, the Company
or the Coach Member or (ii) that constitutes a Major Decision, then the Coach Member shall be deemed to have consented to and approved the taking of such
action or such Major Decision pursuant to and for all purposes of this Agreement; it being acknowledged and agreed that the right of the Coach Member to
consent to approve any Major Decision or other matter subject to the approval of the Members hereunder shall not be, and is not intended to be, duplicative of
the Coach Member’s right to approve or consent to the same decision or matter pursuant to the Development Agreement or any right of the Coach Lender to
approve or consent the same decision or matter pursuant to the Loan Documents. In addition, without limiting or expanding the rights or obligations of
Developer or the Coach Member under the Development Agreement, the Fund Member and the Related/Oxford Guarantor shall have the right to cure any default
by Developer under the Development Agreement and to participate in any Arbitration pursuant thereto, and to exercise all rights and perform all obligations of
Developer under the Development Agreement, subject to and in accordance with the terms thereof.

® The Fund Member shall promptly and timely provide the Coach Member with copies of any written notice of default received
under the Loan Documents, the Building C Lease or any other Project Documents or any other agreement to which the Company or any Subsidiary is a party.
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7.3. Rights of Members. The Members hereby expressly agree that each Member shall have the sole and absolute authority to manage, operate,
sell, lease, fit-out and equip (and enter into contracts or agreements for the management, leasing, operation, fit-out and equipping of) such Member’s Unit(s),
subject to and in compliance with the applicable terms of this Agreement, the Development Agreement, the Loan Documents, the Project Documents and, upon
the formation of the Condominium, the Condominium Documents.

7.4. Easements. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement or the Development Agreement to the contrary, the Fund Member shall
have the authority, on behalf of the Company or Legacy Yards, to obtain and execute all easements and rights of way which are reasonably necessary or
required (as determined by the Fund Member in its reasonable discretion) for the use, operation, access to or construction of the Project (and all such easements
and rights of way shall be deemed Permitted Encumbrances); provided, however, any new easements and rights of way affecting the Coach Unit or the use or
occupancy thereof which are to be entered into or otherwise made effective after the date hereof shall be subject to the prior written consent of the Coach
Member.

7.5. Activities of Members. Any Member (as well as the members, partners, principals, shareholders, officers and directors of each Member
and each Indirect Owner) may engage in and have an interest in other business ventures of every nature and description, independently or with others,
including, but not limited to, the ownership, financing, leasing, operating, construction, rehabilitation, renovation, improvement, management and
development of real property whether or not such real property is directly or indirectly in competition with the Project. Neither the Company nor any other
Member shall have any rights by virtue of this Agreement in and to such independent ventures or the income or profits derived therefrom, regardless of the
location of such real property and whether or not such venture was presented to such Member or person as a direct or indirect result of its connection with the
Company or the Project.

7.6. Development Agreement; Development Management Agreement .

(a) The Members acknowledge and agree that Legacy Tenant has entered into the Development Management Agreement with
Developer, an Affiliate of Fund Member, that the Coach Member has entered into the Development Agreement with Developer, and that Developer is
contractually obligated to take certain actions and the Coach Member has certain approval and consent rights with respect to the Project pursuant to the
Development Agreement. Subject to the terms of Section 7.6(b), the Fund Member agrees that it shall not take, and shall not cause or permit the Company or
any Subsidiary to take, any action in violation of or which conflicts with the obligations of Developer under the terms of the Development Agreement.
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(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement or the Development Agreement, in the event that the Coach
Member shall deliver a Removal Notice in accordance with the terms of Section 7.7(a), then subject to the terms and conditions of the Loan Documents and the
Project Documents, the Coach Member shall have the right to terminate or cause Legacy Tenant to terminate each of the Development Agreement, the
Development Management Agreement and the Executive Construction Management Agreement, without the consent or approval of the Fund Member. Upon any
such termination of the Development Agreement, the Development Management Agreement and the Executive Construction Management Agreement, the Coach
Member shall, in consultation with (but without approval by) the Fund Member, and in compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents and the Project
Documents, select and retain an Approved Replacement Developer for the Project and cause Legacy Tenant to enter into a replacement development agreement
for the Project with such Approved Replacement Developer on such terms and conditions as the Coach Member shall, in consultation with the Fund Member,
determine in its sole but good faith discretion and in compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents and the Project Documents; provided that such
replacement development agreement shall provide for allocation of Project Costs to the Coach Member and the Fund Member in accordance with the Cost
Allocation Methodology and shall otherwise not be inconsistent with the rights and obligations of the Members under this Agreement.

() In the event of any termination of the Development Agreement, the Development Management Agreement, and the Executive
Construction Manager, and the replacement of Developer, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Loan Documents, the Fund Member shall
and shall cause Developer and the Executive Construction Manager to reasonably cooperate with the Coach Member and the Replacement Developer, and to
deliver to the Replacement Developer all Plans, books and records and other materials with respect to the development and construction of the Project in the
possession of Developer and the Executive Construction Manager for use solely in connection with the completion of the construction of the Project. Subject to
the terms of the Loan Documents and the rights of the Construction Lender thereunder, Developer and the Executive Construction Manager shall assign, and
the Replacement Developer shall assume, the Construction Management Agreement and, to the extent assignable, all trade contracts and other agreements with
respect to the Project to which Developer or Construction Manager is a party, effective as of the date of the termination of the Development Management
Agreement and the Executive Construction Agreement.
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7.7. Management Change Event; Limitation on Approval Rights .

(@ In the event that (i) Developer shall fail to achieve any of the third through the thirteenth Major Milestone Events set forth in
Section 6.02(a) of the Development Agreement within nine (9) months of the applicable Major Milestone Outside Date (as extended on a day-for-day basis by
reason of Force Majeure, Coach Change Delays extending beyond the Change Order Grace Period or Coach Work Delays) in accordance with the terms of the
Development Agreement, and in the event of any dispute with respect thereto, it shall have been determined by the Arbiters pursuant to Article 14 of the
Development Agreement or the final, non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction that Developer failed to achieve such milestone, (ii) the Fund
Member shall have been grossly negligent, engaged in willful misconduct or committed fraud in connection with the management of the Company and its
Subsidiaries or the construction of the Project, or misappropriated Project funds or insurance proceeds, and in the event of any dispute with respect thereto, it
shall have been determined by the Arbiters pursuant to Section 3.10 or the final, non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction that the Fund
Member was grossly negligent, engaged in such willful misconduct, committed such fraud or misappropriated such funds or proceeds, as the case may be, or
(iii) an Event of Default occurs and is continuing with respect to the Fund Member (but not any other Person) under Section 10.1(a) or Section 10.1(b), and in
the event of any dispute with respect to any such Event of Default under Section 10.1(b), it shall have been determined by the Arbiters pursuant to Section
3.10 or the final, non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction that such Event of Default occurred with respect to the Fund Member (any of the
events described in this clause (iii) or in clause (i) or clause (ii) above, a “Management Change Event”), then, in any such case and subject to compliance by
the Coach Member with the terms and conditions of the Loan Documents and the Project Documents, the Coach Member shall have the right, by written notice
given to the Fund Member (a “Removal Notice™) at any time following the occurrence of such Management Change Event but, in the case of a Management
Change Event described in clause (i) above, prior to the date on which such Major Milestone Event is achieved, to assume the right to make all decisions
affecting the day-to-day operation of the Company’s business and the discretion in the management and control of the business of the Company granted to the
Fund Member hereunder, including, but not limited to, the matters contained in Article 3, subject to and in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. From
and after the delivery by the Coach Member of a Removal Notice, the Coach Member (x) shall be deemed to have all discretion in the management and control
of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and the right to make all decisions affecting the day-to-day operation of the business of the Company
and its Subsidiaries, subject to and in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, (y) will have full power and authority to execute and deliver in the name of
and on behalf of the Company and its Subsidiaries such documents or instruments as the Coach Member deems appropriate for the conduct of the business
of the Company in accordance with this Agreement, the business of Legacy Tenant in accordance with the terms of the Tenant LLC Agreement and the
business of Legacy Mezzanine in accordance with the Mezzanine LLC Agreement, and (z) no Person dealing with the Company or any Subsidiary will be
required to inquire into the authority of the Coach Member to take any action or make any decision. The Coach Member acknowledges and agrees that it shall
have no authority in such capacity to take any action or make any decision in violation of the terms of this Agreement, the Tenant LLC Agreement, the
Mezzanine LLC Agreement, the Loan Documents or the Project Documents, and the Members acknowledge and agree that the assumption of management of
the Company by the Coach Member shall have no effect on the obligations and limitations of the Members to provide funding to the Company or the Project as
provided herein and the Development Agreement.

(b) From and after the delivery by the Coach Member of a Removal Notice in accordance with the terms of Section 7.7(a), the
approval of the Fund Member shall not be required with respect to any Major Decision pursuant to:

i) clauses (if), (xviii), (xxiii), (xxvi), (xxvii), (xxx), (xxxi) or (xxxii) of Section 7.2(b);
(ii) clause (i) of Section 7.2(b), provided that a change to the Plans or Construction Documents does not affect in any
material respect the overall design of the Building or the construction of the Building in accordance with a first class standard, is reasonably necessary in

order to achieve Final Completion in accordance with the terms of the Development Agreement, the Loan Documents or the Project Documents, and does not
adversely affect in any material respect the Fund Member Units in any discriminatory manner;
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(iii) clause (iii) of Section 7.2(b), except with respect to any modification of the Cost Allocation Methodology;

(iv) clause (ix) of Section 7.2(b), provided that any such amendment, modification, supplement or termination of any Loan
Document does not adversely affect in any material respect any economic terms of the Construction Loan and is reasonably necessary in order to achieve Final
Completion in accordance with the terms of the Development Agreement; provided, however, that the consent of the Fund Member shall be required in
connection with any amendment, modification or supplement or termination of, or any amendment, modification, supplement or termination of any Loan
Document that limits the rights or increase the obligation of the guarantor under, any of Construction Loan Guaranties.

) clause (x) of Section 7.2(b), provided that any indebtedness or Encumbrance affects the Project as a whole, is
reasonably necessary in order to achieve Final Completion in accordance with the terms of the Development Agreement, and does not affect the use and
occupancy of the Fund Member Units for their permitted purposes;

(vi) clauses (xx) and (xxviii) of Section 7.2(b), provided that any amendment, modification or supplement to the terms of the
Building C Lease or any Project Document does not adversely affect in any material respect any economic terms thereof, is reasonably necessary in order to
achieve Final Completion in accordance with the terms of the Development Agreement, and does not affect the use and occupancy of the Fund Member Units
for their permitted purposes or the rights and obligations of the Fund Member as the owner of the Fund Member Units.

For the avoidance of doubt, from and after the delivery of a Removal Notice in accordance with the terms of Section 7.7, the Fund Member shall retain the
right to approve any Major Decision pursuant to clauses (vi), (vii), (viii), (xi), (xii), (xiii), (xiv), (xv), (xvi), (xvii), (xix), (xx1), (xxiv), (xxv) and (xxix) of
Section 7.2(b); clause (iv), except for any increase or change in the capital commitment of the Fund Member due to changes or increases in Project Costs;
clause (v) of Section 7.2(b), except for any dilution, decrease or reduction in the Fund Member’s rights pursuant to this Section 7.7; and clause (xxii) of
Section 7.2(b), except and to the extent an amendment, modification or supplement to the Condominium Documents is reasonably necessary in order to form
the Condominium and record the applicable Condominium Documents in compliance with applicable Law (and does not affect the use and occupancy of the
Fund Member Units for their permitted purposes).

(c) Upon the delivery by the Coach Member of a Removal Notice in accordance with the terms of Section 7.7(a) or any foreclosure of
the security interest granted to the Coach Member pursuant to Section 4.3(c), the Coach Member shall cause the Coach Guarantor to execute and deliver to the
(i) Mortgage Loan Agent a Guaranty of Recourse Obligations and an Environmental Indemnity Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Mortgage Loan
Documents, which Guaranty of Recourse Obligations and Environmental Indemnity Agreement shall, upon such delivery, be included within the definition of
Mortgage Loan Guaranties, and (ii) the Mezzanine Loan Agent a Mezzanine Guaranty of Recourse Obligations and a Mezzanine Environmental Indemnity
Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Mezzanine Loan Documents, which Mezzanine Guaranty of Recourse Obligations and Mezzanine
Environmental Indemnity Agreement shall, upon such delivery, be included within the definition of Mezzanine Loan Guaranties. The Coach Member shall
deliver an opinion or opinions of counsel with respect to the enforceability of such Guaranties of Recourse Obligations and Environmental Indemnity
Agreements as the Mortgage Loan Agent or the Mezzanine Loan Agent shall require in accordance with the terms of the Mortgage Loan Documents or the
Mezzanine Loan Documents, as applicable.
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7.8. Rights of Fund Member .

(a) Without limiting any of the other rights and remedies of the Fund Member pursuant to this Agreement, but subject to the
provisions of this Section 7.8, if (i) the Coach Member shall have failed to make any Additional Capital Contribution or Additional Capital Contributions as
and when required pursuant to this Agreement that individually or in the aggregate exceed $20,000,000, (ii) the Fund Member shall have made a Member Loan
or Member Loans to the Coach Member on account of such Failed Contribution(s), (iii) the amount of each such Failed Contribution has been finally
determined by the Arbiters pursuant to Section 3.10 to be due and payable by the Coach Member, and (iv) the Coach Member or the Coach Guarantor fails to
fully repay such Member Loans(s), including all accrued interest thereon, to the Fund Member on or prior to the Closing Date, then the Fund Member shall
have the right at any time from and after the Substantial Completion Date to: (A) amend, modify or supplement the Condominium Documents to the extent
reasonably necessary in order to form the Condominium and record the applicable Condominium Documents in compliance with applicable Law (provided
that any such amendment, modification or supplement does not affect the use and occupancy of the Coach Unit for its permitted purposes), and to record the
Condominium Documents, without the consent or approval of the Coach Member, and (B) following the creation of the Condominium, to take any or all of
the following actions, without the consent or approval of the Coach Member: (1) acquire fee title to, lease, sell or otherwise transfer, including pursuant to any
Transfer, any or all of the Fund Member Units or any portion thereof; (2) subsever the Property into two or more subsevered parcels, including, without
limitation, a subsevered parcel with respect to all of the Fund Member Units or the Coach Unit, and enter into (x) a separate severed parcel lease with the MTA
with respect to each such subsevered parcel pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of the Building C Lease and (y) each of the IDA Documents with
respect to each such subsevered parcel in accordance with the terms of the PILOT Documents; (3) sever the lien of each of the mortgages securing the Mortgage
Loan and the Mortgage Loan Documents in accordance with the terms thereof to separately evidence and secure the Coach Mortgage Loan and the Third Party
Mortgage Loan, and the PILOT Mortgage and the IDA Documents in accordance with the terms of the IDA Documents; (4) obtain a release of any or all of the
Fund Member Units from the lien of each of the mortgages securing the Mortgage Loan and the Mortgage Loan Documents or any severed mortgage and loan
documents evidencing and securing the Third Party Mortgage Loan in accordance with the applicable terms thereof; (5) sever the Mezzanine Loan Documents
to separately evidence and secure the Third Party Mezzanine Loan and the Coach Mezzanine Loan in accordance with the applicable terms thereof; (6) extend
the term of the Mortgage Loan or the Third Party Mortgage Loan and/or the Mezzanine Loan or Third Party Mezzanine Loan in accordance with the terms of
the applicable Loan Documents; (7) repay or refinance Third Party Mortgage Loan secured by a severed mortgage lien on the Fund Member Units and the
Third Party Mezzanine Loan or the Mezzanine Loan; (8) mortgage, pledge or otherwise encumber the Fund Member Units, and the leasehold estate under any
subsevered parcel lease entered into with respect to the Fund Member Units or, if the Fund Member shall have caused the Company to enter into a subsevered
parcel lease with respect to the Coach Unit, the Building C Lease, provided that any subsevered parcel lease with respect to the Coach Unit shall not be subject
to any lien or encumbrance in connection therewith, other than pursuant to the any severed Mortgage Loan Documents evidencing and securing the Coach
Mortgage Loan, the IDA Documents and any Permitted Encumbrance; (9) Transfer all or any part of the Fund Member’s Membership Interest, and (10)
otherwise deal with the Fund Member Units and its interest therein and its Membership Interest in the Company as if the Closing had occurred. In no event
shall the Fund Member have any obligation, pursuant to this Section 7.8(a) or otherwise, to pay all or any portion of the Coach Unit Loan. In the event that the
Fund Member shall repay the Coach Mezzanine Loan pursuant to this Section 7.8(a), the Coach Member shall be obligated to pay to the Fund Member the full
amount of the Coach Mezzanine Loan.
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(b) If the Fund Member exercises any of its rights pursuant to Section 7.8(a), then (i) the Coach Member shall be responsible for the
payment of any and all transfer taxes, mortgage recording taxes, recording fees, and title premiums payable with respect to any new owners or mortgagee title
insurance policy required in connection therewith, and (ii) the Fund Member shall have the right to pay any expense that would otherwise be required to be
paid by the Coach Member at Closing, including, but not limited to, the cost to remove any Title Defect or to satisfy any Material Litigation, and the amount
of any expense actually incurred by Legacy Tenant, Legacy Mezzanine, the Fund Member or its designee that acquires title to the Fund Member Units,
pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) shall be paid or reimbursed to the Fund Member by the Coach Member. The obligations of the Coach Member pursuant to this
Section 7.8 are guaranteed by the Coach Guarantor subject to and in accordance with the Coach Guaranty, and shall survive the Closing and the withdrawal
of the Coach Member from the Company and the termination of this Agreement.

7.9. Affiliate/Project Architect Agreements . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, if (a) either (i) Developer or
any other Affiliate of the Fund Member breaches or fails to comply with any of its material obligations under the Development Management Agreement or any
agreement between the Company or Legacy Tenant and such Affiliate with respect to the Project (each an “ Affiliate Agreement”), and such breach or failure to
comply continues beyond the expiration of any applicable notice and cure period therein provided, (ii) Developer or any other Affiliate of the Fund Member
shall have engaged in willful misconduct, fraud or gross negligence with respect to the Project, or (iii) the Project Architect breaches or fails to comply with any
of its obligations under the Project Architect Agreement and (b) the Fund Member shall fail to cause the Company or Legacy Tenant, as applicable, to take
commercially reasonable steps to enforce against Developer, such Affiliate or the Project Architect, as applicable, the obligations of such party or any claim
which the Company or Legacy Tenant may have under such Affiliate Agreement or the Project Architect Agreement with respect to such breach or failure to
comply or bad act, then the Coach Member may notify the Fund Member of such failure and request that the Fund Member cause the Company to take action
to enforce any claim the Company or Legacy Tenant, as applicable, may have under such Affiliate Agreement or the Project Architect Agreement. If such
failure shall continue for five (5) Business Days after such notice (of if after such five-Business Day period the Fund Member shall not be continuing to
diligently pursue the enforcement of the applicable claim(s) the Company or Legacy Tenant may have under such Affiliate Agreement or the Project Architect
Agreement), or if the “owner” under such Affiliate Agreement shall otherwise become entitled to terminate such Affiliate Agreement, as the case may be,
pursuant to the terms thereof, then the Coach Member shall thereafter have the right (but not the obligation) to exercise, on behalf of the Company or Legacy
Tenant, as applicable, all rights of the Company or Legacy Tenant, as the case may be, as a party to any such Affiliate Agreement or the Project Architect
Agreement to enforce the rights of “owner” under any such agreement, including the right to terminate such Affiliate Agreement or the Project Architect
Agreement (if and to the extent such Affiliate Agreement or the Project Architect Agreement provides for such termination as a remedy under such
circumstances) and/or to institute litigation against Developer, Affiliate or the Project Architect, in each case upon and subject to the applicable provisions of
such Affiliate Agreement or the Project Architect Agreement (including, without limitation, any notice requirements and cure periods provided for therein to the
extent such cure periods shall not theretofore have expired).
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7.10. Subsidiaries. The Fund Member shall cause the Company to manage the business and affairs of each Subsidiary to the same extent and
subject to the same limitations as it is authorized and obligated to manage the business and affairs of the Company. For the avoidance of doubt, all
Subsidiaries shall be governed, managed and operated on the same basis as set forth herein with respect to the Company and, without limiting the foregoing,
any matter that is a Major Decision with respect to the Company shall be a Major Decision with respect to each Subsidiary and may not be taken by a
subsidiary of the Company without the unanimous consent of the Members as herein provided. For the avoidance of doubt, the fact that certain provisions of
this Agreement specifically refer to both the Company and any Subsidiary, while others refer only to the Company, shall not limit the application of this
Section 7.10.
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ARTICLE 8
LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION; INSURANCE

8.1. Limited Liability of Members.

(a) No Member or Indirect Owner, in such capacity, shall (i) be liable for the debts, liabilities, contracts or any other obligation of the
Company, except to the extent expressly provided in this Agreement or in the Act, (ii) be liable for the debts or liabilities of any other Member, (iii) be required
to contribute to the capital of, or loan, the Company any funds other than as expressly required in this Agreement, (iv) be liable, except as provided in this
Agreement or as required by the Act, for the return of all or any portion of the Capital Contributions of any Member, or (v) except as otherwise expressly
provided in this Agreement, have any priority over any other Member as to the return of its contributions to capital or as to compensation by way of income.
Except as expressly provided in the Act or this Agreement, all debts, obligations and liabilities of the Company, whether arising in contract, tort or otherwise,
shall be solely the debts, obligations and liabilities of the Company, and no Member or Indirect Owner shall be obligated personally for any such debt,
obligation or liability of the Company solely by reason of being a Member or Indirect Owner. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall effect or limit
in any manner the Coach Guaranty or the Related/Oxford Guaranty.

(b) Except as expressly required by the Act or this Agreement, a Member shall not have any liability in excess of the amount it has
committed to contribute or pay hereunder.

8.2. Liability of Members.

(a) A Member shall only be liable to make the payment of the Member’s Capital Contributions in accordance with the provisions of
this Agreement, which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include all amounts that (i) the Coach Member is required to pay or contribute pursuant and subject
to the terms of this Agreement and the Development Agreement (including, without limitation, the Coach Costs Cap) or (ii) the Fund Member is required to pay
or contribute pursuant and subject to the terms of this Agreement (and, in addition, the foregoing shall not be deemed to vitiate a Member’s obligation to make
other payments expressly provided for in this Agreement). No Member shall, by virtue of its interest as a Member or an owner of a Membership Interest, be
liable for any debts, obligations or liabilities of the Company.

(b) No distribution to any Member shall be deemed a return or withdrawal of a Capital Contribution unless so designated by the
Company, and no Member shall be obligated to pay any such amount to or for the account of the Company or any creditor of the Company except as
otherwise required by law.

() Except as otherwise required by law, no Member with a negative balance in such Member’s Capital Account shall have any

obligation to the Company or any other Member to restore said negative balance to zero.
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8.3. Right to Indemnification.

(a) Subject to the limitations and conditions provided in this Article 8 and in the Act, including, without limitation, Section 8.4, and
only to the extent not covered by insurance, each Person (an “ Indemnified Person”) who is made a party or is threatened to be made a party to or is involved in
any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, arbitrative or investigative (‘° Proceeding™), or any
appeal in a Proceeding or any inquiry or investigation that could lead to a Proceeding, by reason of the fact that he, she or it was or is a Member or an Indirect
Owner, or he, she or it was or is the legal representative of or a manager, director, officer, partner, member, co-venturer, proprietor, trustee, employee, agent or
Affiliate of a Member, or any guarantor of such Member’s obligations hereunder, shall be indemnified by the Company against judgments, penalties
(including excise and similar taxes and punitive damages), fines, settlements and reasonable costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and expenses)
actually incurred by such Indemnified Person in connection with the defense or settlement of such Proceeding if (i) such Indemnified Person acted in good faith
and in a manner he, she or it reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interest of the Company and (ii) the Indemnified Party’s conduct did not
constitute gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct or a breach of this Agreement. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment,
order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the Indemnified Person did not
act in good faith and in a manner which he, she or it reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company or, with respect to any
criminal action or proceeding, that the Indemnified Person had reasonable cause to believe that his, her or its conduct was unlawful.

(b) The aforesaid indemnity shall apply only to third party claims made against an Indemnified Person, and shall not apply to or
cover any claims or suits or proceedings made or asserted or instituted by any Member or any of its Affiliates against the other Member or any of its Affiliates
(including the Coach Lender, the Coach Guarantor, the Related/Oxford Guarantor or Developer), or any loss, liability, cost or expense suffered by such
Member or any of its Affiliates as a result of any such claim or suit or proceeding, under this Agreement, the Development Agreement, the Loan Documents,
the Coach Guaranty or the Related/Oxford Guaranty. In addition, the aforesaid indemnity shall not apply to or cover any claim or suit or proceeding made or
asserted or instituted against (or any loss, liability, cost or expense suffered by) the Fund Member, Developer, Related, Oxford Guarantor or any of their
respective Affiliates or their respective legal representatives, managers, directors, officers, partners, members, co-venturers, proprietors, trustees, employees or
agents, arising out of or under any of the guarantees or indemnifications or undertakings provided by any of them to the Construction Lender or the MTA
Parties, unless and to the extent such claim or suit or proceeding arises out of any act or, where there is an affirmative obligation of the Coach Member to act,
any omission, by the Coach Member or any of its Affiliates.

(c) The satisfaction of any indemnification under this Section 8.3 or under Section 3.11(c) shall be a Project Cost and each Member

shall be responsible for its proportionate share thereof based on their respective Percentage Interest (subject, in the case of the Coach Member, to the Coach
Costs Cap).
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8.4. Member Indemnity. Each Member (in such capacity, a “Member Indemnitor”) shall indemnify the Company, the other Member and any
Affiliate, legal representative, manager, director, officer, partner, member, co-venturer, proprietor, trustee, employee, or agent of such other Member, and the
Related/Oxford Guarantor, if the Coach Member is the Member Indemnitor, or the Coach Guarantor and the Coach Lender, if the Fund Member is the Member
Indemnitor (each a “Member Indemnified Person™), and shall hold each Member Indemnified Person harmless from and against any claims, judgments,
penalties, fines, settlements, damages, liabilities, and costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) actually incurred by such
Member Indemnified Person (i) by reason of, or in connection with, the construction by or on behalf of such Member Indemnitor of any Finish Work in the
Unit or Units owned (or beneficially owned) by the Member Indemnitor, (ii) arising out of or resulting from the fraud or willful misconduct of such Member
Indemnitor or any of its Affiliates or any of its constituent direct or indirect investors, or a breach by any such Person of this Agreement, the Development
Agreement or any of the Loan Documents or (iii) arising out of, or otherwise resulting from the breach by such Member Indemnitor or any of its Affiliates of
the Project Documents, in each case unless the Member Indemnified Person’s actions constitute gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct or a breach of
this Agreement. In addition, the Fund Member, as Member Indemnitor, shall indemnify the Coach Member and its other Member Indemnified Persons, and
shall hold the Coach Member and each such other Member Indemnified Person harmless, from and against any claims, judgments, penalties, fines,
settlements, damages, liabilities, and costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) arising out of or in connection with any claim for
commission or similar fee under the L’Oreal Brokerage Agreement. In no event shall any Member be liable for, and each Member, on behalf of itself and its
respective Affiliates, hereby waives any claim for, any special, punitive or consequential damages, including loss of profits or business opportunity arising
under or in connection with this Agreement. Without limiting the terms of the Coach Guaranty or the Related Oxford Guaranty, the satisfaction of any
indemnification provided for in this Section 8.4 shall be made from, and limited to, the Membership Interest of the Member Indemnitor.

8.5. Survival. The rights granted under Section 8.3 and Section 8.4 shall continue as to a Person who has ceased to serve in the capacity which
initially entitled such Person to indemnity hereunder and shall be deemed contract rights, and no amendment, modification or repeal of this Article 8 shall
have the effect of limiting or denying any such rights with respect to actions taken or Proceedings arising prior to any such amendment, modification or repeal.

8.6. Advance Payment. The right to indemnification conferred by Section 8.3, subject to the terms and conditions of such provision, shall
include the right to be paid or reimbursed by the Company for the reasonable expenses incurred in advance of the final disposition of the Proceeding and
without any determination as to the Person’s ultimate entitlement to indemnification; provided, however, that the payment of such expenses incurred in
advance of the final disposition of a Proceeding shall be made only upon delivery to the Company of (a) a written affirmation by such Person of his, her or its
good faith belief that he, she or it has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification under this Article 8, (b) a written undertaking, by or on
behalf of such Person, to repay all amounts so advanced if it shall ultimately be determined that such Person is not entitled to be indemnified under this Article
8 or otherwise, and (c) a pledge of such Person’s (or the applicable Member’s) Membership Interest in form reasonably acceptable to the other Member to
secure the repayment obligation described in the foregoing clause (b).
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8.7. Nonexclusivity of Rights. The right to indemnification and the advancement and payment of expenses conferred by this Article 8 shall not
be exclusive of any other right which a Person may have or hereafter acquire under any law (common or statutory), provision of the Articles, or otherwise.

8.8. Savings Clause. If Section 8.3 or Section 8.4 or any portion of either thereof shall be invalidated on any ground by any court of competent
jurisdiction, then the Company or the Member Indemnitor, as applicable, shall nevertheless indemnify and hold harmless each Indemnified Person or Member
Indemnified Person, as applicable, as to costs, charges and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and expenses), judgments, fines and amounts paid in
settlement with respect to any Proceeding to the full extent permitted by any applicable portion of this Article 8 that shall not have been invalidated.

8.9. Insurance. During the performance of Developer Work, the Company shall cause Legacy Tenant to carry such insurance in at least the
amounts and types required under the Loan Documents and the Project Documents. In addition, the Company shall obtain and maintain insurance, at the
Company’s expense, on behalf of the Members and such other Persons as the Members shall determine, against any liability that may be asserted against, or
any expense that may be incurred by, such Person in connection with the activities of the Company and/or the Members’ acts or omissions as the Members of
the Company regardless of whether the Company would have the power to indemnify such Person against such liability under the provisions of this
Agreement. The cost of all insurance obtained by the Legacy Tenant or the Company pursuant to this Section 8.9, or by Developer pursuant to the
Development Agreement, shall be a Project Cost as set forth in the Budget (subject, in the case of the Coach Member’s allocable share thereof, to the Coach
Costs Cap), and, during the term of the Construction Loan, premiums for all such insurance shall be funded to a reserve held by the Mortgage Loan Agent or
Mezzanine Loan Agent for the payment of insurance premiums pursuant to the terms of the Loan Documents.

ARTICLE 9
TRANSFERS OF INTERESTS
9.1. General Restrictions.
(a) Prior to the Closing and the conveyance of the Coach Unit to the Coach Member pursuant to this Agreement, no Member may,

directly or indirectly, transfer, sell, convey, assign, mortgage, pledge, hypothecate, or otherwise dispose of or encumber all or any part of such Member’s

Membership Interest (each of the foregoing a “ Transfer”), or cause, permit or suffer to occur any Transfer, except as expressly required or permitted under this
Agreement or with the prior written consent of the other Member. As used in this Section 9.1, a “Transfer” also includes with respect to a Member or any
Indirect Owner of such Member that is not a natural person, (i) a Transfer in respect of any ownership interest in such Member or Indirect Owner, and (ii)

except as expressly permitted under this Agreement, any change in Control of such Member. Any purported Transfer of a Membership Interest in violation of
the terms of this Agreement shall be null and void ab initio and of no effect. A Transfer permitted hereunder shall be effective as of the date specified in the
instruments relating thereto. Any Transfer made by any permitted transferee hereunder shall be subject to the provisions of this Article 9 to the same extent and
in the same manner as any Member desiring to make any Transfer.
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(b) A Transfer shall not include, for any purpose under this Agreement, any direct or indirect, issuance, transfer, sale, conveyance,
assignment, mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, or other disposition or encumbrance, however structured, in respect of any direct or indirect interest in, or any
change in Control of, any Person whose securities are listed on a nationally or internationally recognized exchange or quotation system (such Person, a “ Public
Person”), which shall include, without limitation, the merger, consolidation or combination of a Public Person with or into any other Person (regardless of
which party is the surviving Person and regardless of whether the surviving Person continues to be a Public Person), or the sale, assignment, conveyance or
other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of a Public Person to any Person (regardless of whether the assignee is or continues to be a Public
Person). A Transfer shall also not include (i) any lease of all or any portion of any Unit entered into in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, (ii) any
transfer of the Fund Member’s Membership Interest made pursuant to Section 4.3(c), (iii) any change in Control of the Company pursuant to Section 7.8 or in
the Fund Member upon or at any time following any change in Control of the Company pursuant to Section 7.8 or any change in Control of Coach Guarantor
at any time, or (iv) any Transfer made as a result of any foreclosure or other enforcement action taken by the Mezzanine Loan Agent, on behalf of the
Mezzanine Lender, or the Mezzanine Lender under the Mezzanine Loan Documents.

(c) Notwithstanding the prohibitions contained in Section 9.1(a) (but subject to, and without limiting, the provisions of Section
9.1(b)), the following Transfers shall be permitted:

(1) the Coach Member may, without the consent or approval of the Fund Member, (A) admit as debt and equity members or
partners, directly or indirectly, into the Coach Member, (B) Transfer all or any part of its Membership Interest to, and (C) may cause or permit the interest of
any Indirect Owner of the Coach Member to be Transferred to (1) the Coach Lender or its Affiliates, (2) the Coach Guarantor or one or more other Affiliates of
the Coach Member or the Coach Guarantor, (3) an entity created by merger, reorganization or recapitalization of or with the Coach Guarantor or any of its
Affiliates, (4) a purchaser of all or substantially all of the assets of the Coach Guarantor or any of its Affiliates or of a controlling interest in the Coach
Guarantor or any of its Affiliates, or (5) any of the direct or indirect constituent members of the Coach Member, provided that (x) following such Transfer, the
Coach Member shall continue to be Controlled directly or indirectly by the Coach Guarantor or the purchaser of all or substantially all of the assets of or a
controlling interest in, or any successor by merger, reorganization or recapitalization of or with, the Coach Guarantor, (y) such Transfer shall not impair,
vitiate or otherwise adversely affect the Coach Guaranty made by the Coach Guarantor (or any replacement guarantor(s) acceptable to the Fund Member), and
(z) the Coach Member shall be responsible for all costs and expenses in connection therewith (including, without limitation, any state or local transfer taxes

that may arise as a result of such Transfer); and
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(ii) the Fund Member may, without the consent or approval of the Coach Member, (A) admit as debt and equity members or
partners directly or indirectly into the Fund Member, (B) Transfer all or any part of its Membership Interest to (1) Related or any other Affiliate of the Fund
Member or the Related/Oxford Guarantor, or (2) among the direct or indirect constituent members of the Fund Member, and (C) cause or permit the interest of
any Indirect Owner of the Fund Member to be Transferred, provided that (w) following such Transfer, unless a Removal Notice has been delivered by the
Coach Member pursuant to Section 7.7 hereof, (i) the Fund Member shall continue to be Controlled by Related or Related and Oxford, it being acknowledged
and agreed that a change in Control of the Fund Member may occur upon or following the giving of a Removal Notice, and (ii) Related and Related Affiliates
shall continue to own (directly or indirectly) at least 75% of the economic interest in the Fund Member owned by Related as of the date hereof (of which 15%
may be owned by Related Affiliates), (x) such Transfer shall not impair, vitiate or otherwise affect the Related/Oxford Guaranty made by the Related/Oxford
Guarantor (or any replacement guarantor(s) approved by the Coach Member), (y) such Transfer shall be permitted (or all required consents thereto shall have
been obtained) under the Building C Lease and other Project Documents and from the Third Party Lender under the Loan Documents, and (z) the Fund
Member shall be responsible for all costs and expenses in connection therewith (including, without limitation, any state or local transfer taxes that may arise as
a result of such Transfer); and

(iii) any Transfer that constitutes a Permitted Estate/Family Transfer shall be permitted, without the consent or approval of
the other Member, provided that any such Transfer shall comply with the foregoing provisions of this Section 9.1(c).

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of Section 9.1(c), neither the Coach Member nor the Fund Member shall have the right,
at any time, to consummate or agree to consummate any Transfer which has the effect of either diluting the other Member’s equity interest in and to the
Company or which will otherwise result in a decrease in the other Member’s rights, entitlements and/or benefits contained herein with respect to the Company,
the Company’s business and/or the Company’s assets.

(e) For purposes of clarity, (i) any Indirect Owner of any interest in the Company shall have the right to pledge its indirect interest in
the Company as security for any default member loan, and Person having an ownership interest, whether direct or indirect, legal or beneficial, in Podium
Fund JV other than Podium Fund MM shall have the right to pledge its indirect interest in the Company as security for any debt or otherwise, and (ii) the
Fund Member shall have the right to enter into any lease or any agreement to sell or otherwise transfer fee simple title to all or any portion of any of the Fund
Member Units with any Person other than a Retail Premises Competitor or Additional Office Premises Competitor without the consent or approval of the Coach
Member, subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Project Documents and the Loan Documents, provided that, except as otherwise
provided in Section 7.8(a), the Tenant under any lease of the Additional Office Units shall not be permitted to occupy the premises demised under such lease,
and any sale or other transfer of fee title to any of the Fund Member Units shall not occur or close pursuant to any such agreement, as applicable, prior to
Substantial Completion and the consummation of the Closing and conveyance of the Coach Unit to the Coach Member in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement. Nothing in this Section 9.1(e) or any other provisions of this Agreement shall prohibit (A) Legacy Tenant, Developer or any Tenant under any
lease of all or any portion of any Additional Office Unit from performing any finish or other work in any Additional Office Unit prior to the Closing Date, or
(B) Legacy Tenant from leasing all or any portion of the Retail Unit or the Parking Unit or the tenant or operator under any such lease from occupying and
using all or any portion of the Retail Unit or the Parking Unit for the conduct of business prior to the Closing Date.
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9.2. Rights of Transferees. A transferee of a Membership Interest (or a part thereof) pursuant to a Transfer permitted by Section 9.1 shall be
admitted to the Company as a “Substitute Member” (to the extent of the Membership Interest so Transferred in the case of a Transfer of less than all of the
Membership Interest of the transferor Member) entitled to all the rights, and subject to all of the obligations and restrictions, of the transferor Member (to the
extent of the Membership Interest so Transferred) in accordance with the terms of Section 9.3.

9.3. Substitute Members.
(a) No transferee of all or part of a Member’s Membership Interest shall become a Substitute Member in place of the transferor unless
and until:
(6)) The transferor (if living) has stated such intention in the instrument of Transfer;
(ii) The transferee has executed an instrument, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company and the non-

Transferring Member, accepting and adopting the terms and provisions of the Articles and this Agreement; and

(iii) The transferee has caused to be paid all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses actually incurred by the Company in
connection with the admission of the transferee as a Substitute Member.

Upon satisfaction of all the foregoing conditions with respect to a particular permitted transferee, the Members shall cause this Agreement to be duly
amended to reflect the admission of the transferee as a Substitute Member.

(b) Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, no Transfer otherwise permitted by this Article 9 shall be
permitted if (i) such Transfer would (A) result in a violation of the terms of the Loan Documents, (B) such Transfer would result in the Company being
treated, for U.S. tax purposes, as a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation, or (C) violate any applicable Laws, or with respect to a Transfer
made by the Fund Member only, would violate the terms of the Building C Lease or any of the other Project Documents, or (ii) the proposed transferee is (A)
domiciled in a jurisdiction identified by the Financial Action Task Force for Money laundering as being a non-cooperative country or territory or by the United
States Secretary of the Treasury as warranting special measures because of money laundering concerns under Section 311 or 312 of the USA PATRIOT Act,
(B) subject to sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Asset Control of the United States Department of Treasury (“ OFAC”) or included in any
Executive Orders or on the list of “Specially Designated Nationals” and “Blocked Persons” maintained by OFAC, or (C) is a Senior Foreign Political Figure
under Section 312 of the USA PATRIOT Act (‘SFPF”), an immediate family member of a SFPF, or a person who maintains a close personal relationship with
any such individual or a corporation, business or other entity that has been formed by or for the benefit of such individual. A transferee of a Membership
Interest (or a part thereof) pursuant to a Transfer permitted by Section 9.1 shall represent and warrant to the non-transferring Member and the Company that
is complies with the foregoing clause (ii) of this Section 9.3(b), and that any monies used by such Person to fund its investments are not derived from or
related to any illegal activities, including, but not limited to, money laundering activities, or derived from, invested for the benefit of or related in any way to
the governments of, or persons within, any country under a United States embargo enforced by OFAC.
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9.4. Effect of Admission as a Substitute Member . Unless and until admitted as a Substitute Member pursuant to Section 9.3, a transferee of a
Member’s Membership Interest shall not be entitled to exercise any rights of a Member in the Company, including the right to vote, grant approvals or give
consents with respect to such Membership Interest, the right to require any information or accounting of the Company’s business or the right to inspect the
Company’s books and records, but such transferee shall be entitled to receive, to the extent of the Membership Interest transferred to such transferee, the
distribution to which the transferor would be entitled. A transferee who has become a Substitute Member has, to the extent of the Membership Interest
transferred to such Substitute Member, all the rights and powers of the Person for whom such Substitute Member is substituted and is subject to the
restrictions and liabilities of a Member under the Articles, this Agreement and the Act. Upon admission of a transferee as a Substitute Member, the transferor
of the Membership Interest so acquired by the Substitute Member shall cease to be a Member of the Company to the extent of such transferred Membership
Interest. A Person shall cease to be a Member upon Transfer of all of such Member’s Membership Interest whether or not the transferee becomes a Substitute
Member.

9.5. Additional Members. Upon approval of all of the Members, any Person may become an additional member (an “ Additional Member”) of
the Company and additional Membership Interests may be issued to such Person and existing Members for such consideration and on such terms and
conditions as all of the Members, collectively, may determine at the time of admission. No Additional Member shall be entitled to any retroactive allocation of
losses, income or expense deductions incurred by the Company.

9.6. Withdrawal. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement (including, without limitation, as permitted pursuant to Section 3.8
of this Agreement with respect to the Coach Member), a Member shall not have any right to withdraw from the Company as a Member prior to its dissolution
and winding up.

ARTICLE 10
EVENT OF DEFAULT

10.1. Event of Default. If any of the following events (each such event, an “ Event of Default™) occurs and is continuing with respect to a
Member, then such Member shall be deemed to be a “ Defaulting Member™ and the other Member shall be deemed to be a “ Non-Defaulting Member” (unless a
separate Event of Default has occurred and is continuing with respect to that Member):
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(a) the occurrence of any Bankruptcy Action with respect to such Member or, in the case of the Coach Member, the Coach
Guarantor, or, in the case of the Fund Member, Related or Oxford Guarantor; provided, however, that an involuntary Bankruptcy Action filed against any
such Person by a Person which is not affiliated such Person shall not be an Event of Default unless such involuntary Bankruptcy Action is not discharged
within ninety (90) days;

(b) a Transfer has occurred with respect to such Member in violation of Article 9;

(c) such Member has caused the Company to take any action without the prior consent of the other Member to the extent such consent
is required pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, including, without limitation, such Member causing any Bankruptcy Action to occur with respect to the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

10.2. Remedies and Damages.

(a) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Non-Defaulting Member shall have the right, and
without prejudice to any rights and remedies otherwise available to the Non-Defaulting Member under this Agreement or at law or in equity, to (i) seek equitable
relief by way of injunction, or (ii) to compel specific performance without the need to prove actual damages. The failure or delay by a Member in exercising
any right, power or privilege hereunder shall not operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise
hereunder. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default pursuant to Section 10.1(a) above, then in addition to all other rights the
Company or the Non-Defaulting Member may have as a result of such Event of Default, all rights of approval or consent granted to the Defaulting Member
under Section 7.2 or elsewhere in this Agreement shall be suspended and terminate from and after the date of such Event of Default; provided, however, such
Defaulting Member shall still retain any approval rights with respect to (i) any action which would cause the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to become an
entity other than a Delaware limited liability company; (ii) the merger, consolidation, dissolution, liquidation, reorganization or filing of a Bankruptcy Action
with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; (iii) amending this Agreement; (iv) entering into any agreement which would cause the Defaulting
Member or any of its Affiliates to become a guarantor or to otherwise become personally liable for any indebtedness of the Company; or (v) materially
changing the nature or scope of the Company’s business.

(b) The Defaulting Member shall be liable to the Company and the Non-Defaulting Member and its Member Indemnified Parties for
all actual costs, expenses, losses, liabilities and damages arising directly or indirectly from or in connection with any such Event of Default, including,
without limitation, attorneys’ fees and expenses, actually incurred by the Non-Defaulting Member or any of its Member Indemnified Persons or by the
Company, and shall indemnify the Company and the Non-Defaulting Member and its Member Indemnified Persons and hold each of them harmless from and
against any and all actual losses, costs, expenses, obligations or liabilities resulting or arising from such Event of Default. No costs or expenses incurred by
the Defaulting Member in connection with the foregoing indemnity shall be considered a contribution of capital hereunder or a loan to the Company nor
included in calculating such Member’s Capital Account or otherwise considered in determining any ownership interest or right to receive any distribution or
other payments from the Company or the other Members.
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() In no event shall any Member be liable for, and each Member, on behalf of itself and its respective Affiliates, hereby waives any
claim for, any special, punitive or consequential damages, including loss of profits or business opportunity arising under or in connection with this
Agreement or any default or Event of Default by a Member hereunder.

(d) The Coach Member hereby agrees to accept performance by the Related/Oxford Guarantor of any term, covenant, condition or
agreement to be performed by the Fund Member under this Agreement with the same force and effect as though performed by the Fund Member. The Fund
Member hereby agrees to accept performance by the Coach Guarantor of any term, covenant, condition or agreement to be performed by the Coach Member
under this Agreement with the same force and effect as though performed by the Coach Member.

ARTICLE 11
DISSOLUTION AND TERMINATION

11.1. Events Causing Dissolution.

(a) The Company shall be dissolved upon the first to occur of the following events:
(1) the date on which all of the Members enter into a written agreement to dissolve the Company;
(ii) the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution of the Company under Section 18-802 of the Act; and
(iii) at any time there are no members of the Company, unless the Company is continued without dissolution in accordance
with the Act.
(b) The commencement of a Bankruptcy Action by or against any Member shall not, in and of itself, result in the dissolution of the

Company or in the cessation of the Member being a member in the Company. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the resignation of a Member or the
dissolution of a Member shall not, by itself, constitute a dissolution of the Company.

11.2. Cash Distributions Upon Dissolution: Procedures .

(a) Upon the dissolution of the Company as a result of the occurrence of any of the events set forth in Section 11.1, the Members
shall proceed to liquidate the Company as quickly as possible consistent with obtaining the full fair market value of the Company’s property and during such
period of liquidation all of the provisions of this Agreement shall remain in effect. The Company shall notify all known creditors and claimants of the
dissolution of the Company in accordance with applicable law. The liquidation proceeds shall be applied and distributed, except as otherwise required by
Law, to the Members in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.1.
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(b) To the extent that property of the Company is not sold, the Coach Member will receive the Coach Unit and the Fund Member will
receive the Fund Member Units, subject to performance by each such Member of its respective obligations under this Agreement. Any property distributed in
kind upon liquidation of the Company shall be treated as though the property was sold and the cash proceeds distributed. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained in this Section 11.2, if and to the extent that any Member shall be or be deemed to be a Non-Contributing Member, liquidation proceeds
that shall otherwise be payable under this Section 11.2 shall be made to the Contributing Member(s) to the extent of unpaid principal and interest of such
Contributing Member’s Member Loan to such Non-Contributing Member.

11.3. Certificate of Cancellation. When all debts, liabilities and obligations of the Company have been paid and discharged or adequate
provisions have been made therefor and all of the remaining property and assets of the Company have been distributed, the Certificate of Cancellation as
required by the Act shall be executed and filed by the Fund Member with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. Upon the filing of the Certificate of
Cancellation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, the existence of the Company shall cease, except for the purpose of suits, other proceedings
and appropriate action as provided in the Act. Thereafter, the Fund Member shall have the authority to distribute any Company property discovered after
dissolution, to convey real estate and to take such other action as may be necessary on behalf of and in the name of the Company.

ARTICLE 12
ACCOUNTING, BANK ACCOUNTS, BOOKS, RECORDS AND REPORTS

12.1. Fiscal Year and Accounting Method. The Fiscal Year and taxable year of the Company shall be as defined in Section 2.1 hereof. The
Members, collectively, shall determine the accounting method to be used by the Company.

12.2. Books and Records.

(a) The books and records of the Company shall be maintained at the principal office of the Company. In addition, the Company
shall maintain the following:

(1) A current list of the full name and last known business address of each Member;

(ii) A copy of the filed Articles and all amendments thereto, together with executed copies of any powers of attorney pursuant
to which any document has been executed;

(iii) Copies of the Company’s federal, state and local income tax returns and reports and financial statements, if any, for the
three most recent years; and

@iv) Copies of this Agreement, the Development Agreement, the Condominium Documents, and any other agreement to which
the Company is a party, and any amendments thereto.
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(b) Each Member (or such Member’s designated representative) shall have the right during ordinary business hours and upon
reasonable notice to inspect and copy (at such Member’s own expense) all books and records of the Company.

12.3. Financial Reports. On or before the (a) sixtieth (60th) day following the end of each of the first three quarters of each Fiscal Year of the
Company, and (b) ninetieth (90th) day following the end of the last quarter of each Fiscal Year of the Company, the Fund Member shall cause to be prepared
and delivered to each Member an unaudited balance sheet and profit and loss statement for such fiscal quarter. Furthermore, on or before the one hundred
twentieth (120th) day following the end of each Fiscal Year of the Company, the Fund Member shall cause to be prepared and delivered to each Member all
information with respect to the Company necessary for the Members’ federal and state income tax returns, including a Form K-1 or its equivalent and a
financial report for the preceding Fiscal Year audited by the Company’s Accountants which shall include a balance sheet and a profit and loss statement. All
financial reports and statements described in this Section 12.3 shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis.

12.4. Tax Returns, Elections and Tax Matters Member. The Fund Member is hereby designated as the Company’s “Tax Matters Member”,
which shall have the same meaning as “tax matters partner” under the Code, and in such capacity is hereby authorized and empowered to act for and represent
the Company and each of the Members before the Internal Revenue Service in any audit or examination of any Company tax return and before any court,
provided, that the Fund Member shall have no authority to settle any disputed matter in a manner which could adversely affect the Coach Member without the
prior written consent of the Coach Member. The Tax Matters Member shall cause the Company to prepare and timely file all federal, state and local income tax
returns or other returns or statements required by applicable law. At least thirty (30) days before any such return is to be filed, the Tax Matters Member shall
furnish to the Coach Member copies of the returns proposed to be filed for its approval which shall be required before filing and which shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. The Company shall claim all deductions and make such elections for federal or state income tax purposes
which the Tax Matters Member reasonable believes will provide the most favorable results for the Members. The Coach Member shall have the right to appear
in and defend any such disputed matter by which it could be adversely affected, with separate counsel of its own choice, at its own cost and expense.

12.5. Bank Accounts. All funds of the Company shall be deposited in a separate bank, money market or similar accounts(s) approved by the
Members and in the Company’s name. Withdrawals therefrom shall be made only by Persons authorized to do so by the Fund Member.

ARTICLE 13
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

13.1. Representations and Warranties of the Coach Member. The Coach Member represents and warrants to the Fund Member the following as
of the date hereof:

(a) Coach Guarantor is a corporation organized, existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Maryland, and the
Coach Member is a limited liability company] organized, existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and is duly qualified to do
business in and is in good standing under the laws of the State of New York.
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(b) The execution, delivery and performance by the Coach Member of this Agreement and by Coach Guarantor of the Coach
Guaranty have been duly authorized by all necessary action, do not and will not contravene (i) its organizational or governing documents, (ii) any law, rule,
regulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award presently in effect with respect to the Coach Member or the Coach Guarantor, as
applicable, or (iii) any indenture, loan, credit agreement or other agreement, lease or instrument to which it is a party or by which it or its assets may be bound
or affected, the failure to comply with which would have a material adverse effect on the ability of the Coach Member to perform its obligations under this
Agreement or the Coach Guarantor to perform its obligations under the Coach Guaranty, as applicable, and do not and will not result in or require the creation
of any lien, security interest or other charge or encumbrance upon or with respect to any of its properties or assets.

(c) No authorization, approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any governmental authority or regulatory body is
required to be obtained or made by the Coach Member for the due execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or by the Coach Guarantor for the due
execution, delivery and performance of the Coach Guaranty.

(d) Neither the Coach Member nor the Coach Lender is domiciled in a jurisdiction identified (i) by the Financial Action Task Force
for Money laundering as being a non-cooperative country or territory or (ii) by the United States Secretary of the Treasury as warranting special measures
because of money laundering concerns under Section 311 or 312 of the USA PATRIOT Act. The monies used to fund the Coach Member’s and the Coach
Lender’s investments are not derived from or related to any illegal activities, including, but not limited to, money laundering activities, and the Coach Member
and the Coach Lender will retain evidence of the source of funds. Neither the Coach Member nor the Coach Lender is subject to sanctions administered by
OFAC nor are they included in any Executive Orders or on the list of “Specially Designated Nationals” and “Blocked Persons” maintained by OFAC. The
monies used to fund the Coach Member’s and the Coach Lender’s investments are not derived from, invested for the benefit of or related in any way to the
governments of, or persons within, any country under a United States embargo enforced by OFAC. Neither the Coach Member nor the Coach Lender is (A) an
SFPF (B) an immediate family member of a SFPF, or (C) a person who maintains a close personal relationship with any such individual or a corporation,
business or other entity that has been formed by or for the benefit of such individual. The Coach Member will provide the Fund Member any information that
may be reasonably requested to comply with applicable law addressed in this Section 13.1(d). The Coach Member will promptly notify the Fund Member in
writing if there is any change with respect to the representations and warranties provided in this Section 13.1(d).

(e) The Coach Member is not a “foreign person” within the meaning of Sections 897 or 1445 of the Code, or any similar law
requiring disclosure or withholding with respect to a “foreign person” (as used in the Code).
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63} To the Coach Member’s Knowledge, as of the date hereof, there is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation pending, or
threatened in writing against the Coach Member, the Coach Lender or their respective Affiliates in any court or by or before any governmental authority which,
if adversely determined, would be reasonably expected to materially and adversely affect the ability of the Coach Member or the Coach Lender to carry out the
transactions and obligations contemplated by this Agreement.

(2) This Agreement in all respects represent valid and legally binding obligations of the Coach Member, which are enforceable against
the Coach Member in accordance with the terms thereof, subject only to the effects of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally.

13.2. Representations and Warranties of the Fund Member. The Fund Member represents and warrants to the Coach Member the following as of
the date hereof:

(a) The Fund Member is a limited liability company organized, existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware,
and is duly qualified to do business in and is in good standing under the laws of the State of New York. Related is a limited partnership, existing and in good
standing under the laws of the State of New York. Oxford Guarantor is an Ontario limited partnership, existing and in good standing under the laws of the
province of Ontario, Canada.

(b) The execution, delivery and performance by the Fund Member of this Agreement and by the Related/Oxford Guarantor of the
Related/Oxford Guaranty have been duly authorized by all necessary action, do not and will not contravene (i) its organizational or governing documents, (ii)
any law, rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award presently in effect with respect to the Fund Member or the
Related/Oxford Guarantor, as applicable, or (iii) any indenture, loan, credit agreement or other agreement, lease or instrument to which it is a party or by
which it or its assets may be bound or affected, the failure to comply with which would have a material adverse effect on the ability of the Fund Member to
perform its obligations under this Agreement or the Related/Oxford Guarantor to perform its obligations under the Related/Oxford Guaranty, as applicable, and
do not and will not result in or require the creation of any lien, security interest or other charge or encumbrance upon or with respect to any of its properties or
assets.

() No authorization, approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any governmental authority or regulatory body is

required to be obtained or made by the Fund Member for the due execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or by the Related/Oxford Guarantor for
the due execution, delivery and performance of the Related/Oxford Guaranty.
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(d) Neither the Fund Member nor the Related/Oxford Guarantor is domiciled in a jurisdiction identified (i)by the Financial Action
Task Force for Money laundering as being a non-cooperative country or territory or (ii) by the United States Secretary of the Treasury as warranting special
measures because of money laundering concerns under Section 311 or 312 of the USA PATRIOT Act. The monies used to fund the Fund Member’s and the
Related/Oxford Guarantor’s investments are not derived from or related to any illegal activities, including, but not limited to, money laundering activities, and
the Fund Member and the Related/Oxford Guarantor will retain evidence of the source of funds. Neither the Fund Member nor the Related/Oxford Guarantor is
subject to sanctions administered by OFAC nor are they included in any Executive Orders or on the list of “Specially Designated Nationals” and “Blocked
Persons” maintained by OFAC. The monies used to fund the Fund Member’s and the Related/Oxford Guarantor’s investments are not derived from, invested
for the benefit of or related in any way to the governments of, or persons within, any country under a United States embargo enforced by OFAC. Neither the
Fund Member nor the Related/Oxford Guarantor is (i) a SFPF, (ii) an immediate family member of a SFPF, or (iii) a person who maintains a close personal
relationship with any such individual or a corporation, business or other entity that has been formed by or for the benefit of such individual. The Fund
Member will provide the Coach Member any information that may be reasonably requested to comply with applicable law addressed in this Section 13.2(d).
The Fund Member will promptly notify the Coach Member in writing if there is any change with respect to the representations and warranties provided in this

Section 13.2(d).

(e) The Fund Member is not a “foreign person” within the meaning of Sections 897 or 1445 of the Code, or any similar law requiring
disclosure or withholding with respect to a “foreign person” (as used in the Code).

63) To Fund Member’s Knowledge, as of the date hereof there is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation pending, or threatened in
writing against the Fund Member, the Related/Oxford Guarantor or Developer, their respective Affiliates or the Project in any court or by or before any
governmental authority which, if adversely determined, would be reasonably expected to materially and adversely affect the ability of the Related/Oxford
Guarantor, the Fund Member or Developer to carry out the transactions and obligations contemplated by this Agreement.

(2) This Agreement in all respects represent valid and legally binding obligations of the Fund Member, which are enforceable against
the Fund Member in accordance with the terms thereof, subject only to the effects of bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws
affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally.

ARTICLE 14
MISCELLANEOUS

14.1. Title to Assets: Certain Waivers. Title to all assets acquired by the Company shall be held in the name of the Company. Except as
expressly provided herein, no Member shall individually have any ownership interest or rights in any assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except
indirectly by virtue of such Member’s ownership of a Membership Interest. Except as otherwise provided herein, each Member irrevocably waives during the
term of the Company any right that it may have to: (a) cause the Company or any of its assets, or any Subsidiary or the assets of any Subsidiary, to be
partitioned; (b) cause the appointment of a receiver for all or any portion of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; (c) compel any sale of all or
any portion of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to applicable law; or (d) file a complaint, or to institute any proceeding at law or
in equity, or to cause the termination, dissolution or liquidation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Except as otherwise provided herein, each Member
irrevocably waives during the term of the Company any right that it may have under (i) Section 17-604 of the Act to withdraw and receive the fair value of
their partnership interests or (ii) Section 17-606 of the Act with respect to status as a creditor of the Company with respect to distributions.
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14.2. Nature of Interest in the Company. A Member’s Membership Interest shall be personal property for all purposes.

14.3. Waiver of Default. No consent or waiver, express or implied, by the Company or a Member with respect to any breach or default by
another Member hereunder shall be deemed or construed to be a consent or waiver with respect to any other breach or default by such Member of the same
provision or any other provision of this Agreement. Failure on the part of the Company or a Member to complain of any act or failure to act of another Member
or to declare such other Member in default shall not be deemed or constitute a waiver by the Company or the Member of any rights hereunder. No provision of
this Agreement may be waived except by a written instrument executed by the party against whom the enforcement of such waiver is sought and then only to
the extent set forth in such instrument.

14.4. Amendment. This Agreement embodies the entire understanding among the Members concerning the Company and their relationship as
Members and supersedes any and all prior negotiations, understandings or agreements concerning such relationship. This Agreement may be amended or
modified from time to time only by a written instrument executed and agreed to by all of the Members.

14.5. No Third Party Rights. None of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall be for the benefit of or enforceable by any third parties,
including creditors of the Company. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement, no creditor or other Person shall obtain any rights under this
Agreement or shall, by reason of this Agreement, make any claim in respect of any debt, liability or obligation (or otherwise) against the Company or any
Member. The parties to this Agreement expressly retain any and all rights to amend this Agreement as herein provided, notwithstanding any interest in the
Agreement or in any party to this Agreement held by any other Person.

14.6. Severability. In the event any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable to any extent, the legality, validity
and enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and the remaining provisions shall be construed and enforced in all respect
as if such invalid or unenforceable provision or provisions had been omitted and substituted with a provision(s) that is valid and enforceable and most closely
effectuates the original intent of this Agreement.

14.7. Binding Agreement. Subject to the restrictions on the disposition of Membership Interests herein continued, the provisions of this

Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors and permitted
assigns.
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14.8. Headings: Exhibits: Schedules. The headings of the articles and sections of this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be
considered in construing or interpreting any of the terms and provisions hereof. All Exhibits and Schedules attached to this Agreement or subsequently
incorporated herein are hereby made (and shall be deemed) a part of this Agreement.

14.9. Governing Law. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be governed by and interpreted, construed
and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to the conflicts of laws provisions thereof. To the extent
permitted by applicable law, the provisions of this Agreement shall override the provisions of the Act to the extent of any inconsistency or contradiction between
them.

14.10.  Jurisdiction; Waiver of Trial by Jury.

(@ Except as expressly set forth in Section 3.10, the Members hereby irrevocably and unconditionally (i) agree that the exclusive
forum for any suit, action or other legal proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be the Supreme Court of the State of New York in New
York County or the United States, Southern District of New York; (ii) consent to, and waive any and all personal rights under the laws of any state to object
to the jurisdiction of each such court in any such suit, action or proceeding; and (iii) waive any objection which it may have to the laying of venue of any such
suit, action or proceeding in any of such courts. In furtherance of such agreement, each Member agrees, upon request of the other Member, to discontinue (or
cause to be discontinued) any such suit, action or proceeding pending in any other jurisdiction or court and the Members irrevocably consent to the service of
any and all process in any such suit, action or proceeding by service of copies of such process to the Fund Member or the Coach Member, as the case may be,
at its address provided herein. Nothing in this Section 14.10, however, shall affect the right of the Members to serve legal process in any other manner
permitted by law.

(b) TO THE FULL EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE MEMBERS HEREBY KNOWINGLY, INTENTIONALLY AND

VOLUNTARILY, WITH AND UPONTHE ADVICE OF COMPETENT COUNSEL, WAIVE, RELINQUISH AND FOREVER FORGO THE RIGHT TO
A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING BASED UPON, ARISING OUT OF, OR IN ANY WAY RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT
OR ANY CONDUCT, ACT OR OMISSION OF THE MEMBERS, OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, PARTNERS,
MEMBERS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS OR ATTORNEYS, OR ANY AFFILIATES, IN EACH OF THE FOREGOING CASES, WHETHER SOUNDING
IN CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE.

() The waivers contained in this Section 14.10 are given knowingly and voluntarily by the Members and, with respect to the waiver

of jury trial, is intended to encompass individually each instance and each issue as to which the right to a trial by jury would otherwise accrue. The Members
are hereby authorized to file a copy of this Section 14.10 in any proceeding as conclusive evidence of these waivers by the other party.
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14.11.  Notices.

(a) Any and all notices, demands, requests, consents, approvals or other communications (each, a “ Notice™) permitted or required to
be made under this Agreement shall be in writing, signed by the party giving such Notice and shall be delivered (i) by hand (with signed confirmation of
receipt), (ii) by nationally or internationally recognized overnight mail or courier service (with signed confirmation of receipt), or (iii) by facsimile transmission
(with a confirmation copy delivered in the manner described in clause (i) or (ii) above). All such Notices shall be deemed delivered, as applicable: (x) on the
date of the personal delivery or facsimile (as shown by electronic confirmation of transmission) if delivered by 5:00 p.m., and if delivered after 5:00 p.m. then
on the next business day; or (y) on the next business day for overnight mail. Notices directed to a party shall be delivered to the parties at the addresses set
forth below or at such other address or addresses as may be supplied by written Notice given in conformity with the terms of this Section 14.11:

(6)] If to the Coach Member, to:

Coach Legacy Yards LLC
c/o Coach, Inc.

516 West 34th Street

New York, New York 10001
Attention: Todd Kahn
Facsimile: (212) 629-2398

with a copy to:

Coach, Inc.

516 West 34th Street

New York, New York 10001
Attention: Mitchell L. Feinberg
Facsimile: (212) 629-2298

and a copy to:

Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP

One New York Plaza

New York, New York 10004

Attention: Jonathan L. Mechanic and Harry R. Silvera, Esqs.
Facsimile: (212) 859-4000

(ii) If to the Fund Member:

Podium Fund Tower C SPV LLC

c/o The Related Companies, L.P.

60 Columbus Circle, 19th Floor

New York, New York 10023

Attention: Jeff T. Blau and L. Jay Cross
Facsimile: (212) 801-3540
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with a copy to each of the following:

The Related Companies, L.P.

60 Columbus Circle, 19th Floor
New York, New York 10023
Attention: Richard O’Toole
Facsimile: (212) 801-1036

Oxford Hudson Yards LLC

320 Park Avenue, 17" Floor
New York, New York 100022
Attention: Dean J. Shapiro
Facsimile: (212) 986-7510

Oxford Properties Group

Royal Bank Plaza, North Tower,
200 Bay Street, Suite 900,
Toronto, Ontario M5J 2J2 Canada
Attention: Chief Legal Counsel
Facsimile: (416) 868-3799

and, if different than the address set forth above, to the address posted from time to time as the corporate head office of
Oxford Properties Group on the website www.oxfordproperties.com to the attention of the Chief Legal Counsel (unless the
same is not readily ascertainable or accessible by the public in the ordinary course)

Schulte Roth & Zabel LLP

919 Third Avenue

New York, New York 10022
Attention: Stuart D. Freedman, Esq.
Facsimile: (212) 593-5955

(b) Any counsel designated above or any replacement counsel that may be designated respectively by any party or such counsel by
written Notice to the other parties is hereby authorized to give Notices hereunder on behalf of its respective client.

14.12.  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, and each such counterpart shall be considered an original, but all
of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The exchange of signature pages by facsimile or portable document format (“PDF’)
transmission shall constitute effect delivery of such signature pages and may be used in lieu of the original signature pages for all purposes. Signatures of the
parties hereto transmitted by facsimile or PDF shall be deemed to be their original signatures for all purposes.
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14.13. Further Assurances. Each Member shall execute and deliver any additional documents and instruments and perform any additional acts
that may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate and perform the provisions of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein.

14.14. Rights Upon Withholding of Consent. In any instance where a consent or approval by a Member is not to be unreasonably withheld or
delayed, if the Member seeking such consent or approval claims that such consent has been unreasonably withheld or delayed, such Member may not seek or
recover damages against the other Member, but may only either (a) invoke expedited arbitration in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.10 hereof
seeking to cause such Member to grant the requested consent or (b) commence an action for mandatory injunction seeking to cause the other Member to grant
the requested consent. The prevailing party in such arbitration or action shall be entitled to collect the prevailing party’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs in
connection with such action or arbitration. The Members waive consequential damages in connection with the withholding or delay of any consent or approval.

14.15. Brokerage. The Coach Member and the Fund Member each represents that it has dealt with no broker, finder or like agent in connection
with the transactions contemplated hereby other than CB Richard Ellis, Inc. (“ Broker”). The Coach Member, at its sole cost and expense (and not as a
deduction to the Coach Total Development Costs), shall pay a commission to Broker in accordance with a separate agreement between the Coach Member and
Broker. Each party shall indemnify, defend and hold the other party harmless from and against any loss, cost or expense suffered by the indemnified party
arising out of any claim or threat of claim of any Person who claims to have dealt with the indemnifying party in connection with the transactions
contemplated hereby (except that the Fund Member will not indemnify the Coach Member for claims made by Broker).

14.16. Non-Recourse; Exculpation. Except as otherwise expressly provided to the contrary in this Agreement, the Development Agreement, the
Coach Guaranty or the Related/Oxford Guaranty, no Member, no Affiliate of any Member, nor any direct or indirect partner, shareholder, member, manager,
owner, officer, director, trustee, agent or employee in or of any Member or any Aftiliate of any Member (each, a “ Nonrecourse Party”), shall be personally
liable in any manner or to any extent under or in connection with this Agreement, and neither any Member nor the Company nor any Person claiming by,
through or under any Member or the Company shall have any recourse to any assets of a Nonrecourse Party other than such party’s direct Interest to satisfy
any liability, judgment or claim that may be obtained or made against any such Nonrecourse Party under this Agreement. The limitation of liability provided
in this Section 14.16 is in addition to, and not in limitation of, any limitation on liability applicable to a Nonrecourse Party provided by law or by this
Agreement or any other contract, agreement or instrument. Nothing in this Section 14.16 is intended to or shall limit (a) the obligations or liabilities of Related
and Oxford Guarantor under the Related/Oxford Guaranty or (b) the obligations or liabilities of the Coach Guarantor under the Coach Guaranty.

14.17. Fiduciary Duty. In accordance with Section 18-1101(c) of the Delaware Act, the Members hereby acknowledge and agree that the
provisions of this Agreement, including the provisions of this Section 14.17, to the extent they expand, restrict or eliminate the duties (including fiduciary
duties) of a Member otherwise existing at law or in equity, replace completely and absolutely such other duties (including fiduciary duties). The provisions of
this Section 14.17 are fundamental elements to the agreement of the Members to enter into this Agreement and without such provisions the Members would not
have entered into this Agreement.

110




14.18.  Confidentiality.

(a) Each of the Fund Member and the Coach Member and their respective partners, principals, members, owners, shareholders,
partners, attorneys, agents, employees and consultants (and their respective successors and assigns) will treat the terms of this Agreement and all non-publicly
available or proprietary information disclosed to it by the other party or otherwise gained through the Project (““ Confidential Information”), as confidential,
giving it the same care as its own Confidential Information, and make no use of any such disclosed information not independently known to it, except (i) in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) to the extent legally compelled (by deposition, interrogatory, request for documents, subpoena, civil
investigative demand or similar process) to disclose the same, or (iii) to the extent required by any federal, state, local or foreign laws, or by any rules or
regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (or its equivalent in any foreign country) or any domestic or foreign public stock
exchange or stock quotation system, that may be applicable to the Fund Member or the Coach Member or any of their direct or indirect constituent owners or
Affiliates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms hereof may be disclosed to the Mortgage Loan Agent, the Mezzanine Loan Agent and the Construction
Lenders and to a party’s accountants, attorneys, employees, agents, actual and potential transferees, lessees, investors and lenders, and others in privity with
such party to the extent reasonably necessary for such party’s business purposes, or in connection with a dispute hereunder.

(b) In the event that either party hereto and their Affiliates shall receive a request to disclose any Confidential Information under a
subpoena or order, such party shall (i) promptly notify the other parties thereof, (ii) consult with the other parties on the advisability of taking steps to resist or
narrow such request and (iii) if disclosure is required or deemed advisable, cooperate with the other parties in any attempt they may make to obtain an order or
other assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded the Confidential Information that is disclosed.

() All publicity signs located at or about the Project shall be approved by the Fund Member and the Coach Member. Neither party
may, without the other party’s prior consent, permit the public dissemination of any public relations releases, advertisements or other communications or
materials with respect to the Project that includes or describes the identity of the other party or its constituents or affiliates.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, each Member (and each employee, representative, or other agent of such
investor) may disclose to any and all persons, without limitation of any kind, the tax treatment and tax structure of (i) the Company and (ii) any of its
transactions, and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided to the Member relating to such tax treatment and tax
structure, it being understood that “tax treatment” and “tax structure” do not include the name or the identifying information of (A) the Company or (B) the
parties to a transaction.
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14.19. Prevailing Party Entitled to Fees and Costs . In the event of any an action, litigation, arbitration, administrative proceeding and other legal
or equitable proceeding of any kind between or among the Fund Member and the Coach Member concerning this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be
entitled to reimbursement from the losing party for the fees and costs of such proceeding incurred by the prevailing party, including reasonable attorneys’ fees.
For the purposes of this Section 14.19, the “prevailing party” shall mean the party who obtains a judgment or order, final beyond appeal, adverse to the other
party. The foregoing provisions shall not apply to the fees and costs of any dispute which is governed by the provisions of Section 3.10.

14.20. Partition. Each Member hereby waives any and all rights that it may have to cause any asset of the Company to be partitioned or to file a
complaint or institute or maintain an action or proceeding at law or in equity for partition of any of the Company’s assets.

14.21. Survival. The provisions of this Article 14 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the redemption or withdrawal of the
Coach Member from the Company.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above written.

PODIUM FUND TOWER C SPV LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:  Podium Fund REIT LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company,
its Managing Member

By:  /s/ L. Jay Cross

Name: L. Jay Cross
Title: President

COACH LEGACY YARDS LLC,

a Delaware limited liability company

By:  /s/ Todd Kahn

Name: Todd Kahn
Title: Executive Vide President and General Counsel




Exhibit A
Legal Description

ALL OF THAT CERTAIN plot, piece or parcel of land, with the buildings and improvements thereon erected, situate, lying and being in the Borough of
Manhattan, County of New York, City and State of New York, bounded and described as follows:

Tower C-Basement level and below:
All of the lands at or below an upper limiting plane of elevation 12.00 feet (Manhattan Borough Datum) within the following horizontal boundary:

Beginning at a point formed by the intersection of the westerly line of Tenth Avenue (100' R.O.W.), and the northerly line of West 30th Street (60' R.O.W.);
running thence

1. Along said northerly line of West 30th Street, North 89°56'53" West, a distance of 589.42 feet to a point; thence

2. Leaving West 30th Street, North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 77.67 feet to a point; thence

3. North 89°56'53" West, a distance of 112.00 feet to a point; thence

4. North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 104.83 feet to a point; thence

5. South 89°56'53" East, a distance of 22.37 feet to a point; thence

6. North 78°45'38" East, a distance of 49.37 feet to a point; thence

7. South 89°56'53" East, a distance of 630.64 feet to a point on the aforementioned westerly line of Tenth Avenue; thence

8. Along said westerly line of Tenth Avenue, South 00°03'07" West, a distance of 192.17 feet to the Point of Beginning.
Tower C-Street Level:

All of the lands above a lower limiting plane of elevation 12.00 feet and at or below an upper limiting plane of elevation 29.00 feet (Manhattan Borough Datum)
within the following horizontal boundary:

Beginning at a point formed by the intersection of the westerly line of Tenth Avenue (100' R.O.W.), and the northerly line of West 30th Street (60' R.O.W.);
running thence
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15.

16.

17.

19.

20.

21.

Along said northerly line of West 30th Street, North 89°56'53" West, a distance of 579.42 feet to a point; thence

Leaving West 30th Street, North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 20.06 feet to a point; thence
South 89°56'53" East, a distance of 8.37 feet to a point; thence

North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 30.67 feet to a point; thence
North 89°56'53" West, a distance of 1.80 feet to a point; thence
North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 5.03 feet to a point; thence
North 89°56'53" West, a distance of 0.50 feet to a point; thence
North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 6.60 feet to a point; thence
South 89°56'53" East, a distance of 2.33 feet to a point; thence

North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 18.31 feet to a point; thence

. North 36°42'17" West, a distance of 27.85 feet to a point; thence

. North 89°56'53" West, a distance of 10.32 feet to a point; thence

North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 31.86 feet to a point; thence
North 89°56'53" West, a distance of 45.42 feet to a point; thence
North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 12.90 feet to a point; thence
North 89°56'53" West, a distance of 37.04 feet to a point; thence
North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 34.75 feet to a point; thence
South 89°56'53" East, a distance of 1.41 feet to a point; thence

North 78°45'38" East, a distance of 49.37 feet to a point; thence

South 89°56'53" East, a distance of 630.64 feet to a point on the aforementioned westerly line of Tenth Avenue; thence

Along said westerly line of Tenth Avenue, South 00°03'07" West, a distance of 192.17 feet to the Point of Beginning.
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Tower C-Mezzanine Level:

All of the lands above a lower limiting plane of elevation 29.00 feet and at or below an upper limiting plane of elevation 40.55 feet (Manhattan Borough Datum)
within the following horizontal boundary:

Beginning at a point formed by the intersection of the westerly line of Tenth Avenue (100' R.O.W.), and the northerly line of West 30th Street (60' R.O.W.);
running thence

1. Along said northerly line of West 30th Street, North 89°56'53" West, a distance of 579.42 feet to a point; thence

2. Leaving West 30th Street, North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 20.06 feet to a point; thence

3. South 89°56'53" East, a distance of 8.37 feet to a point; thence

4. North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 35.70 feet to a point; thence

5. South 89°56'53" East, a distance of 3.21 feet to a point; thence

6. North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 136.41 feet to a point; thence

7. South 89°56'53" East, a distance of 567.83 feet to a point on the aforementioned westerly line of Tenth Avenue; thence
8. Along said westerly line of Tenth Avenue, South 00°03'07" West, a distance of 192.17 feet to the Point of Beginning.

Tower C-Plaza level and above:

All of the lands above a lower limiting plane of elevation 40.55 feet (Manhattan Borough Datum) within the following horizontal boundary:

Beginning at a point formed by the intersection of the westerly line of Tenth Avenue (100' R.0.W.), and the northerly line of West 30th Street (60' R.O.W.);
running thence

1. Along said northerly line of West 30th Street, North 89°56'53" West, a distance of 416.00 feet to a point; thence
2. Leaving West 30th Street, North 00°03'07" East, a distance of 192.17 feet to a point; thence
3. South 89°56'53" East, a distance of 416.00 feet to a point on the aforementioned westerly line of Tenth Avenue; thence

4. Along said westerly line of Tenth Avenue, South 00°03'07" West, a distance of 192.17 feet to the Point of Beginning.
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Exhibit B

Office Unit Competitors
Burberry Group PLC
Gucci Group/PPR
J. Crew Group, Inc.
LVMH Moet Hennessy Louis Vuitton SA
Michael Kors (USA), Inc.
Polo Ralph Lauren Corp.
Prada, S.p.A.
Tory Burch LLC

This list includes affiliates of the foregoing to the extent that the same engage in a similar luxury retail goods lines of business.
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EXECUTION VERSION

DECLARATION

Establishing a Plan for Condominium
Ownership of Premises
501 West 30 Street
New York, New York 10001
Pursuant to Article 9-B of the Real Property
Law of the State of New York

Name:
TOWER C CONDOMINIUM
501 West 30th Street
New York, New York 10001
Declarant:

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
347 Madison Avenue
New York, New York 10017

Date of Declaration:
As of s

Block 702
Lots [1001, 1002, 1003, 1004, 1005, 1006, 1007, 1008 and 1009]
(f/k/a Lot 10)
Borough of Manhattan

When recorded, return to:
Kramer Levin Naftalis & Frankel LLP
1177 Avenue of the Americas
New York, New York 10036
Attn: Jonathan H. Canter, Esq.
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DECLARATION
OF
TOWER C CONDOMINIUM

(Pursuant to Article 9-B of the Real Property Law
of the State of New York)

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY, hereinafter referred to as the ‘Declarant,” does hereby declare as of this __ day of
s as follows:

1. Submission of Property. The Declarant hereby submits: (i) the land owned by Declarant in fee simple absolute and described on Exhibit A
annexed hereto and made part hereof (hereinafter called the “Land”); (ii) the building and improvements erected on the Land (hereinafter called the “ Building”);
and (iii) all other easements, rights and appurtenances belonging to the foregoing, and all other property, personal or mixed, owned by the Declarant and
intended for use in connection therewith (the Land, the Building and said easements, rights, appurtenances and other property hereinafter collectively called the
“Property”), to the provisions of Article 9-B of the Real Property Law of the State of New York (as the same may hereafter be amended from time to time, the
“New York Condominium Act”). This Declaration is subject to the Underlying Agreements (as defined in Section 7(a) hereof). As used herein, (i) “ By-Laws”
shall mean the By-Laws annexed hereto as Exhibit K and made a part hereof, (ii) “Rules and Regulations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 18
hereof, and (iii) “Condominium Documents” shall mean, collectively, this Declaration, the By-Laws, the Rules and Regulations, and the Floor Plans (as
hereinafter defined).

2. Building. A description of the Building, including the number of stories, cellars, subcellars and units and the principal materials of which
it is constructed, is set forth in Exhibit C annexed hereto and made a part hereof.

3. Name of Condominium. The condominium established by this Declaration shall be known as “Tower C Condominium” (hereinafter called
the “Condominium”); and neither the Condominium nor the Building shall be named after any Unit Owner (as defined in Section 4(k) hereof) or any other
user, tenant, person or entity. The Board of Managers (as defined in the By-Laws) shall own and control all rights and interests, and shall have the exclusive
right to apply for any state trademark and prosecute to registration any federal trademark applications, and shall have the sole right, in its discretion, to
protect, police and maintain any applicable trademark rights, which may include litigating against those whom the Board of Managers believes may be
infringing the Board of Manager’s rights, in and to the name of the Condominium and Building. Subject to the foregoing, only the Board of Managers shall
have the right to change or assign the name of the Condominium or the Building.

4, Units, Street Addresses. (a) Annexed hereto and made part hereof as Exhibit B is a list of the units in the Condominium, their designations
and tax lot numbers, location (and direction faced), approximate square foot areas, Common Elements (as defined in Section 6(a) hereof) to which each has
immediate access (all as shown on the floor plans of the Building, certified by Kohn Pedersen Fox Associates, P.C. (the “ Floor Plans™), intended to be filed in
the Office of the New York City Register, New York County (hereinafter the “New York City Register”’) simultaneously with the recording of this
Declaration), and the proportionate, undivided interest appurtenant to each such Unit (as defined in Section 4(k) hereof) in the Common Elements, as
expressed in percentage terms and set forth in such Exhibit B.




(b) The Unit, as shown on the Floor Plans, consisting of portions of the Cellar Level and Ground Floor Level, and (i) the passenger elevator
designated as Elevator C101-P33 on the Floor Plans, together with its shafts, pit, slab openings, overrun and mechanical room, and (ii) and any ramps,
stoops, steps or stairs from time to time leading from the sidewalk outside the Building to any portion of such Unit, is herein called the * Parking Unit”.

(c) The Unit, as shown on the Floor Plans, consisting of portions of the Ground Floor Level and the Ground Floor Mezzanine Level of the
Building, and (i) the internal stairways and escalators located within such Unit, storefronts, awnings and canopies appurtenant to such Unit, and (ii) any
ramps, stoops, steps or stairs from time to time leading from the sidewalk outside the Building to any portion of such Unit is herein called the “ Retail Unit”.

(d) The Unit, as shown on the Floor Plans, consisting of portions of the Cellar Level, Ground Floor Level, Plaza Level, and Levels 03, 04, 05,
05M, 06, 07, 08, 09, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 23, and 24 of the Building, which Unit includes, without limitation, the areas
designated on the Floor Plans as (A) the Office Unit 1 Lobby (the “ Office Unit 1 Lobby”) on the Plaza Level, (B) the escalators (the “ Office Unit 1
Escalators”) leading from the Office Unit 1 Lobby to the General Common Lobby located on the Ground Floor Level of the Building (as shown on the Floor
Plans, the “General Common Lobby”), (C) the atrium space located on Level 06 of the Building designated on the Floor Plans as “Office Unit 1 Atrium”, the
atrium walls (including glass walls), and the roof located at the top of such atrium located on Level 21 of the Building designated on the Floor Plans as
“Atrium Ceiling” (collectively, the Office Unit 1 Atrium”), (D) the space located on the Ground Floor Level of the Building designated on the Floor Plans as the
“Office Unit 1 Storage Space”, and (E) the space located on the Ground Floor Level of the Building designated on the Floor Plans as the “Office Unit 1
Messenger Center/Mail Room”, and (i) any other shafts, hoistways and exhausts in the Building shown on the Floor Plans as part of Office Unit 1, (ii) the
passenger elevators designated as Elevators #0001-P01, 0101-P02, 0101-P03, 0101-PO4, 0101-P05, C101-P06, 0101-P07, 0101-P08, 0101-P09 and 0101-P10
on the Floor Plans, together with their shafts, pits, slab openings, overrun and mechanical rooms (collectively, the “ Office Unit 1 Passenger Elevators™), and
the service elevator designated as Elevator #0001-S03 on the Floor Plans, together with its shaft, pit, slab openings, overrun and mechanical rooms, as shown
on the Floor Plans. (the “Office Unit 1 Service Elevator™), and (iii) any ramps, stoops, steps or stairs from time to time leading from the sidewalk outside the
Building to any portion of such Unit (together with the appurtenant Office Unit 1 Exclusive Use Common Elements, as defined in Section 6(e) hereof) is
herein called “Office Unit 1”.

(e) The Unit, as shown on the Floor Plans, consisting of portions of Level 21 of the Building so designated on the Floor Plans, which Unit
includes, without limitation, any shafts, hoistways or exhausts in the Building shown on the Floor Plans as part of Office Unit 2A, is herein called “ Office
Unit 2A”.




) The Unit, as shown on the Floor Plans, consisting of portions of the Level 22 of the Building so designated on the Floor Plans, which Unit
includes, without limitation, any shafts, hoistways or exhausts in the Building shown on the Floor Plans as part of Office Unit 2B, is herein called *“ Office
Unit 2B”.

(2) The Unit, as shown on the Floor Plans, consisting of portions of the Cellar Level, Ground Floor Level, Plaza Level, and Levels 03, 04, 05,
23,24, 25,26,27, 28,29, 30,31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, and 49, which Unit includes, without limitation, the
areas designated on the Floor Plans as (A) the Office Unit 3 Lobby (the *“ Office Unit 3 Lobby”) on the Plaza Level, (B) the escalators (the “ Office Unit 3
Lobby Escalators”) leading from the Office Unit 3 Lobby to the General Common Lobby and, (C) the space located on the Ground Floor Level of the Building
designated on the Floor Plans as the “Office Unit 3 Messenger Center/Mail Room” (the *“ Office Unit 3 Messenger Center/Mail Room ™) and (i) any other shafts,
hoistways and exhausts in the Building shown on the Floor Plans as part of Office Unit 3, (ii) the passenger elevators designated as Elevators # 0001-P11,
0001-P12,0101-P13, 0101-P14, 0001-P15, 0101-P16, and 0001-P17, on the Floor Plans, together with their shafts, pits, slab openings, overruns and
mechanical rooms, (collectively, the “Office Unit 3 Mid Rise Passenger Elevators ), the passenger elevators designated as Elevators #C101-P18, 0001-P19,
0101-P20, 0101-P21, 0001-P22, 0001-P23, and 0101-P24 on the Floor Plans, together with their shafts, pits, slab openings, overruns and mechanical rooms
(collectively, the “Office Unit 3 High Rise Passenger Elevators ) and the service elevator designated as Elevator #0001-S02, together with its shaft, pit, slab
openings, overrun and mechanical room (the “Office Unit 3 Service Elevator™), and (iii) any ramps, stoops, steps or stairs from time to time leading from the
sidewalk outside the Building to any portion of such Unit (together with the appurtenant Office Unit 3 Exclusive Use Common Elements, as defined in
Section 6(f) hereof) is herein called “Office Unit 3”.

(h) The Unit, as shown on the Floor Plans, consisting of portions of Levels 04 and 05 of the Building and (i) any shafts, hoistways and
exhausts in the Building shown on the Floor Plans as part of the Ancillary Unit, (ii) the installations described in Section 7(c)(iv)(C) hereof to the extent they
exist at any given time, and (iii) any ramps, stoops, steps or stairs from time to time leading from the sidewalk outside the Building to any portion of such
Unit is herein called the “Ancillary Unit”.

@) The Unit, as shown on the Floor Plans, consisting of portions of the Ground Floor Level in the Building including, without limitation, the
portion of the service elevator designated as “Culture Center Elevator Future” on the Floor Plans located within the Condominium (the “ Tower D Access
Elevator”), together with the portion of its shaft, pit, slab openings, overrun and mechanical room located within the Condominium, and any ramps, stoops,
steps or stairs from time to time leading from the sidewalk outside the Building to any portion of such Unit is herein called the “ Loading Dock Unit”.

) The Unit, as shown on the Floor Plans, consisting of portions of the Subcellar Level, Cellar Level, Ground Floor Level, Plaza Level, Level
02 Retail, Level 02, Level 03, Level 04 and Level 05, which Unit includes, without limitation, (i) the elevators (as and when constructed) designated on the
Floor Plans as (A) Elevators #C101-P31 and #C101-P32 (collectively, the “ Destination Retail Access Unit Passenger Elevators ) and (B) Elevators #0001-SO4
and #0001-S05 (collectively, the “Destination Retail Access Unit Service Elevators ™), together with their respective shafts, pits, slab openings, overruns,
mechanical rooms, equipment rooms and bulkheads, and (ii) any ramps, stoops, steps or stairs from time to time leading from the sidewalk outside of the
Building to any portion of such Unit is herein called the *“ Destination Retail Access Unit”).




k) The Parking Unit, the Retail Unit, Office Unit 1, Office Unit 2A, Office Unit 2B, Office Unit 3, Ancillary Unit, Loading Dock Unit,
Destination Retail Access Unit, and any units resulting from the subdivision or combination of any Unit, as provided in the By-Laws are herein sometimes
called collectively the “Units” and individually a “Unit”. The owner of a Unit is hereinafter sometimes called a “ Unit Owner”;

) A Unit shall not include any Common Elements located therein or any Facilities, plumbing, electrical, HVAC work, machinery, or other
materials and equipment used exclusively by and for the benefit of other Units or Unit Owners.

(m) While the street address of the Building as of the recording of this Declaration is 501 West 30 th Street, New York, New York 10001, each
Unit Owner or Sub-Board (as defined in the By-Laws) on behalf of any Units created by a subdivision of a Unit may arrange with the applicable
governmental authorities and/or the United States Postal Service for its Unit to have a different address. If a Unit has an identifying name (for marketing
purposes or otherwise), the Unit Owner owning such Unit shall be free to use such name, subject to the provisions of Section 7(h) hereof.

5. Dimensions of Units. (a) As shown on the Floor Plans, each Unit consists of the area measured horizontally from the exterior face of
exterior walls to the applicable demising line of any Exclusive Use Common Elements or General Common Elements within a Unit, including concealed metal
studs, blockwork, columns and mechanical pipes and ducts that are in the interior walls, or center line of partitions separating one Unit from another Unit, or
Unit side face of partitions at corridors, stairs, elevators and other mechanical equipment spaces. Each Unit consists of the area measured vertically from the
top of the concrete floor (below any flooring materials) to the underside of the concrete ceiling. Any Common Elements located within any Unit shall be
considered part of that Unit for purposes of measurement only.

(b) Each Unit consists of the space designated on the Floor Plans as part of such Unit together with those Facilities which exclusively serve or
benefit such Unit or Unit Owner thereof, including, without limitation, all security systems, fire safety systems, plumbing, air conditioning and heating
fixtures and equipment, including, without limitation, perimeter heating enclosures, ventilating equipment, exhaust fans, domestic hot water heating
equipment, air conditioning units, and other fixtures and appliances as may be affixed, attached or appurtenant to such Unit. Plumbing, air conditioning and
heating fixtures and equipment as used in the preceding sentence shall include, without limitation, exposed water pipes attached to fixtures, appliances and
equipment and the fixtures, appliances and equipment to which they are attached, and any special pipes or equipment which a Unit Owner may install within
a wall or ceiling, or under any floor, but shall not include water or other pipes, conduits, wiring or ductwork within the walls, ceiling or floors or mechanical
systems that are described as General Common Elements. Each Unit shall also include the interior partitions (including, without limitation, glass partitions),
interior glass, window frames, all lighting and electrical fixtures and appliances within the Unit and any special equipment, fixtures or Facilities (including,
without limitation, elevators and their shafts, pits, slab openings, overruns and mechanical rooms, escalators) affixed, attached or appurtenant to the Unit to
the extent located within a Unit and serving or benefiting only that Unit.




6. Common Elements. (a) The common elements of the Condominium (the “ Common Elements”) consist of the Land and all parts of the
Building and improvements thereon, other than the Units. The Common Elements are comprised of the General Common Elements (“ General Common
Elements”), the Office Unit 1 Exclusive Use Common Elements (the “ Office Unit 1 Exclusive Use Common Elements ), and the Office Unit 3 Exclusive Use
Common Elements (the “Office Unit 3 Exclusive Use Common Elements ), (the Office Unit 1 Exclusive Use Common Elements, and the Office Unit 3
Exclusive Use Common Elements are referred to collectively as the “ Exclusive Use Common Elements”).

(b) The General Common Elements include, but are not limited to, those rooms, areas, corridors, spaces and other parts of the Building, all

electrical, mechanical and utility systems and all other facilities (“ F acilities”)] therein or a part thereof either currently or hereafter existing for the common use
of the Units or of the Unit Owners or which are necessary for, or convenient to, the overall existence, operation, maintenance or safety of the Property (
“Building Systems”), including, without limitation, those located on the roof(s) of the Building. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the General
Common Elements consist of all portions of the Building so identified on the Floor Plans, as well as the following, whether or not so identified as General
Common Elements on the Floor Plans:

1) the Land (including, without limitation, the Tower C Plaza Area, as shown on the Floor Plans) together with all easements, rights,
and privileges appurtenant thereto;

(i1) all exterior walls, facades and windows of the Building (other than (A) exterior components of the Office Unit 1 Atrium and the
exterior glass in the Office Unit 1 Atrium which shall be part of Office Unit 1 and (B) the retail storefront(s) of the Retail Unit, which shall
be part of the Retail Unit).

'As used herein, the words “Facility” and “Facilities” include, but are not limited to, the following items (grouped more or less functionally) which are set
forth only for the purpose of illustrating the broad scope of those terms: system, equipment, apparatus, convector, radiator, heater, convertor, heat exchanger,
mechanism, device, machinery, induction unit, fan coil unit, motor, pump, control, tank or tank assembly, installation, condenser, compressor, fan,
damper, blower, thermostat, thermometer, coil, vent, sensor, shut-off valve or other valve, gong, panel, receptacle, outlet, relay, alarm, sprinkler head,
electric distribution facility, wiring, wireway, switch, switchboard, circuit breaker, transformer, fitting, siamese connection, hose, plumbing fixture, lighting
fixture, other fixture, bulb, sign, telephone, meter, meter assembly, scaffolding, piping, line duct, conduit, cable, riser, main, shaft, pit, flue, lock or other
hardware, rack, screen, strainer, trap, drain, catch basin, leader, filter, incinerator, canopy, closet, cabinet, door, railing, coping, step, furniture, mirror,
furnishing, appurtenance, urn, carpeting, tile, marble or other floor covering, drapery, shade or other window covering, wallpaper or other wall covering, tree,
shrubbery, flower or other plantings.




(1i1) the structural elements, footings, foundations, foundation walls, concrete floor slabs, columns, girders, slabs, beams, supports
and interior loading walls, of the Building, whether or not located within any of the Units;

(iv) the sidewalks adjacent to the Building within the property line (but any ramps, stoops, steps or stairs from time to time leading
from the sidewalk to an entrance of a Unit shall be part of such Unit);

) all passages, corridors, rooms, areas and spaces (including stairs and stairways as reflected on the Floor Plans) located in the
Building which are not part of a Unit or an Exclusive Use Common Element;

(vi) the main roof at the top of the Building, as shown on the Floor Plans (the “ Main Roof”) and structures for access to the roof
mechanical systems, including the bulkhead, and the Setback Roof on Level 32, to the extent shown on the Floor Plans as a General
Common Element;

(vii)  the window washing rig(s), if any, and related equipment, located on the Main Roof and a portion of the Setback Roof located on
Level 32, in the areas as more particularly shown on the Floor Plans;

(viii)  the elevators designated on the Floor Plans as (A) Elevator # C101-S01 (the “ GCE Service Elevator”), (B) Elevator # 4801-S06,
and (C) the elevator designated as Elevator #0001-P30 on the Floor Plans (the “ ADA Lobby Elevator”) together with their respective shafts,
pits, slab openings, overruns, mechanical rooms, equipment rooms and bulkheads;

(ix) the General Common Lobby;

x) the Central Plant (as defined in the By-Laws);

(xi) the Building Management Office, as shown on the Floor Plans;

(xii) Any Building exterior lighting system (collectively, the “Building Exterior Lighting System”);

(xiii)  The Base Building Messenger Center/Mail Room, as shown on the Floor Plans; and

(xiv)  all other parts of the Building and the apparatus, installations, systems, equipment and Facilities in the Building or on the Main
Roof or Setback Roofs (including shafts, pipes, wires, ducts, cables, conduits, lines, risers, switch-gear equipment, cooling towers,
pumps, chiller units, generators, exhaust and fire alarm systems and window cleaning equipment) which serve or benefit or are necessary

or convenient for the existence, maintenance or safety of all or any combination of the Units (subject to the classification of any of the same
specifically as part of a Unit).




(c) The Common Elements shall remain undivided and no Unit Owner or other person will bring or will have the right to bring any action for
partition or division thereof except as may be specifically provided for in the Declaration and in the By-Laws.

(d) Each Unit Owner shall have the right at its sole expense to install utility systems in its Unit, including, without limitation, heating,
ventilating, air conditioning, plumbing, electrical, security, domestic hot water and elevator systems, serving only that Unit, provided, however, that such
installation shall not adversely affect (except to a de minimis extent) the other Unit Owners, Units or Common Elements and shall comply with (i) all Laws (as
defined in Section 7 hereof), (ii) the terms of the Condominium Documents and (iii) all requirements of any insurance policy required to be carried pursuant to
the Condominium Documents (as defined in Section 7 hereof) and covering or applicable to all or any part of the Property or the use thereof, all requirements
of the issuer of any such policy and all orders, rules, regulations, reasonable recommendations and other requirements of the New York Board of Fire
Underwriters or any other body exercising the same or similar functions and having jurisdiction over all or any portion of the Property (the foregoing
collectively, “Insurance Requirements™); and (iii) the applicable provisions of the Underlying Agreements.

(e) The Office Unit 1 Exclusive Use Common Elements consist of the Terrace located on the Setback Roof at Level 19, as shown on the Floor
Plans;

® The Office Unit 3 Exclusive Use Common Elements consist of the Terraces located on the Setback Roofs at Levels 32 and 47, as shown on
the Floor Plans;

(g) Except as provided in Section 6(h) hereof, the responsibility for and the cost of maintaining, repairing, replacing and insuring a Unit and
its appurtenant Exclusive Use Common Elements, and any additions, alterations or improvements thereto and liability with respect thereto will be borne
entirely by the Unit Owner thereof.

(h) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6(g) hereof, any structural, capital, or extraordinary repairs or alterations to the Exclusive Use
Common Elements, including, without limitation, all maintenance and repairs shall be made by the Board of Managers, and, subject to the provisions of
Section 6.8(b) of the By-Laws, shall constitute a Common Expense (as defined in the By-Laws). Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, routine
maintenance, repairs and replacements shall be done by the Unit Owner having the use of such Exclusive Use Common Elements at its sole cost and expense.

7. Underlying Agreements,; Use of Building and Units. (a) As used in the Condominium Documents:

@) “Affiliate” means, with respect to any person or entity (except as may be provided more specifically in any instance in the
Condominium Documents) a person or entity which directly or indirectly (through one or more intermediaries) controls, is controlled by, or
is under common control with, such person or entity. For purposes hereof, the term “control” (including the related terms “controlled by”
and “under common control with””) mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of such person or entity (whether through the ownership of voting securities or other ownership interest, by
contract or otherwise).




(ii) “Association” means the ERY Facility Airspace Parcel Owners’ Association and it successors in interest.

(1ii) “Building Loan Agreement” means that certain Building Loan and Security Agreement covering the Property dated between Legacy
Yards Tenant LLC, as Borrower, Starwood Property Mortgage, L.L.C. as Note Al Lender, Coach Legacy Yards Lender LLC, as Note A-2
Lender, and Starwood Property Mortgage, L.L.C., as Administrative Agent, as the same may be amended, modified and/or restated from
time to time.

(iv) “Building Loan Mortgage™ has the meaning set forth in the Building Loan Agreement.

W) “Coach” means Coach, Inc., a Maryland corporation, and its successors whether by way of merger, sale of assets,
reincorporation, consolidation, recapitalization, liquidation, amalgamation, business combination or similar transaction, however
structured or effectuated.

(vi) “Coach Affiliate” means Coach or any Affiliate of Coach.

(vil)  “Coach Office Competitors” means the entities set forth on the list annexed hereto as Exhibit F and made a part hereof, which list

may be updated by Coach from time to time but no earlier than the third (3 rd) anniversary of the date the Declaration is recorded with the
New York City Register (“Declaration Date”) and thereafter at no time more frequently than once every three years, provided that (A) such
list shall at no time include more than fifteen (15) named competitors, (B) such list, together with the list of Coach Retail Competitors
referred to in Section 7(a)(viii) hereof, shall at no time contain more than twenty one (21) named competitors in the aggregate, (C) any such
update of the list shall not apply (1) to any prospective tenant with which the Unit Owner of the Retail Unit, Office Unit 2A, Office Unit
2B, or Office Unit 3 is in active negotiation at the time of such update and who was not set forth on the list prior to such update, or (2) to
any existing tenant of the Retail Unit, Office Unit 2A, Office Unit 2B, or Office Unit 3 at the time of such update (provided, that such
tenant was not on such list at the time the Unit Owner first entered into a lease with such tenant), and (D) any update of the list shall only
include retailers comparable in reputation to Coach or to the competitors then listed on the list of Coach Retail Competitors or the list of
Coach Office Competitors. For the avoidance of doubt, L’Oreal and its Affiliates shall not be deemed to be a Coach Office Competitor.




(vili)  “Coach Retail Competitors” means the entities set forth on the list annexed hereto as Exhibit G and made a part hereof, which list

may be updated by Coach from time to time but no earlier than the third (3 rd) anniversary of the Declaration Date and thereafter at no time
more frequently than once every three years, provided that (A) such list shall at no time include more than fifteen (15) named competitors,
(B) such list, together with the list of Coach Office Competitors referred to in Section 7(a)(vii) hereof, shall at no time contain more than
twenty one (21) named competitors in the aggregate, (C) any such update of the list shall not apply (1) to any prospective tenant with which
the Unit Owner of the Retail Unit, Office Unit 2A, Office Unit 2B, or Office Unit 3 is in active negotiation at the time of such update and
who was not set forth on the list prior to such update , or (2) to any existing tenant of the Retail Unit, Office Unit 2A, Office Unit 2B or
Office Unit 3 at the time of such update (provided, that such tenant was not on such list at the time the Unit Owner first entered into a lease
with such tenant),and (D) any update of the list shall only include retailers comparable in reputation to Coach or to the competitors then
listed on the list of Coach Retail Competitors or the list of Coach Office Competitors. For the avoidance of doubt, L’Oreal and its Affiliates
shall not be deemed to be a Coach Retail Competitor.

(ix) “Destination Retail Building” means the building to be constructed in the FASP Parcel defined as “Destination Retail” in the ERY
FAPOA Declaration. The Destination Retail Building is not part of the Condominium.

x) “Eastern Rail Yard” means the Eastern Rail Yard Section of the John D. Caemmerer West Side Yard, as defined as the “ERY” in
the Master Declaration.

(xi) “ERY FAPOA Declaration” means that certain Declaration Establishing the ERY Facility Airspace Parcel Owners’ Association and
of Covenants, Conditions, Easements and Restrictions executed by Metropolitan Transportation Authority, dated as of ,2013,
and recorded on with the New York City Register at CRFN , as amended or restated from time to time.

(xii) “FASP Parcel” has the meaning set forth in the ERY FAPOA Declaration.

(xiii) Loading Dock” shall mean the loading dock facility owned and operated by the Association and located in the Loading Dock
Unit.

(xiv)  “Master Declaration” means that certain Declaration of Easements (Eastern Rail Yard Section of the John D. Caemmerer West Side
Yard) by the Metropolitan Transportation Authority, dated as of May 26, 2010, and recorded on June 10, 2010 in the Office of the New
York City Register at CRFN 2010000194078, as amended or restated from time to time.

(xv) “Parcel D” means the FAS Parcel D, as such term is defined in the ERY FAPOA Declaration. Parcel D is not part of the
Condominium.

(xvi)  “Permitted User(s)” means any officer, director, member, stockholder, principal, partner, employee, agent (including managing,
sales and leasing agent) guest, tenant, occupant, customer, invitee, licensee, contractor, Permitted Mortgagee or any other Person related,
affiliated or designated by the Board of Managers or a Unit Owner who has permission to use a Unit and/or the Common Elements, subject
to the terms of the Declaration and the By-Laws, whether written or oral, granted by: (i) a Unit Owner in the case of such Unit Owner’s
Unit and its appurtenant Common Elements; or (ii) the Board of Managers; or (iii) this Declaration and the By-Laws.




(b)

(xvii) “Tower D Loading Dock” means the loading dock now or hereafter constructed adjacent to the Loading Dock Unit and comprising
part of Parcel D.

(xviii) “Underlying Agreements’ means collectively, the Master Declaration, the ERY FAPOA Declaration and the UTEP.
(xix)  “UTEP” means the Third Amended and Restated Uniform Tax Exemption Policy of the New York City Industrial Development
Agency as approved on August 3, 2010 by the Board of Directors of the New York City Industrial Development Agency, as further

amended, modified or supplemented from time to time by the Board of Directors of the New York City Industrial Development Agency.

(xx) “Zoning Resolution” means the Zoning Resolution of the City of New York, effective December 15, 1961, as amended or restated
from time to time.

The Board of Managers shall have sole authority to act as Owner (as such term is defined in the Master Declaration), party-in-interest and

beneficiary for all purposes under the Master Declaration with respect to the Property, and the Unit Owner of any Unit, the holder of any lien encumbering any
Unit, and the holder of any other occupancy or other interest in a Unit shall not be deemed to be an Owner, party-in-interest, or third party beneficiary under
the Master Declaration, but Unit Owners shall have liability to the extent set forth in Article 13 of the ERY FAPOA Declaration and Section 3.4 of the Master

Declaration.

©

Subject to the provisions of the Underlying Agreements and the Condominium Documents:

i) The Parking Unit may be used only for garage and public parking purposes and related uses, and provided that the Parking Unit
contains parking spaces for no fewer than 125 automobiles, for any other lawful non-hazardous use. There is no requirement that any
portions of the Parking Unit be operated at any time as an automobile parking facility open to the public, but will be operated (subject to
force majeure) to provide parking spaces for no fewer than 125 automobiles.

(i1) The Retail Unit may be used only for retail purposes (which shall include, without limitation, public event, restaurant, banking,

entertainment, telecommunications, performing arts and utility purposes) and other lawful accessory uses thereto consistent with first-class
retail space in first-class mixed-use office buildings in Manhattan comparable to the Building.
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(iii) Any Office Unit may be used only for executive, administrative and general office use and other lawful accessory uses thereto
(within the meaning of the Zoning Resolution), including, without limitation, the ancillary office uses set forth in Exhibit H annexed hereto
and made a part hereof (collectively, the “ Ancillary Office Uses”); provided, that such Ancillary Office Uses are (x) ancillary to the
primary use of the Unit for executive, administrative and general offices, (y) primarily for the use of the Unit Owner’s or its tenant’s
Permitted Users and (z) permitted in accordance with all Laws. In addition, (A) the Terrace located on the Setback Roof at Level 32 and/or
Level 47 may be used for public assembly purposes and events by the Unit Owner of Office Unit 3 or its Permitted User leasing adjoining
space on Level 32 and/or Level 47, subject to the applicable occupant obtaining all applicable assembly permits and subject to compliance
with all Laws and Insurance Requirements, (B) the Unit Owner of Office Unit 3 (or its Permitted User), at its sole cost and expense, may
install on the north core wall of Levels 47 and 48 one or more non-advertising (except as expressly provided in clause (IV) below)
presentation monitor(s) or similar installations (the “ Core Wall Installation”), provided that (I) the front face of the Core Wall Installation
shall not be located within 5’-1” of the interior of the glass curtain wall of the Building or on the Terrace Space, (II) the content of the
displays on the Core Wall Installations shall be subject to prior written approval from the Unit Owner of Office Unit 3 and shall otherwise
be consistent with the first-class standards of the Building, (IIT) the Core Wall Installation shall comply with all Laws and Insurance
Requirements, (IV) the Core Wall Installation display(s) visible from the terrace of Level 47 or from anywhere other than the inside of Office
Unit 3 (X) may only contain, display or reflect the brand, identification or signage of the Unit Owner or Permitted User while such
installation is being used for presentations or events (and reasonably related testing and set-up of programming content) on the terrace
located on Level 47 or on Level 47 and (Y) at all other times, shall not contain, display or reflect any such brand, identification or signage
of the Unit Owner or any Permitted User (other than a small identification of such Unit Owner or Permitted User as the sponsor of the Core
Wall Installation, which shall not exceed an area greater than 600 square inches), or the brand, identification or signage of any other Person,
if such brand, identification or signage is visible from beyond the terrace located on Level 47 from anywhere outside of Office Unit 3, and
(V) the Core Wall Installation shall not emanate any smoke or vibrate, move or be audible from anywhere other than the inside of Office
Unit 3 and/or on the terrace located on the Level 47, and notwithstanding that the Core Wall Installation may be visible from outside of
Office Unit 3, the Core Wall Installation shall not project (in the sense of a video projector, as opposed to a mere television screen or
monitor) images, beams or other visual effects onto or through the glass curtain wall of the Building, it being agreed that so long as the
foregoing subclauses (I)-(V) are satisfied any Core Wall Installation shall not be subject to, nor to be construed as being subject to, the
provisions of Exhibit E annexed hereto, (C) the Unit Owner of Office Unit 3 may commission, or give a Permitted User of Office Unit 3,
the right to commission, electronic art (‘Lobby Art”) in the General Common Lobby in the area shown on page 2 of Schedule 1 to Exhibit E
annexed hereto, provided that in no event shall the Lobby Art contain, display or reflect any advertising or Unit Owner or Permitted User
identification or signage other than a small identification of such Unit Owner or Permitted User as the sponsor of such Lobby Art, which
shall not exceed an area greater than 600 square inches, and (D) the Unit Owner of Office Unit 3 (or its Permitted User) may use a portion
of Office Unit 3 as a media studio in connection with the Unit Owner’s or Permitted User’s business and for broadcasting media to the
general public and/or to targeted audiences which relates solely to the Unit Owner’s or Permitted User’s business activities and products.
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(d)

(iv) The Ancillary Unit may be used only for (A) executive, administrative and general office use and other lawful accessory uses
thereto (within the meaning of the Zoning Resolution), including, without limitation, Ancillary Office Uses, subject to the provisos set forth
in Section 7(c)(iii)(x), (y) and (z) hereof, (B) storage, and (C) a cogeneration system installed in accordance with Chapter 50 of the Rules of
the City of New York regarding microturbines, which system will be .complete with output switchgear and isolation transfatmer,
auxiliaries motor control center, control system, packaged hot water generator for the microturbines, gas boosters, exhaust gas ducting,
horizontal breechings, vertical stack breechings to the roof of the Building, plate-and-frame heat exchangers and associated pumps. A
dedicated ventilation/combustion air system for each for each microturbine will be provided.

W) The Loading Dock Unit shall be used (A) for loading and unloading of trucks and other vehicles providing freight and supplies
(including, without limitation, materials and equipment needed to build out and outfit space and for providing access to the crews needed to
perform such work) to or from the Units and to the Destination Retail Building and Parcel D, and (B) to provide access to trucks and other
vehicles to and from the Tower D Loading Dock.

(vi) The Destination Retail Access Unit shall be used for access from the Loading Dock and the Parking Unit to the Destination Retail
Building, provided that until the Destination Retail Building is completed the Destination Retail Access Unit may be used for any lawful

non-hazardous use.

The Unit Owner of the Retail Unit and any tenants thereof (including any supermarket) shall satisfy a “first-class” standard comparable to

the standard of first-class retail tenants (including Whole Foods), at Time Warner Center located at Columbus Circle, New York City as of March 1, 2013
(provided that a supermarket that is fixtured and maintained in a manner that is consistent in all material respects with the first class standard of Whole Foods
at Time Warner Center as of March 1, 2013 shall be deemed to satisfy such standard), but in no event shall there be any produce or merchandise carts located

on Tenth Avenue or West 3dh Street.
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(e) For so long as Coach or any Coach Affiliate is the Unit Owner of Office Unit 1 or otherwise occupies more than 60% of Office Unit 1, the
identity of the tenants of the Retail Unit shall be subject to the prior written approval of Coach or such Coach Affiliate, as applicable, such approval not to be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, provided that Coach has approved (and no further consent shall be required) Whole Foods and/or Fairway (or
other supermarket comparable in reputation and quality to Whole Foods or Fairway) as an acceptable tenant for any space within the Retail Unit to be operated
as a supermarket.

® For so long as Coach or any Coach Affiliate is the Unit Owner of Office Unit 1 or otherwise occupies more than 60% of Office Unit 1, the
Unit Owner of the Retail Unit shall not lease or sell (or otherwise convey) any portion of the Retail Unit to an entity which at the time is a Coach Retail
Competitor (as defined above) without the prior written consent of Coach or any such Coach Affiliate, as applicable.

(2) For so long as Coach or any Coach Affiliate is the Unit Owner of Office Unit 1 or otherwise occupies more than 60% of Office Unit 1, the
Unit Owner of Office Unit 2A, the Unit Owner of Office Unit 2B, and the Unit Owner of Office Unit 3 shall not lease or sell (or otherwise convey) any
portion of Office Unit 2A, Office Unit 2B or Office Unit 3 as applicable, to an entity which at the time is a Coach Office Competitor (as defined above)
without the prior written consent of Coach or any such Coach Affiliate, as applicable.

(h) No Unit Owner or Permitted User of a Unit, except for Coach or any Coach Affiliate, shall be permitted to use the Coach name or any
derivative thereof to identify its Unit (for marketing purposes or otherwise).

@) Except as otherwise specifically set forth in Section 7(c)(iii) hereof and Exhibit H annexed hereto, no Unit Owner other that the Unit Owner
of the Retail Unit may (unless the Unit Owner of the Retail Unit otherwise consents, in its sole discretion, in writing) utilize its Unit for any retail purposes.

) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Condominium Documents, no Unit may be used for residential purposes.

k) Any dispute among the Unit Owners or the Board of Managers and any Unit Owner with respect to the compliance by a Unit Owner with
the provisions of Sections 7(d) through (j) hereof shall be resolved in the manner set forth in Article 15 of the By-Laws (“Arbitration”).

(0] Subject to compliance with the provisions of the Condominium Documents, each Unit Owner may lease, sublease or license all of its Unit,
or may lease, sublease or license all or any portion of its Unit to one or more lessees (or may permit licensees, occupants or permittees to use all or any portion
of its Unit). All uses of the Units shall be in conformance with the Underlying Agreements and the Condominium Documents and with all applicable laws,
statutes and ordinances (including, without limitation, any Environmental Laws, as defined in the By-Laws), and all building codes and zoning ordinances,)
and the written orders, rules, regulations, directives, binding resolutions and requirements of any Federal, State, municipal or other public or quasi-public
body, agency, court, department, bureau, officer or authority having jurisdiction, whether in force as of the date hereof or hereafter, which are or become, or
purport to be, applicable to the Property or any part thereof (each individually a “Law” and, collectively, “ Laws”) and all Insurance Requirements.




(m) Thirty nine (39) spaces in the Parking Unit shall be reserved for Yards Parcel Parking, as set forth in Section 5(d) of the Master
Declaration and Section A-6(b)(i) of the Annex to the ERY FAPOA Declaration. Fifteen (15) parking spaces in the Parking Unit (but not specific spaces) shall
be subject to reservation for use by Permitted Users of the Unit Owner of Office Unit 1, as the Unit Owner of Office Unit 1 may designate from time to time.
Such Permitted Users shall be required to pay the parking rates established, from time to time, as the rate for parking spaces in the Parking Unit by the Unit
Owner of the Parking Unit or the operator of the Parking Unit, as the case may be, provided that at all times such rates shall not exceed market rates. Such
use of said parking spaces in the Parking Unit shall be subject to such reasonable rules and regulations promulgated, from time to time, by the Unit Owner of
the Parking Unit or the operator of the Parking Unit, as the case may be, and shall be subject to suspension in the event the Unit Owner of Office Unit 1 or
any such designated party/ies exercising the rights set forth in this Section 7(m) fails to pay parking charges or otherwise fails to comply with such rules and
regulations until payment has been made or compliance has been achieved.

(n) The Loading Dock Unit will be conveyed or leased to, and the Loading Dock will be operated and maintained by, the Association and may
be used by the Unit Owners, the Destination Retail Building, and Parcel D for the purposes set forth in Section 7(c)(v) hereof, subject to the ERY FAPOA
Declaration and in accordance with rules and charges to be promulgated from time to time by the Association. Pursuant to the ERY FAPOA Declaration, (i)
Parcel D shall have the exclusive right to the use of the portion of the Tower D Access Elevator located within the Loading Dock Unit and the non-exclusive
right to use other portions of the Loading Dock Unit, and (ii) the Destination Retail Building shall have the non-exclusive right to use portions of the Loading
Dock Unit, all as more particularly set forth in the ERY FAPOA Declaration.

(o) Upon completion of the Destination Retail Building, the Destination Retail Access Unit will be conveyed to the Destination Retail Building
(or to its Board of Managers if the Destination Retail Building is subjected to a condominium regime).

(p) No Unit or portion thereof, shall be used for any of the following purposes: pornographic purpose or as a massage parlor, adult bookstore,
peep show or adult entertainment facility; a check cashing establishment; the sale of drug paraphernalia or so-called “head shop;” a clinic for the treatment of
alcoholism or drug addiction; a so-called “sex shop”, or an establishment which permits or presents obscene, nude or semi-nude performances or modeling; a
gambling or gaming establishment (such as, without limitation, a sport gambling, casino gambling or similar establishment), or otherwise for gambling or the
sale of gambling-related items; a so-called “flea market”, dollar store or thrift store; a billiards or pool hall; and office, store, reading room, headquarters,
center or other facility principally devoted or opposed to the promotion, advancement, representation, purpose or benefit of: (i) any political party, political
movement or political candidate or (ii) any religion, religious group or religious denomination; a funeral parlor; an arcade; or a pawn shop.
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@ A Unit Owner shall not use, permit or allow its Unit or any part thereof to be used (i) other than as provided in the Condominium
Documents, (ii) for an unlawful or hazardous purpose, or permit any nuisance within its Unit, or (iii) in a manner that will impair the soundness and safety
of the Building or interfere (other than to a de rninimis extent) with the use and operation of General Common Elements and Building Systems or of any other
Unit.

(1) If the use of any Unit causes an increase in the premium for the insurance obtained by the Board of Managers or any other Unit Owner,
then the owner of such Unit causing such an increase shall be obligated to pay to the Board of Managers, as additional Common Charges (as defined in the
By-Laws), or to such other affected Unit Owner(s) (with such obligation payable to and enforceable by the Board of Managers of behalf of the affected Unit
Owner(s) as if such amount payable were part of Common Charges) a sum equal to the amount of such increase attributable to such use.

(s) The Building shall be used solely for the purposes for which the Units may be used.

() Each Unit Owner (and any Permitted User of any Unit Owner) shall at all times, at its sole cost and expense: (i) conduct its operations in an
orderly and proper manner so as not to unreasonably disturb other occupants of the Building; (ii) take all reasonable measures to minimize the noise level of
its operations at the Property; (iii) maintain its Unit and the Exclusive Use Common Elements appurtenant thereto in a clean, orderly and sanitary manner at
all times, except as such maintenance shall otherwise be performed by the Board of Managers as set forth in Section 6(h) hereof; (iv) keep its Unit and the
Exclusive Use Common Elements free from vermin, rodents and anything of a similar nature and provide extermination service to its Unit on a regular basis
in accordance with good commercial practice (it being understood that if any Unit Owner or its Permitted User fails to keep its Unit free from vermin or
rodents, the Board of Managers shall have the right, at the sole cost and expense of the applicable Unit Owner of the Unit, to take any and all measures
deemed necessary or desirable to eradicate all vermin or rodents from the Unit); (v) keep exposed elements of its Unit and Exclusive Use Common Elements
free of snow, ice, and accumulation of water; (vi) not permit the emanation of objectionable odors from its Unit; (vii) keep the waste drains emanating from its
Unit free from obstructions; (viii) comply with all Rules and Regulations; and (ix) otherwise maintain and operate its Unit in a manner consistent with a first-
class mixed use building, and provide appropriate security consistent with such use and type of building.

(w) In connection with all construction, installations, alterations, repairs and maintenance in the Building performed by the Board of
Managers, the Association, any Unit Owner, any Sub-Board, or their respective Permitted Users, the person or entity performing such construction shall
endeavor to comply with the LEED standards and requirements set forth in Exhibit I annexed hereto and made a part hereof.

) The Board of Managers shall have the right to lease portions of the General Common Elements, including, without limitation, the portion of
the Land located to the west of the Building and designated as “Tower C Plaza Area” on the Floor Plans, to the Association, on such terms and conditions as
the Board of Managers may elect. Any Lease of the Tower C Plaza Area may provide, among other things, that no base or fixed rent is payable by the
Association, but that the Association shall repair, maintain, operate and insure the Tower C Plaza Area in the same manner that it is required to do so with
respect to open space under the ERY FAPOA Declaration. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any lease with the Association must provide that the portion of the
Tower C Plaza Area designated as the “Restricted Area” on the Floor Plans may not be used for any purpose other than access without the consent of the Board
of Managers.
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8. Person to Receive Service of Process. The Secretary of State of the State of New York (the “Secretary of State™) is hereby designated to
receive service of process in any action which may be brought against the Board of Managers or the Condominium. The Board of Managers shall notify the
Secretary of State of the address to which a copy of any process received should be mailed. In the absence of any such notification, the person holding the
office of President of the Board of Managers from time to time is hereby designated to receive such notification from the Secretary of State; and in such case,
the President shall promptly notify, and send copies of any documents received to, the other members of the Board of Managers.

9. Determination of Percentages In Common Elements. The proportionate undivided interest, in fee simple absolute, expressed as a
percentage or a decimal, in the Common Elements appurtenant to each Unit and as shown on Exhibit B annexed hereto and made a part hereof (the “ Common
Interest”) is based upon floor space, subject to the location of such space and the additional factors of relative value to other space in the Condominium, the
uniqueness of the Unit, the availability of Common Elements for exclusive or shared use, and the overall dimension of the particular Unit. The aggregate
Common Interest for all Units is 100%. The Common Interest appurtenant to each Unit may not be changed without the prior written consent of the affected
Unit Owner, except as otherwise provided in the Condominium Documents.

10. Encroachments. 1f any portion of the Common Elements now encroaches upon any Unit, or if any Unit now encroaches upon any other
Unit or upon any portion of the Common Elements, as a result of the construction of the Building, or if any such encroachment shall occur hereafter as a
result of settling or shifting of the Building, or by reason of the repair and/or restoration by the Board of Managers, any Unit or the Common Elements, a
valid easement for the encroachment and for the maintenance thereof so long as the Building stands, shall exist. In the event the Building, a Unit, any
adjoining Unit or any adjoining Common Elements shall be partially or totally destroyed as a result of fire or other casualty or as a result of condemnation or
eminent domain proceedings, and then rebuilt, encroachments of parts of the Common Elements upon any Unit or of any Unit upon any other Unit or upon
any portion of the Common Elements, because of such rebuilding, shall be permitted, and valid easements for such encroachments and the maintenance
thereof shall exist so long as the Building shall stand.

11. Rights of Access. (a) Each Unit Owner hereby grants to each other Unit Owner and the Board of Managers an irrevocable right of access,
to be exercised by the Board of Managers (or the managing agent therefor), to the granting Unit Owner’s Unit and its appurtenant Exclusive Use Common
Elements, if any, to the extent necessary from time to time for the operation of the Property, or for making emergency repairs therein necessary to prevent
damage to the Common Elements or to another Unit or Units. The foregoing rights of access shall be exercised during reasonable hours, upon not less than two
(2) days prior notice, (or in the case of an Emergency (as hereinafter defined), such notice, if any, as may be practicable under the circumstances) and, to the
extent reasonably possible, in such a manner as will not unreasonably interfere with the conduct of business of the Unit Owner or occupants of a Unit or the
use and occupancy, consistent with its intended purposes, of any Unit or portion thereof. As used herein, “ Emergency” shall mean a situation involving
continuing or imminent loss or threat of loss of life, serious bodily injury, or material loss of property.
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(b) Except in the case of any Emergency, a Unit Owner shall have the right to have its representative accompany the Board of Managers (or, if
applicable, another Unit Owner) or its designee in any entry of the Unit, provided that such representative shall not interfere with the Board of Managers (or,
if applicable, another Unit Owner) or such designee in taking any action permitted under the Condominium Documents.

(c) Upon notice to the Board of Managers, a Unit Owner shall have the right to designate safes and vault areas within its Unit to which access
shall be absolutely prohibited, and, subject to the reasonable approval of the Board of Managers, any other internal spaces as other “restricted areas”, to which
access shall be prohibited except in case of an Emergency or as may be required by Law.

12. Easements. (a) Except as may otherwise be set forth in the Condominium Documents, each Unit Owner shall have and is hereby granted,
in common with all other Unit Owners, a non-exclusive easement to use the General Common Elements located anywhere on the Property in accordance with
their respective intended uses, without hindering the exercise by the other Unit Owners of, or encroaching upon the rights of such other Unit Owners with
respect to, such easement. The Board of Managers, on behalf of all Unit Owners, is hereby granted an easement to operate, maintain, make repairs and
alterations to, and exercise such rights and fulfill such obligations as and to the extent the same may be set forth in the Condominium Documents with respect
to, the General Common Elements.

(b) Each Unit Owner shall have, except as may otherwise be set forth in the Condominium Documents, an easement for the exclusive use of the
Exclusive Use Common Elements appurtenant to its Unit, including the right to operate, maintain, make routine repairs and replacements to, and exercise
such rights and fulfill such obligations as and to the extent the same may be set forth in the Condominium Documents with respect to the Exclusive Use
Common Elements appurtenant to such Unit Owner’s Unit.

(c) Each Unit Owner shall have, to the extent reasonably necessary, in common with all other Unit Owners where applicable, an easement for
ingress to and egress from its Unit and its appurtenant Exclusive Use Common Elements. Each Unit and its appurtenant Exclusive Use Common Elements
shall be subject to such easement.

(d) Each Unit Owner shall have the right, in accordance with the terms of the By-Laws, to connect to and use the Central Plant (as defined in
the By-Laws) at such Unit Owners sole cost and expense.

(e) The Unit Owners of any Office Unit, and the Unit Owner of the Ancillary Unit and their respective Permitted Users, shall have the right to
use the General Common Lobby, the ADA Lobby Elevator and the GCE Service Elevator, each in accordance with rules to be promulgated from time to time
by the Board of Managers in accordance with the terms of the By-Laws. The Unit Owner of the Ancillary Unit and its Permitted Users shall not have the right
to use any other elevators in the Building, except in the event of emergency.




63} Except as provided in Section 12(g) hereof, the Unit Owners of Office Unit 2A and Office Unit 2B and their respective Permitted Users,
shall have the right to use the Office Unit 3 Lobby Escalators, the Office Unit 3 Lobby, the Office Unit 3 Messenger Center/Mail Room and the Office Unit 3
Mid Rise Passenger Elevators for the purpose of access to and from their respective Units, and to use the Office Unit 3 Service Elevator in accordance with
rules to be promulgated from time to time by the Unit Owner of Office Unit 3.

(2) For so long as Office Unit 2A and/or Office Unit 2B is owned or leased by the Unit Owner of Office Unit 1 or an Affiliate thereof, (i) the
Unit Owner of such Unit or Units and its Permitted Users shall have a non-exclusive easement across and through the Office Unit 1 Lobby and the Office
Unit 1 Passenger Elevators for the purposes of access to and from such Unit or Units as well as a non-exclusive easement to use the Office Unit 1 Service
Elevator, and (ii) the Unit Owner of such Unit or Units and its Permitted Users shall have no right to use the Office Unit 3 Lobby Escalators, the Office Unit
3 Lobby, the Office Unit 3 Messenger Center/Mail Room, the Office Unit 3 Mid Rise Passenger Elevators, or the Office Unit 3 Service Elevator.

(h) If at any time Office Unit 2A is not owned or leased by the Unit Owner of Office Unit 1 or an Affiliate thereof, the Unit Owner of Office
Unit 1 shall have the non-exclusive right of access across such portions of Office Unit 2A as the Unit Owner or Permitted User of Office Unit 2A shall
reasonably designate from Elevator #0001-S03 to the Atrium Ceiling (as shown on the Floor Plans) for the purpose of repairing, maintaining and replacing the
Atrium Ceiling and the mechanical equipment contained therein.

@) The Unit Owners of the Parking Unit, the Retail Unit, the Loading Dock Unit, the Destination Retail Access Unit and their respective
Permitted Users, shall have no right to use the General Common Lobby, the ADA Lobby Elevator, or the GCE Service Elevator.

) Each Unit Owner shall have an easement in common with the owners of the other Units to access and use all pipes, flues, wires, ducts,
cables, conduits, vents, ventilating shafts, utility lines, equipment rooms and other General Common Elements located in the other Units or elsewhere in the
Building and serving its Unit. Each Unit shall be subject to an easement in favor of the owners of the other Units to use all pipes, flues, ducts, cables, wires,
conduits, vents, ventilating shafts, utility lines, equipment rooms and other General Common Elements serving such other Units and located in such
burdened Unit. Each Unit Owner shall have the right to use the General Common Elements for the purposes of connecting to equipment (as such term is
defined in Section 12(0) hereof) located in its Unit, provided such use of the General Common Elements does not adversely affect the use of the General
Common Elements for their intended purpose.
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k) The Board of Managers shall have the right to establish, grant and create easements for any additional underground electric, transformer,
steam, amplifier, gas, cable television, telephone, water, storm drainage, sewer or other utility lines and appurtenances on, under and through the Property and
to relocate any existing utility, sewer and drainage easements in any portion of the Property if the Board of Managers shall deem it necessary or desirable for the
proper operation and maintenance of the Property or any portion thereof, or for the general health or welfare of any Unit Owner or its tenants, provided that
such additional utilities or the relocation of existing utilities will not (i) prevent or unreasonably interfere with the use of a Unit, (ii) adversely affect the value of
a Unit or (iii) result in a mechanic’s lien against any portion of the Property. Any utility company or public benefit corporation furnishing services to the
Property, and the employees and agents of any such company or corporation, shall have the right of access to each Unit and to the Common Elements in
furtherance of such easements, provided such right of access is exercised in such a manner which does not unreasonably interfere with the use of the Units or
the Common Elements.

O Each Unit Owner grants an easement over its Unit and its appurtenant Exclusive Use Common Elements to the Board of Managers and to
each other Unit Owner for the purpose of (but only in the absence of a commercially practicable alternative and only to the extent necessary for) maintaining,
repairing, altering, preventing or minimizing damage to and causing to be in compliance with Laws and Insurance Requirements any portions of the grantee
Unit Owner’s Unit and its appurtenant Exclusive Use Common Elements, if any and for installing, allowing to remain (and using for their respective intended
purposes), maintaining, repairing, altering, preventing or minimizing damage to and causing to be in compliance with Laws and Insurance Requirements any
equipment, Facilities or systems that are located in or only readily accessible through such granting Unit Owner’s Unit and appurtenant Exclusive Use
Common Elements, if any, which serve other Units (including, without limitation, reading, maintaining or replacing utility meters relating to the Common
Elements, such Unit or any other Unit in the Building); to the Board of Managers (to the extent permitted under the other provisions of the Condominium
Documents), for the purpose of (and to the extent reasonably necessary for) making inspections of, or removing violations noted or issued by any
governmental authority against, the Common Elements or any other part of the Property and for curing defaults under the Condominium Documents, or
correcting any conditions originating in such Unit Owner’s Unit or its appurtenant Exclusive Use Common Elements, if any, and threatening the health,
safety and welfare of the occupants of, or the property located within, another Unit or all or any part of the Common Elements.

(m) The Board of Managers shall have an easement for the right, and such easements as shall be necessary, to maintain, repair or replace the
Common Elements contained in each Unit or elsewhere in the Building and to make additions and improvements thereto, provided that the same are concealed
within the walls, floors, columns and ceilings of the Building and in the shafts provided in the Building for such installations, and that such additions or
improvements do not in other than a de minimis amount damage the appearance or reduce the floor area of any Unit or affect its layout and, provided, further,
that the maintenance and installation work is performed at such times and in such manner as to create the least interference as practicable with the use of such
Unit.
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(n) Each Unit shall be subject to an easement in favor of each other Unit for the installation, maintenance, repair and replacement of gas,
electricity, heating, air conditioning, ventilating and water lines and meters and fixtures and equipment serving such other Units, provided that no such
easement shall materially reduce the square foot area of the Unit subject to the easement or unreasonably interfere with the use of the Unit subject to the
easement and further provided that the owner of the Unit subject to the easement shall have the right to designate the location of the aforesaid lines, meters,
fixtures and equipment to the extent reasonably practicable. The Unit Owner of the Unit(s) having the benefit of the easement shall give the Unit Owner of the
Unit subject to such easement reasonable notice, except in an Emergency, prior to commencing any installation, maintenance, repair or replacement, shall
deliver plans and specifications to the subject Unit Owner at least thirty (30) days prior to commencing any such installation for such other Unit Owner’s
reasonable approval, shall construct such installation in accordance with such plans and specifications and shall perform any such installation, maintenance,
repair or replacement in accordance with all applicable Laws and Insurance Requirements, shall diligently and with continuity prosecute any such installation,
maintenance, repair or replacement to completion, shall restore such other Unit to substantially its condition prior to the commencement of such installation,
maintenance, repair or replacement and shall otherwise perform all work in connection therewith in such manner as to minimize interference with the
occupants of the other Unit.

(o) The Unit Owners of each Unit shall each at their sole cost and expense, have the non-exclusive right (and such easements as shall be
required) to erect, use, maintain, repair, replace, relocate and operate mechanical equipment (including cooling towers), emergency generators (such mechanical
equipment and emergency generators being referred to herein as “ Rooftop Mechanical Equipment”), satellite platforms, satellite dishes and other equipment on
the Main Roof at the respective locations on the Main Roof so designated for the use of each Unit on the Floor Plans (respectively, the “ Designated Rooftop
Equipment Areas”), subject to the reasonable requirements of the Board of Managers. Such Rooftop. Mechanical Equipment, satellite platforms, satellite
dishes and other equipment shall be used solely in connection with the use or occupancy of space by the applicable Unit Owners or its tenants in buildings
(including, without limitation, the Building) constructed in the Eastern Rail Yard. The Unit Owner of each such Unit shall give reasonable prior written notice
to the Board of Managers of its intent to exercise such right (which shall include a description of the proposed installation and equipment), and shall not make
any such installation and/or relocations unless and until the Board of Managers has approved in writing the installation and/or relocations and the equipment
and designated the specific location within the applicable Designated Rooftop Equipment Area, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. The word
“equipment” as used in Section 12(j) and in this Section 12(0) shall be deemed to include fiber optic cable and other communications lines, wires, risers,
cables and conduits, as well as any other ancillary equipment, based on current and future technologies, needed for the proper operation of such mechanical
equipment, emergency generators, satellite platforms, satellite dishes or other equipment. Each easement and other right granted under this Section 12(0) must
be exercised, and all such installations and equipment must be used in such a way, so as to minimize, to the extent reasonably practicable, interference with
the exercise of the other easements and other rights granted under this Section 12(0) and the rights of other Unit Owners and the Board of Managers under this
Declaration and the By-Laws. No equipment installed pursuant to this Section 12(0) by any Unit Owner shall be visible from the windows of any other Unit.
The easements and other rights referred to in this Section 12(0) shall include access to and use of reasonable space in the General Common Elements, as
designated by the Board of Managers, to run and maintain, at such Unit Owner’s sole cost and expense, conduits from the applicable Unit to the applicable
Rooftop Mechanical Equipment. Such right of access and use by such Unit Owner shall be exercised in such a manner as will not unreasonably interfere with
the use and occupancy of any other Unit. Such access shall be permitted on not less than two (2) days’ notice to the Board of Managers, except that no notice
will be necessary in the case of an Emergency.
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(p) The Unit Owner of Office Unit 1 shall have, with respect to such portions of the General Common Elements as may be necessary, the
exclusive right (and such non-exclusive easements as shall be required) to maintain, repair and replace Office Unit 1 Passenger Elevators and the Office Unit 1
Service Elevator, the Unit Owner of Office Unit 3 shall have, with respect to such portions of the General Common Elements as may be necessary, the
exclusive right (and such non-exclusive easements as shall be required) to maintain, repair and replace the Office Unit 3 Mid Rise Passenger Elevators, the
Office Unit 3 High Rise Passenger Elevators, and the Office Unit 3 Service Elevator, and the Unit Owner of the Destination Retail Access Unit shall have,
with respect to such portions of the General Common Elements as may be necessary, the exclusive right (and such non-exclusive easements as shall be
required) to maintain, repair and replace the Destination Retail Access Unit Passenger Elevators and the Destination Retail Access Unit Service Elevators.

@ The Unit Owner of the Ancillary Unit shall have the right to run pipes and conduits through portions of the General Common Elements
and portions of the other Units that do not adversely affect the use of such thereof other than to a de minimis extent, for the purpose of supplying steam,
electricity and/or hot water to the Units, to the Destination Retail Building, and/or Parcel D.

(r) The Unit Owner of the Parking Unit and its Permitted Users shall have the exclusive right to use the easement across Parcel D for
pedestrian access to and from the Parking Unit to the street, which easement is more particularly described in the ERY FAPOA Declaration.

(s) The Unit Owner of the Destination Retail Access Unit and its Permitted Users shall have the non-exclusive right to use portions of the
hallways on the Ground Floor Level for access from the Loading Dock Unit to the Destination Retail Access Unit Service Elevators.

t) The Unit Owner of the Destination Retail Access Unit and its Permitted Users shall have a non-exclusive easement over (i) the stairway
designated as Stairway H on the Floor Plans between Level 02 Retail and the Ground Floor Level, (ii) the Office Unit 3 Lobby, (iii) the Office Unit 3
Escalators, and the General Common Lobby, for emergency egress from the Destination Retail Access Unit and the Destination Retail Building.

(w) The Units Owners of the Office Units (as defined in the By-Laws) and the Ancillary Unit, and their respective Permitted Users, shall have
a non-exclusive right to use the Destination Retail Access Elevators.

W) The Units are intended to be benefitted and burdened by the provisions of the ERY FAPOA Declaration that benefit and burden the Property.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, certain Unit Owners will assume specific obligations under the ERY FAPOA Declaration to the extent
specifically provided therein, and all Unit Owners shall have liability to the extent set forth in Article 13 of the ERY FAPOA Declaration and Section 3.4 of the
Master Declaration.
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(w) The user of any right or easement granted by this Section 12 shall use the same in compliance with all Laws and Insurance Requirements
and all applicable provisions of the Underlying Agreements.

(x) The user of any right or easement granted by this Section 12 shall give (i) the Unit Owner of any other Unit to the extent it requires access to
such Unit for purposes of exercising its rights under this Section 12, (ii) a Sub-Board to the extent it requires access to such Sub-Board’s Section for purposes
of exercising its rights under this Section 12, and (iii) the Board of Managers to the extent it requires access to the General Common Elements (other than
public areas of the Building, for which no notice will be required) for purposes of exercising its rights under this Section 12, not less than one (1) day’s prior
notice of such access (except that no notice will be necessary in the case of an Emergency), and such Unit Owner, Sub-Board or the Board of Managers shall
have the right to have its representative present during the period of such access,

) The user of any right or easement granted by this Section 12 shall have the responsibility of repairing any damage, at such user’s sole cost
and expense, resulting therefrom and such user hereby indemnifies and holds harmless the Unit Owner of the Unit or the Sub-Board of the Section and the
Board of Managers subject to such right or easement from and against any expenses, damages, losses, costs and other liabilities arising out of such user’s
failure to repair such damage as provided for herein.

(2) The user of any right or easement granted by this Section 12 hereby indemnifies and holds harmless the Unit Owner of the Unit or Sub-
Board of the Section subject to such right or easement and the Board of Managers from and against any claims of third parties (and any expenses, damages,
losses, costs and other liabilities arising therefrom), including claims for injury and personal property, arising from the use of the right or easement.

(aa)  Any grant of an easement or right of access “on”, “over”, “across” or “through” a given area shall be deemed to mean “on, over, across,
through and upon” such area, unless the context otherwise requires.

(bb)  All Permitted Users shall have a right and easement to use the sidewalks and the ramps, stairways, entrances and exits which are General
Common Elements and any replacements thereof for the sole purpose of providing all Permitted Users a means of ingress and egress to and from the Building
and the respective Unit to which such Permitted Users are entitled to use and an approach to and from the public street, in each case, subject to compliance
with the provisions of the By-Laws.

(cc)  All Permitted Users shall have a right of egress in the event of an Emergency through passageways, emergency stairways and exits contained

within any Unit, Exclusive Use Common Elements or General Common Elements, and each Unit shall be subject to the rights of all Permitted Users to use
such passageways, stairways and exits for egress in the event of an Emergency.
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(dd) Any easements granted to the Board of Managers, any Unit or any Unit Owner or any other party under the Declaration and the By-Laws
may be exercised by such party’s Permitted Users, to the extent necessary to effectuate the purpose for the easement or as otherwise authorized by the Unit
Owner or Board of Managers, as the case may be, provided such right of access shall be exercised in such manner as shall not to the extent possible interfere
with the normal conduct of business of the Units.

(ee) Any dispute by and among Unit Owners and/or the Board of Managers as to the nature, scope or interpretation of the easements contained
in this Section 12 shall be resolved by Arbitration in accordance with the provisions of Article 15 of the By-Laws.

13. Signage and Lighting. (a) Except as otherwise provided in clause (B) of Section 7(c)(iii) hereof, no Unit Owner or Permitted User shall be
permitted to install any signage which is visible from the outside of such Unit, except in accordance with the guidelines, limitations and restrictions respecting
Building signage as are set forth on Exhibit E annexed hereto and made a part hereof (the “ Signage Requirements”).

(b) The Board of Managers will maintain and operate any Building Exterior Lighting System, as set forth in Section 6.8(n) of the By-Laws. It
is intended that the Building Exterior Lighting System will initially include the specifications set forth in Exhibit J annexed hereto and made a part hereof
(subject to such operating hours and procedures as the Board of Managers may determine) but the Building Exterior Lighting System may be changed or
discontinued by the Board of Managers at any time, subject to Sections 2.2.2(g) and 2.2.3(e) of the By-Laws.

14. Amendment of Declaration. (a) Any Unit Owner or a member of the Board of Managers may propose an amendment to this Declaration
except as otherwise provided in this Declaration. A copy of the text of the proposed amendment shall be given in writing to the other Unit Owners and the
Board of Managers. The Board of Managers shall by written notice to the Unit Owners fix a date, not sooner than fifteen (15) days and not later than thirty
(30) days from the date the notice and a copy of the proposed amendment are received, for a meeting of the Unit Owners for the purpose of considering and
voting upon the amendment.
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(b) Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Declaration or the By-Laws, the consent of the Unit Owners owning Units to which are
appurtenant at least two-thirds of the Common Interest in the Condominium, in each case together with (A) the consent of the respective Permitted Mortgagees
(as defined in the By-Laws), if required, of such consenting Unit Owners, and (B) as to any Unit which is then subject to a Declarant Net Lease (as defined
in the By-Laws), the consent of the Declarant Net Lessee and Declarant Net Lessor (both as defined in the By-Laws) (provided that (1) Declarant Net Lessor
will not unreasonably withhold its consent if (i) the Declarant Net Lease requires that the landlord thereunder not unreasonably withhold consent to the matter
in question, and (ii) the proposed amendment is not inconsistent with and will not result in a default under such Declarant Net Lease, and (2) as to all other
amendments, the provisions of such Declarant Net Lease regarding consent will apply) shall be necessary to adopt a proposed amendment to the Declaration or
By-Laws. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) any amendment which materially affects the rights of any Unit Owner shall require the consent of such affected
Unit Owner and its Permitted Mortgagees, Declarant Net Lessees and (subject to the provisions set forth in clauses (1) and (2) of this Section 14(b)), Declarant
Net Lessors (it being conclusively presumed, however, that (I) any amendment to Section 7(d), (e), (f), (g), (h) or (m) hereof (other than the first sentence of
Section 7(m)) shall be deemed to materially affect the rights of the Unit Owner of Office Unit 1 so long as Coach or any Coach Affiliate is the Unit Owner of
Office Unit 1 or otherwise occupies more than 60% of Office Unit 1 with respect to Sections 7(d), (e), (f) or (g) only), and (II) any amendment to Section
7(c)(iii) or to the first sentence of Section 7(c)(iv) hereof shall be deemed to materially affect the rights of the Unit Owner of Office Unit 1), and (ii)
amendments to this Declaration which affect only a particular Unit Owner may be made by the Unit Owner in question (with the consent of its Permitted
Mortgagees) and its Declarant Net Lessees without the consent of the unaffected Unit Owners or the Board of Managers (however, the Board of Managers shall
execute any such amendment which a Unit Owner may be entitled as of right to record or which was duly approved by the Unit Owners) provided, however,
such amendment may not affect or be inconsistent with any of the Underlying Agreements or violate any Law. No such amendment shall be effective (x)
unless the Unit Owner(s) proposing such amendment (the ““ Proposing Party”) shall have provided the Board of Managers and the other Unit Owners at least
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice of the Proposing Party’s proposed amendment, and (y) until recorded with the New York City Register. Any such
amendment made pursuant to this Section shall be executed by the Board of Managers as attorney-in-fact for the Unit Owners, coupled with an interest, and
the Board of Managers is hereby authorized by such Unit Owners, after approval of the amendment by the requisite number of Unit Owners so to act as their
attorney-in-fact for such purpose. Any dispute between the Unit Owners with respect to whether an amendment materially affects the rights of a Unit Owner
shall be resolved by Arbitration; provided, however, that no such dispute with respect to whether the Proposing Party’s amendment materially affects another
Unit shall be deemed to exist unless the Unit Owner objecting to such amendment (the *“ Objecting Party”) delivers written notice specifying the grounds for its
objection in writing to the Proposing Party and the Board of Managers within thirty (30) days of receipt by it of notice of such proposed amendment. Provided
the Objecting Party has delivered such written notice as aforesaid, the Objecting Party and the Proposing Party shall, within the ensuing fourteen (14) day
period, exercise good faith efforts to resolve such dispute before the dispute may be submitted to Arbitration.

(c) No amendment, modification, addition or deletion to this Declaration shall be effective until recorded with the New York City Register. Any
such approved amendment, modification, addition or deletion shall be executed by the Board of Managers. Prior to recording with the New York City Register,
a copy of each amendment to this Declaration shall be certified by the Board of Managers as having been duly adopted. A copy of each amendment so certified
and bearing the date of recording shall be promptly sent to each Unit Owner by the Board of Managers.

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Unit Owner shall have the right, without the consent of the Board of Managers or any other Unit Owner,

to amend the Condominium Documents, from time to time, solely to effect a subdivision or recombination of its Unit, as provided in Aurticle 9 of the By-
Laws, upon the terms and conditions set forth in Article 9 of the By-Laws.
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15. Termination. (a) The Condominium may be terminated by vote of Unit Owners owning Units to which are appurtenant at least ninety
percent (90%) of the Common Interest of the Condominium, in each case together with the consent of (A) the respective Permitted Mortgagees of such
consenting Unit Owners and (B) as to any Unit which is then subject to a Declarant Net Lease, the consent of the Declarant Net Lessee and the Declarant Net
Lessor. If the Unit Owners so terminate the Condominium, unless the Unit Owners determine that the Property shall be sold as a whole, the same shall be
subject to an action for partition and sale by any Unit Owner as if owned i